
Page 1 of 3 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
TUESDAY, JULY 05, 2022 

7:00 PM AT COMMUNITY CENTER, 528 MAIN STREET 

 

 
 
Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Regular meeting of June 20, 2022. 

Agenda Revisions 

Special Presentations 

2. Proclamation recognizing July 11, 2022 as 1-133d Infantry Regiment - Ironman Battalion Day. 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics relevant to City 
business.) 

Special Order of Business 

3. Public hearing on the FY2023 (FFY2022) Annual Action Plan for Community Development Block 
Grant (CDBG) and HOME Consortium.  
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published June 3, 2022 and June 
24, 2022) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Resolution approving the FY2023 (FFY2022) Annual Action Plan for Community Development 
Block Grant (CDBG) and HOME Consortium. 

4. Public hearing on the proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the Olive 
Street Box Culvert Replacement Project. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published June 24, 2022) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Resolution approving and adopting the plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost 
for the Olive Street Box Culvert Replacement Project. 

 

1



Page 2 of 3 

Old Business 

5. Pass Ordinance #3013, amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of 
Ordinances relative to prohibiting parking on portions of South Lawn Road, upon its second 
consideration. 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 

discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

6. Receive and file the City Council Standing Committee minutes of June 20, 2022 relative to the 
following item: 
a) Council Meeting Rules of Order (Administrative Policy No. 7). 

7. Receive and file Departmental Monthly Reports of May 2022. 

8. Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses: 
a) Dollar General Store, 2921 Center Street, Class C beer & Class B wine - renewal. 
b) Chuck E. Cheese's, 5911 University Avenue, Special Class C liquor - renewal. 
c) Amvets, 1934 Irving Street, Class A liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 
d) Texas Roadhouse, 5715 University Avenue, Class C liquor - renewal. 
e) Panther Travel Center, 1525 West Ridgeway Avenue, Class E liquor - renewal. 
f) Wal-Mart, 525 Brandilynn Boulevard, Class E liquor - renewal. 
g) Buffalo Wild Wings, 6406 University Avenue, Class C liquor & outdoor service – change in 
ownership. 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

9. Resolution directing the advertisement for sale of $3,860,000 General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, 
Series 2022, and approving electronic bidding procedures and Official Statement. 

10. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to cleanup/remove debris from 
the property located at 1106 West 9th Street. 

11. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to cleanup/remove debris from 
the property located at 315 West 11th Street. 

12. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Service/Product Agreement with Port53 
Technologies for security testing relative to the City's computer network. 

13. Resolution approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the purchase of an electric mower 
for the Public Works Department. 

14. Resolution receiving and filing the bids, and approving and accepting the low bid of Blacktop Service 
Company, in the amount of $198,242.57, for the 2022 Seal Coat Project. 

15. Resolution receiving and filing the bids, and approving and accepting the bid of Benton Sand & 
Gravel, Inc., in the amount of $129,978.35, being the only bid received for the 2022 University 
Avenue Bio Cells Project. 

16. Resolution receiving and filing the bids, and approving and accepting the bid of Kirk Gross Company, 
in the amount of 378,647.51, being the only bid received for furniture relative to the City Hall 
Remodel Project. 

17. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Financial Assistance Award with the United 
States Department of Commerce, Economic Development Administration (EDA) for American 
Rescue Plan Act funding relative to the Cedar River Recreational Improvements Project. 

18. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Service/Product Agreement with Iowa Northland 
Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) for administration of a United States Department of 

2



Page 3 of 3 

Commerce, Economic Development Administration (EDA) grant relative to the Cedar River 
Recreational Improvements Project. 

19. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of four Purchase Offers relative to the Voluntary 
Property Acquisition Program, in conjunction with the Northern Cedar Falls Flood Buyout Program. 

20. Resolution setting July 18, 2022 as the date of public hearing on the proposed rezoning from R-1, 
Residence District to A-1, Agricultural District of property located at 2209 North Union Road. 

21. Resolution setting July 18, 2022 as the date of public hearing on the Status of Funded Activities for 
the State Award of Community Development Block Grant (CDBG-CV2) funding relative to the 
CARES Act. 

Allow Bills and Claims 

22. Allow Bills and Claims for July 5, 2022. 

City Council Referrals 

City Council Updates 

Staff Updates 

Adjournment 

3



COMMUNITY CENTER 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, JUNE 20, 2022 
REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 

MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN PRESIDING 
  

The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, at 7:18 P.M. on the above date. Members present: Schultz, deBuhr, 
Kruse, Harding, Ganfield (via video conference), Sires, Dunn. Absent: None.  
 

53855 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by deBuhr that the minutes of the Regular 
Meeting of June 6, 2022 be approved as presented and ordered of record. 
Motion carried unanimously.  

   
53856 -     Rosemary Beach, 5018 Sage Road, welcomed everyone to attend Sturgis Falls. 

53857 - Mayor Green announced that in accordance with the public notice of June 10, 
2022, this was the time and place for a public hearing on proposed plans, 
specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 2022 Seal Coat Project. 
It was then moved by Harding and seconded by Kruse that the proof of 
publication of notice of hearing be received and placed on file. Motion carried 
unanimously. 

 
53858 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed project. Upon being advised that there were no written communications 
on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. City Engineer Wicke provided a 
brief summary of the proposed project. There being no one else present wishing 
to speak about the proposed project, the Mayor declared the hearing closed and 
passed to the next order of business. 

 
53859 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that Resolution #22,816, 

approving and adopting the plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of 
cost for the 2022 Seal Coat Project, be adopted. Following due consideration by 
the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, 
the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, 
Sires, Dunn, Schultz, deBuhr. Nay: None. Motion Carried. The Mayor then 
declared Resolution #22,816 duly passed and adopted. 

 
53860 - Mayor Green announced that in accordance with the public notice of June 10, 

2022, this was the time and place for a public hearing on proposed plans, 
specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 2022 University Avenue 
Bio Cells Project. It was then moved by Kruse and seconded by Dunn that the 
proof of publication of notice of hearing be received and placed on file. Motion 
carried unanimously. 

 
53861 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed project. Upon being advised that there were no written communications 
on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. City Engineer Wicke provided a 
brief summary of the proposed project. There being no one else present wishing 

4

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

to speak about the proposed project, the Mayor declared the hearing closed and 
passed to the next order of business. 

 
53862 - It was moved by Harding and seconded by Kruse that Resolution #22,817, 

approving and adopting the plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of 
cost for the 2022 University Avenue Bio Cells Project, be adopted. Following due 
consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon 
call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Kruse, Harding, 
Ganfield, Sires, Dunn, Schultz, deBuhr. Nay: None. Motion Carried. The Mayor 
then declared Resolution #22,817 duly passed and adopted. 

 
53863 -  It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that Ordinance #3012, 

amending Chapter 24, Utilities, of the Code of Ordinances, relative to storm 
water rates, be passed upon its third and final consideration. Following due 
consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon 
call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Kruse, Harding, 
Ganfield, Dunn, Schultz, deBuhr. Nay: Sires. Motion carried. 

 
53864 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that the following items on the 

Consent Calendar be received, filed and approved: 
 

Receive and file the City Council Standing Committee minutes of June 6, 2022 
relative to the following items:  
a) City Council Training Update. 
b) Grow Cedar Valley Update. 
c) FY2023 Cash Management Report. 

Receive and file the following resignations of members from Boards and 
Commissions:  
a) Melissa Heston, Housing Commission. 
b) Susan Langan, Human Rights Commission. 

Approve the following recommendations of the Mayor relative to the appointment 
of members to Boards and Commissions:  
a) Craig Fairbanks, Housing Commission, term ends 12/31/2022.  
b) Peggy Larson, Housing Commission, term ends 12/31/2023.  
c) David Kivett, Human Rights Commission, term ends 07/01/25. 
d) Sonja Bock, Human Rights Commission, term ends 07/01/25. 

Receive and file the Appointment Process for City Boards and Commissions 
(CFD 1201). 

Receive and file the Cedar Falls Resilience Plan. 

Receive, file and approve the FY2023 Cash Management Report. 

Approve the following applications for cigarette/tobacco/nicotine/vapor permits:  
a) Great Wall China, 2125 College Street. 
b) Kwik Star #490, 7500 Nordic Drive. 
c) Kwik Star #726, 2019 College Street. 

5

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

d) Kwik Star #934, 4515 Coneflower Parkway. 
e) Tobacco Outlet Plus #561, 4116 University Avenue Suite 104-105. 

 Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses:  
a) Kwik Star, 2019 College Street, Class C beer & Class B wine - renewal. 
b) NewAldaya Lifescapes, 7511 University Avenue, Class A liquor & outdoor 
service - renewal. 
c) Applebee's Neighborhood Grill & Bar, 6301 University Avenue, Class C liquor - 
renewal. 
d) Carlos O'Kelly's Mexican Café, 6507 University Avenue, Class C liquor - 
renewal. 
e) George’s Local, 108 E. 4th Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service – renewal. 
f) Montage, 222-224 Main Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service – renewal. 
g) Starbeck’s Smokehouse, 6607 University Ave, Class C liquor & outdoor 
service – renewal.  
h) The Other Place, 209 Main Street, Class C liquor - new. 

Motion carried unanimously. 

53865 - It was moved by deBuhr and seconded by Harding that the following resolutions 
be introduced and adopted: 

 
 Resolution #22,818, approving and authorizing execution of an Engagement 

Letter with Eide Bailly, LLP to perform the audit of the City’s FY2022 financial 
statements and compliance with federal award programs. 

 Resolution #22,819, approving and authorizing execution of an Administrative 
Services Agreement with Wellmark Blue Cross and Blue Shield relative to the 
City’s FY2023 Employee Health Plan. 

 Resolution #22,820, approving a Stop Loss Policy with Wellmark, Inc. relative to 
the City’s FY2023 Employee Health Plan. 

Resolution #22,821, approving and authorizing execution of a Joinder Agreement 
for Group Term Life Insurance with National Insurance Services of Wisconsin 
Insurance Trust relative to Group Term Life Insurance & Accidental Death & 
Dismemberment (AD&D) Insurance. 

 Resolution #22,822,  approving and authorizing execution of Amendment #3 to 
Joinder Agreement for Long Term Disability Insurance with National Insurance 
Services Trust.  

 Resolution #22,823, approving and authorizing execution of a Client 
Authorization to Bind Coverage with Arthur J. Gallagher Risk Management 
Services, Inc. relative to renewal of City’s Public Entity Insurance for FY2023. 

 Resolution #22,824, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for 
Wrecker/Towing/Storage Service with L&M Transmission. 

 Resolution #22,825, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for 
Wrecker/Towing/Storage Service with Rasmussen Towing, Inc. 

6

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

 Resolution #22,826, approving and authorizing execution of two Lease 
Extensions relative to the use of 224 West Seerley Boulevard as artists’ studio 
space, in conjunction with the Heart Center’s Visiting Artist Program. 

 Resolution #22,827, approving and authorizing execution of a Cooperative 
Agreement for Use of Swimming Pools with the Cedar Falls Community School 
District. 

 Resolution #22,828, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement in 
Support of the College Hill Partnership relative to an FY2023 Economic 
Development Grant. 

 Resolution #22,829, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement to 
Support Economic Development Program of Cedar Falls Community Main Street 
relative to an FY2023 Economic Development Grant. 

 Resolution #22,830, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement to 
Support Economic Development in the Cedar Valley with Grow Cedar Valley 
relative to an FY2023 Economic Development Grant. 

 Resolution #22,831, approving and authorizing execution of an FY2023 Facade 
Improvement Fund Agreement with Cedar Falls Community Main Street. 

 Resolution #22,832, approving and authorizing execution of a Repair Contract 
with Tojo Construction Inc. relative to a Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) and CARES Act (CDBG-CV1) Owner-Occupied Repair Project at 700 
West Ridgeway Avenue, Lot 435. 

 Resolution #22,833, approving the final plat of West Viking Road Industrial Park 
Phase V. 

 Resolution #22,834, approving and authorizing execution of a Preconstruction 
Agreement for a Primary Road Project with the Iowa Department of 
Transportation (IDOT) relative to the Highway 58/Hudson Road Resurfacing 
Project. 

 Resolution #22,835, receiving and filing, and approving and accepting the bid of 
Owen Contracting, Inc., in the amount of $1,540,597.85, being the only bid 
received for the Center Street Corridor Streetscape Project. 

 Resolution #22,836, approving and accepting the contract and bond of Owen 
Contracting, Inc. for the Center Street Corridor Streetscape Project.  

 Resolution #22,837, approving and authorizing execution of three Owner 
Purchase Agreements, and approving and accepting three Temporary 
Construction Easements, two Warranty Deeds and one Public Utility Easement, 
in conjunction with the Olive Street Box Culvert Replacement Project.  

 Resolution #22,838, receiving and filing, and setting July 5, 2022 as the date of 
public hearing on the proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate 
of cost for the Olive Street Box Culvert Replacement Project. 

7

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 5 - 

 

 Resolution #22,839, receiving and filing, and setting July 5, 2022 as the date of 
public hearing on the FY2023 (FFY2022) Annual Action Plan for Community 
Development Block Grant (CDBG) and HOME Consortium.  

Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn, Schultz, deBuhr. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions #22,818 through #22,839 duly 
passed and adopted. 

53866 - It was moved by deBuhr and seconded by Kruse that Resolution #22,840, 
approving the recommendation of the Mayor and City Administrator by appointing 
Craig Berte as the Director of Public Safety Services, be adopted. Following 
comments by Councilmembers Sires, Schultz and Ganfield, the Mayor put the 
question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Kruse, Harding, Dunn, Schultz, deBuhr. Nay: Sires, 
Ganfield. Motion Carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #22,840 duly 
passed and adopted. 

53867 - It was moved by Dunn and seconded by Harding that Resolution #22,841, 
approving and adopting a job classification for the position of Diversity, Equity & 
Inclusion (DEI) Specialist in the Human Resources Department, be adopted. 
Following a question by Councilmember Harding, and responses by Finance & 
Business Operations Director Rodenbeck and Mayor Green, the Mayor put the 
question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Kruse, Harding, Sires, Dunn, Schultz, deBuhr. Nay: 
Ganfield. Motion Carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #22,841 duly 
passed and adopted. 

53868 - It was moved by Dunn and seconded by Harding that Resolution #22,842, in 
support of the College Hill Partnership's "Light Up College Hill" plan and grant 
application to Destination Iowa program of the State of Iowa, be adopted. 
Following comments and questions by Rosemary Beach, 5018 Sage Road, Chris 
Martin, College Hill Partnership Vice President, Councilmembers Dunn and 
deBuhr, and response by City Administrator Gaines, the Mayor put the question 
on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers 
voted. Aye: Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn, Schultz, deBuhr. Nay: None. 
Motion Carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #22,842 duly passed and 
adopted. 

53869 - It was moved by Harding and seconded by Dunn that a resolution, approving and 
adopting the Cedar Falls Resilience Plan, be adopted. Following comments and 
questions by Councilmembers Sires, Dunn, Harding, Schultz, deBuhr, Kruse, and 
Ganfield, and Mayor Green, and responses by City Administrator Gaines, it was 
moved by Ganfield and seconded by Schultz to postpone consideration until after 
goal setting. Following comments by Councilmembers Kruse, Sires and Ganfield, 
Councilmember Ganfield withdrew the motion. Following comments by Mayor 
Green, and supportive comments by Hannah Crisman, 820 West 12th Street, 
Maria Perez, 915 Bluff Street, and Carol Yates, 519 Chateau Court, the Mayor 
put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 

8

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 6 - 

 

Councilmembers voted. Aye: Harding, Dunn. Nay: Kruse, Ganfield, Sires, 
Schultz, deBuhr. Motion Failed.  

53870 - It was moved by Harding and seconded by Dunn that Resolution #22,843, setting 
July 5, 2022 as the date of public hearing on proposed amendments to Chapter 
26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to Planning and Zoning 
Commission review of site plans, be adopted. Following a comment by 
Councilmember deBuhr, it was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding to 
amend the motion to change the date of the public hearing to July 18, 2022. 
Motion carried unanimously. The Mayor then put the question on the original 
motion as amended, and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn, Schultz, 
deBuhr. Nay: None. Motion Carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution 
#22,843 duly passed and adopted. 

53871 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by deBuhr that Ordinance #3013, 
ordinance amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of 
Ordinances relative to prohibiting parking on portions of South Lawn Road, be 
passed upon its first consideration. City Engineer Wicke provided a brief 
summary of the proposed ordinance. Following a question by Councilmember 
Kruse and response by Wicke, the Mayor put the question on the motion and 
upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Kruse, 
Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn, Schultz, deBuhr. Nay: Sires. Motion carried. 

 
53872 -  It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that the bills and claims of 

June 20, 2022 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City Treasurer be 
authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the proper funds in 
payment of the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers 
voted. Aye: Kruse, Harding, Ganfield, Sires, Dunn, Schultz, deBuhr. Nay: None. 
Motion carried. 

 
53873 - Mayor Green responded to a question from Councilmember Dunn regarding 

clarification on the process to receive and file, and reconsideration of an item in 
the future. 

 
  Councilmember deBuhr recognized Boy Scouts from Troop #244 in attendance 

at the meeting. 
 
53874 - Acting Police Chief Howard provided an update on fireworks education and zero 

tolerance enforcement. 
  
  Mayor Green announced Sturgis Falls this weekend. He noted his absence July 

5-14, 2022 and that Mayor Pro Tem Harding would be presiding over the July 5th 
City Council meeting. 

 
53875 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that the meeting be adjourned 

at 8:39 P.M.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
    ________________________________ 
  Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

9

Item 1.



 

   MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

 

 

 

 
 

1-133d INFANTRY REGIMENT –  
IRONMAN BATTALION DAY 

JULY 11, 2022  
 

WHEREAS, the Iowa National Guard’s 133d Infantry Regiment, a component of the 34th 

Infantry Division, has continuously operated in Northeast Iowa since July 11th, 1921; and  

WHEREAS, the 1st Battalion of the 133d Infantry Regiment is proudly known as the Ironman 

Battalion, a distinction earned during World War II for a record 611 consecutive days in 

combat, and then re-affirmed during a nearly 22-month mobilization supporting Operation 

Iraqi Freedom from 2005 to 2007; and 

WHEREAS,  the National Guard’s federal mission is to provide properly trained and equipped 

units for prompt mobilization for war, National emergency or as otherwise needed, and its 

state mission is to provide trained and disciplined forces for domestic emergencies or as 

otherwise provided by state law; and 

WHEREAS, more than 550 Northeast Iowans have volunteered for service in the Iowa National 

Guard and drill monthly at readiness centers in Waterloo, Dubuque, Davenport, Oelwein, Iowa 

City, Iowa Falls, and Charles City; and 

WHEREAS, the City of of Cedar Falls is committed to maintaining a close relationship with our 

Iowa National Guard as well as to honoring our soldiers, their families, and veterans through 

the Home Base Iowa program and numerous other veterans care and support activities; 

THEREFORE, I, Robert M. Green, Mayor of the City of Cedar Falls, do hereby designate July 

11th, 2022 as 1-133d Infantry Regiment - Ironman Battalion Day in Cedar Falls in 

recognition of the vital role played by the Ironman Battalion in our nation’s defense, and I 

encourage residents to seek ways to support our Northeast Iowa National Guard soldiers and 

families as they answer their Nation’s call in uniformed service in Iowa and across the globe. 

Signed this 30th day of June, 2022. 

 

___________________________________ 

Mayor Robert M. Green 

 10

Item 2.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-268-5126 
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

  

 

 

  

 
  

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Michelle Pezley, Planner III 

 DATE: July 24, 2022 

SUBJECT: Public Hearing and Adoption:  Community Development Block Grant and 
HOME Consortium Annual Action Plan FY23 (FFY22) 

   
 
The Community Development Department has developed FFY22 Annual Action Plan 
outlining the use of HUD’s announcement that our CDBG entitlement grant is $259,801 
in federal fiscal year 2022.  The plan allocates the funds in accordance with the adopted 
and HUD-approved 5-Year Consolidated Plan.  The next step is the public hearing for 
the City Council to consider and adopt the Annual Action Plan. 
 
Attached is the draft Annual Action Plan FY23 (Federal Fiscal Year 2022).  A correction 
was made on page 20, which reflects that the City adopted the new downtown zoning 
code that allows accessory dwelling units for housing flexibility and affordability.   
 
The adopted 5-Year Consolidated Plan guides the proposed uses, but there is flexibility 
based on changing conditions which is the purpose for an Annual Action Plan.  The 
table below lists the 5-Year Consolidated Plan’s estimate for activities and amounts.  It 
shows the proposal for the Annual Action Plan next to it.  We estimate $64,000 in either 
carryover revenues from past plan years or reallocation of the plan year expenditures.  
This is for various reasons such as lower bid prices on a past project or service 
agencies not spending their allotted funds.  This allows the FFY22 Annual Action Plan 
proposal to include a higher level of funding for the Neighborhood Accessibility 
Improvements.  The City also received positive response from the landlords regarding 
the Rental Occupied Rehabilitation program.   
 

Activity 

5-Yr. 
Consolidated 
Plan Estimate 

FFY22 AAP 
Proposal Percentage 

Maintain Existing Affordable Housing: 
Owner Occupied Rehabilitation 

$11,000 $25,000 8% 

Maintain Existing Affordable Housing: 
Renter Occupied Rehabilitation 

$0 $75,000 23% 

11

Item 3.



Preserve Existing Affordable Housing: 
Code Enforcement 

$10,000 
 

$0 0% 

Prevent Homelessness Through 
Agency and Organizational Support 
(Service Agencies – capped at 15% of 
annual allocation) 

$37,960 
 

$38,970 12% 

Neighborhood Infrastructure 
Improvements (i.e. Street, Sewer, Water) 

$51,000 $0 0% 

Provide Access to Transportation 
Services 

$30,000 $0 0% 

Neighborhood Accessibility 
Improvements (i.e Sidewalks, Trail, Curb 

Cuts) 

$0 $112,871 35% 

Neighborhood Recreational Amenities 
(i.e Parks, Playgrounds, Trees) 

$57,510 
 

$20,000 6% 

Conduct Demolition and Clearance 
Activities 

$5,000 $0 0% 

CDBG Planning and Administration 
(capped at 20% of annual allocation) 

$50,615 $51,960 16% 

FFY21 Total (including 
carryover/reallocation) 

 $465,167 100% 

 
This proposal meets Organizational Goal #3: Deliver public services in a cost effective, 
efficient, professional, and timely manner and Organizational Goal #4: Equitably 
allocate the community’s resources in a manner which cost effectively accomplishes the 
City’s mission. 
 
The FFY22 Annual Action Plan was considered at the Housing Commission’s June 14th 
meeting.  The Housing Commission recommends approval.  The Annual Action Plan as 
been available for public review from June 3, 2022 to July 5, 2022.  This meets HUD’s 
30-day public comment period requirement.  The Community Development Department 
recommends holding a public hearing and adopting the Annual Action Plan (FFY22) on 
July 5th. 
 
Please contact me with any questions.   Thank you. 
 
Xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development  
       Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager      
 

12

Item 3.



  1 

 

 
 
 
PRELIMINARY DRAFT FOR REVIEW (JUNE 15, 2022) 
 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA  
CDBG ENTITLEMENT PROGRAM 
FEDERAL FISCAL YEAR  2022 (CITY FISCAL YEAR 2023) ANNUAL ACTION PLAN 
 

 
 
 
COMMENT PERIOD PUBLICATION (30-day public comment period, per Citizen Participation Plan): 
Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier; June 3rd, 2022 
 
June 3rd, 2022 (Opened the 30-day public comment period) 
July 5th, 2022 (Closed the 30-day public comment period) 
 
 
HOUSING COMMISSION: Public Meeting and Public Hearing on June 14th, 2022 (Recommendation to City 
Council) 
Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier; June 3rd, 2022 
 
 
CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC MEETINGS AND HEARING ON: 
June 20th, 2022 (Council sets public hearing for July 5th, 2022) 
July 5th, 2022 (Adoption) (After a properly noticed public hearing was conducted) 
Publication: Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier; (June 24th, 2022) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

13

Item 3.



  2 

 

AP-05 Executive Summary - 91.220(b) 
 
During Federal Fiscal Year 2022, the City of Cedar Falls intends to complete six (6) activities or programs: Owner-
occupied rehabilitation and repair, benefitting two units, Renter-occupied rehabilitation and repair, benefitting 
three units; agency and organizational support, helping approximately 4,000 persons, of which 40 are homeless; 
improving neighborhood accessibility, particularly benefitting 1,000 low-and-moderate income persons through an 
LMI sidewalk infill program; tree replacement program benefiting LMI neighborhoods, and overall program 
planning and administration.  These proposed activities focus on implementing the following excerpted, relevant, 
Cedar Falls 2019-2023 Consolidated Plan goals and objectives. 
 
Housing 
 

(1) To provide decent housing by preserving the affordable housing stock, increasing the availability of 
affordable housing, reducing discriminatory barriers; increasing the supply of supportive housing for those 
with special needs; and transitioning homeless persons and families into housing. 

 
Action 1.2. Maintain existing affordable housing through continuation of housing rehabilitation, repair, 
deposit assistance, and code enforcement programs, all of which will endeavor to preserve housing 
quality standards. 

 
Neighborhood and Community 

  
(2) To provide a suitable living environment through safer, more livable neighborhoods, greater integration 

of low-and-moderate income households throughout the city, increased housing opportunities, and 
reinvestment in deteriorating neighborhoods. 
 
Action 2.1. Encourage neighborhood development and redevelopment in the city by improving and 
extending infrastructure and pedestrian access to and among low-and-moderate income areas of the 
community. 
 
Action 2.2. Provide recreational and healthy lifestyle improvements to parks, recreational areas, and 
playgrounds in low-and-moderate income areas that may be owned by the city or other public agencies. 

 
Public Services 

 

(3) To provide services, such as rent assistance and through contracted agencies: healthcare, mental health, 
substance abuse, financial counseling, nutrition, and other services that allow residents to reach their 
greatest level of self-sufficiency. 
 
Action 3.1. Provide funding support to agencies, other than those cited above, that may offer services that 
will prevent homelessness or protect households that are near-homeless. 
 
Action 3.2. Maintain the current Section 8/Housing Choice Voucher Program that is being administered by 
the City. 
 
Action 1.6. Continue to provide community planning and program administration services for the benefit 
of all residents of the community.  

 
 
 
 
 

14

Item 3.



  3 

 

Economic Development 

 

(4) To expand economic opportunities through increased opportunities for living wage employment, 
development activities that promote long-term community viability, and the empowerment of low- and 
moderate- income persons to achieve self-sufficiency. 
 
Action 1.6. Continue to provide community planning and program administration services for the benefit 
of all residents of the community. 
 
Action 2.1. Encourage neighborhood development and redevelopment in the city by improving and 
extending infrastructure and pedestrian access to low-and-moderate income areas of the community. 

 
Evaluation of past performance 
 
The City has been working diligently during the past five years to plan and implement CDBG programs that are 
attainable and designed to help the largest number of residents in a cost-effective manner.  Specifically, the 
community has rehabilitated or repaired a number of owner-occupied housing units for low-and-moderate income 
households.  Further, the City has funded several agencies, which provide services to income-qualified Cedar Falls 
households on an annual basis.  Finally, the community has partially financed infrastructure or capital projects, 
specifically sanitary sewer lining and sidewalk infill for neighborhood sidewalk connectivity, which serve its low-
and-moderate income census tracts.   
 
With all this stated, the COVID-19 pandemic again had a major impact on the City’s ability to offer continuity of 
services under the CDBG programs during the past year or so.  Most notably, the Coronavirus has slowed our 
ability to serve the community, specifically under the housing rehabilitation and repair programs.  Second, 
construction contractor availability, or lack thereof, continues to be a challenge for these same two programs. 
Lastly, the availability and price of construction materials for the proposed work, under all of the City’s programs 
continues to be a factor affecting project completion. 
 
As an update on the three subsequent CDBG funding awards resulting from the pandemic, one of which was from 
the State of Iowa’s Economic Development Authority and the others were awarded directly by HUD, the City 
continues to implement its approved plans, programs, and draw funds.  As a reminder, these additional awards 
were all through the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) legislation that passed in late March 
2020.  Specifically, the intent of this legislation was to prevent, prepare for, or respond to the Coronavirus.  As 
indicated in this plan, most of the additional funds were awarded to agencies, non-profit organizations, 
educational institutions, and service providers that either served in frontline capacities or roles and/or that were 
overwhelmed by the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on their agencies, inventories and finances, and clients. 
 
Citizen participation 
 
Citizen participation in the planning process of this Annual Action Plan took three forms: public meetings, public 
hearings, and informal comments garnered as a result of document availability.  The participation process was 
governed by the City’s Participation Plan, as amended. The Cedar Falls Housing Commission held a public meeting 
and public hearing on June 14th, 2022, which was posted and published according to City’s Citizen Participation 
Plan and State law. Notice for the meetings was published on June 3rd, 2022 and June 24th, 2022, in the Waterloo-
Cedar Falls Courier.  A legal notice, the purpose and subject of which was published on June 3rd, 2022, in the 
Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier, offered a 30-day public comment period between June 4th, 2022, and July 5th, 2022.  
The City Council also held a properly noticed public hearing within the framework of a public meeting on July 5th, 
2022.  Notice for said City Council hearing was published in the Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier on June 24th, 2022. 
Copies of the draft Annual Action Plan were available at the Community Development Department and City Clerk’s 
Offices, as well as on the City’s website at www.cedarfalls.com.  
 

15

Item 3.

http://www.cedarfalls.com/


  4 

 

Summary of comments received and denied 
 
No public comments were received, and as a result, no citizen suggestions were denied. 
 
 
PR-05 Lead & Responsible Agencies - 91.220(b) 
 
The following are the agencies/entities responsible for preparing the Annual Action Plan and those responsible for 
administration of each grant program and funding source. 
 

Agency Role Name Department/Agency 

CDBG Administrator Cedar Falls Department of Community Development 

 
Narrative 
 
The City of Cedar Falls administers its own CDBG activities, through the assistance of the Iowa Northland Regional 
Council of Governments (INRCOG). The City will carry out the activities described in the Consolidated Plan and 
Annual Action Plan using their CDBG Entitlement resources.  During this past year, the staff and its administrative 
contractor also spent much of its time and effort, related to the CDBG program, focusing on the COVID-19 
(Coronavirus) pandemic, which had a worldwide effect on human health, interaction, and economies. 
 
Public Contact Information 
 
City of Cedar Falls 
Department of Community Development 
Planning and Community Services Division 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Contact: Planning and Community Services Manager 
Telephone: (319) 273-8600 
Website: http://www.cedarfalls.com  
 
AP-10 Consultation - 91.220(b) 
 

1. Introduction 
 
Agency and organizational consultation regarding this plan were fostered through the public participation process 
defined in this, and the following, sections.   
 
Provide a concise summary of the jurisdiction’s activities to enhance coordination between public and assisted 

housing providers and private and governmental health, mental health and service agencies (91.215(l)). 

As a result of two factors: annual Agency public service programs financially support by CDBG Entitlement funds 

and additional funds originating from the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act, which 

primarily were awarded to service agencies and organizations responding to the COVID-19 pandemic, the City has 

had several meetings, contacts (emails), and discussions with numerous agencies and organizations that are 

providing assistance to Cedar Falls residents, most of which is being provided in an attempt serve those in need 

including mitigating the impact of the pandemic.  Interestingly enough, as the pandemic stretched into a second 

year, many of the these “meetings” were held electronically/virtually to help minimize the spread of the COVID-19 

pandemic.  In total, the City awarded funding to five agencies through their annual Entitlement funding and to 

seven agencies and three schools through its supplemental CARES Act funding. 

16

Item 3.

http://www.cedarfalls.com/


  5 

 

Describe coordination with the Continuum of Care and efforts to address the needs of homeless persons 

(particularly chronically homeless individuals and families, families with children, veterans, and unaccompanied 

youth) and persons at risk of homelessness. 

Contact was made with the CoC, which is governed by the Black Hawk County Local Homeless Coordinating Board, 

through its various members’ agencies during this past year.  As noted above, much of the contact had to be made 

electronically/virtually due to social distancing guidelines.  

Describe consultation with the Continuum(s) of Care that serves the jurisdiction’s area in determining how to 

allocate ESG funds, develop performance standards for and evaluate outcomes of projects and activities assisted 

by ESG funds, and develop funding, policies and procedures for the operation and administration of HMIS 

The City of Cedar Falls is a not a recipient of ESG funds. 
 

2. Agencies, groups, and organizations who participated in process and consultations. 
 

 Salvation Army (sheltering of homeless persons, including parents and children; meal site) 

 Northeast Iowa Food Bank (food assistance) 

 East Side Ministerial Alliance (rent and mortgage assistance; eviction and foreclosure prevention) 

 Pathways Behavioral Services (mental health; substance abuse; counseling) 

 Exceptional Persons, Incorporated (rent and mortgage assistance; eviction and foreclosure 
prevention; work activity assistance for persons with disabilities) 

 Jesse Cosby Center (financial management; debt assistance) 

 EMBARC (immigration assistance; student assistance; language assistance; Burmese population) 

 Cedar Falls Community School District (assistance for K-12 children) 

 Valley Lutheran School (assistance for K-12 children) 

 St. Patrick’s Catholic School (assistance for K-8 children) 

 Operation Threshold (rent and mortgage assistance; eviction and foreclosure prevention; housing 
repair, rehabilitation, and weatherization; utility assistance; public assistance (i.e. WIC, LIHEAP, SNAP) 

 
3. Identify agency types not consulted and provide rationale for not consulting. 

 

 Public health (time constraints, COVID-19 pandemic) 

 Childcare (time constraints, COVID-19 pandemic) 

 Healthcare (time constraints, COVID-19 pandemic) 

 Transportation (time constraints, COVID-19 pandemic) 

 

The entities noted in this element were dramatically impacted by the COVID-19 (Coronavirus) pandemic 

and thus were not consulted. 

 

4. Other local/regional/state/federal planning efforts considered when preparing the Plan. 
 
 

Name of Plan Lead Organization How do the goals of your Strategic Plan overlap with the 
goals of each plan? 

Continuum of Care 
Black Hawk County Local 
Homeless Coordinating 
Board (LHCB) 

The LHCB composition was reviewed to better understand 
the homeless housing and social service needs in 
developing the Plan. 

City of Cedar Falls 
Comprehensive Plan 

City of Cedar Falls 
Strategic Plan goals are more specific, but consistent with 
the Comprehensive Plan. 

17

Item 3.



  6 

 

Name of Plan Lead Organization How do the goals of your Strategic Plan overlap with the 
goals of each plan? 

2019-2023 Consolidated 
Plan 

Cities of Cedar Falls and 
Waterloo 

Plan goals are updates and improvements to current 
Consolidated Plan goals 

City of Cedar Falls 
Capital Improvements 
Program 

City of Cedar Falls 
Strategic Plan goals are consistent with those in the CIP, 
which defines specific projects that may be considered by 
the city under this Plan 

Comprehensive 
Economic Development 
Strategy (2022 Draft) 

Iowa Northland 
Regional Economic 
Development 
Commission 

Strategic Plan goal are consistent and specific to Cedar Falls.  
CEDS goals are general and defined for a 6-county region, 
focusing more closely on economic development, private 
investment, development, and job creation. 

Metropolitan Planning 
Organization Long Range 
Transportation Plan 

Metropolitan Planning 
Organization of Black 
Hawk County 

Strategic Plan goals are specific to Cedar Falls, while LRTP 
goals are intended to address transportation in several 
jurisdictions. The city will need to take LRTP goals into 
consideration when developing areas within the 
community, as well as developing transit services 

Metropolitan Planning 
Organization Pedestrian 
Master Plan 

Metropolitan Planning 
Organization of Black 
Hawk County 

The city is intending to address several of the Pedestrian 
Plan goals, most notably those associated with healthy 
lifestyles, recreation, access and accessibility, and non-
motorized transportation modes (sidewalk, trails, etc.) 

Black Hawk County 
Multi-Jurisdictional 
Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Black Hawk County 
Emergency 
Management 
Commission; City of 
Cedar Falls 

The Strategic Plan will seek to direct housing-related 
development and redevelopment away from natural 
hazards (i.e. floodplains, steep slopes, poor soils), protect 
personal health, and enhance safety, as is possible.  These 
are consistent with the MJ HMP 

City of Cedar Falls 
Citizen Participation Plan 

City of Cedar Falls 
The Strategic Plan will be developed and implemented in a 
manner that is consistent with the current Citizen 
Participation Plan. 

Table. Other local / regional / federal planning efforts 
 
AP-12 Participation - 91.220(b) 
 
A 30-day comment period legal notice, as allowed by US Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) 
waiver, was advertised on June 3rd, 2022, in the Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier.  The comment period was defined in 
the notice, stating that the public could review and comment on the draft plan between June 4th, 2022, and July 
5th, 2022.  The Commission held specific public comment opportunities on its agenda relative to the draft plans 
during a public meeting and public hearing on June 14th, and the meeting was legally posted per City policy and 
placed on the City’s website.  The Housing Commission’s public hearing was published on June 3rd, 2022 in the 
Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier.  City Administration reviewed the draft document prior to presentation of the initial 
drafts to the Housing Commission and final draft before the City Council. A public draft was also on-file with the 
City Clerk and advertised as such. Further, the Spring 2022 edition of the City’s newsletter (Currents), which is 
directly mailed to each resident, included an article about the plan.  Also, public input was formally considered 
through conduct of a City Council public hearing on July 5th, 2022, which was legally advertised in the Waterloo 
Courier on June 24th, 2022.  No comments were received from the public. 

18

Item 3.



  7 

 

AP-15 Expected Resources - 91.220(c)(1,2) 
 
Introduction 
 
The City of Cedar Falls anticipates receiving an allocation of $259,801 in Community Development Block Grant funding and approximately $1.3M in Housing 
Choice Voucher funding for Federal Fiscal Year 2022.  There are no match requirements for either CDBG under the Entitlement Program or HCV funding. 
 
Anticipated Resources 

Program Source of 
Funds 

Uses of Funds Expected Amount Available Year 4 Expected Amount 
Available 

Remainder of Con 
Plan $ 

Narrative 
Description Annual 

Allocation: 
$ 

Program 
Income: 

$ 

Prior Year 
Resources: 

$ 

Total: 
$ 

CDBG Public/Federal Housing Rehab and Repair, 
Agency Assistance, Public 

Service Improvements, 
Neighborhood Access, Planning 

and Administration 

$259,801  $0 $64,000 
(Estimated) 

$323,801 
(Estimated) 

$253,085 
(Estimated) 

 

HCV Public/Federal Rent Assistance $1,300,000 
(Estimated) 

$0 $0 $1,300,000 
(Estimated) 

$2,600,000 
(Estimated) 

 

Table 1 – Goals Summary 
 
  

19

Item 3.



  8 

 

Additional Narrative 
 
In addition to the FFY 2022 annual allocation of CDBG Entitlement funds, the City of Cedar Falls is estimating that $64,000 in carryover or prior year funding will 
be available for allocation consistent with the goals and projects presented in the current Consolidated Plan.  Regardless of the exact amount carried forward 
from prior years, the City plans to use these funds for Housing or Rental Rehabilitation and Repair, Neighborhood Access and Accessibility Improvements, 
and/or Neighborhood Recreational Improvements for low-and-moderate income (LMI) households or areas, as defined by HUD and the Census Bureau.  
Further, the City is working to wrap-up providing services to residents with its supplemental CARES (COVID-19) funding. 
 
Explain how federal funds will leverage those additional resources (private, state and local funds), including a description of how matching requirements 
will be satisfied. 
 
CDBG funds will be used to provide rehabilitation and repair grants for single-family homeowners and for rental properties.  Also, CDBG funds including CARES 
(COVID-19) dollars, will be used in conjunction with other agency funding sources in order to provide services to Cedar Falls households that prevent 
homelessness.  Finally, the City will support Neighborhood Accessibility Improvements to low-to-moderate income areas (census tracts) of the community. 
 
If appropriate, describe publicly owned land or property located within the jurisdiction that may be used to address the needs identified in the plan. 
 
Goals, and the activities under each goal, that are categorized as Neighborhood Accessibility Improvements (i.e. sidewalks, trails, curb cuts) will be conducted 
on public property or property covered by public rights-of-way or easements. 

20

Item 3.



  9 

 

Annual Goals and Objectives 
 
AP-20 Annual Goals and Objectives - 91.220(c)(3)&(e) 
 
Goals Summary Information  
 

Sort 
Order 

Goal Name Start 
Year 

End 
Year 

Category Geographic 
Area 

Needs 
Addressed 

Funding 
Estimate 

Goal Outcome Indicator 

1 Maintain 
Affordable 
Housing: Owner 
Occupied Units 

2019 2023 Affordable 
Housing 

 Citywide Maintain 
Existing 
Affordable 
Housing 

CDBG: 
$25,000 

 

Homeowner Housing Rehabilitated or Repaired: 
2 Household Housing Units; 4 persons or 2 
households benefitted 

2 Maintain 
Affordable 
Housing: Renter 
Occupied Units 

2019 2023 Affordable 
Housing 

 Citywide Maintain 
Existing 
Affordable 
Housing 

CDBG:  
$75,000  

Rental Housing Rehabilitated or Repaired: 
2 Household Housing Units; 4 persons or 2 
households benefitted 

3 Preserve Existing 
Affordable 
Housing through 
Code 
Enforcement 

2019 2023 Affordable 
Housing 

 Citywide Maintain 
Existing 
Affordable 
Housing and 
Promote 
Neighborhood 
Development 

CDBG: 
$0 

 

Apply Code requirements to residential units in 
LMI Areas: 
0 Households Assisted 

4 Prevent 
Homelessness 
Through Agency 
and 
Organization 
Support 

2019 2023 Affordable 
Housing 

 Citywide Prevent 
Homelessness 
and Offer Family 
and Children’s 
Services 

CDBG: 
$38,970 

 

Public Service Activities Other than LMI Housing 
Benefit:4,040 persons or 1,540 households 
assisted. 
Homeless person overnight shelter: 20 persons 
or 20 households assisted. 

5 Neighborhood 
Infrastructure 
Improvements 

2019 2023 Non-Housing 
Community 
Development 

Citywide 
and LMI 
Area Benefit 

Promote 
Infrastructure 
Development 

CDBG:  
$0  

Public Facility or Infrastructure Activity, other 
than LMI Housing Benefit: 0 persons or 0 
households assisted 

21

Item 3.



  10 

 

Sort 
Order 

Goal Name Start 
Year 

End 
Year 

Category Geographic 
Area 

Needs 
Addressed 

Funding 
Estimate 

Goal Outcome Indicator 

6 Provide Access 
to 
Transportation 
Services  

2019 2023 Non-Housing 
Community 
Development 

Citywide 
and LMI 
Area Benefit 

Promote 
Neighborhood 
Development; 
Support 
Economic 
Development; 
Business 
Development 

CDBG:  
$0  

Public Service Activities Other than LMI Housing 
Benefit: 0 persons assisted 

7 Neighborhood 
Accessibility 
Improvements 

2019 2023 Non-Housing 
Community 
Development 

LMI Area 
Benefit 

Promote 
Infrastructure 
Development 
and Promote 
Neighborhood 
Development 

CDBG:  
$112,871  

Public Facility or Infrastructure Activity, other 
than LMI Housing Benefit: 60 persons or 40 
households assisted 

8 Neighborhood 
Recreational 
Amenities 

2019 2023 Non-Housing 
Community 
Development 

LMI Area 
Benefit 

Promote 
Neighborhood 
Development 
and 
Neighborhood 
Infrastructure 
Improvements 

CDBG:  
$20,000 

 

Public Facility and Improvement Activity, other 
than LMI Housing Benefit: 20 households or 40 
persons assisted.   

9 Demolition and 
Clearance 

2019 2023 Non-Housing 
Community 
Development 

LMI Area 
Benefit 

Demolition and 
Clearance 

CDBG:  
$0 

 

Buildings Demolished: 
0 Buildings 

10 CDBG Planning 
and 
Administration 

2019 2023 Non-Housing 
Community 
Development 

Citywide 
and LMI 
Area Benefit 

Provide Effective 
Planning and 
Administration 

CDBG: 
$51,960  

Not Applicable 

Table 2 – Goals Summary 
 
 
 

22

Item 3.



  11 

 

AP-35 Projects - 91.220(d) 
 
Introduction  
 
The projects chosen for funding allocation all serve a purpose in efforts to prevent homelessness, preserve the 
current housing stock of affordable homes in the area and provide services that are essential to keeping residents 
in their homes. These programs were designated to improve the housing stock, prevent homelessness and 
improve areas that satisfy the national objectives in the community. Funds will be utilized in an efficient manner 
and serve those with the greatest need. 
 

# Project Name 

1 Single-Family Owner-Occupied Rehabilitation 

2 Rental Housing Rehabilitation 

3 Code Enforcement 

4 Agency and Organization Support 

5 Neighborhood Infrastructure Improvements 

6 Provide Access to Transportation Service 

7 Neighborhood Accessibility Improvements 

8 Neighborhood Recreational Amenities 

9 Demolition and Clearance 

10 CDBG Planning and Administration 

Table 3 – Project Information 
 
Describe the reasons for allocation priorities and any obstacles to addressing underserved needs 
 
 
In order to serve Cedar Falls residents, funding will be allocated toward making housing more affordable, 
preserving existing affordable housing stock, increasing affordable housing, supporting low-to-moderate income 
neighborhood investment, and assisting citizens with accessing services.  Funding will be focused on meeting two 
National CDBG Objectives, assisting low-to-moderate income persons and eliminating slum and blight in the 
community. 
 
In addition to housing projects, the City is contemplating using CDBG funds for neighborhood access projects, as 
outlined in our Consolidated Plan and this Action Plan, more specifically sidewalk infill within and connecting to 
low-and-moderate income neighborhoods, tracts, or block groups, as well as completing additional sanitary sewer 
lining projects in LMI areas as well. 
 
The primary barrier for assisted households is, and has been, the price of housing in the community, even as new 
units are being built.  During the past year, prices have continued rising and supply has dwindled.  These trends 
proved to be surprising during the COVID-19 pandemic, and this is expected to continue through the year covered 
by this plan.  
 
 

23

Item 3.



  12 

 

Project Summary Information 
 

1 Project Name Single-Family Owner-Occupied Home Rehabilitation 

Target Area City of Cedar Falls (Citywide) 

Goals Supported Maintain Existing Affordable Housing: Owner Occupied Units 

Needs Addressed Maintain Affordable Housing 

Funding Target CDBG: $25,000 (Estimated) 

Description Rehabilitation of Owner-Occupied Units; LMI Households 

Target Date 6/30/2022 

Estimate the number and 
type of families that will 
benefit from the proposed 
activities 

Approximately 2 households, or 4 persons, will benefit from the CDBG 
Rehabilitation Program 

Location Description City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 (Administered) 

Planned Activities Eligible activities expected to be conducted include (but not limited to) 
repair or replacement of the mechanical systems, roofs, doors, foundations, 
structural repair, wall and attic insulation, interior wall panels, windows and 
siding. 

CDBG National Objective Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons 

2 Project Name Rental Housing Rehabilitation 

Target Area City of Cedar Falls (Citywide) 

Goals Supported Maintain Existing Affordable Housing: Renter Occupied Units 

Needs Addressed Maintain Affordable Housing; Ensure Fair Housing for Residents 

Funding Target $75,000 (Estimated) 

Description Repair of Renter Occupied Units; LMI Households 

Target Date 6/30/2022 

Estimate the number and 
type of families that will 
benefit from the proposed 
activities 

Approximately 3 households, or 6 persons, will benefit from this limited 
CDBG Rehabilitation Program 

Location Description City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 (Administered) 

Planned Activities Eligible activities expected to be conducted include (but not limited to) 
repair or replacement of the mechanical systems, roofs, doors, foundations, 
structural repair, wall and attic insulation, interior wall panels, windows and 
siding. 

CDBG National Objective Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons 

3 Project Name Code Enforcement 

Target Area City of Cedar Falls; LMI Areas 

Goals Supported Preserve Affordable Housing Through Code Enforcement 

Needs Addressed Maintain Existing Affordable Housing 

Funding Target CDBG: $0 (Estimated) 

Description Funds will be used to pay for code enforcement services provided to LMI 
areas. 

Target Date 6/30/2022 

Estimate the number and 
type of families that will 
benefit from the proposed 
activities 

This activity will benefit approximately 0 households in Cedar Falls. 

Location Description City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 (Administered) 

Planned Activities City staff inspection services for persons in LMI Areas in the community 

CDBG National Objective Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or areas 

24

Item 3.



  13 

 

4 Project Name Agency and Organization Support 

Target Area City of Cedar Falls; LMI Limited Clientele 

Goals Supported Prevent Homelessness Through Support of Agencies and Organizations 

Needs Addressed Support for Services for Homeless, Near-Homeless, Special Needs; Provide 
Family and Children’s Services 

Funding Target CDBG: $38,970 (Estimated) 

Description Funds will be used to pay for financial education, nutrition, homelessness 
and sheltering, healthcare, family and children’s services, rent and utility 
assistance, and substance abuse services for Cedar Falls residents who are 
seeking assistance that prevent homelessness. 

Target Date 6/30/2022 

Estimate the number and 
type of families that will 
benefit from the proposed 
activities 

This activity will benefit approximately 4,040 persons, or 1,540 households, 
in the Cedar Falls area. 

Location Description City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 (Administered) 

Planned Activities Offer eligible services, through contracting agencies and organizations, 
which could prevent homelessness in the community 

CDBG National Objective Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons; Limited Clientele 

5 Project Name Neighborhood Infrastructure Improvements 

Target Area City of Cedar Falls LMI Areas 

Goals Supported Neighborhood Infrastructure Improvements 

Needs Addressed Promote Infrastructure Development 

Funding Target CDBG: $0 (Estimated) 

Description Funds will be used to improve infrastructure, specifically sanitary sewer 
service, to LMI areas.  Street, water, stormwater management, and drainage 
improvements may also be funded. 

Target Date 6/30/2022 

Estimate the number and 
type of families that will 
benefit from the proposed 
activities 

This activity will benefit approximately 0 persons or 0 households in the 
Cedar Falls area. 

Location Description LMI Areas 

Planned Activities Line sanitary sewer lines to residential units located in LMI areas in the 
community 

CDBG National Objective Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or areas 

6 Project Name Provide Access to Transportation Services 

Target Area City of Cedar Falls (Citywide); LMI Areas 

Goals Supported Provide Access to Transportation Services 

Needs Addressed Support Economic Development, Business Opportunities, and Commercial 
Building Redevelopment; Promote Neighborhood Development 

Funding Target CDBG: $0 (Estimated) 

Description Provide access to transit services for LMI households in the community 

Target Date 6/30/2022 

Estimate the number and 
type of families that will 
benefit from the proposed 
activities 

This activity will benefit approximately 0 people in the Cedar Falls area. 

Location Description City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 (Administered) 

Planned Activities Offer transit passes to LMI households or extend transit service routes 
and/or hours of service to LMI areas 

25

Item 3.



  14 

 

CDBG National Objective Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or areas 

7 Project Name Neighborhood Accessibility Improvements 

Target Area City of Cedar Falls LMI Areas 

Goals Supported Neighborhood Accessibility Improvements 

Needs Addressed Promote Neighborhood Development 

Funding Target CDBG: $112,871 (Estimated) 

Description Infill sidewalk and trail gaps in LMI areas in the community 

Target Date 6/30/2022 

Estimate the number and 
type of families that will 
benefit from the proposed 
activities 

This activity will benefit approximately 60 persons, or 40 households, in the 
Cedar Falls area. 

Location Description LMI Areas.   

Planned Activities This will be accomplished by infilling pedestrian improvements that will 
connect LMI households to service agencies, organizations, educational, 
recreational facilities, and employment opportunities and centers.  Projects 
will be completed in residential neighborhoods using sidewalk, curb 
cuts/ADA ramps, and trails in LMI areas.   

CDBG National Objective Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or areas 

8 Project Name Neighborhood Recreational Amenities 

Target Area City of Cedar Falls LMI Areas 

Goals Supported Neighborhood Recreational Amenities 

Needs Addressed Promote Neighborhood Development 

Funding Target CDBG: $20,000 (Estimated) 

Description Install park and recreational improvements, trees, and aesthetic amenities 
located in parks or other public property in LMI areas of the community 

Target Date 6/30/2022 

Estimate the number and 
type of families that will 
benefit from the proposed 
activities 

This activity will benefit approximately 20 households, or 40 persons, in the 
Cedar Falls area. 

Location Description LMI Areas. Tree Replacement on public property. 

Planned Activities Install or replace playground equipment, trees, and recreational amenities in 
local city parks or other public properties serving LMI areas and households 

CDBG National Objective Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or areas 

9 Project Name Demolition and Clearance 

Target Area City of Cedar Falls LMI Areas 

Goals Supported Demolition and Clearance 

Needs Addressed Conduct Demolition and Clearance Activities 

Funding Target CDBG: $0 (Estimated) 

Description The funds will be used to prevent slum and blight throughout the Cedar Falls 
City limits by demolishing and clearing dilapidated buildings and structures 
in the community 

Target Date 6/30/2022 

Estimate the number and 
type of families that will 
benefit from the proposed 
activities 

Demolition of approximately 0 dilapidated units in the City 

Location Description City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 (Administered) 
 

26

Item 3.



  15 

 

Planned Activities Demolish approximately 0 dilapidated units within the City 
 

CDBG National Objectives Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or areas; 
Aid in the prevention or elimination of slums or blight 

10 Project Name CDBG Planning and Administration 

Target Area City of Cedar Falls (Citywide) 

Goals Supported All of the AAP goals are supported by this function or activity 

Needs Addressed Provide Effective Planning and Administration 

Funding Target CDBG: $51,960 (Estimated) 

Description General management, oversight and coordination of the CDBG Program, 
policy planning, environmental reviews, report preparation, and 
administration will be financed using CDBG funds 

Target Date 6/30/2022 

Estimate the number and 
type of families that will 
benefit from the proposed 
activities 

Not Applicable 

Location Description City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 (Administered) 

Planned Activities Administrative and planning activities, associated with the CDBG program 

CDBG National Objectives Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or areas; 
Aid in the prevention or elimination of slums or blight 

Table 4 – Project Summary 

27

Item 3.



  16 

 

AP-50 Geographic Distribution - 91.220(f) 
 
Description of the geographic areas of the entitlement (including areas of low-income and minority 
concentration) where assistance will be directed  
 
Our programs will serve Low-Moderate Income (LMI) households, LMI Limited Clientele agencies or organizations, 
or serve LMI areas, as defined by the Census Bureau and HUD.  CDBG funding is used throughout the City of Cedar 
Falls as well as for purchasing services from a limited number of agencies that may not be located in Cedar Falls, 
but which will provide services to Cedar Falls residents. 
 
Geographic Distribution 
 

Target Area Percentage of Funds 

City of Cedar Falls and/or its Residents 100% 

LMI Area Benefit 41% 

Table 5 – Geographic Distribution 
 
Rationale for the priorities for allocating investments geographically  
 
As noted above, the City will only assist individual LMI households under Activity 1, Owner Occupied Housing 
Rehabilitation, and Activity 2, rental rehabilitation.  Also, the City plans to fund agencies serving LMI households or 
offering LMI Limited Clientele, as is allowed annually under activity 4.  Also, it plans to use funds to benefit LMI 
areas within the community for Activities 7 and 8, Neighborhood Access and Recreational Improvements.  To that 
end, there are currently 7 census tracts with 8 block groups that have an LMI percentage of 51 percent or greater 
(ACS 2011-2015). Specifically, Census tract 2200 block group 2 and 3; tract 2301 block group 3; tract 2303 block 
group 1; tract 2304 block group 2; tract 2500 block group 3; tract 2603 block group 4; and tract 2604 block group 5.   
 
Discussion 
 
The qualifying block groups are scattered throughout the community, and the City does intend to use CDBG 
funding to support LMI-specific areas. Most of the agency or family support programs funded through CDBG and 
these programs are based on an individual household LMI determination or on a Limited Clientele basis.  
Rehabilitation programs, and those benefitting a specific household or rental units, will require participants to 
meet HUD-prescribed LMI income guidelines. 
 
For the life of this Annual Action Plan, the City has projected that it will expend 31 percent of its budget on specific 
low-and-moderate income households under its homeowner and renter rehabilitation and repair programs 
citywide, while planning to expend 41 percent of its overall budget for LMI-area benefit projects.  Agencies and 
organizations are planning to be awarded 12 percent of the fund available for the year.  Finally, planning and 
administration expense are projected to expend 16 percent of the annual allocation.  

28

Item 3.



  17 

 

AP-55 Affordable Housing Goals – 91.220(g) 
 
Goals: The following goals were established in this Action Plan for CDBG Use in the City. 
 

1 Goal Name Maintain Existing Affordable Housing: Owner Occupied Units 

Goal 
Description 

Continue to provide housing grants for rehabilitation, repair, accessibility and structural 
hazard removal grants to eligible low-and-moderate income households in order to preserve 
owner-occupied single-family housing stock.  

Plan 
References 

 Consolidated Plan Objective 1 

 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Public Sector Market Based Actions. 

National 
Objective 

 Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons 

2 Goal Name Maintain Existing Affordable Housing: Renter Occupied Units 

Goal 
Description 

Create housing grants for rehabilitation, repair, accessibility, and structural hazard removal 
grants to eligible low-and-moderate income households in order to preserve renter-occupied 
housing stock.  

Plan 
References 

 Consolidated Plan Objective 1  

 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Public Sector Market Based Actions. 

National 
Objective 

 Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons 

3 Goal Name Preserve Existing Affordable Housing through Code Enforcement 

Goal 
Description 

Working with the Elected Officials, Housing Commission, and Staff, continue to equitably 
enforce municipal code provisions that affect the safety of housing conditions, including 
property and rental inspections, municipal infractions, and building and structural codes (i.e. 
fire, mechanical, plumbing, electrical codes).  Associated expenses in low-and-moderate 
income areas would benefit from implementing this goal. 

Plan 
Reference 

 Consolidated Plan Objective 1  

 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Public Sector Market Based and Private Sector 
Market Based Actions. 

National 
Objectives 

 Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or LMI areas 

4 Goal Name Prevent Homelessness Through Support of Agencies and Organizations 

Goal 
Description 

Continue supporting agencies providing homeless services, including sheltering, in the 
community, as well as providing financial counseling, nutritional, substance abuse, family 
services, and healthcare. 

Plan 
References 

 Consolidated Plan Objectives 1 and 3  

 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Public Sector Market Based Actions. 

National 
Objective 

 Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons; Limited Income Clientele 

5 Goal Name Neighborhood Infrastructure Improvements 

Goal 
Description 

This goal provides for funding of infrastructure projects including street, water, sanitary 
sewer, stormwater management, and other projects in specific neighborhoods qualifying as 
low-and-moderate income areas.  

Plan 
References 

 Consolidated Plan Objective 2 

 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Public Sector Market Based and Private Sector 
Market Based Actions. 

National 
Objective 

 Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or LMI areas 

6 Goal Name Provide Access to Transportation Services 

Goal 
Description 

Program provides funding for transportation to income-eligible households that are 
dependent upon these services in order to maintain employment. 

29

Item 3.



  18 

 

Plan 
References 

 Consolidated Plan Objectives 1 and 4 

 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Public Sector Market Based, Public Sector Policy 
Based, and Private Sector Market Based Actions. 

National 
Objective 

 Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or LMI areas 

7 Goal Name Neighborhood Accessibility Improvements 

Goal 
Description 

Improved sidewalks, steps, curb-cuts, and trails that address accessibility barriers to residents 
in LMI areas, as identified by the Census Bureau. 

Plan 
References 

 Consolidated Plan Objectives 2 and 4 

 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Public Sector Market Based, Public Sector Policy 
Based, and Private Sector Market Based Actions. 

National 
Objective 

 Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or LMI areas 

8 Goal Name Neighborhood Recreational Amenities 

Goal 
Description 

Provide funds for increasing access to healthy lifestyles and educational advancement related 
to parks, recreation, trees, and active living parks in LMI areas of the community. 

Plan 
References 

 Consolidated Plan Objectives 2 and 4 

 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Public Sector Market Based Actions and Private 
Sector Market Based Actions. 

National 
Objective 

 Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or LMI areas 

9 Goal Name Conduct Demolition and Clearance Activities 

Goal 
Description 

The primary purpose of this project is the demolition and clearance of dilapidated structures, 
thus eliminating specific conditions of blight or physical decay on a local basis.  Individual 
demolition/clearance activities will be subject to CDBG eligibility verification.  

Plan 
References 

 Consolidated Plan Objective 2 

 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Public Sector Market Based and Private Sector 
Market Based Actions. 

National 
Objective 

 Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or LMI areas 

 Aid in the prevention or elimination of slums or blight 

10 Goal Name CDBG Planning and Administration 

Goal 
Description 

Provide CDBG Administrative Services, by city staff or contractors assisting city staff. The 
program provides effective planning and administration for CDBG programs that benefit low-
and-moderate income areas and households in the community. 

Plan 
References 

 Consolidated Plan Objectives 1, 2, 3, and 4 

 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Public Sector Market Based, Public Sector Policy 
Based, and Private Sector Market Based Actions. 

National 
Objective 

 Benefit to low-and-moderate income (LMI) persons and/or LMI areas 

 Aid in the prevention or elimination of slums or blight 

Table 6 – Goal Description 

  

30

Item 3.



  19 

 

AP-60 Public Housing – 91.220(h) 
 
The City of Cedar Falls does not own or manage public housing facilities, nor are there any located in the 
community, and therefore, this Action Planning process did not include evaluation of the needs of public housing, 
increasing engagement of public housing residents in the process, or addressing a “troubled” public housing 
agency. 
 
AP-65 Homeless and Other Special Need Activities – 91.220(i) 
 
To address homeless and special needs populations, the City of Cedar Falls uses the maximum allowable dollars for 
distribution to several agencies, as has been noted.  In addition, in FFY 2019 through FFY 2020, the City awarded 
much of their Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act funding to seven agencies and three 
schools to, “prevent, prepare for, or respond to Coronavirus”.  The allocation process included formal Request for 
Proposals (RFP) processes, and whereby prospective agencies outline the services that they can offer to the City.  
The City conducts onsite monitoring visits to each agency receiving funds.  These monitoring visits help ensure that 
quality services are being delivered while providing an opportunity for staff to become more aware of the service 
details, needs, and impacts.  Finally, the awarded agencies are given an opportunity to attend a City Housing 
Commission meeting to discuss their programs; offer insight regarding needs, particularly those that are unmet; 
and assuring the City that the CDBG funds are having a positive impact on its residents or clients. 
 
The City addresses homelessness and special needs in the following ways.  First, the City funds agencies where 
expenses relate to operating homeless shelters (Salvation Army in prior years).  Second, the City also funds 
agencies such that they may offer specific training and education that may affect a household’s needs, by 
hopefully offering resources regarding financial management, abuse, and family relationships, and credit 
counseling. Third, the City has offered CDBG funding for at-home healthcare, outpatient mental health services, 
and substance abuse counseling/treatment.  Fourth, the City is funding several agencies that are providing rent or 
mortgage assistance, the need for which originates with the COVID-19 pandemic.  Finally, the City, using its CDBG 
and CDBG CARES funds, hopes to address hunger and nutritional needs by funding the regional food bank pantry.  
As is generally expected, resident needs outpace the amount of funding the City can offer the agencies through the 
CDBG or CDBG CARES programs alone. 
 
AP-70: HOPWA Goals – 91.220(l)(3) 
 
The City of Cedar Falls is not a HOPWA recipient. 
 
AP-75 Barriers to Affordable Housing – 91.220(j) 
 
Consistent with what was reported in prior Annual Action Plans, the need for quality, affordable housing is 
outpacing the existence of such units in Cedar Falls.  Between demand on the units by full-time residents, and that 
which comes with being a state university community and its student housing needs, the City has unmet demand 
for affordable housing.  This problem has only been exacerbated during the pandemic, as vacancy rate for all types 
of units has fallen dramatically in the community, while prices have climbed very quickly. 
 
With that said, there are several different kinds of barriers to the development or creation of affordable housing in 
Cedar Falls, some of which are outside of the City’s ability to control.  First, the housing market, for low-income 
residents in Cedar Falls, is relatively expensive, with home valuation and rent costs being relatively high.  Second, 
housing demand in the community has driven-up construction costs for both single-family and multiple-family 
developments.  For example, significant demand for rental properties, some of which is attributed to the 
University of Northern Iowa student population, has increased prices dramatically, to the point of making units 
unaffordable for some low-and-moderate income households.  Third, market demand has driven the price of land 
and materials upward in the community, not to mention the high costs associated with “greenfield” residential 
development (that which occurs on previously undeveloped land), most notably the cost of infrastructure.   Part of 
the dramatic increases the City is currently experiencing in construction materials continue to be caused by supply 

31

Item 3.



  20 

 

chain problems, associated with the COVID-19 pandemic.  Finally, even with additional CDBG CARES funds the City 
continues to be experiencing impediments to meeting low-and-moderate income housing needs. 

As they may be identified, the City of Cedar Falls takes action to ameliorate negative effects of public policy on 
housing affordability.  Also, the City may wish to explore public-private-nonprofit partnerships in the development 
of affordable housing.  Nonprofit developers can build mixed income housing and attract additional 
resources/financing that private developers cannot, when it comes to creating new affordable housing.  Said 
housing may be marketed at workforce housing as opposed to being labeled affordable.  Nevertheless, the City 
does recognize the effect that their housing market, along with high materials prices and supply chain issues 
caused by the pandemic are having on the price of housing, which may affect whether or not people can afford to 
live in the community.   

The City’s Comprehensive Plan identifies future use including areas that may be developed at higher densities, 
which may help address the availability of affordable housing.  Specifically, the plan identifies the following areas 
that may be suitable for higher density development: along University Avenue, west of Hudson Road; immediately 
east of the University of Northern Iowa; and intermixed with uses in the Main Street area, between 1st Street and 
7th Street. The codes, specifically zoning, building, and other regulatory ordinances that the City has adopted are 
designed and drafted to treat properties and people uniformly and fairly.  The City has completed a community 
visioning plan for the Downtown and College Hill areas.  The community involvement with each plan pointed to a 
need for housing options and the plans recommend Missing Middle Housing.  The City adopted a new downtown 
zoning code, in November 2021, that will enable the housing types of the “Missing Middle” and also allow housing 
options such as Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) for housing flexibility and affordability.   Building permit fees are 
based upon the value of the improvements made to properties in an attempt to create fairness.  Finally, a private 
non-profit economic development corporation has formed during the past year, and they have established a 
housing subcommittee and have commissioned the development of a citywide Housing Needs Assessment. 

Property tax assessment is based upon valuation, as determined by the County Assessor.  Regarding the levy rate 
for determining actual property tax amounts, they are set by the City Council as part of their annual budgeting 
process.  Said levy rates are set by classification (property use), the percentage of which that is collected by the 
City is determined by the State of Iowa.  Currently, residentially classified property is rolled-back by the state such 
that local governments may only tax at a rate of 56.4 percent of a property’s market or 100 percent value. In 
addition, in 2015, the State adopted a rollback for multi-residential properties that was to be implemented over 
several years.  The tax rate began at 86.25 percent of a property’s market value, and over eight years, it will 
incrementally reduce in percentage until it is the same rollback as that of residentially classified properties (i.e. in 
the 50-60 percent range).  This, rollback then, reduces property tax income for the City. 

The City recognizes the higher cost of housing in their community, which may be attributed to market demand, 
land value, materials pricing and supply chain problems, and development cost (primarily infrastructure).  
Obviously, then, this higher cost may not allow for persons with limited means to reside in the community.  As a 
result, the City’s participation in the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Entitlement Program becomes 
that much more important.  The CDBG Entitlement has offered not only physical housing assistance in the way of 
rehabilitation and repair programs, but the community has offered assistance to residents for direct services, the 
cost of which were borne by the Program, thus not requiring persons to have to make difficult decisions between 
paying for housing-related expenses and the other services they may need or require.  Participation in the CDBG 
program also allows for infrastructure, accessibility, and recreational investments, thus affecting rates, taxes, or 
assessments for property owners because CDBG funds are used to resolve related issues or expenses. 

 

32

Item 3.



  21 

 

AP-85 Other Actions - 91.220(k) 
 
Introduction 
 
The City of Cedar Falls addresses obstacles to meeting the needs of the underserved through supporting several 
public service agencies and nonprofit organizations that strive to prevent homelessness and provide affordable 
housing to Cedar Falls residents. Also, the City is working to maintain the affordable housing stock in the area and 
provide decent and safe conditions to its residents. 
 
Actions planned to address obstacles to meeting underserved needs. 
 
The City of Cedar Falls will continue to work with public service agencies and nonprofit organizations to ensure we 
are reaching the goal of assisting residents with the greatest need. Incidentally, the City received an additional 
$660,000 in Coronavirus Aid, Relieve, and Economic Security (CARES) Act funds, most of which was being allocated 
to seven agencies and three schools.  The funding supports housing improvements, preventing homelessness, food 
security, housing security through rent/mortgage support, equipment for safe operations during the health 
emergency, and remove education/work during the health emergency.   Also, the City will work with code 
enforcement and other departments to identify potential at-risk residents. By networking with other agencies, we 
can combine multiple funding sources to provide more services to low-and-moderate income residents. 
 
Actions planned to foster and maintain affordable housing. 
 
Cedar Falls continues to work on fostering affordable housing in the community. The Housing Rehabilitation and 
Repair Programs assist qualified homeowners and renters with substantial rehabilitation or repairs to existing 
units. This year, Cedar Falls will work to kick off a rental repair program.  We have not had such a program before.  
Funding has also been provided to provide financial education classes and planning, as well as family support 
services. Habitat for Humanity encourages affordable housing through new construction and housing rehabilitation 
programs that they manage within the community.  Finally, the City, in conjunction with the newly formed Cedar 
Falls Economic Development Corporation, are planning to complete a comprehensive, citywide Housing Needs 
Assessment, which will determine the current affordability challenges and opportunities for the community. 
 
Actions planned to reduce lead-based paint hazards. 
 
The Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments directly, or through its subcontractor, provides lead risk 
assessment and completes lead-based paint clearance testing on the rehabilitation projects in Cedar Falls. In 
addition, the program budgets for relocation expenses of homeowners at-risk to the negative impacts from lead-
based paint. The City will continue to work with local, county, regional and other government agencies to achieve 
lead safe homes. The city provides "Protect Your Family from Lead in Your Home" brochure to educate CDBG 
applicants about the dangers of lead in the home. 
 
Actions planned to develop institutional structure.  
 
The City, including Community Development Department and its Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher Program 
(which may also be known as the Cedar Falls Low Rent Housing Agency or Cedar Falls Housing Authority), and their 
contractor, the Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG), will continue to work to strengthen 
the institutional structure used to manage the CDBG Entitlement Program.  Together, they will also continue to 
address the housing delivery gap between public and non-public organizations in the community.  Said 
organizations will also address the gap that exists with regard to private housing industry participation in 
developing the City’s institutional structure.  Specifically, the Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher Program will work 
with private industry to increase and maintain affordable housing stock for low-to-moderate income households.  
Through experience, participation in local, regional (PHA Director Association), state (Iowa NAHRO, Iowa 
Association of Housing Officials), and national (NAHRO, American Planning Association) housing and planning 
organizations, educational opportunities, and peer-to-peer exchanges with other CDBG Entitlement recipients, 

33

Item 3.



  22 

 

staff-members will become more proficient in executing, managing, assessing, and anticipating change within the 
program.  Further, the above-mentioned entities, together with Cedar Falls’ consortium partner in the HOME 
Investment Partnership Program, the City of Waterloo Community Development Department, will continue to do 
likewise with the institutional structure associated with administering the HOME Program. 
 
Actions planned to reduce the number of poverty-level families. 
 
Cedar Falls has incorporated the Continuum of Care approach, providing an integrated system of services and 
programs to meet the various needs of individuals as they progress toward financial self-sufficiency. Cedar Falls 
has worked with local service providers to pursue resources and innovative partnerships to support the 
development of affordable housing; prevent homelessness, abuse, and substance abuse; offer housing education 
and literacy; pay mortgage and rent and/or utilities for residents in arrears on both using CARES (COVID-19) funds; 
hire interpreters for addressing the needs of their non-English speaking population, and provide emergency food 
and shelter to those persons in danger of becoming homeless. 
 
Actions planned to enhance coordination between public and private housing and social service agencies. 
 
Staff outreach is key in enhancing coordination between public and private housing and social service agencies, 
relative to housing in the city. Specifically, staff manages the Housing Choice Vouchers Program, which maintains a 
relationship with private housing management firms.  Further, the growth in the City has required staff to build 
relationships with private developers working the community.  Also, the aforementioned Housing Needs 
Assessment process will include numerous agencies, including public and private housing and housing-related 
service providers, will afford the City opportunities to continue building relationships and coordination among 
providers.  Finally, the City has built and maintains a good communication dialog with local public service agencies 
and private non-profit organizations through its Entitlement Program, which are directly or indirectly involved in 
housing in the community. By working with and educating participating landlords and property owners, private 
developers, service organizations, about the City, its programs, and requirements, it will position itself to 
better meet the needs of the low-moderate-income individuals and households in the city. 
 
AP-90 Program Specific Requirements - CDBG 91.220(l)(1) 

 
CDBG-funded projects that are expected to be available during the year are identified in the Projects Summary 
Table (AP-35) above. The following identifies any program income that may available for use in said projects.  

 
1. The total amount of program income that will have been received before the start of the next program 

year and that has not yet been reprogrammed $0 
2. The amount of proceeds from Section 108 loan guarantees that will be used during the year to address the 

priority needs and specific objectives identified in the grantee's strategic plan. $0 
3. The amount of surplus funds from urban renewal settlements $0 
4. The amount of any grant funds returned to the line of credit for which the planned use has not been 

included in a prior statement or plan $0 
5. The amount of income from float-funded activities $0 
Total Program Income: $0 

 
Other CDBG Requirements  

 
1. The amount of urgent need activities 0 
2. The estimated percentage of CDBG funds that will be used for activities that benefit persons 

of low and moderate income. Overall Benefit - A consecutive period of one, two or three 
years may be used to determine that a minimum overall benefit of 70 percent of CDBG 
funds is used to benefit persons of low-and-moderate income. Specify the years covered 
that include this Annual Action Plan. 70.00% 

34

Item 3.



  23 

 

  
  
  

AP-90: Program-Specific Requirements-HOME 91.220(l)(2) 

The City of Cedar Falls is not a direct HOME Investment Partnership Program recipient.  However, it is part of a 

HOME consortium with the City of Waterloo, Iowa.  As part of the HOME process, the City of Cedar Falls is also 

working closely with INRCOG and the Iowa Heartland Habitat for Humanity Chapter to implement their HOME 

projects and plans. 

AP-90: Program-Specific Requirements-ESG 91.220(l)(4) 

The City of Cedar Falls is not an ESG recipient. 

AP-90: Program-Specific Requirements-HOPWA 91.220(l)(3) 

The City of Cedar Falls is not a HOPWA recipient. 

AP-90: HTF Specific Review 91.220(l)(5) 

The City of Cedar Falls does not administer HTF funds. 

35

Item 3.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 

 
 
  
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council  
  
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
  
 DATE: June 27, 2022 
 
 SUBJECT: Olive Street Box Culvert Replacement Project 
  City Project Number: BR-106-3215 
  Public Hearing 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of 
Costs and Quantities for the Olive Street Box Culvert Replacement Project. 
 
This project consists of removing the existing structurally deficient bridge on Olive Street 
and extending the College Street Box Culvert through to Olive Street. The Pettersen 
Plaza will be extended over the top of the new box culvert. Project will also include 
realignment of sanitary sewer and street related work adjacent to the box culver on 
Olive Street.  
 
The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $2,205,932.61. The project 
will be funded by General Obligation Bonds and Tax Increment Financing. 
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends approving the 
Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities for the Olive Street Box 
Culvert Replacement Project. 
 
xc: David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
  

36

Item 4.



Item No. Item Code Item Description Unit
 Estimated 

Quantities 

 Engineer's 

Estimate Unit 

Price 

 Estimated Costs 

1 2010 CLEARING AND GRUBBING UNITS 170.0 60.00$                10,200.00$                   

2 DOT 2104 EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, CHANNEL CY 171.4 25.00$                  4,285.00$                      

3 2010 EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, ROADWAY CY 195.0 18.50$                  3,607.50$                      

4 2010 EXCAVATION, CLASS 20 CY 2494.1 35.00$                  87,293.50$                   

5 2010 REMOVALS, STRUCTURAL BASES EACH 3.0 2,000.00$            6,000.00$                      

6 2010 SUBBASE, GRANULAR SY 520.0 25.00$                  13,000.00$                   

7 DOT 2115 SUBBASE, MODIFIED CY 37.8 23.00$                  869.40$                         

8 2010 SUBBGRADE PREPARATION, 12 IN. SY 520.0 2.50$                    1,300.00$                      

9 2010 SUBGRADE TREATMENT, GEOGRID SY 100.0 8.00$                    800.00$                         

10 2010 TOPSOIL, ONSITE CY 150.0 14.00$                  2,100.00$                      

11 2010 TOPSOIL, OFFSITE CY 50.0 26.00$                  1,300.00$                      

12 DOT 2107 SPECIAL BACKFILL CY 1182.8 35.00$                  41,398.00$                   

13 DOT 2210 MACADAM STONE BASE TON 515.0 25.00$                  12,875.00$                   

14 DOT 2401 REMOVAL OF EXISTING STRUCTURES LS 2.0 10,000.00$          20,000.00$                   

15 DOT 2402 EXCAVATION, CLASS 20 CY 2494.1 25.00$                  62,352.50$                   

16 DOT 2402 EXCAVATION, CLASS 23, BOULDERS, CONCRETE RIP RAP, GABION CY 50.0 35.00$                  1,750.00$                      

17 DOT 2402 SPECIAL BACKFILLFOR BLANKET AND SUBDRAIN TON 625.9 32.00$                  20,028.80$                   

18 DOT 2402 COMPACTION WITH MOISTURE CONTROL (STRUCTURES) CY 1182.1 6.00$                    7,092.60$                      

19 DOT 2403 STRUCTURAL CONCRETE (MISCELLANEOUS) CY 42.5 1,500.00$            63,750.00$                   

20 DOT 2403 STRUCTURAL CONCRETE (RCB CULVERT) CY 60.7 600.00$                36,420.00$                   

21 DOT 2404 REINFORCING STEEL LB 15079.0 1.50$                    22,618.50$                   

22 DOT 2414 STRUCTURAL STEEL PEDESTRIAN HAND RAILING LF 88.0 260.00$                22,880.00$                   

23 DOT 2415 PRECAST CONCRETE BOX CULVERT, TWIN 14 FT X 6 FT LF 228.0 2,800.00$            638,400.00$                 

24 DOT 2415 PRECAST CONCRETE BOX CULVERT, STRAIGHT END SECTION, TWIN 14 FT X 6 FT EACH 1.0 30,000.00$          30,000.00$                   

25 DOT 2415 SPECIAL PRECAST CONCRETE BOX CULVERT, STRAIGHT END SECTION, 14FT. X 6FT. EACH 1.0 12,000.00$          12,000.00$                   

26 DOT 2506 FLOWABLE MORTAR CY 429.2 200.00$                85,840.00$                   

27 DOT 2507 ENGINEERING FABRIC SY 416.0 3.50$                    1,456.00$                      

28 DOT 2518 SAFETY CLOSURE EACH 4.0 200.00$                800.00$                         

29 DOT 2518 SAFETY FENCING LF 800.0 8.00$                    6,400.00$                      

30 DOT 2523 ELECTRICAL CIRCUITS LF 320.0 20.00$                  6,400.00$                      

31 DOT 2523 LIGHT POLE REMOVAL EACH 1.0 700.00$                700.00$                         

32 DOT 2523 TYPE 1 LIGHTING POLES EACH 6.0 6,000.00$            36,000.00$                   

33 DOT 2524 REMOVAL OF TYPE A SIGN ASSEMBLY EACH 2.0 50.00$                  100.00$                         

34 DOT 2524 TYPE A SIGNS, REMOVAL AND REINSTALL EACH 5.0 500.00$                2,500.00$                      

35 11020 MOBILIZATION LS 1.0 140,000.00$        140,000.00$                 

36 DOT 2602 OPEN-THROAT CURB INTAKE SEDIMENT FILTER EACH 4.0 10.00$                  40.00$                           

37 DOT 2602 MAINTENANCE OF OPEN-THROAT CURB INTAKE SEDIMENT FILTER EACH 4.0 20.00$                  80.00$                           

38 DOT 2602 REMOVAL OF OPEN-THROAT CURB INTAKE SEDIMENT FILTER EACH 4.0 20.00$                  80.00$                           

39 DOT 2602 TEMPORARY INTAKE OR MANHOLE COVER ASSEMBLY EACH 1.0 20.00$                  20.00$                           

40 DOT 2602 MAINTENANCE OF TEMPORARY INTAKE OR MANHOLE COVER ASSEMBLY EACH 1.0 20.00$                  20.00$                           

41 DOT 2602 REMOVAL OF TEMPORARY INTAKE OR MANHOLE COVER ASSEMBLY EACH 1.0 20.00$                  20.00$                           

42 DOT 2602 PERIMETER AND SLOPE SEDIMENT CONTROL DEVICE, 12 IN. LF 250.0 20.00$                  5,000.00$                      

43 DOT 2602 PERIMETER AND SLOPE SEDIMENT CONTROL DEVICE, 9 IN. LF 250.0 1.75$                    437.50$                         

44 DOT 2602 REMOVAL OF PERIMETER AND SLOPE SEDIMENT CONTROL DEVICE LF 500.0 0.60$                    300.00$                         

45 DOT 2602 ROLLED EROSION CONTROL PRODUCT, TYPE II SQ 62.0 12.00$                  744.00$                         

46 3010 REPLACEMENT OF UNSUITABLE BACKFILL MATERIAL CY 50.0 57.00$                  2,850.00$                      

47 4020 REMOVAL OF SANITARY SEWER, LESS THAN 36 IN. LF 50.0 12.00$                  600.00$                         

48 4020 SANITARY ABANDONMENT, PLUG AND FILL, LESS THAN 36 IN. LF 246.0 20.00$                  4,920.00$                      

49 4020 REMOVAL OF STORM SEWER, LESS THAN 36 IN. LF 99.0 12.00$                  1,188.00$                      

50 4020 SANITARY SEWER, TRENCHED, TRUSS, 8 IN. LF 10.0 85.00$                  850.00$                         

51 4020 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, RCP, CLASS III, 15 IN. LF 134.0 75.00$                  10,050.00$                   

52 4020 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, RCP, CLASS III, 18 IN. LF 76.0 80.00$                  6,080.00$                      

53 4020 STORM SEWER, TRENCHED, HDPE, 6 IN. LF 34.0 16.00$                  544.00$                         

54 4040 SUBDRAIN OUTLETS AND CONNECTIONS, EXISTING SUBDRAIN, 6 IN. EACH 4.0 350.00$                1,400.00$                      

55 4040 SUBDRAIN OUTLETS AND CONNECTIONS, PER PLAN, 6 IN. EACH 6.0 200.00$                1,200.00$                      

56 4040 SUBDRAIN, TYPE S, 6 IN. LF 1217.0 16.00$                  19,472.00$                   

57 5010 FITTINGS BY COUNT, DUCTILE IRON, 8 IN TO 4 IN, REDUCER EACH 2.0 600.00$                1,200.00$                      

58 5010 FITTINGS BY COUNT, DUCTILE IRON, 8 IN, 45° ELBOW EACH 4.0 500.00$                2,000.00$                      

59 5010 FITTINGS BY COUNT, DUCTILE IRON, 4 IN, 90° ELBOW EACH 4.0 500.00$                2,000.00$                      

60 5010 WATER MAIN, DIRECT BURIED, DUCTILE IRON PIPE (DIP), 4 IN, POLY WRAPPED LF 40.0 115.00$                4,600.00$                      

61 5010 WATER MAIN, DIRECT BURIED, DUCTILE IRON PIPE (DIP), 8 IN, POLY WRAPPED LF 110.0 120.00$                13,200.00$                   

62 5010 WATER SERVICE STUB, COPPER, 3/4 IN LF 59.7 110.00$                6,567.00$                      

63 5020 VALVE, GATE, DIP, 8 IN EACH 2.0 3,500.00$            7,000.00$                      

64 6010 ADJUSTMENT OF EXISTING MANHOLE OR INTAKE, MAJOR EACH 1.0 2,000.00$            2,000.00$                      

65 6010 INTAKE, SW-507 EACH 3.0 5,200.00$            15,600.00$                   

66 6010 INTAKE, SW-513 (36"X36") EACH 2.0 8,400.00$            16,800.00$                   

67 6010 MANHOLE, SW-401, 48 IN. EACH 1.0 5,200.00$            5,200.00$                      

68 6010 INTAKE, NYLOPLAST HEAVY DUTY 3' X 3' GRATE EACH 1.0 3,000.00$            3,000.00$                      

69 6010 REMOVALS, MANHOLE OR INTAKE EACH 1.0 550.00$                550.00$                         

70 6010 SANITARY SEWER, MANHOLE, SW-301, 48 IN. EACH 1.0 4,100.00$            4,100.00$                      

71 7010

STANDARD OR SLIP FORM PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE PAVEMENT, CLASS C, CLASS 3 

DURABILITY, 8 IN. SY 416.8 60.00$                  25,008.00$                   

72 7010 CURB AND GUTTER LF 36.0 58.00$                  2,088.00$                      

73 7030 DETECTABLE WARNINGS, CAST IRON SF 10.0 52.00$                  520.00$                         

74 7030 DRIVEWAYS, PCC, 6 IN. SY 104.6 45.00$                  4,707.00$                      

75 7030 PCC SIDEWALK, PCC, 4 IN. SY 179.6 40.00$                  7,184.00$                      

Engineer's Estimate of Costs
Olive Street Box Culvert Replacement Project

Cedar Falls Project No.: BR-106-3215

AECOM Project No.: 60623997

6/9/2022

37

Item 4.



76 7030 PCC SIDEWALK, PCC, 6 IN. SY 3.8 50.00$                  190.00$                         

77 7030 REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK, SHARED USE PATH, OR DRIVEWAY SY 914.0 9.00$                    8,226.00$                      

78 7040 REMOVAL OF CURB AND GUTTER LF 36.0 10.00$                  360.00$                         

79 7040 REMOVAL OF PAVEMENT SY 421.4 7.50$                    3,160.50$                      

80 7040 SAWCUT FOR REMOVALS LF 123.8 8.00$                    990.40$                         

81 8010 HANDHOLES AND JUNCTION BOXES EACH 1.0 900.00$                900.00$                         

82 8030 TRAFFIC CONTROL LS 1.0 6,000.00$            6,000.00$                      

83 9010 SEEDING, FERTILIZING, AND MULCHING FOR HYDRAULIC SEEDING ACRE 2.0 6,000.00$            12,000.00$                   

84 9010 TEMPORARY HYDRO-SEEDING TYPE 4 ACRE 2.0 6,000.00$            12,000.00$                   

85 9010 WATERING MGAL 100.0 160.00$                16,000.00$                   

86 DOT 2507 REVETMENT, CLASS E TON 317 60.00$                  19,020.00$                   

87 9080 HANDRAILING, REMOVAL AND REINSTALLATION LF 18.0 60.00$                  1,080.00$                      

88 9080 REMOVAL OF HANDRAILING LF 155.0 35.00$                  5,425.00$                      

89 9060 VINYL FENCE, 72 IN. LF 185.0 80.00$                  14,800.00$                   

90 9060 VINYL GATE, 72 IN. EACH 1.0 400.00$                400.00$                         

91 11010 DEMOLITION, HOUSE LS 1.0 25,000.00$          25,000.00$                   

92 11050 CONCRETE WASHOUT LS 1.0 7,000.00$            7,000.00$                      

93 DOT 2501 TEMPORARY SHORING LS 1.0 50,000.00$          50,000.00$                   

94 7030 LANDSCAPING LS 1.0 84,000.00$          84,000.00$                   

95 9030 LANDSCAPE PAVERS SF 7860.0 30.00$                  235,800.00$                 

96 7030 LANDSCAPE PAVERS REMOVE AND REPLACE LS 50.0 30.00$                  1,500.00$                      

97 DOT 2304 TEMPORARY PAVEMENT, 6 IN. SF 225.0 68.00$                  15,300.00$                   

5% Contingency 105,044.41$        

Engineer's Estimate Costs 2,205,932.61$    

38

Item 4.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
  
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 
 DATE: June 27, 2022 
 
SUBJECT:  Updates to City Code Section 23-374 – Parking Prohibited on Specific 

Streets 
 
The current no parking ordinance on South Lawn Road from Stanwood Drive to 
Melendy Lane on the east side of South Lawn extends from Stanwood to 240 feet 
south. This leaves a small section of approximately 60 feet north of Melendy Lane 
where parking is currently allowed on the east side of South Lawn. This area creates 
concerns of a congested corridor that can lead to single lane traffic and also potential 
vehicular movement conflicts onto and from Melendy Lane.  
 
The Engineering Division is recommending that the current no parking that exists on the 
east side of South Lawn Road from Stanwood Drive south to extend through to Melendy 
Lane and designated as permanently prohibited parking. This will make the parking 
prohibition on the east side of South Lawn Road more consistent along the corridor from 
Stanwood Drive to Melendy Lane.  
 
The Engineering Division is proposing changes to City Code Section 23-374 – Parking 
Prohibited on Specific Streets so the code will match the proposed limits of the no 
parking along the east side of South Lawn Road. Please see the attached changes to 
City Code Section 23-374 – Parking Prohibited on Specific Streets.  
 
The Engineering Division recommends approval to set the newly defined area to 
prohibit on-street parking. This area is highlighted in the attached map.  
 
If you have any questions or need additional information, please feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 
 
 
 
    

39

Item 5.



40

Item 5.

WickeD
Line

WickeD
Callout
Current No Parking Limits

WickeD
Line

WickeD
Line

WickeD
Line

WickeD
Callout
Proposed Area of Additional Prohibited Parking



Prepared By: David Wicke, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 3013 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 23-374, PARKING PROHIBITED ON 
SPECIFIC STREETS, OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE IV, 
STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING, OF CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND 
MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, BY STRIKING THE SUBSECTION  PROHIBITING 
PARKING ON PORTIONS OF SOUTH LAWN ROAD, AND ENACTING A NEW 
SUBSECTION PROHIBITING PARKING ON PORTIONS OF SOUTH LAWN 
ROAD IN LIEU THEREOF.  
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
Section 1.  The unnumbered subsection prohibiting parking on portions of South Lawn 
Road contained in Section 23-374, Parking prohibited on specific streets, of Division 1, 
Generally, of Article IV, Stopping, Standing and Parking, of Chapter 23, Traffic and 
Motor Vehicles, is hereby stricken in its entirety and a new unnumbered subsection 
prohibiting parking on portions of South Lawn Road contained in Section 23-374 is 
enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

 

            Street                                    Portion Where Parking Prohibited 

South Lawn Road On the east side from the north line of Bonita Boulevard 
south a distance of 200 feet. 

 
                                           On the west side from the south line of Bonita Boulevard 

south a distance of 60 feet. 
 
                                           On the east side from the south curb line of Stanwood 

Drive south to the north curb line of Melendy Lane. 
 

 

INTRODUCED:       June 20, 2022    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:     June 20, 2022    

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:          

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:          

ADOPTED:             

        
 
                                                                                      ___________________________ 
                                                                                      Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

41

Item 5.



 

 

 
    Created: 2021-04-12 12:55:40 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 9) 

 
Page 1 of 1 

Sec. 23-374. Parking prohibited on specific streets. 

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, no person shall park a vehicle at any time upon any of the 
streets or portions of streets enumerated in this section.  

Street  Portion Where  
Parking Prohibited  

South Lawn Road  On the east side from the north line of Bonita Boulevard south a distance of 200 feet.  

 On the west side from the south line of Bonita Boulevard south a distance of 60 feet.  

 On the east side from the south curb line of Stanwood Drive south to the north curb 

line of Melendy Lane a distance of 240 feet.  

 

42

Item 5.



MEETING OF STANDING COMMITTEES 
Community Center 

June 20, 2022 

 
The meeting of Standing Committees met at the Community Center at 5:50 p.m. on June 20, 2022, 
with the following Committee persons in attendance:  Councilmembers Susan deBuhr, Kelly Dunn, 
Daryl Kruse, Simon Harding, Dustin Ganfield (via video conference), Gil Schultz, and Dave Sires.  
Staff members from all City Departments and members of the community attended in person.   

Administration Committee: 

Chair Dunn called the meeting to order and introduced the only item on the agenda, Council Meeting 
Rules of Order (Administrative Policy No. 7) and introduced Mayor Green.  Mayor Green gave a brief 
overview of the thirty-three proposed changes to Administrative Policy No. 7.  Chair Dunn opened for 
questions from Council; Councilmembers discussed the following items: 

1. Title and Numbering of City Council Meeting Procedures - Consensus:  Change the numbering 
format as proposed to the Municipal Directives Index format, but the name would stay “City Council 
Meeting Procedures”.   

5. Remote Attendance (Rule 2.4) – Consensus: Members may attend via remote means with 
advance notice provided to the City Clerk by Noon on the business day prior to the meetings, unless 
unexpected circumstances arise.  If video conferencing, it’s preferred that members have video on. 

6. Standing and Special Committees (Rule 3.1(b)) – Consensus:  The Pledge of Allegiance will be 
recited at the regular council meetings.  

7. Preparation of agenda (Rule 3.1(g)) – Consensus: Leave the name as “Staff Updates”, but 
relocate to the start of the agenda. 

8. Preparation of agenda (Rule 3.1(I)) – Consensus: Keep one public forum at the beginning of the 
agenda but allow staff to respond to public comments/questions to comments/questions. 

9. Preparation of agenda (Rule 3.1(m)) – Consensus: Keep the name as “Council Referrals”. 

10. Preparation of agenda (Rule 3.1(j)) – Consensus: Rename the title to “Council Updates & 
Announcements”.   

13. Presiding Officer (Rule 4.1) – Consensus: No change, leave as the most senior council member 
to facilitate meeting if Mayor and Mayor pro-tem are absent. 

18. Announcement of Items in the Consent and Resolution Calendars (Rule 5.18) – Consensus: May 
read title, summarize or list by number, at the discretion of the presiding officer. 

25. Council Referrals (Part 8) – Consensus: All referral requests shall be provided to the City Clerk 
in writing no later than 5:00 p.m. on the Monday prior to the next regular council meeting.  The 
request shall contain sufficient information to enable the council to determine if the request merits 
referral. 

26. Council Work Sessions (Part 9) – Consensus:  Request that all Work Sessions be recorded. 

30. Public comment during public hearings and on agenda items (Rule 10.2(d)) – Consensus: Leave 
as total speaker input on any subject under consideration can be limited to a fixed period by the 
presiding officer. 

Chair Dunn asked for the motion (Recommend changes be brought back to Committee for approval 
of the proposed City Council Meeting Procedures document with changes discussed above by 
Councilmembers); Councilmember Harding so moved; Councilmember Schultz seconded.  Motion 
carried unanimously.   

Chair Dunn requested a motion to adjourn.  Councilmember deBuhr so moved; Councilmember 
Harding seconded.  Motion carried unanimously.  Meeting adjourned at 7:09 p.m. 

Minutes by Kim Kerr, Administrative Supervisor 

43

Item 6.



44

Item 7.



45

Item 7.



46

Item 7.



47

Item 7.



48

Item 7.



49

Item 7.



50

Item 7.



51

Item 7.



52

Item 7.



53

Item 7.



54

Item 7.



55

Item 7.



56

Item 7.



57

Item 7.



58

Item 7.



59

Item 7.



60

Item 7.



61

Item 7.



62

Item 7.



63

Item 7.



64

Item 7.



65

Item 7.



66

Item 7.



67

Item 7.



68

Item 7.



69

Item 7.



70

Item 7.



71

Item 7.



72

Item 7.



73

Item 7.



74

Item 7.



75

Item 7.



76

Item 7.



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  4600 SOUTH MAIN STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Green and City Councilmembers 

From:  Craig Berte, Public Safety Services Director 

  Mark Howard, Acting Police Chief 

Date:  June 27, 2022 

Re:  Beer/Liquor License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for liquor licenses and/ or wine or beer 
permits. We find no records that would prohibit these license and permits and 
recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:  

a) Dollar General Store, 2921 Center Street, Class C beer & Class B wine - renewal. 

b) Chuck E. Cheese's, 5911 University Avenue, Special Class C liquor - renewal. 

c) Amvets, 1934 Irving Street, Class A liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 

d) Texas Roadhouse, 5715 University Avenue, Class C liquor - renewal. 

e) Panther Travel Center, 1525 West Ridgeway Avenue, Class E liquor – renewal. 

f) Wal-Mart, 525 Brandilynn Boulevard, Class E liquor - renewal. 

g) Buffalo Wild Wings, 6406 University Avenue, Class C liquor & outdoor service – 
change in ownership. 

77

Item 8.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Green & City Council Members 

 FROM: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 DATE: June 27, 2022 

 SUBJECT:  2022 Bond Sales 

 
On July 18th, the City is scheduled to sell General Obligation Capital Loan Notes for 
various purposes and projects (the list was provided in the council packet for the 6/6/22 
council meeting).  The attached resolution directs the notice of the sale and allows for 
electronic bidding procedure for the sale.   
 
Also attached is the Preliminary Official Statement (POS) that was emailed out ahead of 
time to Council members for review.  This POS includes various financial information 
about the City and is subject to Federal Securities Law regulation. Staff has worked with 
Public Financial Management, our financial advisors and Ahlers Cooney Law Firm, our 
bond counsel to prepare this document.  
 

 
If you have any questions regarding the bond sale, please feel free to contact me.  

78

Item 9.



ITEMS TO INCLUDE ON AGENDA 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

 

$3,860,000 General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2022 

 

  Resolution directing the advertisement for sale and approving electronic bidding 

procedures and Official Statement. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NOTICE MUST BE GIVEN PURSUANT TO IOWA CODE 

CHAPTER 21 AND THE LOCAL RULES OF THE CITY. 

 

 

 

 

79

Item 9.



 

- 1 - 

July 5, 2022 

 

The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, State of Iowa, met in _Regular_______ 

session, in the Council Chambers, 528 Main Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, at _7:00 P.M._, on the 

above date.  There were present Mayor Pro Tem _Harding__________, in the chair, and the 

following named Council Members: 

 

 

__________________________________________________ 

 

 

Absent: ___________________________________________ 

 

 

Vacant: ___________________________________________ 

 

 

* * * * * * *  

80

Item 9.



 

- 2 - 

Council Member ____________________ introduced the following Resolution entitled 

"RESOLUTION DIRECTING THE ADVERTISEMENT FOR SALE OF $3,860,000 

GENERAL OBLIGATION CAPITAL LOAN NOTES, SERIES 2022, AND APPROVING 

ELECTRONIC BIDDING PROCEDURES AND OFFICIAL STATEMENT" and moved its 

adoption.  Council Member ____________________ seconded the Resolution to adopt.  The roll 

was called and the vote was, 

 

 

AYES: ___________________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

___________________________________________ 

NAYS: ___________________________________________ 

 

 

Whereupon, the Mayor declared the resolution duly adopted as follows: 

 

RESOLUTION NO. __________ 

 

RESOLUTION DIRECTING THE ADVERTISEMENT FOR 

SALE OF $3,860,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION CAPITAL 

LOAN NOTES, SERIES 2022, AND APPROVING 

ELECTRONIC BIDDING PROCEDURES AND OFFICIAL 

STATEMENT 

 

WHEREAS, the Issuer is in need of funds to pay costs of City capital projects, including 

opening, widening, extending, grading, and draining of the right-of-way of streets, highways, 

avenues, alleys and public grounds, and market places, and the removal and replacement of dead 

or diseased trees thereon; the construction, reconstruction, and repairing of any street 

improvements, bridges, grade crossing separations and approaches; the acquisition, installation, 

and repair of sidewalks, culverts, retaining walls, storm sewers, sanitary sewers, water service 

lines, street lighting, and traffic control devices, and the acquisition of any real estate needed for 

any of the foregoing purposes; and equipping the fire department, essential corporate purpose(s), 

and it is deemed necessary and advisable that General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, to the 

amount of not to exceed $3,200,000 be authorized for said purpose(s); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to notice published as required by Sections 384.24A and 384.25 of 

the Code of Iowa, this Council has held a public meeting and hearing upon the proposal to 

institute proceedings for the issuance of the Notes, and the Council is therefore now authorized 

to proceed with the issuance of said Notes for such purpose(s); and 

WHEREAS, the City is in need of funds to pay costs of City capital projects, including 

acquisition, construction, reconstruction, enlargement, improvement, and equipping of City 

facilities, including camera installation, replacement and maintenance, and a finance system; and 

expanded public infrastructure, related amenities and site improvements, general corporate 

81

Item 9.



 

- 3 - 

purpose(s), and it is deemed necessary and advisable that General Obligation Capital Loan 

Notes, to the amount of not to exceed $600,000 be authorized for said purpose(s); and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer has a population of more than 5,000 but not more than 75,000, 

and the Notes for these purposes do not exceed $700,000; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to notice published as required by Sections 384.24A and 384.26 of 

the Code of Iowa, the Council of the City has held public meeting and hearing upon the proposal 

to institute proceedings for the issuance of Notes for general corporate purpose(s) in the amounts 

as above set forth, and, no petition for referendum having been received, the Council is therefore 

now authorized to proceed with the issuance of said Notes for such purpose(s); and 

WHEREAS, the City is in need of funds to pay costs of City capital projects, including 

acquisition, construction, reconstruction, enlargement, improvement, drainage enhancements, 

grading and terracing, slope stabilization and protection, and equipping of recreational trails and 

parks associated with the Cedar River Recreation Project, general corporate purpose(s), and it is 

deemed necessary and advisable that General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, to the amount of 

not to exceed $700,000 be authorized for said purpose(s); and 

WHEREAS, the Issuer has a population of more than 5,000 but not more than 75,000, 

and the Notes for these purposes do not exceed $700,000; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to notice published as required by Sections 384.24A and 384.26 of 

the Code of Iowa, the Council of the City has held public meeting and hearing upon the proposal 

to institute proceedings for the issuance of Notes for general corporate purpose(s) in the amounts 

as above set forth, and, no petition for referendum having been received, the Council is therefore 

now authorized to proceed with the issuance of said Notes for such purpose(s); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 384.28 of the Code of Iowa, it is hereby found and 

determined that the various general obligation notes authorized as hereinabove described shall be 

combined for the purpose of issuance in a single issue of $3,860,000 General Obligation Capital 

Loan Notes as hereinafter set forth; and 

 

WHEREAS, in conjunction with its Municipal Advisor, PFM Financial Advisors LLC, 

the City has caused an Official Statement to be prepared outlining the details of the proposed sale 

of the Notes; and 

WHEREAS, the Council has received information from its Municipal Advisor evaluating 

and recommending the procedure hereinafter described for electronic internet bidding to 

maintain the integrity and security of the competitive bidding process and to facilitate the 

delivery of bids by interested parties; and 

WHEREAS, the Council deems it in the best interests of the City and the residents 

thereof to receive bids to purchase such Notes by means of both sealed and electronic internet 

communication. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF CEDAR FALLS, STATE OF IOWA: 

82

Item 9.



 

- 4 - 

 

Section 1. That the receipt of electronic bids by and through the Parity Competitive 

Bidding System described in the Notice of Sale and Official Statement are hereby found and 

determined to provide reasonable security and to maintain the integrity of the competitive 

bidding process, and to facilitate the delivery of bids by interested parties in connection with the 

offering at public sale. 

Section 2. That General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2022, of City of Cedar 

Falls, State of Iowa, in the amount of $3,860,000, to be issued as referred to in the preamble of 

this Resolution, to be dated August 31, 2022, be offered for sale pursuant to the published 

advertisement. 

Section 3. That the preliminary Official Statement in the form presented to this meeting 

be and the same hereby is approved as to form and deemed final for purposes of Rule 15c2-12 of 

the Securities and Exchange Commission, subject to such revisions, corrections or modifications 

as the Mayor and City Clerk, upon the advice of bond counsel and the City's Municipal Advisor, 

shall determine to be appropriate, and is authorized to be distributed in connection with the 

offering of the Notes for sale. 

Section 4. That the Clerk is hereby directed to publish notice of sale of the Notes at least 

once, the last one of which shall be not less than four clear days nor more than twenty days 

before the date of the sale.  Publication shall be made in the "Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier", a 

legal newspaper, printed wholly in the English language, published within the county in which 

the Notes are to be offered for sale or an adjacent county.  The notice is given pursuant to 

Chapter 75 of the Code of Iowa, and shall state that this Council, on the 18th day of July, 2022, at 

7:00 P.M., will hold a meeting to receive and act upon bids for said Notes, which bids were 

previously received and opened by City Officials at 11:00 A.M. on said date.  The notice shall be 

in substantially the following form: 

 

83

Item 9.



 

- 5 - 

(To be published on or before July 12, 2022) 

 

NOTICE OF NOTE SALE 

 

Time and Place of Sealed Bids:  Bids for the sale of Notes of the City of Cedar Falls, 

State of Iowa, hereafter described, must be received at the office of the Director of Finance and 

Buisiness Operations, City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613; Telephone: 319-273-

8600 (the "Issuer") before 11:00 A.M., on the 18th day of July, 2022.  The bids will then be 

publicly opened and referred for action to the meeting of the City Council in conformity with the 

TERMS OF OFFERING. 

 

The Notes:  The Notes to be offered are the following: 

 

GENERAL OBLIGATION CAPITAL LOAN NOTES, SERIES 

2022, in the amount of $3,860,000*, to be dated August 31, 2022 

(the "Notes") 

 

*Subject to principal adjustment pursuant to official Terms of Offering. 

 

Manner of Bidding:  Open bids will not be received.  Bids will be received in any of the 

following methods: 

 

 Sealed Bidding:  Sealed bids may be submitted and will be received at the office 

of the Director of Finance and Business Operations at City Hall, 220 Clay Street, 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613. 

 

 Electronic Internet Bidding:  Electronic internet bids will be received at the office 

of the Director of Finance & Business Operations at City Hall, 220 Clay Street, 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613, or at the office of PFM Financial Advisors LLC, 801 

Grand Avenue, Suite 3300, Des Moines, Iowa 50309.  The bids must be 

submitted through the PARITY® competitive bidding system. 

 

Consideration of Bids:  After the time for receipt of bids has passed, the close of sealed 

bids will be announced.  Sealed bids will then be publicly opened and announced.  Finally, 

electronic internet bids will be accessed and announced. 

 

Sale and Award:  The sale and award of the Notes will be held at the Community Center, 

528 Main Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa at a meeting of the City Council on the above date at 7:00 

P.M. 

 

Official Statement:  The Issuer has issued an Official Statement of information pertaining 

to the Notes to be offered, including a statement of the Terms of Offering and an Official Bid 

Form, which is incorporated by reference as a part of this notice.  The Official Statement may be 

obtained by request addressed to the Director of Finance and Business Operations, City Hall, 220 

Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613; Telephone: 319-273-8600 or the Issuer's Municipal 

84

Item 9.



 

- 6 - 

Advisor, PFM Financial Advisors LLC, 801 Grand Avenue, Suite 3300, Des Moines, Iowa, 

50309, Telephone: 515-724-5724. 

 

Terms of Offering:  All bids shall be in conformity with and the sale shall be in 

accordance with the Terms of Offering as set forth in the Official Statement. 

 

Legal Opinion:  The Notes will be sold subject to the opinion of Ahlers & Cooney, P.C., 

Attorneys of Des Moines, Iowa, as to the legality and their opinion will be furnished together 

with the printed Notes without cost to the purchaser and all bids will be so conditioned.  Except 

to the extent necessary to issue their opinion as to the legality of the Notes, the attorneys will not 

examine or review or express any opinion with respect to the accuracy or completeness of 

documents, materials or statements made or furnished in connection with the sale, issuance or 

marketing of the Notes. 

 

Rights Reserved:  The right is reserved to reject any or all bids, and to waive any 

irregularities as deemed to be in the best interests of the public. 

 

By order of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, State of Iowa. 

 

 

 Jacqueline Danielsen, City Clerk 

City of Cedar Falls, State of Iowa 

 

 

(End of Notice) 

85

Item 9.



 

- 7 - 

PASSED AND APPROVED this 5th day of July, 2022. 

  

 

 

__________________________________ 

Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

__________________________________ 

City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

86

Item 9.



 

 

CERTIFICATE 

 

STATE OF IOWA 

 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK 

) 

) SS 

) 

 

I, the undersigned City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, State of Iowa, do hereby certify 

that attached is a true and complete copy of the portion of the records of the City showing 

proceedings of the Council, and the same is a true and complete copy of the action taken by the 

Council with respect to the matter at the meeting held on the date indicated in the attachment, 

which proceedings remain in full force and effect, and have not been amended or rescinded in 

any way; that meeting and all action thereat was duly and publicly held in accordance with a 

notice of meeting and tentative agenda, a copy of which was timely served on each member of 

the Council and posted on a bulletin board or other prominent place easily accessible to the 

public and clearly designated for that purpose at the principal office of the Council pursuant to 

the local rules of the Council and the provisions of Chapter 21, Code of Iowa, upon reasonable 

advance notice to the public and media at least twenty-four hours prior to the commencement of 

the meeting as required by law and with members of the public present in attendance; I further 

certify that the individuals named therein were on the date thereof duly and lawfully possessed of 

their respective City offices as indicated therein, that no Council vacancy existed except as may 

be stated in the proceedings, and that no controversy or litigation is pending, prayed or 

threatened involving the incorporation, organization, existence or boundaries of the City or the 

right of the individuals named therein as officers to their respective positions. 

 

WITNESS my hand and the seal of the Council hereto affixed this __________ day of 

_______________, 2022. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(SEAL) 

City Clerk, City of Cedar Falls, State of Iowa 

 

  

87

Item 9.



 

 

CERTIFICATE 

 

STATE OF IOWA 

 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK 

) 

) SS 

) 

 

I, the undersigned, do hereby certify that I am now and was at the times hereinafter 

mentioned, the duly qualified and acting Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, in the County of Black 

Hawk, State of Iowa, and that as such Clerk and by full authority from the Council of the City, I 

have caused a 

 

NOTICE OF BOND SALE 

($3,860,000 General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2022) 

 

of which the clipping annexed to the publisher's affidavit hereto attached is in words and figures 

a correct and complete copy, to be published as required by law in the "Waterloo-Cedar Falls 

Courier", a legal newspaper published at least once weekly, printed wholly in the English 

language, published regularly and mailed through the post office of current entry for more than 

two years and which has had for more than two years a bona fide paid circulation recognized by 

the postal laws of the United States, and has a general circulation in the City, and that the Notice 

was published in all of the issues thereof published and circulated on the following date: 

 

____________________, 2022. 

 

WITNESS my official signature this __________ day of _______________, 2022. 

 

 

 

 

 

(SEAL) 

City Clerk, City of Cedar Falls, State of Iowa 

 

 

 

 
02069273-1\10283-185 

88

Item 9.



PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED JULY 5, 2022 

New Issue Rating:  Application Made to Moody’s Investors Service 
 

Assuming compliance with certain covenants, in the opinion of Ahlers & Cooney, P.C., Bond Counsel, under present law and assuming continued compliance 
with the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), interest on the Notes is excludable from gross income for federal 
income tax purposes.  Interest on the Notes is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax.  The Notes will be designated 
as “qualified tax-exempt obligations”.  See “TAX MATTERS” section herein for a more detailed discussion. 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 

$3,860,000* General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2022 
 

BIDS RECEIVED: Monday, July 18, 2022, 11:00 A.M., Central Time  
AWARD: Monday, July 18, 2022, 7:00 P.M., Central Time 

 
Dated:  Date of Delivery (August 31, 2022) Principal Due: June 1, as shown inside front cover 
 
The $3,860,000* General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2022 (the “Notes”) are being issued pursuant to Subchapter III 
of Chapter 384 of the Code of Iowa and an authorizing resolution (the “Resolution) to be adopted by the City Council of the 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (the “City”).  The Notes are being issued to provide funds to pay the costs of carrying out essential 
corporate purpose projects, including the opening, widening, extending, grading and draining of the rights-of-way of streets, 
highways, avenues, alleys and public grounds and market places, and the removal and replacement of dead or diseased trees 
thereon; the construction, reconstruction, and repairing of any street improvements, bridges, grade crossing separations and 
approaches; the acquisition, installation, and repair of sidewalks, culverts, retaining walls, storm sewers, sanitary sewers, water 
service lines, street lighting, traffic control devices, and the acquisition of any real estate needed for any of the foregoing 
purposes; equipping the fire department; the acquisition, construction, reconstruction, enlargement, improvement and equipping 
of City facilities, including camera installation, replacement and maintenance, and a finance system; expanded public 
infrastructure and related amenities and site improvements; the acquisition, construction, reconstruction, enlargement, 
improvement, drainage enhancements, grading and terracing, slope stabilization and protection, and equipping of recreational 
trails and parks associated with the Cedar River Recreation Project. 
 
The Purchaser of the Notes agrees to enter into a loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with the City pursuant to the authority 
contained in Sections 384.24A and 384.25 of the Code of Iowa.  The Notes are issued in evidence of the City’s obligations under 
the Loan Agreement.  The Notes are general obligations of the City for which the City will pledge its power of levy direct ad 
valorem taxes against all taxable property within the City without limitation as to rate or amount to the repayment of the Notes. 
 
The Notes will be issued as fully registered Notes without coupons and, when issued, will be registered in the name of Cede & 
Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”).  DTC will act as securities depository for the Notes.  Individual 
purchases may be made in book-entry-form only, in the principal amount of $5,000 and integral multiples thereof.  Purchasers 
will not receive certificates representing their interest in the Notes purchased.  Principal of the Notes, payable annually on each 
June 1, beginning June 1, 2024 and interest on the Notes, payable initially on June 1, 2023 and thereafter on each December 1 
and June 1, will be paid to DTC by the City’s Controller/City Treasurer (the “Registrar”).  DTC will in turn remit such principal 
and interest to its participants for subsequent disbursements to the beneficial owners of the Notes as described herein.  Interest 
and principal shall be paid to the registered holder of a note as shown on the records of ownership maintained by the Registrar 
on the 15th day of the month preceding such interest payment date (the “Record Date”). 
 

THE NOTES WILL MATURE AS LISTED ON THE INSIDE FRONT COVER 
  

 MINIMUM BID: $3,821,400 
 

 GOOD FAITH DEPOSIT: $38,600 Required of Purchaser Only 
 

 TAX MATTERS: Federal:  Tax-Exempt 
  State:  Taxable 
  See “TAX MATTERS” section for more information. 
 
The Notes are offered, subject to prior sale, withdrawal or modification, when, as, and if issued subject to the legal opinion of Ahlers & Cooney, P.C., Bond Counsel, 
Des Moines Iowa, to be furnished upon delivery of the Notes.  It is expected the Notes will be available on or about August 31, 2022.  The Preliminary Official Statement 
in the form presented is deemed final for purposes of Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission, subject to revisions, corrections or modifications as 
determined to be appropriate, and is authorized to be distributed in connection with the offering of the Notes for sale. 
 

* Preliminary; subject to change. 

T
hi

s 
P

re
li

m
in

ar
y 

O
ff

ic
ia

l 
St

at
em

en
t 

an
d 

th
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

co
nt

ai
ne

d 
he

re
in

 a
re

 s
ub

je
ct

 t
o 

co
m

pl
et

io
n,

 a
m

en
dm

en
t o

r 
ot

he
r 

ch
an

ge
 w

ith
ou

t n
ot

ic
e.

  
T

he
 N

ot
es

 m
ay

 n
ot

 b
e 

so
ld

 n
or

 m
ay

 o
ff

er
s 

to
 b

uy
 b

e 
ac

ce
pt

ed
 p

ri
or

 t
o 

th
e 

tim
e 

th
e 

P
re

li
m

in
ar

y 
O

ff
ic

ia
l 

St
at

em
en

t 
is

 d
el

iv
er

ed
 i

n 
fi

na
l 

fo
rm

.  
U

nd
er

 n
o 

ci
rc

um
st

an
ce

s 
sh

al
l 

th
is

 P
re

li
m

in
ar

y 
O

ff
ic

ia
l 

St
at

em
en

t 
co

ns
tit

ut
e 

an
 o

ff
er

 t
o 

se
ll 

or
 t

he
 s

ol
ic

ita
tio

n 
of

 a
n 

of
fe

r 
to

 b
uy

, n
or

 s
ha

ll 
th

er
e 

be
 a

ny
 

sa
le

 o
f 

th
e 

N
ot

es
 in

 a
ny

 ju
ri

sd
ic

tio
n 

in
 w

hi
ch

 s
uc

h 
of

fe
r,

 s
ol

ic
ita

tio
n 

or
 s

al
e 

w
ou

ld
 b

e 
un

la
w

fu
l p

ri
or

 to
 r

eg
is

tr
at

io
n 

or
 q

ua
lif

ic
at

io
n 

un
de

r 
th

e 
ap

pl
ic

ab
le

 s
ec

ur
iti

es
 la

w
s 

of
 a

ny
 s

uc
h 

ju
ri

sd
ic

tio
n.

 

89

Item 9.



CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

$3,860,000* General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2022 
 
MATURITY: The Notes will mature June 1 in the years and amounts as follows: 

 
Year Amount* Year Amount* 

    

2024 $250,000 2030 $325,000 
2025 260,000 2031 340,000 
2026 275,000 2032 355,000 
2027 285,000 2033 370,000 
2028 300,000 2034 385,000 
2029 310,000 2035 405,000 

 
*PRINCIPAL 
  ADJUSTMENT: Preliminary; subject to change.  The City reserves the right to increase or decrease the aggregate 

principal amount of the Notes and to increase or reduce each scheduled maturity thereof after 
the determination of the successful bidder.  The City may increase or decrease each maturity in 
increments of $5,000 but the total amount to be issued, will not exceed $4,500,000.  Interest rates 
specified by the successful bidder for each maturity will not change. Final adjustments shall be in 
the sole discretion of the City. 

The dollar amount of the purchase price proposed by the successful bidder will be changed 
if the aggregate principal amount of the Notes is adjusted as described above. Any change in 
the principal amount of any maturity of the Notes will be made while maintaining, as closely 
as possible, the successful bidder's net compensation, calculated as a percentage of note 
principal.  The successful bidder may not withdraw or modify its bid as a result of any post-bid 
adjustment.  Any adjustment shall be conclusive and shall be binding upon the successful bidder. 

 
INTEREST: Interest on the Notes will be payable on June 1, 2023 and semiannually thereafter. 

 
OPTIONAL 
REDEMPTION: The Notes due after June 1, 2030 will be subject to call prior to maturity in whole, or from 

time to time in part, in any order of maturity and within a maturity by lot on said date or on 
any date thereafter upon terms of par plus accrued interest to date of call.  Written notice of 
such call shall be given at least thirty (30) days prior to the date fixed for redemption to the 
registered owners of the Notes to be redeemed at the address shown on the registration books. 

  

90

Item 9.



COMPLIANCE WITH S.E.C. RULE 15c2-12 
 
Municipal obligations (issued in an aggregate amount over $1,000,000) are subject to General Rules and Regulations, 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Rule 15c2-12 Municipal Securities Disclosure. 
 
Preliminary Official Statement:  This Preliminary Official Statement was prepared for the City for dissemination to 
prospective bidders.  Its primary purpose is to disclose information regarding the Notes to prospective bidders in the 
interest of receiving competitive bids in accordance with the TERMS OF OFFERING contained herein. Unless an 
addendum is received prior to the sale, this document shall be deemed the near final “Official Statement”. 
 
Review Period:  This Preliminary Official Statement has been distributed to City staff as well as to prospective bidders 
for an objective review of its disclosure.  Comments, omissions or inaccuracies must be submitted to PFM Financial 
Advisors LLC (the “Municipal Advisor”) at least two business days prior to the sale.  Requests for additional information 
or corrections in the Preliminary Official Statement received on or before this date will not be considered a qualification 
of a bid received.  If there are any changes, corrections or additions to the Preliminary Official Statement, prospective 
bidders will be informed by an addendum at least one business day prior to the sale. 
 
Final Official Statement:  Upon award of sale of the Notes, the legislative body will authorize the preparation of a final 
Official Statement that includes the offering prices, interest rates, selling compensation, aggregate principal amount, 
principal amount per maturity, anticipated delivery date and other information required by law and the identity of the 
underwriter (the “Syndicate Manager”) and syndicate members.  Copies of the final Official Statement will be delivered 
to the Syndicate Manager within seven business days following the bid acceptance. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
No dealer, broker, salesman or other person has been authorized by the City, the Municipal Advisor or the underwriter to 
give any information or to make any representations other than those contained in this Preliminary Official Statement or 
the final Official Statement and, if given or made, such information and representations must not be relied upon as having 
been authorized by the City, the Municipal Advisor or the underwriter.  This Preliminary Official Statement or the final 
Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there by any sale of the 
Notes by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, solicitation or sale.  The 
information set forth herein has been obtained from the City and other sources which are believed to be reliable, but it is 
not to be construed as a representation by the Municipal Advisor or underwriter.  The information and expressions of 
opinion herein are subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Preliminary Official Statement or the 
final Official Statement, nor any sale made thereafter shall, under any circumstances, create any implication there has 
been no change in the affairs of the City or in any other information contained herein, since the date hereof.  This 
Preliminary Official Statement is submitted in connection with the sale of the securities referred to herein and may not be 
reproduced or used, in whole or in part, for any other purpose. 
 
This Preliminary Official Statement and any addenda thereto were prepared relying on information from the City and 
other sources, which are believed to be reliable. 
 
Bond Counsel has not participated in the preparation of this Preliminary Official Statement and is not expressing any 
opinion as to the completeness or accuracy of the information contained therein. 
 
Compensation of the Municipal Advisor, payable entirely by the City, is contingent upon the sale of the Notes. 

91

Item 9.



CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
 

City Council 
 

  Term Expires 

Rob Green Mayor December 31, 2023 
Gil Schultz Council Member – 1st Ward  December 31, 2025 
Susan deBuhr Council Member – 2nd Ward  December 31, 2023 
Daryl Kruse Council Member – 3rd Ward December 31, 2025 
Simon Harding Council Member – 4th Ward December 31, 2023 
Dustin Ganfield Council Member – 5th Ward December 31, 2025 
Kelly Dunn Council Member – At Large December 31, 2025 
Dave Sires Council Member – At Large December 31, 2023 

 

Administration 
 

Ron Gaines – City Administrator 
Jennifer Rodenbeck – Director of Finance & Business Operations 

Lisa Roeding – Controller/City Treasurer 
Jacque Danielsen – City Clerk 

 
 

City Attorney 
 

Kevin Rogers 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
 

Bond Counsel 
 

Ahlers & Cooney, P.C., 
Des Moines, Iowa 

 
 

Municipal Advisor 
 

PFM Financial Advisors LLC, 
Des Moines, Iowa 

92

Item 9.



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

TERMS OF OFFERING ................................................................................................................................ i 

SCHEDULE OF BOND YEARS ............................................................................................................... vii 

EXHIBIT 1 - FORMS OF ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATES 

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

Introduction ................................................................................................................................................... 1 

Authority and Purpose .................................................................................................................................. 1 

Interest on the Notes ..................................................................................................................................... 1 

Optional Redemption of the Notes ............................................................................................................... 2 

Payment of and Security for the Notes ......................................................................................................... 2 

Book-Entry-Only Issuance ........................................................................................................................... 2 

Future Financing ........................................................................................................................................... 4 

Litigation ....................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Debt Payment History ............................................................................................................................... 4 

Legality. ........................................................................................................................................................ 4 

Tax Matters ............................................................................................................................................... 5 

Noteholder's Risks .................................................................................................................................... 7 

Rating .......................................................................................................................................................... 12 

Municipal Advisor ...................................................................................................................................... 12 

Continuing Disclosure ................................................................................................................................ 12 

Financial Statements ................................................................................................................................... 12 

Certification ................................................................................................................................................ 13 

APPENDIX A - GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

APPENDIX B - FORM OF LEGAL OPINION 

APPENDIX C - JUNE 30, 2021 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

APPENDIX D - FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE 

OFFICIAL BID FORM 

93

Item 9.



i 

TERMS OF OFFERING 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 

$3,860,000* General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2022 
 
 

Bids for the purchase of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa’s (the “City”) $3,860,000* General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, 
Series 2022 (the “Notes”) will be received on Monday, July 18, 2022, before 11:00 A.M., Central Time, after which time 
they will be tabulated.  The City Council will consider award of the Notes at 7:00 P.M., Central Time, on the same day.  
Questions regarding the sale of the Notes should be directed to the City’s Municipal Advisor, PFM Financial Advisors 
LLC (the “Municipal Advisor”), 801 Grand Avenue, Suite 3300, Des Moines, Iowa, 50309, telephone 515-724-5724.  
Information can also be obtained from Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations, City of Cedar 
Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613, telephone 319-268-5108. 
 

This section sets forth the description of certain terms of the Notes as well as the TERMS OF OFFERING with which 
all bidders and bid proposals are required to comply, as follows: 
 

DETAILS OF THE NOTES 
 
GENERAL OBLIGATION CAPITAL LOAN NOTES, SERIES 2022 in the principal amount of $3,860,000*, will be 
dated the date of delivery (anticipated to be August 31, 2022), in the denomination of $5,000 or multiples thereof, and 
will mature June 1 as follows: 
 

Year Amount* Year Amount* 
    

2024 $250,000 2030 $325,000 
2025 260,000 2031 340,000 
2026 275,000 2032 355,000 
2027 285,000 2033 370,000 
2028 300,000 2034 385,000 
2029 310,000 2035 405,000 

 

* Preliminary; subject to change. 
 

ADJUSTMENT TO NOTE MATURITY AMOUNTS 
 
The City reserves the right to increase or decrease the aggregate principal amount of the Notes and to increase or reduce 
each scheduled maturity thereof after the determination of the successful bidder.  The City may increase or reduce 
each maturity in increments of $5,000 but the total amount to be issued will not exceed $4,500,000. Interest rates 
specified by the successful bidder for each maturity will not change.  Final adjustments shall be in the sole discretion of 
the City. 
 
The dollar amount of the purchase price proposed by the successful bidder will be changed if the aggregate principal 
amount of the Notes is adjusted as described above.  Any change in the principal amount of any maturity of the Notes 
will be made while maintaining, as closely as possible, the successful bidder's net compensation, calculated as a 
percentage of note principal.  The successful bidder may not withdraw or modify its bid as a result of any post-bid 
adjustment.  Any adjustment shall be conclusive and shall be binding upon the successful bidder. 
 

INTEREST ON THE NOTES 
 
Interest on the Notes will be payable on June 1, 2023 and semiannually on the 1st day of December and June thereafter.  
Interest and principal shall be paid to the registered holder of a note as shown on the records of ownership maintained by 
the Registrar as of the 15th day of the month (whether or not a business day) preceding such interest payment date (the 
“Record Date”).  Interest will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months and will be rounded 
pursuant to rules of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. 
  

94

Item 9.



ii 

OPTIONAL REDEMPTION OF THE NOTES 
 
The Notes due after June 1, 2030 will be subject to call prior to maturity in whole, or from time to time in part, in any 
order of maturity and within a maturity by lot on said date or on any date thereafter at the option of the City, upon terms 
of par plus accrued interest to date of call.  Written notice of such call shall be given at least thirty (30) days prior to the 
date fixed for redemption to the registered owners of the Notes to be redeemed at the address shown on the registration 
books. 
 

TERM-NOTE OPTION 
 
Bidders shall have the option of designating the Notes as serial notes or term notes, or both.  The bid must designate 
whether each of the principal amounts shown above represent a serial maturity or a mandatory redemption requirement 
for a term Note maturity. (See the OFFICIAL BID FORM for more information.)  In any event, the above principal 
amount scheduled shall be represented by either serial note maturities or mandatory redemption requirements, or a 
combination of both. 
 

GOOD FAITH DEPOSIT 
 
A good faith deposit in the amount of $38,600 (the “Deposit”) is required from the lowest bidder only.  The lowest 
bidder is required to submit such Deposit payable to the order of the City, not later than 1:00 P.M., Central Time, on the 
day of the sale of the Notes and in the form of either (i) a cashier’s check provided to the City or its Municipal Advisor, 
or (ii) a wire transfer as instructed by the City’s Municipal Advisor.  If not so received, the bid of the lowest bidder may 
be rejected, and the City may direct the second lowest bidder to submit a Deposit and thereafter may award the sale of 
the Notes to the same. No interest on a Deposit will accrue to the successful bidder (the “Purchaser”).  The Deposit 
will be applied to the purchase price of the Notes.  In the event a Purchaser fails to honor its accepted bid proposal, the 
Deposit will be retained by the City. 
 

FORM OF BIDS AND AWARD 
 
All bids shall be unconditional for the Notes for a price not less than $3,821,400, plus accrued interest, and shall 
specify the rate or rates of interest in conformity to the limitations set forth under the “BIDDING PARAMETERS” 
section.  Bids must be submitted on or in substantial compliance with the OFFICIAL BID FORM provided by the City. 
The Notes will be awarded to the bidder offering the lowest interest rate to be determined on a true interest cost (the 
“TIC”) basis assuming compliance with the “ESTABLISHMENT OF ISSUE PRICE” and “GOOD FAITH DEPOSIT” 
sections herein.  The TIC shall be determined by the present value method, i.e., by ascertaining the semiannual rate, 
compounded semiannually, necessary to discount to present value as of the dated date of the Notes, the amount payable 
on each interest payment date and on each stated maturity date or earlier mandatory redemption, so that the aggregate of 
such amounts will equal the aggregate purchase price offered, therefore.  The TIC shall be stated in terms of an annual 
percentage rate and shall be that rate of interest, which is twice the semiannual rate so ascertained (also known as the 
Canadian Method).  The TIC shall be as determined by the Municipal Advisor based on the TERMS OF OFFERING 
and all amendments, and on the bids as submitted.  The Municipal Advisor’s computation of the TIC of each bid shall 
be controlling.  In the event of tie bids for the lowest TIC, the Notes will be awarded by lot. 
 
The City will reserve the right to (i) waive non-substantive informalities of any bid or of matters relating to the receipt of 
bids and award of the Notes, (ii) reject all bids without cause, and (iii) reject any bid which the City determines to have 
failed to comply with the terms herein. 
 

BIDDING PARAMETERS 
 
Each bidder’s proposal must conform to the following limitations: 
 

1. Each annual maturity must bear a single rate of interest from the dated date of the Notes to the date of maturity. 
 

2. Rates of interest bid must be in multiples of one-eighth or one-twentieth of one percent. 
 

3. The initial price to the public for each maturity must be 98% or greater. 
   

95

Item 9.



iii 

RECEIPT OF BIDS 
 
Forms of Bids: Bids must be submitted on or in substantial compliance with the TERMS OF OFFERING and OFFICIAL 
BID FORM provided by the City or through PARITY® competitive bidding system (the “Internet Bid System”).  Neither 
the City nor its agents shall not be responsible for malfunction or mistake made by any person, or as a result of the use 
of an electronic bid or the means used to deliver or complete a bid.  The use of such facilities or means is at the sole risk 
of the prospective bidder who shall be bound by the terms of the bid as received. 
 
No bid will be accepted after the time specified in the TERMS OF OFFERING and OFFICIAL BID FORM.  The 
time, as maintained by the Internet Bid System, shall constitute the official time with respect to all bids submitted.  A 
bid may be withdrawn before the bid deadline using the same method used to submit the bid.  If more than one bid is 
received from a bidder, the last bid received shall be considered. 
 
Sealed Bids: Sealed bids may be submitted and will be received at the office of the Director of Finance & Business 
Operations at City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613. 
 
Electronic Internet Bidding: Electronic internet bids will be received at the office of the Director of Finance & Business 
Operations at City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613, or at the office of PFM Financial Advisors LLC, 801 
Grand Avenue, Suite 3300, Des Moines, Iowa 50309.  The electronic internet bids must be submitted through the Internet 
Bid System.  Information about the Internet Bid System may be obtained by calling (212) 849-5021. 
 
Each prospective bidder shall be solely responsible for making necessary arrangements to access the Internet Bid System 
for purposes of submitting its electronic internet bid in a timely manner and in compliance with the requirements of the 
TERMS OF OFFERING and OFFICIAL BID FORM.  The City is permitting bidders to use the services of the Internet 
Bid System solely as a communication mechanism to conduct the electronic internet bidding and the Internet Bid System 
is not an agent of the City.  Provisions of the TERMS OF OFFERING and OFFICIAL BID FORM shall control in the 
event of conflict with information provided by the Internet Bid System. 
 

BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY ISSUANCE 
 
The Notes will be issued by means of a book-entry-only issuance with no physical distribution of note certificates made 
to the public.  The Notes will be issued in fully registered form and one note certificate, representing the aggregate 
principal amount of the Notes maturing in each year, will be registered in the name of Cede & Co. as nominee of The 
Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York, which will act as securities depository of the Notes.  
Individual purchases of the Notes may be made in the principal amount of $5,000 or any multiple thereof of a single 
maturity through book entries made on the books and records of DTC and its participants.  Principal and interest are 
payable by the Registrar to DTC or its nominee as registered owner of the Notes.  Transfer of principal and interest 
payments to participants of DTC will be the responsibility of DTC; transfer of principal and interest payments to beneficial 
owners by participants will be the responsibility of such participants and other nominees of beneficial owners.  The 
Purchaser, as a condition of delivery of the Notes, will be required to deposit the note certificates with DTC. 
 

MUNICIPAL BOND INSURANCE AT PURCHASER’S OPTION 
 
If the Notes qualify for issuance of any policy of municipal bond insurance or commitment therefore at the option of 
the bidder, the purchase of any such insurance policy or the issuance of any such commitment shall be at the sole option 
and expense of the Purchaser.  Any increased costs of issuance of the Notes resulting from such purchase of insurance 
shall be paid by the Purchaser, except that, if the City has requested and received a rating on the Notes from a rating 
agency, the City will pay that initial rating fee.  Any other rating agency fees shall be the responsibility of the Purchaser. 
Failure of the municipal bond insurer to issue the policy after the Notes have been awarded to the Purchaser shall not 
constitute cause for failure or refusal by the Purchaser to accept delivery on the Notes.  The City reserves the right in its 
sole discretion to accept or deny changes to the financing documents requested by the insurer selected by the Purchaser. 
   

96

Item 9.



iv 

DELIVERY 
 
The Notes will be delivered to the Purchaser through DTC in New York, New York, against full payment in 
immediately available cash or federal funds.  The Notes are expected to be delivered within forty-five days after the 
sale.  Should delivery be delayed beyond sixty days from date of sale for any reason except failure of performance by a 
Purchaser, the Purchaser may withdraw their bid and thereafter their interest in and liability for the Notes will cease.  
When the Notes are ready for delivery, the City may give the Purchaser five working days’ notice of the delivery date 
and the City will expect payment in full on that date, otherwise reserving the right of its option to determine that the 
Purchaser has failed to comply with the offer of purchase. 
 

ELECTRONIC TRANSCRIPTS 
 

The Purchaser consents to the receipt of electronic transcripts and acknowledges the City’s potential use of the 
electronically executed documents. Iowa Code chapter 554D establishes electronic signatures have the full weight and 
legal authority as manual signatures. 
 

ESTABLISHMENT OF ISSUE PRICE 
 

The Purchaser shall assist the City in establishing the issue price of the Notes and shall execute and deliver to the City at 
closing an “issue price” or similar certificate setting forth the reasonably expected initial offering price to the public or 
the sales price or prices of the Notes, together with the supporting pricing wires or equivalent communications, 
substantially in the form attached hereto as EXHIBIT 1 - FORMS OF ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATES to the TERMS 
OF OFFERING, with such modifications as may be appropriate or necessary, in the reasonable judgment of the Purchaser, 
the City and Bond Counsel, will need to be signed by the Purchaser.  All actions to be taken by the City under the TERMS 
OF OFFERING to establish the issue price of the Notes may be taken on behalf of the City by the Municipal Advisor 
identified herein and any notice or report to be provided to the City may be provided to the Municipal Advisor. 
 
The City intends the provisions of Treasury Regulation Section 1.148-1(f)(3)(i) (defining “competitive sale” for purposes 
of establishing the issue price of the Notes) will apply to the initial sale of the Notes (the “competitive sale requirements”) 
because (i) the City shall disseminate this TERMS OF OFFERING to potential underwriters in a manner that is reasonably 
designed to reach potential underwriters, (ii) all bidders shall have an equal opportunity to bid, (iii) the City may receive 
bids from at least three underwriters of municipal notes who have established industry reputations for underwriting new 
issuances of municipal notes, and (iv) the City anticipates awarding the sale of the Notes to the bidder who submits a firm 
offer to purchase the Notes at the highest price (or lowest interest cost), as set forth in the TERMS OF OFFERING. 
 
Any bid submitted pursuant to the TERMS OF OFFERING shall be considered a firm offer for the purchase of the Notes, 
as specified in the bid. 
 
In the event the competitive sale requirements are not satisfied, the City shall so advise the Purchaser.  The City may 
determine to treat (i) the first price at which 10% of a maturity of the Notes (the “10% test” is sold to the public as the 
issue price of that maturity, and/or (ii) the initial offering price to the public as of the sale date of any maturity of the 
Notes as the issue price of that maturity (the “hold-the-offering-price rule”), in each case applied on a maturity-by-maturity 
basis.  The Purchaser shall advise the City if any maturity of the Notes satisfies the 10% test as of the date and time of the 
award of the Notes.  The City shall promptly advise the Purchaser, at or before the time of award of the Notes, which 
maturities of the Notes shall be subject to the 10% test or shall be subject to the hold-the-offering-price rule.  Bids will 
not be subject to cancellation in the event the City determines to apply the hold-the-offering-price rule to any maturity of 
the Notes.  Prospective bidders should prepare their bids on the assumption that some or all of the maturities of 
the Notes will be subject to the hold-the-offering-price rule in order to establish the issue price of the Notes. 
 
By submitting a bid, the Purchaser shall (i) confirm the underwriters have offered or will offer the Notes to the public on 
or before the date of award at the offering price or prices (the “initial offering price”), or at the corresponding yield or 
yields set forth in the bid submitted by the Purchaser, and (ii) agree, on behalf of the underwriters participating in the 
purchase of the Notes, that the underwriters will neither offer nor sell unsold Notes of any maturity to which the hold-the-
offering-price rule shall apply to any person at a price that is higher than the initial offering price to the public during the 
period starting on the sale date and ending on the earlier of the following:  (a) the close of the fifth (5th) business day after 

97

Item 9.



v 

the sale date; or (b) the date on which the underwriters have sold at least 10% of that maturity of the Notes to the public 
at a price that is no higher than the initial offering price to the public. 
 
The Purchaser shall promptly advise the City when the underwriters have sold 10% of that maturity of the Notes to the 
public at a price that is no higher than the initial offering price to the public, if that occurs prior to the close of the fifth 
(5th) business day after the sale date. 
 
The City acknowledges that in making the representation set forth above, the Purchaser will rely on (i) the agreement of 
each underwriter to comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, as set forth in an agreement among underwriters and the 
related pricing wires, (ii) in the event a selling group has been created in connection with the initial sale of the Notes to 
the public, the agreement of each dealer who is a member of the selling group to comply with the hold-the-offering-price 
rule, as set forth in a selling group agreement and the related pricing wires, and (iii) in the event, an underwriter is a party 
to a retail distribution agreement that was employed in connection with the initial sale of the Notes to the public, the 
agreement of each broker-dealer that is a party to such agreement to comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, as set 
forth in the retail distribution agreement and the related pricing wires.  The City further acknowledges that each 
underwriter shall be solely liable for its failure to comply with its agreement regarding the hold-the-offering-price rule 
and that no underwriter shall be liable for the failure of any other underwriter, or of any dealer who is a member of a 
selling group, or of any broker-dealer that is a party to a retail distribution agreement to comply with its corresponding 
agreement regarding the hold-the-offering-price rule as applicable to the Notes. 
 
By submitting a bid, each bidder confirms that (i) any agreement among underwriters, any selling group agreement and 
each retail distribution agreement (to which the bidder is a party) relating to the initial sale of the Notes to the public, 
together with the related pricing wires, contains or will contain language obligating each underwriter, each dealer who is 
a member of the selling group, and each broker-dealer that is a party to such retail distribution agreement, as applicable, 
to (a) report the prices at which it sells to the public the unsold Notes of each maturity allotted to it until it is notified by 
the Purchaser or such underwriter that either the 10% test has been satisfied as to the Notes of that maturity or all Notes 
of that maturity have been sold to the public, and (b) comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable, in each 
case if and for so long as directed by the Purchaser or such underwriter and as set forth in the related pricing wires, and 
(ii) any agreement among underwriters relating to the initial sale of the Notes to the public, together with the related 
pricing wires, contains or will contain language obligating each underwriter that is a party to a retail distribution agreement 
to be employed in connection with the initial sale of the Notes to the public to require each broker-dealer that is a party to 
such retail distribution agreement to (a) report the prices at which it sells to the public the unsold Notes of each maturity 
allotted to it until it is notified by the Purchaser or such underwriter that either the 10% test has been satisfied as to the 
Notes of that maturity or all Notes of that maturity have been sold to the public, and (b) comply with the hold-the-offering-
price rule, if applicable, in each case if and for so long as directed by the Purchaser or such underwriter and as set forth 
in the related pricing wires. 
 
Sales of any Notes to any person that is a related party to an underwriter shall not constitute sales to the public for purposes 
of this TERMS OF OFFERING.  Further, for purposes of this TERMS OF OFFERING, (i) “public” means any person 
other than an underwriter or a related party, (ii) “underwriter” means (a) any person that agrees pursuant to a written 
contract with the City (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate in the initial sale of 
the Notes to the public, and (b) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly with a person 
described in clause “(a)” to participate in the initial sale of the Notes to the public (including a member of a selling group 
or a party to a retail distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of the Notes to the public), (iii) a Purchaser of 
any of the Notes is a “related party” to an underwriter if the underwriter and the Purchaser are subject, directly or 
indirectly, to (a) at least 50% common ownership of the voting power or the total value of their stock, if both entities are 
corporations (including direct ownership by one corporation of another), (b) more than 50% common ownership of their 
capital interests or profits interests, if both entities are partnerships (including direct ownership by one partnership of 
another), or (c) more than 50% common ownership of the value of the outstanding stock of the corporation or the capital 
interests or profit interests of the partnership, as applicable, if one entity is a corporation and the other entity is a 
partnership (including direct ownership of the applicable stock or interests by one entity of the other), and (iv) “sale date” 
means the date that the Notes are awarded by the City to the Purchaser. 
  

98

Item 9.



vi 

OFFICIAL STATEMENT 
 
The City has authorized the preparation of a Preliminary Official Statement containing pertinent information relative to 
the Notes.  The Preliminary Official Statement will be further supplemented by offering prices, interest rates, selling 
compensation, aggregate principal amount, principal amount per maturity, anticipated delivery date, and underwriter, 
together with any other information required by law or deemed appropriate by the City, shall constitute a final Official 
Statement of the City with respect to the Notes, as that term is defined in Rule 15c2-12 promulgated by the Securities and 
Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Rule”).  By awarding the Notes to 
any underwriter or underwriting-syndicate submitting an OFFICIAL BID FORM therefore, the City agrees that no more 
than seven (7) business days after the date of such award, it shall provide without cost to the senior managing underwriter 
of the syndicate to which the Notes are awarded up to 15 copies of the final Official Statement to permit each “Participating 
Underwriter” (as that term is defined in the Rule) to comply with the provisions of such Rule.  The City shall treat the 
senior managing underwriter of the syndicate or syndicates to which the Notes are awarded as its designated agent for 
purposes of distributing copies of the final Official Statement to the Participating Underwriter.  Any underwriter executing 
and delivering an OFFICIAL BID FORM with respect to the Notes agrees, thereby, that if its bid is accepted by the City, 
(i) it shall accept such designation and (ii) it shall enter into a contractual relationship with all Participating Underwriters 
of the Notes for purposes of assuring the receipt by each such Participating Underwriter of the final Official Statement. 
 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 
 
The City will covenant in a Continuing Disclosure Certificate for the benefit of the owners and beneficial owners of the 
Notes to provide annually certain financial information and operating data relating to the City (the “Annual Report”), and 
to provide notices of the occurrence of certain enumerated events.  The Annual Report is to be filed by the City not later 
than two hundred seventy (270) days after the close of each fiscal year, commencing with the Fiscal Year ending 
June 30, 2022, with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, at its internet repository named “Electronic Municipal 
Market Access” (“EMMA”).  The notices of events, if any, are also to be filed with EMMA.  See FORM OF 
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE included in APPENDIX D to this Preliminary Official Statement.  The 
specific nature of the information to be contained in the Annual Report or the notices of events, and the manner in which 
such materials are to be filed, are summarized in the FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE.  These 
covenants have been made in order to assist the Purchaser in complying with section (b)(5) of the Rule. 
 
The City is not aware of any instance in the previous five years in which it has failed to comply, in all material respects, 
with previous undertakings in a written contract or agreement specified in paragraph (b)(5)(i) of the Rule. 
 
Breach of the undertakings will not constitute a default or an “Event of Default” under the Notes or the Resolution.  A 
broker or dealer is to consider a known breach of the undertakings, however, before recommending the purchase or sale 
of the Notes in the secondary market.  Thus, a failure on the part of the City to observe the undertakings may 
adversely affect the transferability and liquidity of the Notes and their market price. 
 

CUSIP NUMBERS 
 
It is anticipated the Committee on Uniform Security Identification Procedures (“CUSIP”) numbers will be printed on 
the Notes and the Purchaser must agree in the bid proposal to pay the cost thereof.  In no event will the City, Bond 
Counsel or Municipal Advisor be responsible for the review of or express any opinion that the CUSIP numbers are 
correct.  Incorrect CUSIP numbers on said Notes shall not be cause for the Purchaser to refuse to accept delivery of 
said Notes. 
 

BY ORDER OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
/s/ Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 
 

 
  

99

Item 9.



vii 
 

 
 
 
  SCHEDULE OF NOTE YEARS

$3,860,000*
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2022

Notes Dated:
Interest Due: June 1, 2023 and each December 1 and June 1 to maturity
Principal Due: June 1, 2024-2035

Cumulative
Year   Principal * Note Years Note Years

2024 $250,000 438.19 438.19
2025 260,000 715.72 1,153.92
2026 275,000 1,032.01 2,185.93
2027 285,000 1,354.54 3,540.47
2028 300,000 1,725.83 5,266.31
2029 310,000 2,093.36 7,359.67
2030 325,000 2,519.65 9,879.32
2031 340,000 2,975.94 12,855.26
2032 355,000 3,462.24 16,317.50
2033 370,000 3,978.53 20,296.03
2034 385,000 4,524.82 24,820.85
2035 405,000 5,164.88 29,985.72

Average Maturity (dated date): 7.768 Years

* Preliminary; subject to change.

August 31, 2022

100

Item 9.



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT 1 
 

FORMS OF ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATES 

101

Item 9.



 
 

EXHIBIT 1-A to TERMS OF OFFERING 
 
 

 
 

 

 
COMPETITIVE SALES WITH AT LEAST THREE BIDS FROM ESTABLISHED UNDERWRITERS 

 

 
 

ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE 
 

$_______ General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2022 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
The undersigned, on behalf of [NAME OF UNDERWRITER] ("Purchaser"), hereby certifies as set forth 

below with respect to the sale of the above-captioned obligations (the "Notes"). 
 
1. Reasonably Expected Initial Offering Price. 
 

 a) As of the Sale Date, the reasonably expected initial offering prices of the Notes to the Public by 
Purchaser are the prices listed in Schedule A (the "Expected Offering Prices").  The Expected Offering Prices are the 
prices for the Maturities of the Notes used by Purchaser in formulating its bid to purchase the Notes.  Attached as 
Schedule B is a true and correct copy of the bid provided by Purchaser to purchase the Notes. 

 
 b) Purchaser was not given the opportunity to review other bids prior to submitting its bid. 
 
 c) The bid submitted by Purchaser constituted a firm offer to purchase the Notes. 
 
2. Defined Terms. 
 
 a) Issuer means City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
 b) Maturity means Notes with the same credit and payment terms.  Notes with different maturity dates, 

or Notes with the same maturity date but different stated interest rates, are treated as separate Maturities. 
 
 c) Public means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, association, company, 

or corporation) other than an Underwriter or a related party to an Underwriter.  The term "related party" for purposes 
of this certificate generally means any two or more persons who have greater than 50 percent common ownership, 
directly or indirectly. 

 
 d) Sale Date means the first day on which there is a binding contract in writing for the sale of a Maturity 

of the Notes.  The Sale Date of the Notes is July 18, 2022. 
 
 e) Underwriter means (i) the Purchaser or any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract with the 

Issuer (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate in the initial sale of the Notes 
to the Public, and (ii) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly with a person 
described in clause (i) of this paragraph to participate in the initial sale of the Notes to the Public (including a member 
of a selling group or a party to a retail distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of the Notes to the 
Public). 
  

102

Item 9.



 
 

EXHIBIT 1-A to TERMS OF OFFERING 
 
 

 
 

 f) The representations set forth in this certificate are limited to factual matters only.  Nothing in this 
certificate represents Purchaser’s interpretation of any laws, including specifically Sections 103 and 148 of the 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the Treasury Regulations thereunder.  The undersigned understands 
that the foregoing information will be relied upon by the Issuer and its advisors with respect to certain of the 
representations set forth in the Tax Exemption Certificate and with respect to compliance with the federal income tax 
rules affecting the Notes, and by Bond Counsel in connection with rendering its opinion that the interest on the Notes 
is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, the preparation of the Internal Revenue Service Form 
8038-G, and other federal income tax advice that it may give to the Issuer from time to time relating to the Notes. 

 
 

[UNDERWRITER] 
 
By:_______________________________________ 
Name:_____________________________________ 

 
Dated:  August 31, 2022   

103

Item 9.



 
 

EXHIBIT 1-A to TERMS OF OFFERING 
 
 

 
 

SCHEDULE A 
 

EXPECTED OFFERING PRICES 
 

$_______ General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2022 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
 

(Attached) 

104

Item 9.



 
 

EXHIBIT 1-A to TERMS OF OFFERING 
 
 

 
 

SCHEDULE B 
 

COPY OF UNDERWRITER’S BID 
 

$_______ General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2022 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
 

(Attached) 

105

Item 9.



 
 

EXHIBIT 1-B to TERMS OF OFFERING 
 
 

 
COMPETITIVE SALES WITH FEWER THAN THREE BIDS FROM ESTABLISHED UNDERWRITERS 

HOLD OFFERING PRICE 
 

 
ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE 

 
$_______ General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2022 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 

The undersigned, on behalf of [NAME OF UNDERWRITER/REPRESENTATIVE] (["Purchaser")][the 
"Representative")][, on behalf of itself and [NAMES OF OTHER UNDERWRITERS] (together, the "Underwriting 
Group"),] hereby certifies as set forth below with respect to the sale and issuance of the above-captioned obligations 
(the "Notes"). 

1. Sale of the General Rule Maturities.  As of the date of this certificate, for each Maturity of the General 
Rule Maturities, the first price at which at least 10% of such Maturity was sold to the Public is the respective price listed 
in Schedule A. 

2. Initial Offering Price of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities. 
 

a) [Purchaser][The Underwriting Group] offered the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities to the Public for 
purchase at the respective initial offering prices listed in Schedule A (the "Initial Offering Prices") on or before the Sale 
Date.  A copy of the pricing wire or equivalent communication for the Notes is attached to this certificate as Schedule 
B. 

b) As set forth in the Official Terms of Offering and bid award, [Purchaser][the members of the 
Underwriting Group] [has][have] agreed in writing that, (i) for each Maturity of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities, 
[it][they] would neither offer nor sell any of the Notes of such Maturity to any person at a price that is higher than the 
Initial Offering Price for such Maturity during the Holding Period for such Maturity (the "hold-the-offering-price rule"), 
and (ii) any selling group agreement shall contain the agreement of each dealer who is a member of the selling group, 
and any retail distribution agreement shall contain the agreement of each broker-dealer who is a party to the retail 
distribution agreement, to comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule.  Pursuant to such agreement, no Underwriter 
(as defined below) has offered or sold any Maturity of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities at a price that is higher 
than the respective Initial Offering Price for that Maturity of the Notes during the Holding Period. 

 
3. Defined Terms. 
 
 a) General Rule Maturities means those Maturities of the Notes listed in Schedule A hereto as the "General 

Rule Maturities." 
 
 b) Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities means those Maturities of the Notes listed in Schedule A hereto as 

the "Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities." 
 
 c) Holding Period means, with respect to a Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity, the period starting on the 

Sale Date and ending on the earlier of (i) the close of the fifth business day after the Sale Date, or (ii) the date on which 
[Purchaser][the Underwriters] [has][have] sold at least 10% of such Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity to the Public at 
prices that are no higher than the Initial Offering Price for such Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity. 

 
d) Issuer means City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 
  

106

Item 9.



 
 

EXHIBIT 1-B to TERMS OF OFFERING 
 
 

e) Maturity means Notes with the same credit and payment terms.  Notes with different maturity dates, or 
Notes with the same maturity date but different stated interest rates, are treated as separate maturities. 

 
 f) Public means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, association, company, or 
corporation) other than an Underwriter or a related party to an Underwriter.  The term "related party" for purposes of 
this certificate generally means any two or more persons who have greater than 50 percent common ownership, directly 
or indirectly. 

 g) Sale Date means the first day on which there is a binding contract in writing for the sale of a Maturity 
of the Notes.  The Sale Date of the Notes is July 18, 2022. 

 h) Underwriter means (i) the Purchaser or any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract with the 
Issuer (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate in the initial sale of the Notes to 
the Public, and (ii) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in 
clause (i) of this paragraph to participate in the initial sale of the Notes to the Public (including a member of a selling 
group or a party to a retail distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of the Notes to the Public). 

 
 i) The representations set forth in this certificate are limited to factual matters only.  Nothing in this 
certificate represents [the Purchaser][the Representative's] interpretation of any laws, including specifically Sections 
103 and 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the Treasury Regulations thereunder.  The 
undersigned understands that the foregoing information will be relied upon by the Issuer and its advisors with respect 
to certain of the representations set forth in the Tax Exemption Certificate and with respect to compliance with the 
federal income tax rules affecting the Notes, and by Bond Counsel in connection with rendering its opinion that the 
interest on the Notes is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, the preparation of the Internal 
Revenue Service Form 8038-G, and other federal income tax advice that it may give to the Issuer from time to time 
relating to the Notes. 

 
 

[UNDERWRITER][REPRESENTATIVE] 
 
By:____________________________________ 
 

Name:__________________________________ 

 
Dated: August 31, 2022 

107

Item 9.



 
 

EXHIBIT 1-B to TERMS OF OFFERING 
 
 

SCHEDULE A 
 

SALE PRICES OF THE GENERAL RULE MATURITIES AND 
INITIAL OFFERING PRICES OF THE HOLD-THE-OFFERING-PRICE MATURITIES 

 
 

$_______ General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2022 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
 

(Attached) 

108

Item 9.



 
 

EXHIBIT 1-B to TERMS OF OFFERING 
 
 

SCHEDULE B 
 

PRICING WIRE OR EQUIVALENT COMMUNICATION 
 

$_______ General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2022 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
 

(Attached) 
 

 

109

Item 9.



 

1 

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 

$3,860,000* General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2022 
 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 
This Preliminary Official Statement contains information relating to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (the “City”) and 
its issuance of $3,860,000* General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2022 (the “Notes”). This Preliminary Official 
Statement has been executed on behalf of the City and its Director of Finance & Business Operations and may 
be distributed in connection with the sale of the Notes authorized therein.  Inquiries may be directed to the City’s 
Municipal Advisor, PFM Financial Advisors LLC (the “Municipal Advisor”), 801 Grand Avenue, Suite 3300, Des 
Moines, Iowa 50309, telephone 515-724-5724. Information may also be obtained from Ms. Jennifer Rodenbeck, 
Director of Finance & Business Operations, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa  50613, telephone 319-268-5108. 
 
AUTHORITY AND PURPOSE 
 
The Notes are being issued pursuant to Subchapter III of Chapter 384 of the Code of Iowa and an authorizing resolution 
(the “Resolution”) to be adopted by the City Council of the City.  The Notes are being issued to provide funds to pay the 
costs the opening, widening, extending, grading and draining of the rights-of-way of streets, highways, avenues, alleys 
and public grounds, and market places, and the removal and replacement of dead or diseased trees thereon; the 
construction, reconstruction, and repairing of any street improvements, bridges, grade crossing separations and 
approaches; the acquisition, installation, and repair of sidewalks, culverts, retaining walls, storm sewers, sanitary sewers, 
water service lines, street lighting, traffic control devices, and the acquisition of any real estate needed for any of the 
foregoing purposes; equipping the fire department; the acquisition, construction, reconstruction, enlargement, 
improvement and equipping of City facilities, including camera installation, replacement and maintenance, and a finance 
system; expanded public infrastructure and related amenities and site improvements; the acquisition, construction, 
reconstruction, enlargement, improvement, drainage enhancements, grading and terracing, slope stabilization and 
protection, and equipping of recreational trails and parks associated with the Cedar River Recreation Project. 
 
The estimated sources and uses of the Notes are as follows:  
 

Sources of Funds*   
   

 Par Amount of Notes $3,860,000.00 
  

Uses of Funds*  
  

 Deposit to Project Fund $3,771,000.00 
 Underwriter’s Discount 38,600.00 
 Cost of Issuance & Contingency       50,400.00 
   

    Total Uses $3,860,000.00 
 

* Preliminary; subject to change. 
 
INTEREST ON THE NOTES 
 
Interest on the Notes will be payable on June 1, 2023 and semiannually on the 1st day of December and June thereafter. 
Interest and principal shall be paid to the registered holder of a note as shown on the records of ownership maintained by 
the Registrar as of the 15th day of the month preceding such interest payment date (the “Record Date”). Interest will be 
computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months and will be rounded pursuant to rules of the Municipal 
Securities Rulemaking Board. 
  

110

Item 9.



 

2 

OPTIONAL REDEMPTION OF THE NOTES 
 
The Notes due after June 1, 2030 will be subject to call prior to maturity in whole, or from time to time in part, in any 
order of maturity and within a maturity by lot on said date or on any date thereafter at the option of the City, upon 
terms of par plus accrued interest to date of call.  Written notice of such call shall be given at least thirty (30) days 
prior to the date fixed for redemption to the registered owners of the Notes to be redeemed at the address shown on the 
registration books. 
 
PAYMENT OF AND SECURITY FOR THE NOTES 
 
The Notes are general obligations of the City and the unlimited taxing powers of the City are irrevocably pledged for their 
payment.  Upon issuance of the Notes, the City will levy taxes for the years and in amounts sufficient to provide 100% of 
annual principal and interest due on the Notes.  If, however, the amount credited to the debt service fund for payment of 
the Notes is insufficient to pay principal and interest, whether from transfers or from original levies, the City must use 
funds in its treasury and is required to levy ad valorem taxes upon all taxable property in the City without limit as to rate 
or amount sufficient to pay the debt service deficiency. 
 
Iowa Code section 76.2 provides that when an Iowa political subdivision issues general obligation debt ,  “the governing 
authority of these political subdivisions before issuing bonds shall, by resolution, provide for the assessment of an 
annual levy upon all the taxable property in the political subdivision sufficient to pay the interest and principal of the 
bonds within a period named not exceeding twenty years.  A certified copy of this resolution shall be filed with the 
county auditor or the auditors of the counties in which the political subdivision is located; and the filing shall make it a 
duty of the auditors to enter annually this levy for collection from the taxable property within the boundaries of the 
political subdivision until funds are realized to pay the bonds in full.” 
 
Nothing in the Resolution prohibits or limits the ability of the City to use legally available moneys other than the proceeds 
of the general ad valorem property taxes levied, as described in the preceding paragraph, to pay all or any portion of the 
principal of or interest on the Notes.  If, and to the extent such other legally available moneys are used to pay the principal 
of or interest on the Notes, the City may, but shall not be required to, (a) reduce the amount of taxes levied for such 
purpose, as described in the preceding paragraph; or (b) use proceeds of taxes levied, as described in the preceding 
paragraph, to reimburse the fund or account from which such other legally available moneys are withdrawn for the amount 
withdrawn from such fund or account to pay the principal of or interest on the Notes. 
 
The Resolution doesn’t restrict the City’s ability to issue or incur additional general obligation debt, although issuance of 
additional general obligation debt is subject to the same constitutional and statutory limitations that apply to the issuance 
of the Notes.  For a further description of the City’s outstanding general obligation debt upon issuance of the Notes and 
the annual debt service on the Notes, see “DIRECT DEBT” under “CITY INDEBTEDNESS” included in APPENDIX A 
to this Preliminary Official Statement.  For a description of certain constitutional and statutory limits on the issuance of 
general obligation debt, see “DEBT LIMIT” under “CITY INDEBTEDNESS” included in APPENDIX A to this 
Preliminary Official Statement. 
 
BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY ISSUANCE 
 
The information contained in the following paragraphs of this subsection “Book-Entry-Only Issuance” has been extracted 
from a schedule prepared by Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) entitled “SAMPLE OFFERING DOCUMENT 
LANGUAGE DESCRIBING DTC AND BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY ISSUANCE”.  The information in this section concerning 
DTC and DTC’s book-entry-only issuance has been obtained from sources that the City believes to be reliable, but the 
City takes no responsibility for the accuracy thereof. 
 
The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, NY, will act as securities depository for the securities (the 
“Securities”).  The Securities will be issued as fully-registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s 
partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  One fully-
registered Security certificate will be issued for each issue of the Securities, each in the aggregate principal amount of 
such issue, and will be deposited with DTC.  If, however, the aggregate principal amount of any issue exceeds $500 
million, one certificate will be issued with respect to each $500 million of principal amount, and an additional certificate 
will be issued with respect to any remaining principal amount of such issue.  

111

Item 9.



 

3 

DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking 
Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve 
System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” 
registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  DTC holds and provides 
asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and 
money market instruments from over 100 countries that DTC’s participants (the “Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC.  
DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in 
deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry-only transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ 
accounts.  This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates.  Direct Participants include both U.S. 
and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations.  
DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”).  DTCC is the holding 
company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are 
registered clearing agencies.  DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries.  Access to the DTC system is also 
available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing 
corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly 
(the “Indirect Participants”).  DTC has Standard & Poor’s rating: AA+.  The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are 
on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com. 
 
Purchases of Securities under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive a credit 
for the Securities on DTC’s records.  The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Security (the “Beneficial 
Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records.  Beneficial Owners will not receive 
written confirmation from DTC of their purchase.  Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written 
confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or 
Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction.  Transfers of ownership interests in 
the Securities are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of 
Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in Securities, 
except in the event that use of the book-entry-only issuance for the Securities is discontinued. 
 
To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Securities deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the name of 
DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  
The deposit of Securities with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not 
affect any change in beneficial ownership.  DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Securities; 
DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Securities are credited, which 
may or may not be the Beneficial Owners.  The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping 
account of their holdings on behalf of their customers. 
 
Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect 
Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements 
among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Beneficial Owners 
of Securities may wish to take certain steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events with 
respect to the Securities, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments to the Security documents.  
For example, Beneficial Owners of Securities may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the Securities for their 
benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners.  In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to 
provide their names and addresses to the Registrar and request that copies of notices be provided directly to them. 
 
Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC.  If less than all of the Securities within an issue are being redeemed, DTC’s 
practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue to be redeemed. 
 
Neither DTC nor Cede & Co., nor any other DTC nominee, will consent or vote with respect to Securities unless authorized 
by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI Procedures.  Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus 
Proxy to the City as soon as possible after the record date.  The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting 
rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts Securities are credited on the record date identified in a listing 
attached to the Omnibus Proxy. 
 
Redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments on the Securities will be made to Cede & Co., or such other 
nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’ 

112

Item 9.



 

4 

accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the City or Agent, on payable date in 
accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records.  Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will 
be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of 
customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, 
Agent, or the City, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Payment of 
redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by 
an authorized representative of DTC, is the responsibility of the City or Agent, disbursement of such payments to Direct 
Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the 
responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants. 
 
A Beneficial Owner shall give notice to elect to have its Securities purchased or tendered, through its Participant, to 
Tender/Remarketing Agent, and shall effect delivery of such Securities by causing the Direct Participant to transfer the 
Participant’s interest in the Securities, on DTC’s records, to Tender/Remarketing Agent.  The requirement for physical 
delivery of Securities in connection with an optional tender or a mandatory purchase will be deemed satisfied when the 
ownership rights in the Securities are transferred by Direct Participants on DTC’s records and followed by a book-entry-
only credit of tendered Securities to Tender/Remarketing Agent’s DTC account. 
 
DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Securities at any time by giving reasonable 
notice to the City or Agent.  Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor depository is not obtained, Security 
certificates are required to be printed and delivered. 
 
The City may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or a successor securities 
depository).  In that event, Security certificates will be printed and delivered to DTC. 

 
FUTURE FINANCING 
 
The City does not anticipate any additional general obligation borrowing needs within 90 days of this Preliminary Official 
Statement. 
 
LITIGATION 
 
To the knowledge of the City, there is no legal action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation at law or in equity before or 
by any court, public board or body for which the City has been served with process or official notice or threatened against 
or affecting the City or any reasonable basis therefore, wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would adversely 
affect the transaction contemplated by this Preliminary Official Statement or the validity of the Notes, the Resolution, or 
any agreement or instrument to which the City is a party and which is used or contemplated for use in the transactions 
contemplated by this Preliminary Official Statement, and no member, employee or agent of the City has been served with 
any legal process regarding such litigation or other proceeding. 
 
To the knowledge of the City, no litigation is pending or threatened which, in the opinion of the City’s counsel, if decided 
adversely to the City would be likely to result, either individually or in the aggregate, in final judgments against the City 
which would materially adversely affect its ability to meet debt service payments on the Notes when due, or its obligations 
under the Resolution, or materially adversely affect its financial condition. 
 
DEBT PAYMENT HISTORY 
 
The City knows of no instance in which it has defaulted in the payment of principal or interest on its debt. 
 
LEGALITY 
 
The Notes are subject to approval as to certain matters by Ahlers & Cooney, P.C. of Des Moines, Iowa as Bond Counsel.  
Bond Counsel is not expressing any opinion as to the completeness or accuracy of the information contained in the 
Preliminary Official Statement.  Bond Counsel has reviewed or prepared information describing the terms of the Notes, 
Iowa and Federal law pertinent to the validity of and the tax status of interest on the Notes, which can be found generally 
under the sections “AUTHORITY AND PURPOSE”, “OPTIONAL REDEMPTION OF THE NOTES”, “PAYMENT OF 
AND SECURITY FOR THE NOTES”, and “TAX MATTERS”, herein.  Additionally, Bond Counsel has provided its 

113

Item 9.



 

5 

form of Legal Opinion and the form of Continuing Disclosure Certificate, included in APPENDIX B and APPENDIX D, 
respectively, to this Preliminary Official Statement.  The FORM OF LEGAL OPINION as set out in APPENDIX B to 
this Preliminary Official Statement, will be delivered at closing. 
 
The legal opinion to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Notes expresses the professional judgment of the 
attorneys rendering the opinions as to legal issues expressly addressed therein.  By rendering a legal opinion, the opinion 
giver does not become an insurer or guarantor of the result indicated by that expression of professional judgment, or of 
the transaction on which the opinion is rendered, or of the future performance of parties to the transaction.  Nor does 
the rendering of an opinion guarantee the outcome of any legal dispute that may arise out of the transaction. 
 
There is no note trustee or similar person to monitor or enforce the provisions of the Resolution.  The owners of the 
Notes should, therefore, be prepared to enforce such provisions themselves if the need to do so arises.  In the event of a 
default in the payment of principal of or interest on the Notes, there is no provision for acceleration of maturity of the 
principal of the Notes.  Consequently, the remedies of the owners of the Notes (consisting primarily of an action in the 
nature of mandamus requiring the City and certain other public officials to perform the terms of the Resolution) may have 
to be enforced from year to year.  The obligation to pay general ad valorem property taxes is secured by a statutory lien 
upon the taxed property but is not an obligation for which a property owner may be held personally liable in the event of 
a deficiency.  The owners of the Notes cannot foreclose on property within the boundaries of the City or sell such property 
in order to pay the debt service on the Notes.  See “LEVIES AND TAX COLLECTIONS” under “THE CITY” included 
in APPENDIX A to this Preliminary Official Statement for a description of property tax collection and enforcement. 
 
In addition, the enforceability of the rights and remedies of owners of the Notes may be subject to limitation as set forth 
in Bond Counsel’s opinion.  The opinion will state, in part, that the obligation of the City with respect to the Notes may 
be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights, 
heretofore or hereafter, enacted to the extent constitutionally applicable, to the exercise of judicial discretion in 
appropriate cases. 
 
TAX MATTERS 
 
Tax Exemptions and Related Considerations:  Federal tax law contains a number of requirements and restrictions that 
apply to the Notes.  These include investment restrictions, periodic payments of arbitrage profits to the United States, 
requirements regarding the proper use of Notes proceeds and facilities financed with Notes proceeds, and certain other 
matters.  The City has covenanted to comply with all requirements that must be satisfied in order for the interest on the 
Notes to be excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes.  Failure to comply with certain of such 
covenants could cause interest on the Notes to become includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes 
retroactively to the date of issuance of the Notes. 
 
Subject to the City’s compliance with the above referenced covenants, under present law, in the opinion of Bond Counsel, 
interest on the Notes is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes.  Interest on the Notes is not an 
item of tax preference for federal alternative minimum tax. 
 
Prospective purchasers of the Notes should be aware that ownership of the Notes may result in collateral federal income 
tax consequences to certain taxpayers, including, without limitation, corporations subject to the branch profits tax, 
financial institutions, certain insurance companies, certain S corporations, individual recipients of Social Security or 
Railroad Retirement benefits and taxpayers who may be deemed to have incurred (or continued) indebtedness to purchase 
or carry tax-exempt obligations.  Bond Counsel will not express any opinion as to such collateral tax consequences.  
Prospective purchaser of the Notes should consult their tax advisors as to collateral federal income tax consequences. 
 
Ownership of the Notes may result in other state and local tax consequences to certain taxpayers.  Bond Counsel expresses 
no opinion regarding any such collateral consequences arising with respect to the Notes.  The prospective purchaser of the 
Notes should consult their tax advisors regarding the applicability of any such state and local taxes. 
 
Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligations:  The City will designate the Notes as “qualified tax-exempt obligations” under the 
exception provided in Section 265(b)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). 
 

114

Item 9.



 

6 

Discount and Premium on Certain Notes:  The initial public offering price of certain Notes (“Discount Notes”) may be 
less than the amount payable on such Discount Notes at maturity.  An amount equal to the difference between the initial 
public offering price of Discount Notes (assuming that a substantial amount of the Discount Notes of that maturity are 
sold to the public at such price) and the amount payable at maturity constitutes original issue discount to the initial 
purchaser of such Discount Notes.  Owners of Discount Notes should consult with their own tax advisors with respect to 
the determination of accrued original issue discount on Discount Notes for federal income tax purposes and with respect 
to the state and local tax consequences of owning and disposing of Discount Notes.  It is possible that, under applicable 
provisions governing determination of state and local income taxes, accrued interest on Discount Notes may be deemed 
to be received in the year of accrual even though there will not be a corresponding cash payment. 
 
The initial public offering price of certain Notes (“Premium Notes”) may be greater than the amount of such Premium 
Notes at maturity.  An amount equal to the difference between the initial public offering price of Premium Notes (assuming 
that a substantial amount of the Premium Notes of that maturity are sold to the public at such price) and the amount payable 
at maturity constitutes a premium to the initial purchaser of such Premium Notes.  Purchasers of the Premium Notes should 
consult with their own tax advisors with respect to the determination of amortizable note premium on Premium Notes for 
federal income tax purposes and with respect to the state and local tax consequences of owning and disposing of Premium 
Notes. 
 
Other Tax Advice:  In addition to the income tax consequences described above, potential investors should consider 
the additional tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of the Notes.  For instance, state income 
tax law may differ substantially from state to state, and the foregoing is not intended to describe any aspect of the 
income tax laws of any state.  Therefore, potential investors should consult their own tax advisors with respect to federal 
tax issues and with respect to the various state tax consequences of an investment in Notes. 
 
Audits:  The Internal Revenue Service (the “Service”) has an ongoing program of auditing tax-exempt obligations to 
determine whether, in the view of the Service, interest on such tax-exempt obligations is includable in the gross income 
of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes.  It cannot be predicted whether or not the Service will commence 
an audit of the Notes.  If an audit is commenced, under current procedures the Service may treat the City as a taxpayer 
and the Noteholders may have no right to participate in such procedure.  The commencement of an audit could adversely 
affect the market value and liquidity of the Notes until the audit is concluded, regardless of the ultimate outcome. 
 
Withholdings:  Payments of interest on, and proceeds of the sale, redemption or maturity of tax-exempt obligations, 
including the Notes, are in certain cases required to be reported to the Service.  Additionally, backup withholding may 
apply to any such payments to any note owner who fails to provide an accurate Form W-9 Request for Taxpayer 
Identification Number and Certification, or a substantially identical form, or to any note owner who is notified by the 
Service of a failure to report any interest or dividends required to be shown on federal income tax returns.  The reporting 
and backup withholding requirements do not affect the excludability of such interest from gross income for federal tax 
purposes. 
 
Legislation:  Legislation affecting tax-exempt obligations is regularly considered by the United States Congress and may 
be considered by the Iowa legislature.  Judicial interpretation of state or federal laws, rules or regulations may also affect 
the tax treatment.  There can be no assurance that legislation enacted or proposed, or actions by a court, after the date of 
issuance of the Notes will not have an adverse effect on the tax status of interest or other income on the market value or 
marketability of the Notes.  These adverse effects could result, for example, from changes to federal or state income tax 
rates, changes in the structure of federal or state income taxes (including replacement with another type of tax), or repeal 
(or reduction in the benefit) of the exclusion of interest on the Notes from gross income for federal or state income tax 
purposes for all or certain taxpayers. 
 
Current and future legislative proposals, including some that carry retroactive effective dates, if enacted into law, or 
clarification of the Code may cause interest on the Notes to be subject, directly or indirectly, to federal income taxation, 
or otherwise prevent owners of the Notes from realizing the full current benefit of the tax status of such interest.  Recent 
proposals have been made that could significantly reduce the benefit of, or otherwise affect, the exclusion from gross 
income of interest on obligations like the Notes.  The introduction or enactment of any such legislative proposals or 
clarification of the Code may also affect, perhaps significantly, the market price for, or marketability of the Notes.  The 
prospective purchaser of the Notes should consult their own tax advisors regarding any pending or proposed tax legislation, 

115

Item 9.



 

7 

as to which Bond Counsel expresses no opinion except as expressly set forth in APPENDIX B to this Preliminary Official 
Statement. 
 
Enforcement:  Holders of the Notes shall have and possess all the rights of action and remedies afforded by the common 
law, the Constitution and statutes of the State of Iowa and of the United States of America for the enforcement of payment 
of the Notes, including, but not limited to, the right to a proceeding in law or in equity by suit, action or mandamus to 
enforce and compel performance of the duties required by Iowa law and the Resolution.  There is no note trustee or similar 
person to monitor or enforce the terms of the Resolution.  In the event of a default in the payment of principal of or interest 
on the Notes, there is no provision for acceleration of maturity of the principal of the Notes.  Consequently, the remedies 
of the owners of the Notes (consisting primarily of an action in the nature of mandamus requiring the City and certain 
other public officials to perform the terms of the Resolution) may have to be enforced from year to year.  The enforceability 
of the rights and remedies of owners of the Notes may be subject to limitation as set forth in Bond Counsel’s opinion. 
 
The obligation to pay general ad valorem property taxes is secured by a statutory lien upon the taxed property but is not 
an obligation for which a property owner may be held personally liable in the event of a deficiency.  The owners of the 
Notes cannot foreclose on property within the boundaries of the City or sell such property in order to pay the debt service 
on the Notes.  In addition, the enforceability of the rights and remedies of owners of the Notes may be subject to limitation 
as set forth in Bond Counsel’s opinion.  The opinion to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Notes will 
be qualified as to the enforceability of the various legal instruments by limitations imposed by general principles of 
equity and public policy and by bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency or other similar laws affecting the rights of 
creditors generally, and to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases. 
 
No representation is made, and no assurance is given, that the enforcement of any remedies with respect to such assets 
will result in sufficient funds to pay all amounts due under the Resolution, including principal of and interest on the 
Notes. 
 
The Opinion:  The opinion expressed by Bond Counsel are based upon existing legislation and regulations as interpreted 
by relevant judicial and regulatory authorities as of the date of issuance and delivery of the Notes, and Bond Counsel has 
expressed no opinion as of any date subsequent thereto or with respect to any proposed or pending legislation, regulatory 
initiatives or litigation. 
 
Bond Counsel’s opinions are not a guarantee of a result, or of the transaction on which the opinion is rendered, or of the 
future performance of parties to the transaction, but represents its legal judgment based upon its review of existing statutes, 
regulations, published rulings and court decisions and the representations and covenants of the City described in this 
section.  No ruling has been sought from the Service with respect to the matters addressed in the opinions of Bond Counsel 
and Bond Counsel’s opinions are not binding on the Service.  Bond Counsel assumes no obligation to update its opinions 
after the issue date to reflect any further action, fact or circumstance, or change in law or interpretation, or otherwise. 
 
ALL POTENTIAL PURCHASERS OF THE NOTES SHOULD CONSULT WITH THEIR TAX ADVISORS WITH 
RESPECT TO FEDERAL, STATE AND LOCAL TAX CONSEQUENCES OF OWNERSHIP OF THE NOTES 
(INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO THOSE LISTED ABOVE). 
 
NOTEHOLDER’S RISKS 
 
An investment in the Notes is subject to certain risks.  No person should purchase the Notes unless such person understands 
the risks described below and is willing to bear those risks.  There may be other risks not listed below which may adversely 
affect the value of the Notes.  An investment in the Notes involves an element of risk.  In order to identify risk factors and 
make an informed investment decision, potential investors should be thoroughly familiar with this entire Preliminary 
Official Statement (including the Appendices hereto) in order to make a judgment as to whether the Notes are an appropriate 
investment. 
 
Secondary Market Not Established:  There is no established secondary market for the Notes, and there is no assurance that 
a secondary market will develop for the purchase and sale of the Notes.  Prices of municipal notes traded in the secondary 
market, if any, are subject to adjustment upward and downward in response to changes in the credit markets and changes 
in the operating performance of the entities operating the facilities subject to bonded indebtedness.  From time to time it 
may be necessary to suspend indefinitely secondary market trading in selected issues of municipal notes as a result of the 

116

Item 9.



 

8 

financial condition or market position, prevailing market conditions, lack of adequate current financial information about 
the entity, operating the subject facilities, or a material adverse change in the operations of that entity, whether or not the 
subject notes are in default as to principal and interest payments, and other factors which, may give rise to uncertainty 
concerning prudent secondary market practices. 
 
Municipal notes are generally viewed as long-term investments, subject to material unforeseen changes in the investor’s 
circumstances, and may require commitment of the investor’s funds for an indefinite period of time, perhaps until maturity. 
 
EACH PROSPECTIVE PURCHASER IS RESPONSIBLE FOR ASSESSING THE MERITS AND RISKS OF AN 
INVESTMENT AND MUST BE ABLE TO BEAR THE ECONOMIC RISK OF SUCH INVESTMENT.  THE SECONDARY 
MARKET FOR THE NOTES, IF ANY, COULD BE LIMITED. 
 
Ratings Loss:  Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”) has assigned a rating of ‘___’ to the Notes.  Generally, 
a rating agency bases its rating on the information and materials furnished to it and on investigations, studies and 
assumptions of its own. There is no assurance the ratings will continue for any given period of time, or that such ratings 
will not be revised, suspended or withdrawn, if, in the judgment of Moody’s, circumstances so warrant. A revision, 
suspension or withdrawal of a rating may have an adverse effect on the market price of the Notes. 
 
Rating agencies are currently not regulated by any regulatory body. Future regulation of rating agencies could materially 
alter the methodology, rating levels, and types of ratings available, for example, and these changes, if ever, could materially 
affect the market value of the Notes. 
 
Matters Relating to Enforceability:  Holders of the Notes shall have and possess all the rights of action and remedies afforded 
by the common law, the Constitution and statutes of the State of Iowa and of the United States of America for the 
enforcement of payment of the Notes, including but not limited to, the right to a proceeding in the law or in equity by suit, 
action or mandamus to enforce and compel performance of the duties required by Iowa law and the Resolution. 
 
The practical realization of any rights upon any default will depend upon the exercise of various remedies specified in the 
Resolution.  The opinion, to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Notes, will be qualified as to the 
enforceability of the various legal instruments by limitations imposed by general principals of equity and public policy and 
by bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency or other similar laws affecting the rights of creditors generally. 
 
No representation is made, and no assurance is given that the enforcement of any remedies with respect to such assets will 
result in sufficient funds to pay all amounts due under the Resolution, including principal of and interest on the Notes. 
 
Forward-Looking Statements:  This Preliminary Official Statement contains statements relating to future results that are 
“forward-looking statements” as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.  When used in this 
Preliminary Official Statement, the words “estimate,” “forecast,” “intend,” “expect” and similar expressions identify 
forward-looking statements.  Any forward-looking statement is subject to uncertainty.  Accordingly, such statements are 
subject to risks that could cause actual results to differ, possibly materially, from those contemplated in such forward-
looking statements.  Inevitably, some assumptions used to develop forward-looking statements will not be realized or 
unanticipated events and circumstances may occur.  Therefore, investors should be aware there are likely to be differences 
between forward-looking statements and the actual results.  These differences could be material and could impact the 
availability of funds of the City to pay debt service when due on the Notes. 
 
Financial Condition of the City from time to time:  No representation is made as to the future financial condition of the 
City.  Certain risks discussed herein could adversely affect the financial condition and or operations of the City in future.  
The Notes are secured by an unlimited ad valorem property tax as described more fully in the “PAYMENT OF AND 
SECURITY FOR THE NOTES” herein. 
 
Global Health Emergency Risk:  The World Health Organization declared a pandemic following the outbreak of COVID-
19, a respiratory disease caused by a new strain of coronavirus and on March 13, 2020, the President of the United States 
declared a national emergency.  COVID-19 may continue to alter the behavior of businesses and people in a manner that 
may have negative effects on economic activity, and therefore adversely affect the financial condition of the City, either 
directly or indirectly.  It is possible that the virus could reduce general fund revenues, hotel/motel tax receipts, delay the 
receipt of property tax payments and negatively impact other collections dependent on local business activity.  At this 

117

Item 9.



 

9 

time, the City does not anticipate any material impact from COVID-19 on the City’s finances.  In Fiscal Year 2020-21, 
the City received $1,541,024.31 in federal CARES Act funding which was used for various COVID-19 related projects, 
including administrative costs to help lease to those affected by the pandemic; for agencies who help patrons due to 
COVID-19 related issues, including the Northeast Iowa Food Bank and Operation Threshold; public safety police 
operations to offset costs associated with the pandemic; the Hearst Center for the Arts to host virtual program costs and 
offset revenues; and for additional road use tax payments to offset revenue decline.  In addition, the City received 
$3,254,370 in ARPA funding for their nutrient removal project at the wastewater treatment facility.  
 
Changes in Property Taxation:  The Notes are general obligations of the City secured by an unlimited ad valorem property 
tax as described more fully in the “PAYMENT OF AND SECURITY FOR THE NOTES” herein.  Prior State Public Health 
Emergency Declarations, relative to the COVID-19 pandemic, temporarily suspended the provisions that required the 
imposition of penalty and interest for delay in property tax payments and directed that no such penalty or interest could be 
imposed for the duration of the declarations and any future extension of the suspension.  No current property tax payment 
suspensions are imposed, and collections stayed consistent during the pandemic.  It is impossible to predict whether the 
declarations or any amendments to or extensions thereof would have a material effect on the City’s ability to collect property 
taxes necessary for the payment of principal and interest on the Notes.  See “LEVIES AND TAX COLLECTIONS” under 
the “CITY” section included in APPENDIX A to this Preliminary Official Statement for more information of the City’s tax 
collection history, despite prior suspensions. 
 
From time to time the Iowa General Assembly has altered the method of property taxation and could do so again.  Such 
alterations could adversely affect the City’s financial condition.  Historically, changes to property tax calculations and 
impositions are imposed on a prospective basis.  However, there is no assurance future changes to property taxation by the 
Iowa General Assembly will not be applied retroactively.  It is impossible to predict the outcome of future property taxation 
changes by the Iowa General Assembly or resulting impacts on the City’s financial condition.  The Notes are secured by an 
unlimited ad valorem property tax as described more fully in the “PAYMENT OF AND SECURITY FOR THE NOTES” 
herein. 
 
Tax Matters and Loss of Tax Exemption:  As discussed under the heading “TAX MATTERS” herein, the interest on the 
Notes could become includable in gross income for purposes of federal income taxation retroactive to the date of delivery 
of the Notes, as a result of acts or omissions of the City in violation of its covenants in the Resolution.  Should such an 
event of taxability occur, the Notes would not be subject to a special prepayment and would remain outstanding until 
maturity or until prepaid under the prepayment provisions contained in the Notes, and there is no provision for an adjustment 
of the interest rates on the Notes. 
 
It is possible legislation will be proposed or introduced that could result in changes in the way that tax exemption is 
calculated, or whether interest on certain securities are exempt from taxation at all.  Prospective purchasers should consult 
with their own tax advisors regarding any pending or proposed federal income tax legislation.  The likelihood of legislation 
being enacted cannot be reliably predicted. 
 
It is also possible actions of the City, after the closings of the Notes, will alter the tax status of the Notes, and in the extreme, 
remove the tax-exempt status from the Notes.  In that instance, the Notes are not subject to mandatory prepayment and the 
interest rates on the Notes does not increase or otherwise reset.  A determination of taxability on the Notes, after closing of 
the Notes, could materially adversely affect the value and marketability of the Notes. 
 
Federal Tax Legislation:  From time to time, there are Presidential proposals, proposals of various federal committees, and 
legislative proposals pending in Congress that could, if enacted, alter or amend one or more of the federal (or state) tax 
matters described herein in certain respects or would adversely affect the market value of the Notes or otherwise prevent 
holders of the Notes from realizing the full benefit of the tax exemption of interest on the Notes.  Further, such proposals 
may impact the marketability or market value of the Notes simply by being proposed.  It cannot be predicted whether or in 
what forms any of such proposals, either pending or that may be introduced, may be enacted and there can be no assurance 
that such proposals will not apply to the Notes.  In addition, regulatory actions are from time to time announced or proposed 
and litigation threatened or commenced, which if implemented or concluded in a particular manner, could adversely affect 
the market value, marketability or tax status of the Notes.  It cannot be predicted whether any such regulatory action will 
be implemented, how any particular litigation or judicial action will be resolved, or whether the Notes would be impacted 
thereby. 
 

118

Item 9.



 

10 

Cybersecurity:  The City, like many other public and private entities, relies on a large and complex technology 
environment to conduct its operations.  As such, it may face multiple cybersecurity threats including but not limited to, 
hacking, viruses, malware and other attacks on computer or other sensitive digital systems and networks.  There can be 
no assurances that any security and operational control measures implemented by the City will be completely successful 
to guard against and prevent cyber threats and attacks.  Failure to properly maintain functionality, control, security, and 
integrity of the City’s information systems could impact business operations and/or digital networks and systems and the 
costs of remedying any such damage could be significant.  Along with significant liability claims or regulatory penalties, 
any security breach could have a material adverse impact on the City’s operations and financial condition. 
 
The City maintains insurance policies in the amount of $2 million for general liability including cyber liability.  The City 
cannot predict whether any insurance policies that may be maintained would be sufficient in the event of a cyber breach.  
See the “INSURANCE” section included in Appendix A to this Preliminary Official Statement for more details regarding 
insurance coverages maintained by the City.  The Notes are secured by an unlimited ad valorem property tax as described 
more fully in the “PAYMENT OF AND SECURITY FOR THE NOTES” herein. 
 
Pensions:  Pursuant to GASB 68, the City reported a liability of $9,264,499 within its Comprehensive Annual Financial 
Report for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2021 for its proportionate share of the net pension liability related to IPERS, as 
defined herein.  The net pension liability is the amount by which the total actuarial liability exceeds the pension plan’s net 
assets or fiduciary net position (essentially the market value) available for paying benefits. The net pension liability was 
measured as of June 30, 2020, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by 
an actuarial valuation as of that date. The City’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on the City’s share of 
contributions to the pension plan relative to the contributions of all IPERS participating employers.  At  June 30, 2020, 
the City’s collective proportion was 0.1318840%, which was an increase of 0.003809% from its proportion measured as 
of June 30, 2019. 
 
Additionally, the City reported a liability of $14,834,799 with its Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal 
Year ended June 30, 2021 for its proportionate share of the net pension liability related to MFPRSI, as defined herein.  
The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2020, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension 
liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The City’s proportion of the net pension liability was 
based on the City’s share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the contributions of all MFPRSI participating 
employers.  At June 30, 2020, the City’s collective proportion was 1.859929%, which was a decrease of 0.00494% from 
its proportion measured as of June 30, 2019. 
 
See “EMPLOYEES AND PENSIONS” under the “THE CITY” section included in APPENDIX A to this Preliminary 
Official Statement for more summary information related to the City’s contributions, and the City’s Comprehensive 
Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2021, included in APPENDIX C to this Preliminary Official 
Statement, for additional information related to the City’s deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions, 
actuarial assumptions, discount rate and discount rate sensitivity.  Changes to the City’s pension contributions, or available 
sources to fund said contributions, may adversely affect the City’s financial condition.  The Notes are secured by an 
unlimited ad valorem property tax as described more fully in the “PAYMENT OF AND SECURITY FOR THE NOTES” 
herein. 
 
Continuing Disclosure:  A failure by the City to comply with continuing disclosure obligations (see “CONTINUING 
DISCLOSURE” herein) will not constitute an event of default on the Notes.  Any such failure must be disclosed in 
accordance with Rule 15c2-12 promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Rule”), and may adversely affect the transferability and liquidity of the Notes and their 
market price. 
 
Bankruptcy:  The rights and remedies available to holders of the Notes may be limited by and are subject to the provisions 
of federal bankruptcy laws, to other laws or equitable principles that may affect the enforcement of creditor’s rights, to 
the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases and to limitations in legal remedies against exercise of judicial 
discretion in appropriate cases and to limitations on legal remedies against municipal corporations in the State of Iowa.  
The various opinions of counsel to be delivered with respect to the Notes and the Resolution, including the opinion of 
Bond Counsel, will be similarly qualified.  If the City were to file a petition under Chapter 9 of the Bankruptcy Code, the 
owners of the Notes could be prohibited from taking any steps to enforce their rights under the Resolution.  In the event 

119

Item 9.



 

11 

the City fails to comply with its covenants under the Resolution or fails to make payments on the Notes, there can be no 
assurance of the availability of remedies adequate to protect the interests of the holders of the Notes. 
 
Under Iowa Code Chapter 76, specifically sections 76.16 and 76.16A, as amended, a city, county, or other political 
subdivision may become a debtor under Chapter 9 of the Federal bankruptcy code, if it is rendered insolvent, as defined 
in 11 U.S.C. §101(32)(c), as a result of a debt involuntarily incurred.  As used therein, “ debt”  means an obligation to pay 
money, other than pursuant to a valid and binding collective bargaining agreement or previously authorized note issue, as 
to which the governing body of the city, county, or other political subdivision has made a specific finding set forth in a 
duly adopted resolution of each of the following: (1) all or a portion of such obligation will not be paid from available 
insurance proceeds and must be paid from an increase in general tax levy; (2) such increase in the general tax levy will 
result in a severe, adverse impact on the ability of the city, county, or political subdivision to exercise the powers granted 
to it under applicable law, including without limitation providing necessary services and promoting economic 
development; (3) as a result of such obligation, the city, county, or other political subdivision is unable to pay its debts as 
they become due; and (4) the debt is not an obligation to pay money to a city, county, entity organized pursuant to chapter 
28E of the Code of Iowa, or other political subdivision. 
 
Suitability of Investment:  The interest rate borne by the Notes is intended to compensate the investor for assuming the 
risk of investing in the Notes.  Each prospective investor should carefully examine this Preliminary Official Statement and 
its own financial condition to make a judgment as to its ability to bear the economic risk of such an investment, and 
whether or not the Notes are an appropriate investment for such investor. 
 
Tax Levy Procedures:  The Notes are general obligations of the City, payable from and secured by a continuing ad valorem 
tax levied against all of the property valuation within the City.  As part of the budgetary process each fiscal year, the City 
will have an obligation to request a debt service levy to be applied against all of the taxable property within the City.  A 
failure on the part of the City to make a timely levy request or a levy request by the City that is inaccurate or is insufficient 
to make full payments of the debt service of the Notes for a particular fiscal year may cause noteholders to experience a 
delay in the receipt of distributions of principal of and/or interest on the Notes.  In the event of a default in the payment of 
principal of or interest on the Notes, there is no provision for acceleration of maturity of the principal of the Notes.  
Consequently, the remedies of the owners of the Notes (consisting primarily of an action in the nature of mandamus 
requiring the City and certain other public officials to perform the terms of the Resolution) may have to be enforced from 
year to year. 
 
Federal Funds Orders and State Funds Legislation:  Various federal executive orders, and Iowa Code Chapter 27A 
(collectively “ICE Enforcement Initiatives”), impose requirements intended to ensure compliance with the federal 
immigration detainment processes.  The ICE Enforcement Initiatives impose various penalties for non-compliance, 
including the loss of state and/or federal funding under certain circumstances.  The loss of state and/or federal funds in 
any significant amount would negatively impact the City’s overall financial position and could affect its rating.  The Notes 
are secured by a debt service levy upon real property in the jurisdictional limits of the City and are not secured by state or 
federal funds.  See “PAYMENT OF AND SECURITY FOR THE NOTES” herein. 
 
DTC-Beneficial Owners:  Beneficial Owners of the Notes may experience some delay in the receipt of distributions of 
principal of and interest on the Notes since such distributions will be forwarded by the Registrar to DTC and DTC will 
credit such distributions to the accounts of the Participants which will, thereafter, credit them to the accounts of the 
Beneficial Owner either directly or indirectly through indirect Participants.  Neither the City nor the Registrar will have any 
responsibility or obligation to assure any such notice or payment is forwarded by DTC to any Participants or by any 
Participant to any Beneficial Owner. 
 
In addition, since transactions in the Notes can be affected only through DTC Participants, indirect participants and certain 
banks, the ability of a Beneficial Owner to pledge the Notes to persons or entities that do not participate in the DTC system, 
or otherwise to take actions in respect of such Notes, may be limited due to lack of a physical certificate.  Beneficial Owners 
will be permitted to exercise the rights of registered Owners only indirectly through DTC and the Participants.  See “BOOK-
ENTRY-ONLY ISSUANCE” herein. 
 
  

120

Item 9.



 

12 

Summary:  The foregoing is intended only as a summary of certain risk factors attendant to an investment in the Notes.  In 
order for potential investors to identify risk factors and make an informed investment decision, potential investors should 
become thoroughly familiar with this entire Preliminary Official Statement and the Appendices hereto to make a judgment 
as to whether the Notes are an appropriate investment. 
 
RATING 
 
The City has requested a rating on the Notes from Moody’s.  Currently, Moody’s maintains a rating of ‘Aaa’ on the City’s 
long-term general obligation debt.  The existing ratings on long-term debt reflect only the view of the rating agency and 
any explanation of the significance of such rating may only be obtained from Moody’s. There is no assurance that such 
rating will continue for any period of time or that it will not be revised or withdrawn. Any revision or withdrawal of the 
rating may have an effect on the market price of the Notes. 
 
MUNICIPAL ADVISOR 
 
The City has retained PFM Financial Advisors LLC, Des Moines, Iowa, as Municipal Advisor in connection with 
the preparation of the Preliminary Official Statement for the issuance of the Notes. In preparing the Preliminary 
Official Statement, the Municipal Advisor has relied on government officials, and other sources to provide accurate 
information for disclosure purposes. The Municipal Advisor is not obligated to undertake, and has not undertaken 
to make, an independent verification of the information provided by the City, or to assume responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness, or fairness of the information contained in the Preliminary Official Statement. PFM Financial 
Advisors LLC is an independent advisory firm and is not engaged in the business of underwriting, trading or distributing 
municipal securities or other public securities. 
 
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 
 
The City will covenant in a Continuing Disclosure Certificate for the benefit of the owners and beneficial owners of the 
Notes to provide annually certain financial information and operating data relating to the City (the “Annual Report”), and 
to provide notices of the occurrence of certain enumerated events.  The Annual Report is to be filed by the City not later 
than two hundred seventy (270) days after the close of each fiscal year, commencing with the Fiscal Year ending 
June 30, 2022, with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, at its internet repository named “Electronic Municipal 
Market Access” (“EMMA”).  The notices of events, if any, are also to be filed with EMMA.  See “FORM OF 
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE” included in APPENDIX D to this Preliminary Official Statement.  The 
specific nature of the information to be contained in the Annual Report or the notices of events, and the manner in which 
such materials are to be filed, are summarized in the “FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE”.  These 
covenants have been made in order to assist the Purchaser in complying with section (b)(5) of the Rule. 
 
The City is not aware of any instance in the previous five years in which it has failed to comply, in all material respects, 
with previous undertakings in a written contract or agreement specified in paragraph (b)(5)(i) of the Rule. 
 
Breach of the undertakings will not constitute a default or an “Event of Default” under the Notes or the Resolution.  A 
broker or dealer is to consider a known breach of the undertakings, however, before recommending the purchase or sale 
of the Notes in the secondary market.  Thus, a failure on the part of the City to observe the undertakings may adversely 
affect the transferability and liquidity of the Notes and their market price. 
 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The City’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2021 is reproduced in 
APPENDIX C to this Preliminary Official Statement.  The City’s certified public accountant has not consented to 
distribution of the audited financial statements and has not undertaken added review of their presentation.  Further 
information regarding financial performance and copies of the City’s prior Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports may 
be obtained from the City’s Municipal Advisor PFM Financial Advisors LLC. 
  

121

Item 9.



 

13 

CERTIFICATION 
 
The City has authorized the distribution of this Preliminary Official Statement for use in connection with the initial sale 
of the Notes.  I have reviewed the information contained within the Preliminary Official Statement prepared on behalf of 
the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, by PFM Financial Advisors LLC, Des Moines, Iowa, and to the best of my knowledge, 
information and belief, said Preliminary Official Statement does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or 
omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements made therein, in 
light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading regarding the issuance of $3,860,000* General 
Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2022. 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
/s/ Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 
* Preliminary; subject to change. 

122

Item 9.



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A 
 

GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
The $3,860,000* General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2022 (the “Notes) are general obligations of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa (the “City”) for which the City will pledge its power to levy direct ad valorem taxes against all taxable 
property within the City without limitation as to rate or amount to the repayment of the Notes. 
 
 
 
* Preliminary; subject to change. 
 
 
 

123

Item 9.



 

A-1 

CITY PROPERTY VALUES 

IOWA PROPERTY VALUATIONS 
 
In compliance with Section 441.21 of the Code of Iowa, the State Director of Revenue annually directs the county auditors 
to apply prescribed statutory percentages to the assessments of certain categories of real property.  The 2021 final Actual 
Values were adjusted by the Black Hawk County Auditor.  The reduced values, determined after the application of 
rollback percentages, are the Taxable Values subject to tax levy.  For assessment year 2021, the taxable value rollback 
rate is 54.1302% of actual value for residential property; 89.0412% of actual value for agricultural property; 63.7500% 
of the actual value for multiresidential property; 90.0000% of actual value for commercial, industrial and railroad 
property; and 100% of the actual value of utility property. 
 
The Legislature’s intent has been to limit the growth of statewide taxable valuations for the specific classes of property 
to 3% annually.  Political subdivisions whose taxable values are thus reduced or are unusually low in growth are allowed 
to appeal the valuations to the State Appeal Board, in order to continue to fund present services. 
 
PROPERTY VALUATIONS (1/1/2021 Valuations for Taxes payable July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2023) 
 

   
100% Actual Value 

Taxable Value 

(With Rollback) 
Residential $2,803,566,538 $1,510,770,762 
Commercial 529,254,483 461,067,249 
Industrial 33,533,725 27,238,463 
Multiresidential 98,472,234 59,965,819 
Railroads 2,303,363 2,073,026 
Utilities w/o Gas & Electric          1,931,517          1,931,517 

Gross valuation $3,469,061,860 $2,063,046,836 
Less military exemption         (2,656,231)         (2,656,231) 

Net valuation $3,466,405,629 $2,060,390,605 

TIF increment (used to compute debt service    

levies and constitutional debt limit) $204,625,917 $204,625,917 

Taxed Separately 

  

Ag. Land & Buildings $7,246,470 $6,452,342 
Gas & Electric Utilities $56,915,222 $4,230,086 

 
2021 GROSS TAXABLE VALUATION BY CLASS OF PROPERTY 1)

 
 

 Taxable Valuation Percent Total 

Residential $1,510,770,762 73.08% 
Multiresidential 59,965,819 2.90% 
Commercial, Industrial, and Utilities 490,237,229 23.71% 
Gas & Electric Utilities 4,230,086 0.21% 
Railroads        2,073,026     0.10% 
   

Total Gross Taxable Valuation $2,067,276,922 100.00% 
 

1) Excludes Taxable TIF Increment and Ag. Land & Buildings. 
  

124

Item 9.



 

A-2 

TREND OF VALUATIONS 

Assessment 
Year 

Payable 
Fiscal Year 

 
100% Actual Valuation 

Taxable Valuation 
(With Rollback) 

Taxable 
TIF Increment 

     

2017 2018-19 $3,166,929,337 $1,837,202,491 $135,715,774 
2018 2019-20 3,267,845,904 1,955,185,106 104,565,502 
2019 2020-21 3,417,168,394 1,968,057,686 138,806,175 
2020 2021-22 3,490,992,530 1,964,300,512 225,821,072 
2021 2022-23 3,735,193,238 2,064,620,691 204,625,917 

 
The 100% Actual Valuation, before rollback and after reduction of military exemption, includes Ag. Land, Ag. Buildings, 
Taxable TIF Increment and Gas & Electric Utilities.  The Taxable Valuation, with the rollback and after the reduction of 
military exemption, includes Gas & Electric Utilities and excludes Ag. Land, Ag. Buildings and Taxable TIF Increment.  
Iowa cities certify operating levies against Taxable Valuation excluding the Taxable TIF Increment and debt service 
levies are certified against Taxable Valuations including the Taxable TIF Increment. 

LARGER TAXPAYERS 

Set forth in the following tables are the persons or entities which represent the larger taxpayers within the boundaries of 
the City, as provided by the Black Hawk County Auditor’s office.  No independent investigation has been made of and 
no representation is made herein as to the financial condition of any of the taxpayers listed below or that such taxpayers 
will continue to maintain their status as major taxpayers in the City.  The City’s mill levy is uniformly applicable to all 
of the properties included in the table, and thus taxes expected to be received by the City from such taxpayers will be in 
proportion to the assessed valuations of the properties.  The total tax bill for each of the properties is dependent upon the 
mill levies of the other taxing entities which overlap the properties. 
 

 
Taxpayer 1) 

 
Type of Property 

1/1/2021 
Taxable Valuation 2) 

   

Target Corporation Commercial/Industrial $70,336,116 
Midland Tarkenton LLC Commercial 14,093,442 
Vereit Real Estate LP Comemercial 13,191,741 
Wal Mart Re Business Trust  Commercial 12,642,237 
Prime RE 2 LLC Commercial 12,373,650 
Martin Realty Company LLC Commercial 11,675,727 
WB CF Assoc LTD Partners III Multiresidential 11,037,428 
Menard Inc. Commercial 10,627,884 
Deere and Co. Commercial 10,147,759 
RBR Holdings II LLC Multiresidential 9,951,037 

 

1) This list represents some of the larger taxpayers in the City, not necessarily the 10 largest taxpayers. 
2) The 1/1/2021 taxable valuations listed represent only those valuations associated with the title holder and may not necessarily 

represent the entire taxable valuation. 
 

Source:  Black Hawk County Auditor’s Office 

125

Item 9.



 

A-3 

PROPERTY TAX LEGISLATION 

From time to time, legislative proposals are pending in Congress and the Iowa General Assembly that would, if enacted, 
alter or amend one or more of the property tax matters described herein.  It cannot be predicted whether or in what forms 
any of such proposals, either pending or that may be introduced, may be enacted, and there can be no assurance that such 
proposals will not apply to valuation, assessment or levy procedures for taxes levied by the City or have an adverse impact 
on standing appropriations or the future tax collections of the City.  Purchasers of the Notes should consult their tax 
advisors regarding any pending or proposed federal or state tax legislation.  The opinions expressed by Bond Counsel are 
based upon existing legislation as of the date of issuance and delivery of the Notes and Bond Counsel has expressed no 
opinion as of any date subsequent thereto or with respect to any pending federal or state tax legislation. 
 
During the 2019 legislative session, the Iowa General Assembly enacted Senate File 634 (the “2019 Act”).  The 2019 Act 
modifies the process for hearing and approval of the total maximum property tax dollars under certain levies in the City's 
budget.  The 2019 Act also includes a provision that will require the affirmative vote of 2/3 of the City Council when the 
maximum property tax dollars under these levies exceed an amount determined under a prescribed formula.  The 2019 
Act does not change the process for hearing and approval of the Debt Service Levy pledged for repayment of the general 
obligation debt. 
 
During the 2013 legislative session, the Iowa General Assembly enacted Senate File 295 (the “2013 Act”).  Among other 
things, the 2013 Act (i) reduced the maximum annual taxable value growth percent, due to revaluation of existing 
residential and agricultural property to 3%, (ii) assigned a “rollback” (the percentage of a property’s value that is subject 
to tax) to commercial, industrial and railroad property of 90%, (iii) created a new property tax classification for multi-
residential properties (apartments, nursing homes, assisted living facilities and certain other rental property) and assigned 
a declining rollback percentage to such properties for each year until the residential rollback percentage is reached in the 
2022 assessment year, after which the rollback percentage for such properties will be equal to the residential rollback 
percentage each assessment year, and (iv) exempted a specified portion of the assessed value of telecommunication 
properties. 
 
During the 2021 legislative session, House File 418 (the “2021 Act”) was signed into law on March 8, 2021, applicable 
to valuations beginning January 1, 2022.  The 2021 Act removes the multi-residential property classification by 
reclassifying certain properties as a subdivision of “residential” property.  The multi-residential classification was created 
as part of the January 1, 2015 valuations and became unnecessary due to the equalization of the residential and 
multiresidential classifications as of January 1, 2022. 
 
The 2013 Act included a standing appropriation to replace some of the tax revenues lost by local governments, including 
tax increment districts, resulting from the new rollback for commercial and industrial property.  During the 2021 
legislative session, Senate File 619 (“SF 619”) was signed into law on June 17, 2021, which phases out the standing 
appropriation payments over time to the City starting in Fiscal Year 2022-23 through Fiscal Year 2025-26.  In Fiscal Year 
2021-22, the City will collect $718,601.  In Fiscal Year 2022-23, the City estimates it will collect $628,776.  The 
appropriation does not replace losses to local governments resulting from the 2013 Act’s provisions that reduce the annual 
revaluation growth limit for residential and agricultural properties to 3%, the gradual transition for multi-residential 
properties from the residential rollback percentage, or the reduction in the percentage of telecommunications property that 
is subject to taxation. 
 
HF 2552, signed into law on May 2, 2022, alters the existing Business Property Tax Credit (“BPTC”) by changing the 
credit to an exemption and altering how local governments are reimbursed by the State for the property tax reductions 
associated with the exemption.  A standing General Fund appropriation of up to $125 million is anticipated to be used to 
reimburse local governments for the tax reductions associated with the exemption replacing the BPTC.  Through Fiscal 
Year 2028-29, reimbursement claims by local governments are expected to be less than $125 million.  The standing 
appropriation is projected to be insufficient to cover the cost of the program starting with Fiscal Year 2029-30, resulting 
in prorated reimbursement claims to local governments.  Local government revenues may be negatively affected if the 
state does not increase or maintain the appropriation. 
 
Notwithstanding any modifications to property tax revenues that may result from the 2013 Act, 2019 Act, 2021 Act, 
SF 619 or HF 2552, the Notes are secured by an unlimited ad valorem property tax.  See “PAYMENT OF AND 
SECURITY FOR THE NOTES” herein. 

126

Item 9.



 

A-4 

CITY INDEBTEDNESS 

DEBT LIMIT 

Article XI, Section 3 of the State of Iowa Constitution limits the amount of debt outstanding at any time of any county, 
municipality or other political subdivision to no more than 5% of the actual value of all taxable property within the 
corporate limits, as taken from the last state and county tax list.  The debt limit for the City, based on its 2021 valuation 
currently applicable to the Fiscal Year 2022-23 is as follows: 
 
 2021 Actual Valuation of Property $3,735,193,238 1) 
 Legal Debt Limit of 5%  0.05 
  Legal Debt Limit $186,759,662 
 Less:  G. O. Debt Subject to Debt Limit  (15,710,000) * 
 Less:  Developer Rebate Agreements      (1,591,710) 2) 
 Net Debt Limit $169,457,952 * 
 

1) Actual Valuation as reported by the Iowa Department of Management. 
2) As reported by the City pursuant to development agreements for urban renewal projects under the authority of Iowa Code 

Chapter 403 or other intergovernmental agreements (under chapter 28E, etc.).  The Iowa Supreme Court has not formally ruled 
on the question of whether contracts to rebate the tax increment generated by a particular development constitutes indebtedness 
of a City for constitutional debt limit purposes.  The amount above includes rebate agreements that may not be debt.  Some 
development agreements are subject to the right of annual appropriation by the City, thereby limiting the extent of possible debt 
to only amounts currently due and appropriated in the current fiscal year.  Amounts payable under a particular development 
agreement may not constitute legal indebtedness, but are memorialized in the table below to conservatively state the City’s 
possible financial exposure.  Payment of future installments may be dependent upon undertakings by the developers, which may 
have not yet occurred.  The City actively pursues opportunities consistent with the development goals of its various urban 
renewal plans, which may be amended from time to time, and the City may enter into additional development agreements 
committing to additional rebate incentives in calendar year 2022 or thereafter.  Includes TIF rebate agreement payments for FY 
2022-23 which were appropriated by the City Council.  For additional information see “OTHER DEBT: Tax Increment Rebate 
Agreements” table herein. 

DIRECT DEBT 

General Obligation Debt Paid by Property Taxes (Includes the Notes) 
 

 
Date 

of Issue 

 
Original 
Amount 

 
 

Purpose 

 
Final 

Maturity 

Principal 
Outstanding 

As of 8/31/22 
      

7/16 $2,865,000 Capital Improvements 6/26 $1,130,000 
7/18 2,860,000 Capital Improvements 6/28 1,900,000 
7/20 3,430,000 Capital Improvements 6/30 2,965,000 
7/22 3,860,000* Capital Improvements 6/35    3,860,000* 

Subtotal    $9,855,000* 
 
 
 

* Preliminary; subject to change. 
  

127

Item 9.



 

A-5 

General Obligation Debt Paid by Sewer Utility Revenues 

 
Date 

of Issue 

 
Original 
Amount 

 
 

Purpose 

 
Final 

Maturity 

Principal 
Outstanding 

As of 8/31/22 
      

7/16 $6,790,000 Capital Improvements 6/28 $3,815,000  
7/18 2,160,000 Capital Improvements 6/28   1,430,000  

Subtotal    $5,245,000  
 
General Obligation Debt Paid by Storm Water Utility Revenues 
 

 
Date 

of Issue 

 
Original 
Amount 

 
 

Purpose 

 
Final 

Maturity 

Principal 
Outstanding 

As of 8/31/22 
      

7/18 $920,000 Capital Improvements 6/28 $610,000  
 
Total Outstanding General Obligation Debt $15,710,000* 

Annual Fiscal Year Debt Service Payments 

General Obligation Debt Paid by Property Taxes (Includes the Notes) 
 

 Current Outstanding Notes Total Outstanding 

Fiscal Year 
 

Principal 
Principal & 

Interest 
 

Principal* 
Principal & 

Interest* 
 

Principal* 
Principal & 

Interest* 
       

2022-23 $895,000 $1,061,750 $0 $126,391  $895,000  $1,188,141  
2023-24 925,000 1,065,450  250,000  417,900  1,175,000  1,483,350  
2024-25 950,000 1,063,100  260,000  416,650  1,210,000  1,479,750  
2025-26 980,000 1,064,800  275,000  419,950  1,255,000  1,484,750  
2026-27 715,000 773,700  285,000  417,575  1,000,000  1,191,275  
2027-28 735,000 772,600  300,000  419,750  1,035,000  1,192,350  
2028-29 390,000 405,900  310,000  416,250  700,000  822,150  
2029-30      405,000 413,100  325,000  417,300  730,000  830,400  
2030-31   340,000  417,675  340,000  417,675  
2031-32   355,000  417,375  355,000  417,375  
2032-33   370,000  416,400  370,000  416,400  
2033-34   385,000  416,600  385,000  416,600  
2034-35        405,000  421,200      405,000 421,200  

       

Total $5,995,000  $3,860,000*  $9,855,000*  
 

* Preliminary; subject to change. 
 
General Obligation Debt Paid by Sewer Utility Revenues 
 

 Current Outstanding 

Fiscal Year 
 

Principal 
Principal & 

Interest 
   

2022-23 $810,000 $950,200 
2023-24 840,000 957,700 
2024-25 865,000 959,150 
2025-26 890,000 959,800 
2026-27 910,000 957,100 
2027-28      930,000 953,800 

Total $5,245,000  
  

128

Item 9.



 

A-6 

General Obligation Debt Paid by Storm Water Utility Revenues 
 

 Current Outstanding 

Fiscal Year 
 

Principal 
Principal & 

Interest 
   

2022-23 $90,000 $117,250 
2023-24 95,000 117,750 
2024-25 100,000 118,000 
2025-26 105,000 118,000 
2026-27 110,000 118,800 
2027-28   110,000 114,400 

Total $610,000  

OTHER DEBT 

Tax Increment Rebate Agreements 

  Estimated Total Estimated 
Obligation 

Subject to Debt 
Limit as of 8/31/22 

 Total Estimated Final 
TIF Rebate Obligation Outstanding Payment 
Agreements as of 8/31/22 Date 

     

Linderbaum Real Estate, LLC $27,810 6/30/24 $13,905 1) 

RBJB, LLC (Allen Occ. Health) 8,850 6/30/23 8,850 1)  

River Place Properties 18,880,000 6/30/37 1,120,000 1) 

CV Commercial 2, LLC 83,200 6/30/24 41,600 1) 

Six Kids, LLC 21,123 6/30/24 14,082 1) 

Martin Realty Company II, LLC 10,065 6/30/25 5,033 1) 

Zheng Development, LLC 45,710 6/30/24 22,855 1) 

Arabella, LLC 265,514 6/30/26 66,128 1) 

Panther Builders, LLC 54,480 6/30/26 13,620 1) 

Standard Distribution Co. 48,969 6/30/25 24,485 1) 

SDC Real Estate, LLC 35,843 6/30/25       17,922 1) 

River Place Properties II, LLC 938,187 6/30/27 187,637 1) 

McWing, LLC 106,171 6/30/31 0 2) 

Prestige WW, LLC 42,897 6/30/27 8,579 1) 

Six Kids, LLC 141,041 6/30/27 47,014 1) 

Stone and Terrace, LLC 65,940 6/30/28 0 2) 

Community Bank & Trust 140,000 6/30/28                 0 2) 

Total   $1,591,710 
 

1) TIF rebate agreement payments for FY 2022-23 which were appropriated by the City Council; and subject to the Debt Limit. 
2) No TIF rebate agreement payments were appropriated for FY 2022-23. 
 
 
SEWER UTILITY REVENUE DEBT 
 

The City has revenue debt payable solely from net revenues of the sewer utility as follows: 
 

 
Date 

of Issue 

 
Original 
Amount 

 
 

Purpose 

 
Final 

Maturity 

Principal 
Outstanding 

As of 8/31/22 
      

8/11 $6,998,104 Capital Improvements (SRF Loan) 6/33 $4,392,000  

 

 
129

Item 9.



 

A-7 

ELECTRIC UTILITY REVENUE DEBT 
 

Cedar Falls Utilities has revenue debt payable solely from net revenues of the electric utility as follows: 
 

 
Date 

of Issue 

 
Original 
Amount 

 
 

Purpose 

 
Final 

Maturity 

Principal 
Outstanding 

As of 8/31/22 
      

6/15 $26,395,000 Electric Refunding 12/26 $11,760,000  

INDIRECT GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT 

    Taxing District 
1/1/2021 

Taxable Valuation 1) 

Portion of  
Taxable Valuation  

within the City 
Percent 
In City   G.O. Debt 2) 

City's 
Proportionate 

Share 
      

Black Hawk County $6,510,371,056 $2,275,698,950 34.95% $16,690,000 $5,833,155 
Cedar Falls CSD 2,382,271,329 2,197,983,531 92.26% 95,245,000 87,873,037 
Hudson CSD 261,326,107 20,436,064 7.82% 0 0 
Waterloo CSD 3,212,503,299 57,179,389 1.78% 0 0 
Dike-New Hartford CSD 337,301,762 99,966 0.03% 9,781,000 2,934 
Hawkeye Comm. College 11,640,425,155 2,275,698,950 19.55% 26,435,000     5,168,043 
      

City’s Share of Total Overlapping Debt    $98,877,169 
 
1) Taxable Valuation excludes military exemption and includes Ag. Land & Buildings, Taxable TIF Increment and all Utilities. 
2) Includes general obligation Notes, PPEL Notes, certificates of participation and new jobs training certificates.  Estimate based on 

publicly available data as of June 7, 2022. 

DEBT RATIOS 

 
 

 
 

  G.O. Debt 

Debt/Actual 
Market Value 

($3,735,193,238) 1) 

 
Debt/40,713 
Population 2) 

    

Total General Obligation Debt $15,710,000 * 0.42%* $385.87* 
   Less: G. O. Debt Paid by Enterprise Funds 3)  (5,855,000)*   
    

Net G.O. Debt Paid by Taxes and Tax Increment $9,855,000 * 0.26%* $242.06* 
    

City's Share of Overlapping Debt    $98,877,169 2.65% $2,428.64 
 
1)  Based on the City’s 1/1/2021 100% Actual Valuation; includes Ag Land, Ag Buildings, all Utilities and TIF Increment. 
2) Population based on the City’s 2020 U.S. Census. 
3) Includes general obligation debt paid by sewer and storm water utility revenues. 
 
* Preliminary; subject to change 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

130

Item 9.



 

A-8 

THE CITY 

CITY GOVERNMENT 
 
Incorporated in 1854, the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa is governed by a seven member City Council under a Mayor-Council 
form of government, with an appointed City Administrator.  One Council Member is elected from each of the City’s 
five wards.  Two City Council members and the Mayor are elected at large.  The office of Mayor is a full-time position.  
The Mayor is the presiding officer of the City Council and coordinates the City Council’s work and that of City officials.  
The City Administrator is appointed by the City Council and serves as the chief administrative officer. 
 
Various City officials hold administrative responsibility. Department Directors of Finance & Business Operations, 
Community Development, Public Works and Public Safety Services have management and administrative 
responsibilities for their respective departments and report to the City Administrator.  An appointed City Clerk is the 
custodian of City records and reports to the Director of Finance & Business Operations.  The Controller/City Treasurer 
has financial, accounting and budget control responsibilities and reports to the Director of Finance & Business 
Operations. 
 
The City uses a committee system to study routine problems more efficiently and comprehensively.  All the City Council 
Members serve on the Committee of the Whole and report their findings, conclusions and recommendations to 
the Council as a whole.  Many other Boards and Commissions also serve City needs, including a nine member Planning 
and Zoning Commission which acts in advisory capacity to the City Council. 

LEVIES AND TAX COLLECTIONS  

  Collected During Percent 
Fiscal Year Levy Collection Year Collected 

    

2017-18 $24,209,386 $24,161,506 99.80% 
2018-19 24,645,012 24,568,321 99.69% 
2019-20 24,481,564 23,987,530 97.98% 
2020-21 25,791,096 27,036,815 1) 104.83% 
2021-22 28,084,233 ---------In Process of Collection--------- 

 

1) Higher collections due to no tax sale in 2020 due to Covid-19. 
 
Collections include delinquent taxes from all prior years.  Taxes in Iowa are delinquent each October 1 and April 1 and a 
late payment penalty of 1% per month of delinquency is enforced as of those dates.  If delinquent taxes are not paid, the 
property may be offered at the regular tax sale on the third Monday of June following the delinquency date.  Purchasers at 
the tax sale must pay an amount equal to the taxes, special assessments, interest and penalties due on the property and funds 
so received are applied to taxes.  A property owner may redeem from the regular tax sale but, failing redemption within 
three years, the tax sale purchaser is entitled to a deed, which in general conveys the title free and clear of all liens except 
future tax installments. 

 

Source: Black Hawk County Auditor’s office 
  

131

Item 9.



 

A-9 

TAX RATES 

 FY 2017-18 
$/$1,000 

FY 2018-19 
$/$1,000 

FY 2019-20 

$/$1,000 

FY 2020-21 

$/$1,000 

FY 2021-22 

$/$1,000 

Black Hawk County 6.41507 6.69303 6.30363 6.33625 6.17391 
City of Cedar Falls 11.13476 11.22169 10.95250 11.43408 11.38273 
Cedar Falls Community School District 14.27271 13.94694 13.84612 13.89314 13.95299 
Hawkeye Community College 0.97071 1.01703 1.11803 1.15802 1.17640 
Assessor/Appraiser 0.26966 0.25005 0.22093 0.22095 0.22103 
Agriculture Ext. Service 0.09148 0.09346 0.09315 0.09580 0.09872 
State of Iowa   0.00310   0.00290   0.00280   0.00270   0.00260 

Total Tax Rate City Resident 33.15749 33.22510 32.53716 33.14094 33.00838 

LEVY LIMITS 

A city’s general fund tax levy is limited to $8.10 per $1,000 of taxable value, with provision for an additional $0.27 per 
$1,000 levy for an emergency fund which can be used for general fund purposes (Code of Iowa, Chapter 384, Division I).  
Cities may exceed the $8.10 limitation upon authorization by a special levy election.  Further, there are limited special 
purpose levies which may be certified outside of the above-described levy limits (Code of Iowa, Section 384.12).  The 
amount of the City’s general fund levy subject to the $8.10 limitation is $8.10 for Fiscal Year 2022-23.  The City does levy 
for the operation and maintenance of publicly owned transit; liability, property and self-insurance costs; support of a local 
emergency management committee; instrumental/vocal music groups; support of the public library; and employee benefits 
in addition to the $8.10 general fund limit as authorized by law.  Currently, the City does not levy for an emergency fund.  
Debt service levies are not limited. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(The remainder of this page has been intentionally left blank.) 
  

132

Item 9.



 

A-10 

FUNDS ON HAND (Cash and Investments as of March 31, 2022) 
 

General $3,505,032.16 
TIF (465.00) 1) 

Street Construction 10,350,375.92 
Local Street Repair 21,034,498.42 
Cable Television 1,931,026.88 
Parking Meter 601,605.98 
Visitors & Tourism Services 624,169.74 
Community Center & Senior Services (34,113.79) 2) 

Police Forfeiture & D.A.R.E. 14,013.94 
Police Retirement 3,142,330.54 
Fire Retirement 3,048,922.96 
Library Reserve 36,549.04 
Softball Player 208,573.73 
Golf Capital 534,402.01 
Rec. Center Capital 1,537,552.01 
Hearst Center Capital 364,631.70 
Debt Service 2,681,256.63 
Washington Park/Par 3 33,557.74 
FEMA 1,560,604.27 
Flood Reserve Fund 2,996,810.07 
TIF Bond Fund (19,099,895.49) 1) 

2016 Bond Fund (441,707.75) 3) 

2018 Bond Fund 437,169.66 
2020 Bond Fund (834,110.01) 3) 

Capital Projects and Equipment 27,667,834.81 
Parkade Renovation 15,258.25 
Sidewalk Assessment (36,607.70) 4) 

Economic Development 7,437,111.03 
Storm Water Bond 278,615.59 
Sewer Bond Fund 3,077,204.93 
Refuse 5,426,091.38 
Sewer Rental 14,659,685.55 
Storm Water Utility   2,789,869.40 
Data Processing 1,325,044.55 
Health Insurance 2,256,929.79 
Health Severance 352,557.99 
Vehicle Maintenance 3,222,496.90 
Payroll 2,879,837.20 
Workmen’s Compensation  1,231,144.35 
L.T.D. Insurance 373,212.09 
Liability Insurance 1,131,452.48 
Trust & Agency 6,070.46 
Greenwood Perpetual Care 253,027.43 
Fairview Perpetual Care 167,248.15 
Hillside Perpetual Care 53,527.75 
Sartori Memorial Hospital 11,364,374.19 
Section 8 Housing Voucher 696,446.08 
Block Grant           72,846.18 
  

Total Cash & Investments $120,934,070.19 
 

1) Fund will be repaid by future TIF revenues. 
2) Fund will be repaid by transfers from General Fund. 
3) Fund will be repaid by future bond proceeds. 
4) Fund will be repaid by future special assessments.  

133

Item 9.



 

A-11 

EMPLOYEES AND PENSIONS 

The City currently has 218 full-time employees and 104 part-time or seasonal employees, excluding Cedar Falls Utilities 
personnel.  In addition, the City has a public safety department with 74 sworn fire, police and public safety officers. The 
City participates in two statewide employee retirement systems, the Iowa Public Employees Retirement System 
(“IPERS”) and the Municipal Fire and Police Retirement System of Iowa (“MFPRSI”).  The State of Iowa administers 
IPERS and a nine-member board of trustees governs the MFPRSI.  Though separate and apart from state government, the 
MFPRSI board is authorized by state legislature, which also establishes by statute the pension and disability benefits and 
the system’s funding mechanism.  All full-time employees must participate in either IPERS or MFPRSI. 
 
Iowa Public Employees Retirement System: The City contributes to IPERS, which is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer, 
contributory defined benefit public employee retirement system administered by State of Iowa.  IPERS provides 
retirement and death benefits, which are established by state statute, to plan members and beneficiaries.  IPERS is 
authorized to adjust the total contribution rate up or down each year, by no more than 1 percentage point, based upon the 
actuarially required contribution rate.  The City’s contributions to IPERS for the previous three fiscal years, as shown 
below, equal the required contributions for each year. 
 

 FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21 
IPERS City Contribution $920,276 $988,265 $1,047,351 

 
The IPERS Annual Comprehensive Financial Report is available on the IPERS website, or by contacting IPERS at 7401 
Register Drive P.O. Box 9117, Des Moines, IA 50321.  However, the information presented in such financial reports or 
on such website is not incorporated into this Preliminary Official Statement by any references. 
 
Bond Counsel, the City and the Municipal Advisor undertake no responsibility for and make no representations as to the 
accuracy or completeness of the information available from the IPERS discussed above or included on the IPERS website, 
including, but not limited to, updates of such information on the State Auditor’s website or links to other Internet sites 
accessed through the IPERS website. 
 
Pursuant to Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) Statement No. 68, the City reported a liability of 
$9,264,499 within its Comprehensive Annual Financial Report as of June 30, 2021 for its proportionate share of the net 
pension liability.  The net pension liability is the amount by which the total actuarial liability exceeds the pension plan’s 
net assets or fiduciary net position (essentially the market value) available for paying benefits.  The net pension liability 
was measured as of June 30, 2020, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined 
by an actuarial valuation as of that date.  The City’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on the City’s share 
of contributions to the pension plan relative to the contributions of all IPERS participating employers.  At June 30, 2020, 
the City’s collective proportion was 0.131884% which was an increase of 0.003809% from its proportion measured as of 
June 30, 2019. 
 
The City cannot predict the levels of funding that will be required in the future as any IPERS unfunded pension benefit 
obligation could be reflected in future years in higher contribution rates.  The investment of moneys, assumptions 
underlying the same and the administration of IPERS is not subject to the direction of the City.  Thus, it is not possible to 
predict, control or prepare for future unfunded actuarial liabilities (“UAL”) of IPERS.  The UAL is the difference between 
total actuarially accrued liabilities and actuarially calculated assets available for the payment of such benefits.  The UAL 
is based on assumptions as to retirement age, mortality, projected salary increases attributed to inflation, across-the-board 
raises and merit raises, adjustments, cost-of-living adjustments, valuation of current assets, investment return and other 
matters.  Such UAL could be substantial in the future, requiring significantly increased contributions from the City which 
could affect other budgetary matters. 
 
Municipal Fire and Police Retirement System of Iowa:  The City contributes to MFPRSI, which is a cost-sharing, 
multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan.  MFPRSI provides retirement, disability, and death benefits to plan 
members and beneficiaries.  Benefit provisions are established by state statute, and vest after four years of credited 
service.  The City’s police officers and fire fighters are enrolled in the MFPRSI. 
 
  

134

Item 9.



 

A-12 

MFPRSI plan members are required to contribute a percentage of their annual covered salary, and the City is required to 
contribute at an actuarially determined rate of annual covered payroll.  The contribution requirements of plan members 
and the City are established and may be amended by state statute.  The City’s contributions to MFPRSI for the previous 
three fiscal years, as shown below, equal the required contributions for each year. 
 

 FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21 
MFPRSI City Contribution $1,469,237 $1,442,048 $1,445,236 

 
The MFPRSI’s Independent Auditors Report is available on the MFPRSI website, or by contacting MFPRSI at 7155 Lake 
Drive, Suite 201, West Des Moines, IA 50266.  However, the information presented in such financial reports or on such 
websites is not incorporated into this Preliminary Official Statement by any references. 
 
Bond Counsel, the City and the Municipal Advisor undertake no responsibility for and make no representations as to the 
accuracy or completeness of the information available from MFPRSI discussed above or included on the MFPRSI website, 
including, but not limited to, updates of such information on the State Auditor’s website or links to other Internet sites 
accessed through the MFPRSI website. 
 
Pursuant to GASB Statement No. 68, the City reported a liability of $14,834,799 with its Comprehensive Annual Financial 
Report as of June 30, 2021 for its proportionate share of the net pension liability.  The net pension liability is the amount 
by which the total actuarial liability exceeds the pension plan’s net assets or fiduciary net position (essentially the market 
value) available for paying benefits.  The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2020, and the total pension 
liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.  The City’s 
proportion of the net pension liability was based on the City’s share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the 
contributions of all MFPRSI participating employers.  At June 30, 2020, the City’s collective proportion was 1.859929% 
which was a decrease of 0.00494% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2019. 
 
For additional information on the City’s Pension Plans, including information related to deferred outflows and inflows of 
resources related to pensions, expenses, actuarial assumption, discount rate and discount rate sensitivities refer to Note F 
beginning on page 71 of the City’s June 30, 2021 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report contained in APPENDIX C 
to this Preliminary Official Statement. 

OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) 

Plan Description: The City operates a single-employer health benefit plan which provides medical, prescription drug and 
life benefits for all full-time, active employees and retired employees and their eligible dependents.  Group insurance 
benefits are established under Iowa Code Chapter 509A.13.  No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in 
paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75.  The plan does not issue a stand-alone financial report. 
 
Employees of the City who are eligible to participate in the group health plan are eligible to continue healthcare benefits 
upon retirement.  Retirees under age 65 pay the same premium for the medical, prescription drug and life benefits as 
active employees, which results in an implicit rate subsidy and an OPEB liability. 
 
Retired participants must be age 55 or older at retirement.  As of June 30, 2021, there were 17 inactive employees or 
beneficiaries and 201 active employees receiving benefit payments. 
 
Funding Policy:  The contribution requirements of plan members are established and may be amended by the City.  The 
City currently finances the benefit plan on a pay-as-you-go basis.  The majority of expenditures are paid for out of the 
General Fund. 
 
  

135

Item 9.



 

A-13 

The City’s total OPEB liability of $3,560,585 as of June 30, 2021 was measured as of June 30, 2020, and was 
determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.  The following table represents the change in the total OPEB 
liability from the prior year: 
 

Total OPEB liability beginning of year $3,490,632 
Changes for year:  
    Service cost 208,856 
    Interest 79,347 
    Difference between expected and actual experience 0 
    Change in assumptions 0 
    Benefit payments  (218,250) 
  

        Net changes      $69,953 

Net OPEB liability, end of year $3,560,585 
 
For additional information on the City’s OPEB, refer to Note G - Other Postemployment Benefits, beginning on page 81 
of the City’s June 30, 2021 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report included in APPENDIX C to this Preliminary 
Official Statement. 

UNION CONTRACTS 

The City currently has negotiated contracts with the two employee groups as shown in the table below. 
 

 Contract  
Employee Group Expiration Date % Annual Increase 

   

Teamsters – Parks & Public Works 06/30/27 Years 1-2:  3% 
  Years 3-5:  No less than 2.5%, no more than 3.5% 
   
Teamsters – Police 06/30/27 Years 1-2:  .50¢ market adjustment plus 3.5% 

  Years 3-5:  No less than 3.5%, no more than 4.5% 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(The remainder of this page has been intentionally left blank.) 
  

136

Item 9.



 

A-14 

INSURANCE 
 
The City's insurance coverage is as follows: 
 

Type of Insurance Coverage 
  

Property  $130,013,415 Total Insured Values 
$100,000 Self-Insured Retention 

Public Risk General Liability 
 

$7,000,000 Limit 
$10,000,000 General Aggregate 
$150,000 Self-Insured Retention 

Employee Benefits Liability 
 

Limit Included in GL Limit  
Aggregate Included in GL Limit 
$150,000 Self-Insured Retention 

Business Auto Liability 
  

$7,000,000 Limit 
$150,000 Self-Insured Retention 

Public Officials Liability 
 
 

$7,000,000 Limit 
$10,000,000 Aggregate 
$150,000 Self-Insured Retention 

Law Enforcement Coverage 
 

$7,000,000 Limit 
$10,000,000 Aggregate 
$150,000 Self-Insured Retention 

Employment Practices Liability 
 

$7,000,000 Limit 
$10,000,000 Aggregate 
$150,000 Self-Insured Retention 

Auto Physical Damage 
 

$15,296,977 Total Vehicle Values 
$10,000 Deductible Per Vehicle 

Equipment Breakdown 
 

$100,000,000 Limit 
$5,000 Self-Insured Retention 

Excess Workers’ Compensation 
   

$1,000,000 Limit 
$1,000,000 Aggregate Limit 
$500,000 Retention 
$750,000 Retention (Police/Fire) 

Crime 
 

$500,000 Limit  
$25,000 Self-Insured Retention 

Cyber Liability 
 
 
 

$2,000,000 Limit 
$2,000,000 Aggregate 
$15,000 Self-Insured Retention 
 

 
  

137

Item 9.



 

A-15 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

LOCATION AND TRANSPORTATION 
 
The City, with a 2020 U.S. census population of 40,713 and a total land area of 29.1 square miles, is located adjacent to 
the City of Waterloo, Iowa.  The City is 105 miles northeast of Des Moines, Iowa, 192 miles south of Minneapolis, 
Minnesota and 275 miles west of Chicago, Illinois.  The City is accessible by U.S. Highways No. 20, 63 and 218 and 
State Highways No. 21, 57, 281 and 412.  Interstate Highway No. 380 links the City and the City of Waterloo, Iowa with 
the southeastern area of the State and connects with Interstate Highway No. 80.  Interstate Highway No. 35 is located 
about 65 miles west of the City.  Bus transportation is provided in the City by the Metropolitan Transit Authority and both 
in and out of state by three bus lines.  Commercial and charter air service is available at the Waterloo Municipal Airport. 
 
LARGER EMPLOYERS 
 
A representative list of larger employers in the City is as follows: 
 

Employer Type of Business Number of Employees 1) 
   

John Deere Product Eng. Center Manufacturer 5,000 2) 
MercyOne Medical Health Care Hospital & Clinics 2,893 2) 
Hy-Vee Food Stores Retail  1,719 2) 
University of Northern Iowa Post-secondary education 1,584  
Omega Cabinetry Ltd Manufacturer 994 2) 

Target Distribution Retail Distributor 840 
Cedar Falls Community School District Education 826 3) 

The Western Home Elderly Housing/Care 668 
Area Education Agency 267 Education 650  
Martin Brothers Distribution Frozen Foods/Institutional Products 600 

 

1) Number of employees includes all full-time, part-time and seasonal employees.  
2) Number of employees includes multiple locations in both Cedar Falls and Waterloo. 
3) Does not include substitute teachers or athletic coaches.   
  

Source:  The City and company inquiries.  The list is updated frequently as changes are identified and is not to be construed as a 
complete profile. 

 

U.S. CENSUS DATA 

Population Trend 1980 U.S. Census 36,322 
 1990 U.S. Census 34,298 
 2000 U.S. Census 36,145 
 2010 U.S. Census 39,260 
 2020 U.S. Census 40,713 

 

Source:  U.S. Census Bureau 
  

138

Item 9.



 

A-16 

BUILDING PERMITS 

City officials report the following construction activity as of May 31, 2022.  Building permits are reported on a fiscal year 
basis. 

 
 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

Single Family Homes      
No. of new homes: 115 100 94 127 76 
Valuation: $28,949,644 $26,621,361 $24,929,465 $39,212,602 $21,975,307 

Multiple Family Dwellings      
No. of new buildings: 4 9 13 0 0 
Valuation: $772,680 $6,820,000 $3,690,000 $0 $0 

Dwelling Additions & Alterations      
No. of permits issued: 1,903 1062 888 984 760 
Valuation: $20,008,798 $10,828,324 $10,369,480 $13,372,316 $11,700,936 

Commercial/Industrial/Other      
No. of new buildings: 14 12 29 18 21 
Valuation: $41,669,362 $33,915,400 $20,895,047 $119,598,350 $36,417,032 

Commercial /Industrial /Other  
Additions & Alterations 

     

No. of permits issued: 156 138 101 104 105 
Valuation: $37,731,066 $24,422,897 $11,697,488 $13,242,304 $14,112,410 
      
Total Permits: 2,192 1,321 1,125 1,233 962 
Total Valuations: $129,131,550 $102,607,982 $71,581,480 $185,425,572 $84,205,685 

 
UNEMPLOYMENT RATES 
 

  City of  
Cedar Falls 

Black Hawk 
County 

State of 
Iowa 

     

Annual Averages: 2018 1.9% 2.8% 2.5% 
 2019 2.0% 3.0% 2.6% 
 2020 4.3% 6.0% 5.1% 
 2021 3.2% 4.6% 4.2% 
 2022 (through March) 2.6% 3.9% 3.8% 

 

Source:  Iowa Workforce Development. 
 
EDUCATION 
 
The Cedar Falls Community School District (the “District”) owns and operates seven elementary schools, two junior high 
schools, one alternative high school and one senior high school, in addition to an administration center and central services 
building, all of which are located within the City.  The District employs approximately 826 full-time and part-time 
employees (not included athletic coaches and substitute teachers) and has an October 2021 certified enrollment of 5,565.8. 
 
The University of Northern Iowa, located within the City, is a public, co-educational university with approximately 1,584 
full-time, part-time and seasonal employees.  Wartburg College, a private, four-year liberal arts college, is located in the 
City of Waverly, Iowa, which is 15 miles north of the City.  The Area VII Hawkeye Community College, a public, post-
secondary vocational/technical school, is located within the City of Waterloo, Iowa which is adjacent to the City. 

139

Item 9.



 

A-17 

FINANCIAL SERVICES 

Financial services for residents of the City are provided by Lincoln Savings Bank and branch offices of BankIowa, Cedar 
Rapids Bank and Trust Company, Farmers State Bank, First National Bank, First Security State Bank, MidWestOne Bank, 
NXT Bank, Regions Bank, US Bank N.A., and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. as well as by several credit unions. 
 
Lincoln Savings Bank, one of the largest providers of financial services in the City, reports the following deposits as of 
June 30 for each year: 
 

Year Lincoln Savings Bank 
  

2017 $802,183,000 
2018 930,215,000 
2019 1,074,848,000 
2020 1,124,074,000 
2021 1,234,286,000 

 

Source:  FDIC Institution Directory 
 

140

Item 9.



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX B 
 

FORM OF LEGAL OPINION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

141

Item 9.



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX C 
 

JUNE 30, 2021 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

142

Item 9.



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX D 
 

FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

143

Item 9.



 

OFFICIAL BID FORM 
 

TO: City Council of Sale Date:  July 18, 2022 
 City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 11:00 A.M., Central Time 
 

RE:  $3,860,000* General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2022 (the “Notes”) 
 

This bid is a firm offer for the purchase of the Notes identified in the TERMS OF OFFERING, on the terms set forth in this 
bid form, the TERMS OF OFFERING, and is not subject to any conditions, except as permitted by the TERMS OF 
OFFERING. 
 

For all or none of the above, the Notes, in accordance with the TERMS OF OFFERING, we will pay you not less than 
$_____________________________ (minimum amount of $3,821,400) plus accrued interest to date of delivery for fully 
registered Notes bearing interest rates and maturing in the stated years as follows: 
 

Coupon Maturity Yield  Coupon Maturity Yield 
       

__________ 2024 __________  __________ 2030 __________ 
__________ 2025 __________  __________ 2031 __________ 
__________ 2026 __________  __________ 2032 __________ 
__________ 2027 __________  __________ 2033 __________ 
__________ 2028 __________  __________ 2034 __________ 
__________ 2029 __________  __________ 2035 __________ 

 

* Preliminary; subject to change.  The City reserves the right to increase or decrease the aggregate principal amount of the Notes 
and to increase or reduce each scheduled maturity thereof after the determination of the successful bidder.  The City may increase 
or decrease each maturity in increments of $5,000 but the total amount to be issued will not exceed $4,500,000.  Interest rates 
specified by the successful bidder for each maturity will not change.  Final adjustments shall be in the sole discretion of the City. 

  

 The dollar amount of the purchase price proposed by the successful bidder will be changed if the aggregate principal amount of 
the Notes is adjusted as described above.  Any change in the principal amount of any maturity of the Notes will be made while 
maintaining, as closely as possible, the successful bidder’s net compensation, calculated as a percentage of Notes principal.  The 
successful bidder may not withdraw or modify its bid as a result of any post-bid adjustment.  Any adjustment shall be conclusive 
and shall be binding upon the successful bidder. 

 

We hereby designate that the following Notes to be aggregated into term Notes maturing on June 1 of the following years 
and in the following amounts (leave blank if no term Notes are specified): 

 

Years Aggregated Maturity Year Aggregate Amount 
_______ through _______ _____________ _____________ 
_______ through _______ _____________ _____________ 
_______ through _______ _____________ _____________ 

 

In making this offer we accept all of the terms and conditions of the TERMS OF OFFERING published in the Preliminary 
Official Statement dated July 5, 2022, and represent we are a bidder with established industry reputation for underwriting 
new issuances of municipal notes.  In the event of failure to deliver these Notes in accordance with the TERMS OF 
OFFERING as printed in the Preliminary Official Statement and made a part hereof, we reserve the right to withdraw our 
offer, whereupon the deposit accompanying it will be immediately returned.  All blank spaces of this offer are intentional 
and are not to be construed as an omission. 
 

Not as a part of our offer, the above quoted prices being controlling, but only as an aid for the verification of the offer, we 
have made the following computations: 
 

NET INTEREST COST:  $_________________________ 
 

TRUE INTEREST COST:  _________________________% (Calculated to the dated date of August 31, 2022) 
 

Account Manager:  ______________________________________By:  _______________________________________ 
 

Account Members:_________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

The foregoing offer is hereby accepted by and on behalf of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa this 18th day of 
July, 2022. 
 

Attest:  _________________________________ By:  ________________________________________ 
 

Title:  __________________________________ Title:  _______________________________________ 

144

Item 9.



145

Item 10.



146

Item 10.



147

Item 10.



148

Item 10.



149

Item 10.



150

Item 10.



151

Item 10.



152

Item 10.



153

Item 10.



154

Item 10.



155

Item 10.



156

Item 10.



157

Item 10.



158

Item 10.



159

Item 11.



160

Item 11.



161

Item 11.



162

Item 11.



163

Item 11.



164

Item 11.



165

Item 11.



166

Item 11.



167

Item 11.



168

Item 11.



169

Item 11.



170

Item 11.



171

Item 11.



172

Item 11.



173

Item 11.



174

Item 11.



175

Item 11.



176

Item 11.



   DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
Information Systems Division 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Rob Green and City Council 

 FROM: Julie Sorensen, Information Systems Manager 

 DATE: June 27, 2022 

 SUBJECT: Agreement for Cyber Security Penn Testing  

 
I would like to recommend entering an agreement with Port 53 to perform independent 
vulnerability and penetration testing for our network environment. They have provided a 
signed copy of our standard goods and services contract. 
 
The service they will provide is not only required by our cyber security but an important 
part to ensure the security of our network. The item was budgeted in the 2022 Fiscal 
Year budget.   
 
Please feel free to contact me with any questions. 
 
Attachment:  Agreement 

177

Item 12.



CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA
GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS
SERVICE/PRODUCT AGREEMENTS

This Agreement is by and between ___________________________ (“Contractor”) and the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
(“City”), and is to be effective on the date last signed by the Contractor or the City below.
1.0.       Contractor’s Services
1.1.       Contractor’s services shall consist only of the those services and/or products provided or supplied by 
Contractor as defined in this Agreement and as listed on Exhibit “A” attached.  (“Services” or “Scope of Services”)
1.2.       Contractor shall not commence or perform any work outside the Scope of Services unless and until 
authorized in writing by the City.  No changes to the Scope of Services shall be valid unless agreed to by both the 
Contractor and the City in writing.  Any work performed or expenses incurred by the Contractor shall be conclusively 
presumed to be part of the Scope of Services unless a written change order covering such work, and the cost of such 
work, has been agreed to in advance.  If Exhibit “A” includes provisions for contingent services, such services shall 
not be performed until written authorization is given by the City. 
1.3.       Contractor shall assign qualified and experienced personnel to perform the Services, and Contractor hereby 
warrants to the City that Contractor has sufficient experience and financial resources to complete the Services 
required by this Agreement.  Where the Scope of Services identifies particular personnel who shall perform the 
Services, such personnel shall remain assigned to provide the Services throughout the term of this Agreement, 
unless otherwise approved in writing by the City.  In the event that such particular personnel must be replaced, 
Contractor agrees to replace such particular personnel with persons of equivalent or better qualifications, as 
approved by the City.
1.4.       Contractor shall perform the Services in a timely manner and in accordance with any schedule set forth in 
Exhibit “A”.  The Contractor and the City agree that time is of the essence with respect to Contractor’s performance 
under this Agreement.        
1.5.       Contractor warrants that its fulfillment of this Agreement will not infringe on or misappropriate the rights of any 
third party, and that the Contractor has the complete right and full authority to convey ownership of the Services to the 
City.  Contractor shall obtain all required governmental and third-party licenses, approvals and permits for the 
provision of Services, at Contractor’s cost.
1.6.       The person signing this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor represents and warrants that the person has 
full and sufficient authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor.
2.0.       Compensation
2.1.       All bids and prices shall be shown in U.S. Dollars.  All prices must remain firm for the duration of this 
Agreement.
2.2.       After inspection (if applicable) and acceptance by the City of Services, City shall pay Contractor in 
accordance with the payment terms set forth in Exhibit “B”.  The maximum amount of all payments for Services shall 
be the amount set forth in Exhibit “B”, unless additional Services are agreed upon as set forth in Section 1.2, in which 
case the maximum amount of all payments shall be adjusted accordingly.  
2.3.       Following acceptance of Services by the City, payment shall be made to the Contractor within thirty (30) days 
of receipt of a proper invoice.  The invoice shall include, at a minimum, the name and address of the Contractor, the 
invoice number, the date services were performed or goods were shipped, a general description of the services or 
goods, total amount to be paid, any discounts or credits, and the net amount to be paid.  The invoice shall be mailed 
or emailed to the authorized representative of the City listed below, at the address listed below.
2.4.       Expenses shall not be reimbursed to the Contractor unless specifically described in Exhibit “B”.
2.5.       If services in addition to the Scope of Services are agreed upon as set forth in Section 1.2, Contractor must 
provide a separate invoice for such additional services before payment will be made.

Port53 Technologies 

Document Ref: AYWFT-FO7WC-B3EBU-LJHJF Page 1 of 7

178

Item 12.



2.6.       If the City fails to make any payment when due to the Contractor, the Contractor may charge the City interest 
on the unpaid balance at the rate of 5% per annum until paid.  In addition, Contractor may, after giving at least seven 
(7) days written notice to the City, suspend services under this Agreement until such unpaid balance is paid in full.
2.7.       Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the City may withhold payment to Contractor for 
faulty Services, or if the City is advised of liens or other claims against any Services, including products.
3.0.       Taxes.
3.1.       The City is exempt from all federal, State of Iowa, and other states’ taxes on the purchase of products and 
services used by the City within the State of Iowa.  The City shall provide tax exemption certification as requested.  
3.2.       Any charges for taxes from which the City is exempt will be deducted from invoices before payment is made. 
4.0.       Ownership and Use of Documents
4.1.       All Services to be provided under this Agreement, and any invention, improvement, discovery, or innovation 
(whether or not patentable) made, conceived or actually reduced to practice by Contractor in the performance of the 
Scope of Services in this Agreement will be owned exclusively by the City, including all proprietary and intellectual 
property rights.  To the extent not automatically vested in the City, Contractor hereby assigns to the City all right, title 
and interest in and to the Services, including, without limitation, copyright, patent and trade secret rights.  Upon the 
City’s request, Contractor shall execute any additional documents necessary for the City to perfect such ownership 
rights.  
4.2.       Notwithstanding Section 4.1, Contractor retains ownership of its pre-existing and proprietary materials and 
other intellectual property that may be incorporated into the Services.
4.3.       Copies of City furnished data that may be relied upon by Contractor are limited to the printed copies (also 
known as hard copies) that are delivered to the Contractor.  Files in electronic media format of text, data, graphics, or 
of other formats that are furnished by the City to the Contractor are only for the convenience of the Contractor.  Any 
conclusion or information obtained or derived from such electronic files will be at the Contractor’s sole risk.
4.4.       During the term of this Agreement and following completion or termination of the Agreement, the Contractor 
and any authorized Subcontractors shall maintain all accounting records and other documentation generated in 
providing Services under this Agreement.  The City or its designee shall be allowed to have access to such 
information for the purpose of inspection, audit and copying during normal business hours for a period of five (5) 
years after the final payment by the City, termination of this Agreement, or resolution of all matters under this 
Agreement, whichever date is latest.  No additional compensation shall be paid to Contractor for such retention or 
inspection by the City or designee. 
5.0.       Termination.
5.1.       The City may terminate this Agreement at any time for its convenience by giving written notice to the 
Contractor of such termination and specifying the effective date of the termination, at least thirty (30) calendar days 
before the effective date of termination.  In that event, all finished or unfinished Services, reports and materials 
prepared or furnished by the Contractor shall, at the option of the City, become the City’s property.  If the Agreement 
is terminated by the City as provided herein, the Contractor shall be paid for all Services which have been authorized, 
approved and provided up to the effective date of termination.  The City will not be subject to any termination fees 
from the Contractor.
5.2.       Either party may terminate this Agreement upon seven (7) calendar days written notice in the event that the 
other party fails to substantially perform in accordance with the terms of this Agreement through no fault of the party 
initiating the termination.
6.0.       Warranties.
6.1.       Contractor represents and warrants that Services shall be performed in a manner consistent with the 
standard of care of other professional service providers in a similar industry and application.  
6.2.       Contractor represents and warrants that products delivered as part of the Scope of Services, including each 
component, shall be free of defects and shall conform to the quality standards of the applicable industry and shall 
meet in all respects the requirements of the Scope of Services.  If any defect or sign of deterioration is identified by 
the City within one year after delivery which is not due to the acts or omissions of the City, Contractor shall, within 15 

Document Ref: AYWFT-FO7WC-B3EBU-LJHJF Page 2 of 7

179

Item 12.



days after notification by the City, at Contractor’s expense, repair, adjust or replace such items to the complete 
satisfaction of the City. 
6.3.       Contractor shall be responsible for the quality, technical accuracy, completeness and coordination of all 
Services under this Agreement.  Contractor shall promptly and without charge, provide all corrective work necessary 
as a result of Contractor’s acts, errors or omissions with respect to the quality and accuracy of Contractor’s Services.
6.4.       Contractor shall be responsible for any and all damages to property or persons as a result of Contractor’s 
acts, errors or omissions in performing the Services under this Agreement, and for any losses or costs to repair or 
remedy any Services undertaken by the City as a result of any such acts, errors or omissions.
6.5.       Contractor’s obligations shall exist without regard to, and shall not be construed to be waived by, the 
availability or unavailability of any insurance, either by the City or by the Contractor.  None of the provisions of this 
Agreement shall be construed as a limitation on the City’s right to seek recovery of damages it suffers as a result of 
Contractor’s fault or breach.
7.0.       Warranties – Intellectual Property.  
7.1.       Contractor represents and warrants that the Services produced or provided to the City do not infringe upon 
any copyright, trademark, trade name, trade dress patent, statutory, common law or any other right of any person or 
entity.
7.2.       Contractor represents and warrants that the Services, and the City’s use of the same, and the exercise by the 
City of the rights granted by this Agreement, shall not infringe upon any other work or violate the rights of publicity or 
privacy of, or constitute a libel or slander against, any person or entity.
7.3.       Contractor represents and warrants that it is the owner of or otherwise has the right to use and distribute the 
Services contemplated by this Agreement.
8.0.       Disputes.
8.1.       Should any dispute arise with respect to this Agreement, the parties agree to act immediately to resolve such 
dispute.  Time is of the essence in the resolution of disputes.
8.2.       Contractor agrees that, the existence of a dispute notwithstanding, it will continue without delay to carry out 
all of its responsibilities under this Agreement that are not affected by the dispute and the City shall continue to make 
payment for all Services that are performed in conformance with this Agreement.  Should the Contractor fail to 
continue to perform its responsibilities regarding all non-disputed Services, without delay, any additional costs 
incurred by the City or the Contractor as a result of such failure to proceed shall be borne by the Contractor.
8.3.       Should any dispute between the parties remain unresolved, the parties mutually agree to engage in 
mediation prior to the filing of suit by either party.  The cost of mediation shall be divided equally between the parties 
except that each party shall be responsible for that party’s own expenses and attorney fees associated with 
mediation.  The City shall not engage in arbitration of any dispute.
9.0.       Indemnification.
9.1.       Contractor (including, for purposes of this Section, Contractor’s agents, employees, subcontractors or others 
working on behalf of Contractor) shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City and its elected and appointed 
officers, its employees, and agents working on behalf of the City, from any and all liability, loss, cost, damage and 
expense (including reasonable attorney fees and court costs) resulting from, arising out of, or related in any way to 
any claims, demands, actions or suits based upon or alleging personal injury, including bodily injury or death, and 
property damages, arising out of or in any way connected or associated with the Contractor’s performance under this 
Agreement.
9.2.       Contractor’s duty of indemnification and to hold harmless includes, but is not limited to, Contractor’s breach 
or alleged breach of the warranties found in Sections 6.0 and 7.0 above, and shall survive the termination of this 
Agreement.
9.3.       It is specifically agreed between the parties that this Agreement is not intended to create in the public or any 
member of the public, any third party beneficiary status or to authorize anyone not a party to this Agreement to 
maintain a suit for personal injuries or property damage.       
10.0.       Insurance.

Document Ref: AYWFT-FO7WC-B3EBU-LJHJF Page 3 of 7

180

Item 12.



Contractor shall at all times during the performance of this Agreement maintain insurance as set forth in Exhibit “C” 
unless this insurance requirement is waived by the City in this Section.
Insurance requirement waived:  _______________________________________________(Signature and title of 
authorized City employee or officer)  
The City may at any time during the term of this Agreement require proof of such insurance.
11.0.       Compliance with Laws and Regulations.
11.1.       Contractor certifies that in performing this Agreement it will comply with all applicable provisions of federal, 
state and local laws, ordinances, rules, licenses and regulations.
11.2.       Contractor is responsible for determining which products are considered to be hazardous chemicals under 
applicable standards and to provide the most current Safety Data Sheet (“SDS”) with the initial shipment of such 
chemicals.  Failure by Contractor to do so may be considered by the City to be delivery of a defective product and its 
delivery may be refused.  It is also the Contractor’s responsibility to provide to the City any updated or revised SDS 
as it becomes available for any such hazardous chemicals sold and delivered to the City.
12.0.       Independent Contractor.
Both parties shall act in their individual capacities in the performance of this Agreement and not as agents, 
employees, partners, joint ventures or associates of one another.  The employees or agents of one party shall not be 
deemed or construed to be the employees or agents of the other for any purpose whatsoever.
13.0.       Non-Collusion.
13.1.       Neither the Contractor, nor anyone acting on behalf of Contractor, has employed any person to solicit or 
procure this Agreement, nor will the Contractor make any payment or agreement for payment of any compensation in 
connection with the solicitation or procurement of this Agreement.
13.2.       Contractor agrees that there is no agreement, arrangement or understanding expressed or implied, 
contemplating any division of compensation for Services provided under this Agreement, or in the participation in 
such Services, directly or indirectly, by any person or entity, except as provided in this Agreement. 
13.3.       Neither the Contractor, nor anyone acting on behalf of Contractor, has either directly or indirectly entered 
into any agreement, arrangement or understanding to collude or otherwise take any action in restraint of free 
competitive procurement in connection with this Agreement.
14.0.       Nondiscrimination and Equal Opportunity.
14.1.       Contractor will not in the performance of this Agreement unlawfully discriminate against any employee or 
applicant for employment because of race, sex, color, creed, national origin, marital or familial status, religion, age, 
disability, sexual orientation, gender identity, genetic information or veteran status, or any other classification 
protected by federal, state, or local law.  
14.2.       Contractor shall inform all subcontractors and agents performing under this Agreement of this 
nondiscrimination and equal opportunity requirement and shall take reasonable steps to ensure their compliance with 
the same.
15.0.       No Conflict of Interest,
Contractor represents, warrants and covenants that no relationship exists or will exist during the term of this 
Agreement that is a conflict of interest under Iowa law.  No employee, officer or agent of the Contractor shall 
participate in the procurement or performance of this Agreement if a conflict of interest exists as to such person.  
Should a conflict of interest arise during the term of this Agreement for Contractor or any employee, officer or agent of 
Contractor, Contractor shall immediately notify the City, in which case this Agreement may be terminated and any 
additional costs incurred by the City due to such termination shall be paid by Contractor or deducted from any sums 
yet due to Contractor.
16.0.       Force Majeure.
16.1.       Force majeure shall be any of the following events:  acts of God or the public enemy; compliance with any 
order, rule, regulation, decree, or request of any governmental authority or agency or person purporting to act as 
such; acts of war, public disorder, rebellion, terrorism, or sabotage; floods, hurricanes, or other storms; strikes or labor 
disputes; public health emergency; or any other cause, whether or not of the class or kind specifically named or 

Document Ref: AYWFT-FO7WC-B3EBU-LJHJF Page 4 of 7

181

Item 12.



referred to in this Agreement which is not within the reasonable control of the party affected.  A delay in or failure of 
performance by either party shall not constitute a default in performance nor be the basis for, or give rise to, any claim 
for damages, if and to the extent such delay or failure is caused by force majeure.
16.2.       The party who is prevented from performing by force majeure shall be obligated, within a period not to 
exceed fourteen (14) calendar days after the occurrence or detection of any such event, to provide notice to the other 
party setting forth in reasonable detail the nature thereof and the anticipated extent of the delay, and shall remedy 
such cause as soon as reasonably possible, as mutually agreed between the parties.
16.3.       If a remedy to an event of force majeure cannot be agreed upon within a reasonable amount of time, this 
Agreement may be terminated by either party.
17.0.       Assignment.
No rights under this Agreement may be assigned or transferred by Contractor without the prior written consent of the 
City.  The benefits of this Agreement may inure to Contractor’s assigns, transferees, or successors in interest if 
approved by the City in writing in advance, and if such assignee, transferees or successors agree in writing to be 
bound by the terms of this Agreement.
18.0.       Governing Law.  
18.1.       This Agreement shall be governed, interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Iowa, regardless of choice of law principles.
18.2.       Venue for any dispute under this Agreement shall be the District Court in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa.       
19.0.       Discrepancy.  
In the event that there are any discrepancies or differences between any terms or conditions of the Contractor’s bid or 
quote and this Agreement, this Agreement shall prevail, even if the Contractor’s bid or quote is incorporated into this 
Agreement.
20.0       Public Record.
20.1.      This Agreement as well as Contractor’s bid or quote and all documents submitted with any such bid or quote 
shall become public documents subject to Iowa Code Chapter 22, the Iowa Open Records Law.  By submitting the 
bid or quote or any document to the City in connection with such bid or quote, the submitting party recognizes this 
and waives any claim against the City, its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and agents working on 
behalf of the City, relating to the release of any bid or document submitted.
20.2.       Each submitting party shall hold the City and its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and 
agents working on behalf of the City, harmless from any claims arising from the release of any document or 
information made available to the City related to or arising from the bidding or quoting process.
20.3.       Notwithstanding Sections 20.1 and 20.2, protection from disclosure may apply to those elements of any 
submittal that may be a trade secret, or confidential or proprietary information.  Should the submitting party wish to 
designate submittals as such, they must be clearly and prominently marked.  The City shall make no determination as 
to whether or not such documents are protected from disclosure under Iowa Code Chapter 22.  Rather, the City shall 
endeavor to notify the submitter of any request for such information and the submitter shall be solely responsible for 
asserting exemption from disclosure by obtaining a court order.  As long as the City makes a good faith effort to notify 
the submitter of a request for such information, the City and the City’s elected and appointed officers, the City’s 
employees, and agents working on behalf of the City, shall not be liable for any damages resulting from such 
disclosure, whether such disclosure is deemed required by law, by an order of court or administrative agency, or 
occurs through inadvertence, mistake, or negligence. 
21.0.       Debarment.
21.1.       Contractor hereby certifies, pursuant to 48 CFR Part 9, that neither it nor its principals are presently 
debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this 
Agreement by any federal agency.
21.2.       Contractor further certifies that it is not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared 
ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in any contracts with the City or with the State of Iowa.
22.0        Confidentiality of Shared Information.

Document Ref: AYWFT-FO7WC-B3EBU-LJHJF Page 5 of 7

182

Item 12.



No information shared between Contractor and the City in the performance of this Agreement shall be deemed 
confidential unless clearly designated as such in writing by the party seeking confidentiality at the time of sharing.  If 
designated as confidential the parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of such information except as necessary 
for performance under this Agreement, unless or until written authorization for disclosure is given by the designating 
party, or as required by law, or by an order of court or administrative agency.  In the event of a dispute over the 
confidentiality of shared information, the parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of the designated information 
until the issue of confidentiality is resolved.  The duty to maintain the confidentiality of such information shall survive 
the termination of this Agreement.
23.0.       Entire Agreement.
23.1.       This Agreement, and Exhibits, which are incorporated into this Agreement by this reference, contains the 
entire agreement and understanding by and between the parties with respect to the subject matter, and no 
representations, promises, agreements, or understandings, written or verbal, not contained in this Agreement, shall 
be of any force or effect.
23.2.       No change, modification or waiver of this Agreement shall be valid or binding unless the same is in writing 
and signed by the party against whom such change, modification or waiver is sought to be enforced.
24.0.       Additional Terms.
____________________________________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________________________________
25.0.       Notices.
Any notice required to be given under this Agreement and any authorization required to be provided shall be given or 
provided to:
City:                                                                                               Contractor:
Name: ________________________                                           Name: __________________________
Title: ___________________________                                       Title: ______________________________
Address: ________________________                                       Address: ___________________________
             _________________________                                                       ___________________________
Telephone: ______________________                                       Telephone: __________________________
Email: __________________________                                        Email: ______________________________ 

In Witness Whereof, the City and the Contractor have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the last date listed 
below.

CONTRACTOR
(Name of Contractor)____________________________
By: __________________________________________
Its: __________________________________________                    Date: ___________________

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

By: __________________________________
        Robert M. Green, Mayor

Attest: ________________________________                                      Date: _____________________
             Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
                                

Omar Zarabi 
CEO 

San Francisco, CA 94111 
1 Embarcadero Center, Suite 4150 

415-347-9040 

omar@port53tech.com 

Omar Zarabi 

CEO 06 / 08 / 2022

Document Ref: AYWFT-FO7WC-B3EBU-LJHJF Page 6 of 7

183

Item 12.



   

Document Ref: AYWFT-FO7WC-B3EBU-LJHJF Page 7 of 7

184

Item 12.



Signature Certificate
Reference number: AYWFT-FO7WC-B3EBU-LJHJF

Document completed by all parties on:
13 Jun 2022 20:52:18 UTC

Page 1 of 1

Signer Timestamp Signature

Omar Zarabi
Email: omar@port53tech.com

Recipient Verification:

Sent: 08 Jun 2022 19:30:17 UTC
Viewed: 13 Jun 2022 20:50:48 UTC
Signed: 13 Jun 2022 20:52:18 UTC

✔Email verified 13 Jun 2022 20:50:48 UTC
IP address: 172.58.79.248 
Location: Las Vegas, United States

Signed with PandaDoc

PandaDoc is a document workflow and certified eSignature
solution trusted by 30,000+ companies worldwide.

185

Item 12.



186

Item 13.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
  
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: June 27, 2022 
 
 SUBJECT: 2022 Seal Coat Project 
  City Project Number: SC-000-3273 
  Bid Opening 
   

On Friday, June 24, 2022 at 2:00 p.m. bids were received and opened for the 2022 Seal 
Coat Project. A total of two (2) bids were received, with Blacktop Service Company as 
the lowest bidder: 
 

 Base Bid 

Engineering Estimate $207,007.19 

Blacktop Service Company $198,242.57 

Asphalt Surface Technologies Corp. $206,231.70 

 
The Engineer's Estimate for this project was $207,007.19. Blacktop Service Company of 
Allison, Iowa submitted the low bid in the amount of $198,242.57. Attached is a bid 
tabulation for your reference. 
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends acceptance of 
the bid from Blacktop Service Company in the amount of $198,242.57. On July 18, 
2022, the Contract, Bonds, and Insurance Certificate will be submitted for City Council 
approval. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Public Works Director 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer   
 
 

187

Item 14.



PROJECT BID TAB

PROJECT NAME: 2022 SEAL COAT

CITY PROJECT NUMBER: SC-000-3273

BID OPENING: June 24, 2022 (1) (2)

DEPARTMENT OF  PUBLIC WORKS

BID EST. UNIT EXTENDED UNIT EXTENDED UNIT EXTENDED

ITEM DESCRIPTION UNITS QUANTITY PRICES PRICES PRICES PRICES PRICES PRICES

1 Surface Preparation S.Y. 35430.00 0.40$                 14,172.00$    0.45$             15,943.50$    0.89$          31,532.70$        

2 Seal Coat S.Y. 51040.00 3.00$                 153,120.00$  3.06$             156,182.40$  3.00$          153,120.00$      

3 Pavement Markings, Painted STA. 11.79 65.00$               766.35$         77.75$           916.67$         100.00$      1,179.00$          

4 Pavement Markings, Handicapped Symbols EA. 2.00 65.00$               130.00$         100.00$         200.00$         200.00$      400.00$             

5 Mobilization L.S. 1.00 10,000.00$        10,000.00$    15,000.00$    15,000.00$    15,000.00$ 15,000.00$        

6 Traffic Control L.S. 1.00 10,000.00$        10,000.00$    10,000.00$    10,000.00$    5,000.00$   5,000.00$          

10% Coningency 18,818.84$    

TOTAL 207,007.19$  TOTAL 198,242.57$  TOTAL 206,231.70$      

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

ENGINEERING DIVISION

ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE

Blacktop Service Company

Asphalt Surface 

Technologies Corp. 

188

Item 14.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
  
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Brett Armstrong, Civil Engineer I 
 
 DATE: June 27, 2022 
 
 SUBJECT: 2022 University Avenue Bio Cells Project 
  City Project Number: ST-115-3147 
  Bid Opening 
   

On Friday, June 24, 2022 at 2:00 p.m. bids were received and opened for the 2022 
University Avenue Bio Cells Project. A total of one (1) bid was received, with Benton 
Sand & Gravel, Inc. as the bidder: 
 

 Base Bid 

Engineering Estimate $103,445.50 

Benton Sand & Gravel, Inc.  $129,978.35 

 
The Engineer's Estimate for this project was $103,445.50. Benton Sand and Gravel of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa submitted the only bid in the amount of $129,978.35. Attached is a 
bid tabulation for your reference. 
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends acceptance of 
the only bid from Benton Sand & Gravel, Inc. in the amount of $129,978.35. On July 18, 
2022, the Contract, Bonds, and Insurance Certificate will be submitted for City Council 
approval. 
 
Xc: Chase Schrage, Public Works Director 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer   
 
 

189

Item 15.



Unit Price Extension Unit Price Extension

$103,445.50 $129,978.35

1 2010-D-1 TOPSOIL, ON-SITE CY 74.5 $5.00 $372.50 $20.00 $1,490.00

2 2010-E EXCAVATION, CLASS 10. ROADWAY WASTE CY 336 $15.00 $5,040.00 $25.00 $8,400.00

3 6010-B INTAKE, SW-507, MODIFIED EACH 4 $4,000.00 $16,000.00 $5,485.00 $21,940.00

4 7010-E CURB & GUTTER, 2.5", 9", P.C.C., TYPE "C" CLASS III LF 32 $65.00 $2,080.00 $138.00 $4,416.00

5 7010-E CURB & GUTTER, 2.5", 10", P.C.C., TYPE "C" CLASS III LF 32 $70.00 $2,240.00 $138.00 $4,416.00

6 7030-B REMOVAL OF CURB AND GUTTER LF 64 $25.00 $1,600.00 $20.00 $1,280.00

7 7080-D STORAGE AGGREGATE - BASE LAYER TONS 119 $50.00 $5,950.00 $55.00 $6,545.00

8 7080-E FILTER AGGREGATE - CHOKER LAYER TONS 119 $50.00 $5,950.00 $55.00 $6,545.00

9 8030-A TEMPORARY TRAFFIC CONTROL LS 1 $4,000.00 $4,000.00 $4,400.00 $4,400.00

10 9010-B HYDRAULIC SEEDING, SEEDING, FERTILIZING, AND MULCHING SY 216.5 $1.50 $324.75 $9.90 $2,143.35

11 9030-B PLANTS WITH WARRANTY, VARIOUS TYPES EACH 987 $10.00 $9,870.00 $17.70 $17,469.90

12 - MODIFIED SOIL, PLANTING MEDIUM CY 79.5 $75.00 $5,962.50 $80.00 $6,360.00

13 - MULCH - SHREDDED HARDWOOD CY 10 $15.00 $150.00 $110.00 $1,100.00

14 4040-A SUBDRAIN, 6", HDPE LF 282 $30.00 $8,460.00 $26.00 $7,332.00

15 4040-C SUBDRAIN CLEANOUT, TYPE A-1, 6" EACH 4 $700.00 $2,800.00 $925.00 $3,700.00

16 9040-F-1 WATTLE, STRAW, 9" LF 376 $6.00 $2,256.00 $7.00 $2,632.00

17 9040-F-2 WATTLE, REMOVAL LF 376 $6.00 $2,256.00 $4.00 $1,504.00

18 11,020-A MOBILIZATION LS 1 $8,000.00 $8,000.00 $10,975.00 $10,975.00

19 11,050-A CONCRETE WASHOUT LS 1 $500.00 $500.00 $1,200.00 $1,200.00

20 - SPECIALTY STONE TONS 5.75 $100.00 $575.00 $132.00 $759.00

21 7080-B ENGINEERING FABRIC SF 556.75 $5.00 $2,783.75 $0.83 $462.10

22 9040-T-1 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE EACH 4 $300.00 $1,200.00 $400.00 $1,600.00

23 9040-T-2 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE, MAINTENANCE EACH 4 $150.00 $600.00 $175.00 $700.00

24 9040-E TEMPROARY RECP, TYPE 2-A SY 119 $25.00 $2,975.00 $11.00 $1,309.00

25 - DOME GRATE & DRAIN BASIN ASSEMBY, 8" EACH 4 $1,000.00 $4,000.00 $1,175.00 $4,700.00

26 - LIGHT POLE ELECTRIC CONDUIT LF 300 $25.00 $7,500.00 $22.00 $6,600.00

$103,445.50 $129,978.35

Item CodeLine Item

Base Bid Total:

2022 UNIVERSITY AVENUE BIOCELL PROJECT (#8222526)

Owner: Cedar Falls IA

06/24/2022 02:00 PM CDT

BENTON SAND AND GRAVELEngineer Estimate
UofM QuantityItem Description

190

Item 15.



100 E 2nd St – Ste 204 | Cedar Falls, IA 50613 | 319.529.3945 
    www.emergentarch.com 

1 | 1 

June 23, 2022 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
Jamie Castle, AIA 
Building Official 

Re:  Furniture for Cedar Falls City Hall Remodel 

Jamie, 

Bids were received for the Furniture for Cedar Falls City Hall Remodel project on 06/23/2022.  Although the 
Notice to Bidders was posted to Master Builders of Iowa, and the plans/specifications were posted by Rapids 
Reproductions and emailed to three local furniture providers, only one ( 1 ) bid was received for this project.   

Kirk Gross Company (Waterloo, IA) placed the lowest bid in the amount of $378,647.51.  There were no alternate 
prices requested for the project.  Kirk Gross Company included the proper bid bond in the amount of 5% of their 
bid.  The cost of this portion of the project fits within the overall project allocated budget of $4,500,000 for the 
Remodel of City Hall. Having worked with Kirk Gross Company on several previous projects, and in 
consideration of their previous work at City Hall, we believe they are a qualified provider for this project.  It is 
our recommendation that the City of Cedar Falls accepts the base bid from Kirk Gross Company in the amount 
of $378,647.51.     

By submitting their bid, Kirk Gross Company has acknowledged the installation dates for Phase I shall be 
approximately 09/05/2022–09/12/2022 and the installation dates for Phase II shall be approximately 
12/19/2022–12/23/2022 with all furniture installation substantially complete on or before 12/23/2022. It has 
been made known to all parties that the City of Cedar Falls is under contract with Peters Construction 
Corporation for the current remodel of City Hall, and the furniture provider (Kirk Gross Company, if awarded) 
shall coordinate with Peters Construction Company regarding the exact timing of the furniture installation. 

Please let me know if you have any questions. 

Sincerely, 

Ted Friesner 
Project Manager 

191

Item 16.

http://www.emergentarch.com/


PROJECT
PROJECT #
BID DATE
BID TIME

KIRK GROSS COMPANY

NONE

$378,647.51

$18,932.38
5% BOND

NOTES

FURNITURE FOR CEDAR FALLS CITY HALL REMODEL
21004-F
THURSDAY, JUNE 23, 2022
2:00 PM

BASE BID

BIDDER

BID SECURITY (5%)

ADDENDA
RECOGNIZED (none)

BID TAB - FURNITURE PACKAGE

 100 E 2nd St - Ste 204 | Cedar Falls, IA 50613 | 319.529.3945
www.emergentarch.com 1 | 1

192

Item 16.



193

Item 16.



194

Item 16.



195

Item 16.



196

Item 16.



197

Item 16.



198

Item 16.



199

Item 16.



200

Item 16.



201

Item 16.



202

Item 16.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 

Administration Division 

  

  

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 TO: Mayor Green & City Council  

 FROM: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development 

 DATE: June 23, 2022 

SUBJECT:  EDA Financial Assistance Award: Travel, Tourism and Outdoor   
  Recreation  Program - Cedar River Recreation Project 
 
 
A Riverfront Master Plan was developed in 2017 for the area between Center Street 
and 1St Street. The Cedar River Recreation Project, Phase I is the first step in the 
realization of the Master Plan.  Due to higher than anticipated construction costs for the 
project, the Council supported submitting a grant application to the Economic 
Development Administration (EDA) under a new program: American Rescue Plan Act 
Travel, Tourism, and Outdoor Recreation Grant, in late December 2021.   
 
The project plans continue to be similar to the originally bid project.  Changes in 
descriptions, to increase clarity for contractors bidding the project, adjustments to the 
trail design, and targeted riverbank rip rap replacement with boulders are the most 
significant changes.  Below are illustrations of the overall project and the River Art Plaza 
feature as the “entrance” in Gateway Park. 
 
On June 14, 2022 the EDA announced Cedar Falls was awarded a grant of up to 
$1,500,000 for this project.  Our CIP identifies a total project cost of $5,250,000.  This 
includes the design and construction observation fees as well as funding for 
recommended maintenance after the project has been completed for one year.  The 
construction portion of the budget would be $4,831,450.  This increases the original 
construction budget by $1,131,450.  The sources of funding for this project are outlined 
below and in the FY22-FY27 Capital Improvements Plan:   

Gen. Obligation Bond     $525,000 
Emergency Reserve  $1,000,000 
Federal/State Grants  $1,725,000  
Private         $500,000 
Black Hawk County Gaming $1,500,000 

 
The grant funds secured include Iowa Great Places ($75,000), REAP ($150,000), US 

203

Item 17.



EDA ($1,500,000) and Black Hawk County Gaming ($1,500,000). 
 
In order to move forward securing the US EDA grant, the City must sign a Financial 
Assistance Award which refers to the EDA Construction Standard Terms and 
Conditions.  The EDA has also provided the City with a Specific Award Conditions 
document.  These items are included in the Council packet.  With the City’s signed 
Award, staff requests the Mayor designate Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & 
Business Operations as the authorized representative to facilitate all post-award actions 
such as financial reports, progress reports, disbursements and the like.  The 
Department of Community Development recommends approval of the US EDA grant 
agreement. 
 
 
 
xc: Thomas Weintraut, Planner III 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

 

204

Item 17.



 
Cedar River Recreation Project, Phase 1 
Overall Project Illustration 

205

Item 17.



Cedar River Recreation Project, Phase 1 
River Art Plaza 

206

Item 17.



FORM CD-450 
(REV. 10/18) 

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE 
GRANT COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT 

FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AWARD 
FEDERAL AWARD ID NUMBER

RECIPIENT NAME PERIOD OF PERFORMANCE 

STREET ADDRESS FEDERAL SHARE OF COST 

$ 

CITY, STATE, ZIP CODE RECIPIENT SHARE OF COST 

$ 

AUTHORITY TOTAL ESTIMATED COST 

$ 

CFDA NO. AND NAME 

PROJECT TITLE 

 This  Award Document  (Form  CD-450)  signed  by  the Grants Officer constitutes an obligation  of Federal funding.   
By signing  this Form CD-450,  the Recipient agrees  to comply with the Award provisions checked below and 
attached. Upon acceptance  by the Recipient, the Form CD-450 must be signed by an authorized representative  of 
the Recipient and returned to the Grants Officer.  If not signed and returned without  modification  by the Recipient 
within   30 days of receipt, the Grants Officer may unilaterally withdraw this  Award offer and de-obligate the funds.   

DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

R & D AWARD 

FEDERAL-WIDE RESEARCH TERMS AND CONDITIONS, AS ADOPTED BY THE DEPT. OF COMMERCE 

SPECIFIC AWARD CONDITIONS  
LINE ITEM BUDGET 

2 CFR PART 200, UNIFORM ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS, COST PRINCIPLES, AND AUDIT REQUIREMENTS, 
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 2 CFR § 1327.101
 
 
 

48 CFR PART 31, CONTRACT COST PRINCIPLES AND PROCEDURES 




MULTI-YEAR AWARD. PLEASE SEE THE MULTI-YEAR SPECIFIC AWARD CONDITION.
 
 
 

OTHER(S):
 
 
 

SIGNATURE OF DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE GRANTS OFFICER DATE 

PRINTED NAME, PRINTED TITLE, AND SIGNATURE OF AUTHORIZED RECIPIENT OFFICIAL DATE 

✔

City of Cedar Falls

220 Clay Street 1,500,000

Cedar Falls, IA 50613-2726 3,331,450

Public Works and Economic Development Act of 1965, as amended (42 U.S.C. § 3121 et seq.) 4,831,450

11.307 Economic Adjustment Assistance - FY 2021 American Rescue Plan Act Travel, Tourism, and Outdoor Recreati

05-79-06164; URI 119077

June 14, 2022-June 14, 2025

Cedar River Recreational Project

✔
✔

✔

✔

EDA Construction Standard Terms and Conditions - effective March 22, 2021;

Compliance with EDA Disaster Assistance Program Requirements: "Fraud Awareness Training"

Angela B. Martinez, Regional Director

Robert Green, Mayor

06/14/22ANGELA MARTINEZ Digitally signed by ANGELA 
MARTINEZ

207

Item 17.

Samantha
Sticky Note

Samantha
Sticky Note



Page 1 of 8 
 

 
SPECIFIC AWARD CONDITIONS  

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE 
Economic Development Administration (EDA) 

             
 

ARP Act CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS: Economic Adjustment Assistance Program as authorized 
by Sections 209 and 703 of the Public Works and Economic Development Act of 1965, as amended 

(42 U.S.C. §3121 et seq.) (PWEDA) 
 

       
 
 
 
 

 
1. This EDA Award supports the work described in the approved final scope of work, which is 

incorporated by reference into this Award, as the Authorized Scope of Work.  All work on this 
project should be consistent with this Authorized Scope of Work, unless the Grants Officer has 
authorized a modification of the scope of work in writing through an amendment memorialized 
by a fully executed Form CD-451.   
 
The Authorized Scope of Work for this project consists of constructing a series of six jetties on 
both sides of the Cedar River in Cedar Falls, IA, improving the safety of a low head dam, 
changing the bank stabilization to improve aesthetics, constructing trails to the jetties, and 
constructing a viewing area at one of the take out jetties. 
 

2. The Authorized Representative’s name, title, address, and telephone number are: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Point of  Contact’s name, title, address, and telephone number are: 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
The Grants Officer is authorized to award, amend, suspend, and terminate financial assistance 
awards.  The Grants Officer is: 
 
 

 

Recipient Name: City of Cedar Falls, IA    
 

Project Number: 05-79-06164 
 
 

 

Stephanie Sheetz 
Director of Community Development 
Phone: (319) 268-5151 
Email: Stephanie.Sheetz@cedarfalls.com  

Project Title:  Cedar River Recreation Project 
  
                         

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, IA 50613-2726 
 
 
 

Robert Green 
Mayor 
Phone: (319) 268-5118 
Email: Rob.Green@cedarfalls.com  

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, IA 50613-2726 

Angela B. Martinez 
Regional Director  
Phone: 303-844-3909 
Email: AMartinez@eda.gov  
 

Economic Development Administration 
1244 Speer Boulevard, Suite 431                        
Denver, Colorado 80204 

 208

Item 17.

mailto:Stephanie.Sheetz@cedarfalls.com
mailto:Rob.Green@cedarfalls.com
mailto:AMartinez@eda.gov


Page 2 of 8 
 

The Federal Program Officer oversees the programmatic aspects of this Award. The Federal 
Program Officer is: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
The Project Officer is responsible for day-to-day administration and liaison with the Recipient 
and receives all reports and payment requests.  The Project Officer is: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3. ADDITIONAL INCLUDED DOCUMENTS:   

In addition to the regulations, documents, or authorities incorporated by reference on the 
Financial Assistance Award form (Form CD-450) the following additional documents are 
included with and considered to be part of the Award’s terms and conditions: 

 
• A Recipient’s final completed Application including subsequently submitted 

documents (this item not enclosed in this Award package);  
 

Should there be a conflict between the above referenced documents and the Specific Award 
Conditions (this document), the Specific Award Conditions, including any attachments, shall 
prevail. 
 

4. PROJECT DEVELOPMENT TIME SCHEDULE:  The Recipient agrees to the following   
Project Development Time Schedule: 
 

Item Due Date 
Date of Award June 14, 2022 
Return of executed Financial Assistance Award 
(Form CD-450) 

no later than 30 calendar days after 
receipt of Form CD-450 

Start of Construction no later than 6 Months from 
Date of Award 

December 14, 2022 

Construction Completed no later than 30 Months 
from Date of Award 

December 14, 2024 

Authorized Award End Date 36 Months from Date 
of Award 

June 14, 2025 

Submission of final reports, including Federal 
Financial Report (Form SF-425) 

no later than 120 calendar days from 
the Authorized Award End Date 

 

Economic Development Administration 
1244 Speer Boulevard, Suite 431                        
Denver, Colorado 80204 

 

Dot Walch, EIT 
Project Engineer 
Phone: 720-392-9255 
Email:  DWalch@eda.gov.  

Economic Development Administration 
1244 Speer Boulevard, Suite 431                        
Denver, Colorado 80204 

 

Cindy Edwards 
Area Director 
Phone: 303-844-5360 
Email: CEdwards@eda.gov  
 

209

Item 17.

mailto:DWalch@eda.gov
mailto:CEdwards@eda.gov


Page 3 of 8 
 

Project Closeout – All Project closeout documents, including any required program reports, 
shall be submitted to EDA not more than 120 calendar days after the date the Recipient accepts 
the completed project from the contractor(s).  
 
The Recipient shall diligently pursue the development of the Project so as to ensure completion 
within this time schedule.  Moreover, the Recipient shall promptly notify EDA in writing of 
any event that could substantially delay meeting any of the proscribed time limits for the 
Project as set forth above.  The Recipient further acknowledges that failure to meet the Project 
Development Time Schedule may result in EDA’s taking action to terminate the Award in 
accordance with the regulations set forth at 2 C.F.R. §§ 200.339 through 200.343, as 
applicable. 
 

5. PROJECT REPORTING AND FINANCIAL DISBURSEMENTS INSTRUCTIONS:  
 

A. AWARD DISBURSEMENTS: Reimbursable basis only: EDA will make disbursements 
under this Award on a reimbursement basis only, based on actual costs. The “Request for 
Reimbursement” (Form SF-271) is used to request a disbursement, which shall be approved 
in writing by the Project Officer.    
 
Please note that prior to the initial disbursement, Recipients must complete the attached 
Form SF-3881, “ACH Vendor/Miscellaneous Payment Enrollment Form” and submit it to 
NOAA’s Accounting Office by emailing through secure/encrypted email to: 
edagrants@noaa.gov.   The form must be completed by the respective parties (EDA, 
Recipient Bank, and Recipient) at the start of each new award. 
 
 

B. REPORTS:  
a. Project Progress Reports: The Recipient shall submit project progress 

reports to the Project Officer on a quarterly basis for the periods ending 
December 31, March 31, June 30, and September 30, or any portion 
thereof until the final grant payment is made by EDA.  Reports should be 
submitted using the approved EDA template, which will be provided by the 
Project Officer and discussed during the project kick-off meeting.  Reports 
are due no later than 15 days following the end of the quarterly period. 
 

b. Financial Reports:  The Recipient shall submit a “Federal Financial 
Report” (Form SF-425) on a semi-annual basis for the periods ending 
March 31 and September 30, or any portion thereof, for the entire project 
period.  Reports are due no later than 30 days following the end of the 
semiannual reporting period. Form SF-425 (and instructions for completing 
this form) is available at: 
https://www.gsa.gov/portal/forms/download/149786.  

 
A final Form SF-425 must be submitted no more than 120 calendar days 
after the expiration date of the Award (e.g., the Award end date specified on 
the Form CD-450 or Form CD-451).  Final Financial reports should follow 
the guidance outlined by the form instructions for submitting mid-term 
financial reports, but should ensure that all fields accurately reflect the total 

210

Item 17.

mailto:edagrants@noaa.gov
https://www.gsa.gov/portal/forms/download/149786


Page 4 of 8 
 

outlays for the entire project period, and that all matching and program 
income (if applicable) is fully reported.  Final grant rate and determinations 
of final balances owed to the government will be determined by the 
information on the final Form SF-425, so it is imperative that this final 
financial form is submitted in a timely and accurate manner. 
 

6. ALLOWABLE COSTS AND AUTHORIZED BUDGET:  Total allowable costs will be 
determined at the conclusion of the award period in accordance with the administrative 
authorities applicable pursuant to the Financial Assistance Award (Form CD-450), including 
the applicable requirements set forth in 2 C.F.R. part 200, after Final Financial Documents are 
submitted. 

 
Except as otherwise expressly provided for within these Specific Award Conditions, the 
Investment Rate for the award (see 13 C.F.R. §§ 300.3 and 301.4) shall apply to allowable 
costs incurred by the Recipient in connection with the project.  The Federal share in the 
allowable costs shall be based upon the Investment Rate (see 2 C.F.R. § 200.43).  In the event 
of an underrun in total allowable costs for this project, the Federal share of allowable costs 
shall be determined by the Investment Rate established in the Form CD-450, or subsequently 
executed Form CD-451.  The Federal Share of total allowable costs shall not exceed the dollar 
amount of the original Award and subsequent amendments, if any. 
 
A. Under the terms of the Award, the total approved authorized budget is: 

 
Federal Share (EDA Amount) $1,500,000 
Non-Federal Matching Share $3,331,450 
Total Project Cost $4,831,450 

 
B. Under the terms of this Award, the total approved Line Item Budget is:  

COST CLASSIFICATION Proposed Approved 
Administrative and legal expenses $0 $0 
Land, structures, rights-of-way, etc. $0 $0 
Relocation expenses and payments $0 $0 
Architectural and engineering fees $0 $0 
Other architectural and engineering fees $0 $0 
Project inspection fees $0 $0 
Site work $0 $0 
Demolition and removal $0 $0 
Construction $4,831,450 $4,831,450 
Equipment $0 $0 
Contingencies $0 $0 
Total Project Costs $4,831,450 $4,831,450 

 
7. MATCHING SHARE: The Recipient agrees to provide the Recipient’s non-Federal Matching 

Share contribution for eligible project expenses in proportion to the Federal share requested for 
such project expenses. (See 13 C.F.R. § 300.3) The Recipient also certifies that, in accepting 

211

Item 17.



Page 5 of 8 
 

the Financial Assistance Award, the Recipient’s Matching Share of the project costs is 
committed and unencumbered, from authorized sources, and shall be available as needed for 
the project. 

 
8. REFUND CHECKS, INTEREST, OR UNUSED FUNDS: Treasury has given EDA two 

options for having payments deposited to EDA’s account: 
 

i. The first one is Pay.Gov.  This option allows the payee to pay EDA through the 
Internet.  The payee will have the option to make a one-time payment or to set 
up an account to make regular payments.   

 
ii. The second option is Paper Check conversion.  All checks must identify on their 

face the name of the DOC agency funding the award, award number, and no 
more than a two-word description to identify the reason for the refund or check.  
A copy of the check should be provided to the EDA Project Officer.  This 
option allows the payee to send a check to NOAA’s Accounting Office, who 
processes EDA’s accounting functions at the following address:   

 
U.S. Department of Commerce 

National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration 
Finance Office, AOD, EDA Grants 

20020 Century Boulevard, Germantown, MD 20874 
 
The accounting staff will scan the checks in to an encrypted file and transfer to 
the Federal Reserve Bank, where the funds will be deposited in EDA’s account.  
While this process will not be an issue with most payees, there are occasionally 
issues for entities remitting funds to EDA via check. If you are remitting funds 
to EDA via check, please make note of the following:  

 
• If a check is sent to EDA, it will be converted into an electronic funds 

transfer by copying the check and using the account information to 
electronically debit your account for the amount of the check.  The debit 
from your account will usually occur within 24 hours and will appear on 
your regular account statement.   

 
• EDA will not return your original check; the original will be destroyed 

and a copy will be maintained in our office. If the Electronic Funds 
Transfer (EFT) cannot be processed for technical reasons, the copy will 
be processed in place of the original check.  If the EFT cannot be 
completed because of insufficient funds, EDA will charge you a one-
time fee of $25.00, which will be collected by EFT.   

 
9. PROJECT COMPLETION DEADLINE: All work on this project must be completed by 

May 31, 2027 to allow for closeout and final disbursement prior to September 30, 2027. By 
operation of the Account Closing Statute (31 U.S.C. §§ 1552(a)), on September 30, 2027, any 
remaining balances will be cancelled and no longer available for expenditure for any purpose. 

212

Item 17.



Page 6 of 8 
 

Nothing in this paragraph is intended to alter the Project Development Time Schedule set forth 
in provision 4 above. 

 
10. GOALS FOR WOMEN AND MINORITIES IN CONSTRUCTION:  Department of Labor 

regulations set forth in 41 C.F.R. § 60-4 establishes goals and timetables for participation of 
minorities and women in the construction industry.  These regulations apply to all federally 
assisted construction contracts in excess of $10,000.  The Recipient shall comply with these 
regulations and shall obtain compliance with 41 C.F.R. § 60-4 from contractors and 
subcontractors employed in the completion of the Project by including such notices, clauses 
and provisions in the Solicitations for Offers or Bids as required by 41 C.F.R. § 60-4.  The goal 
for the participation of women in each trade area shall be as follows: From April 1, 1981, until 
further notice:  6.9 percent. 

 
All changes to this goal, as published in the Federal Register in accordance with the Office of 
Federal Contract Compliance Programs regulations at 41 C.F.R. § 60-4.6, or any successor 
regulations, shall hereafter be incorporated by reference into these Specific Award Conditions. 

 
Goals for minority participation shall be as prescribed by Appendix B-80, Federal Register, 
Volume 45, No. 194, October 3, 1980, or subsequent publications.  The Recipient shall include 
the “Standard Federal Equal Employment Opportunity Construction Contract Specifications” 
(or cause them to be included, if appropriate) in all Federally-assisted contracts and 
subcontracts.  The goals and timetables for minority and female participation may not be less 
than those published pursuant to 41 C.F.R. § 60-4.6. 

 
11. PROCUREMENT: The Recipient agrees that all procurement transactions shall be in 

accordance with the regulations at 2 C.F.R. §§200.317 through 200.326, as applicable. 
 

12. BUY AMERICAN: Consistent with Executive Order 13858, Strengthening Buy-American 
Preferences for Infrastructure Projects,” as modified by Executive Order 14005, Ensuring the 
Future Is Made in All of America by All of America’s Workers, the Recipient is encouraged to 
use, to the greatest extent practicable, iron and aluminum as well as steel, cement, and other 
manufactured products produced in the United States in every contract, subcontract, purchase 
order, or sub-award that is chargeable under this Award. 

 
13. EVIDENCE OF GOOD TITLE:  Prior to the initial disbursement of funds by EDA, the 

Recipient shall provide opinion of counsel, satisfactory to EDA, that the Recipient has acquired 
good and marketable title to land, free of all encumbrances, as well as rights-of-way, long term 
leases, easements, state or local government permits or other items necessary for the 
completion of the project in accordance with 13 C.F.R. § 314.7. 
 

14. USEFUL LIFE: The Estimated Useful Life of this project is hereby determined to be 20 years 
from the date of Award.  

 
15. HISTORICAL AND ARCHAEOLOGICAL RESOURCES: If during construction of the 

project, historical and archeological resources, including burial grounds and artifacts are 
discovered, the Recipient shall immediately stop construction in the area, contact the State 

213

Item 17.



Page 7 of 8 
 

Historic Preservation Officer (SHPO) and EDA and follow the SHPO’s instructions for the 
preservation of resources. 

 
16. PERMITS: Prior to EDA’s approval of the bid documents, the Recipient shall provide 

documentation satisfactory to EDA that the permits listed below have been obtained, or that the 
bid documents include language requiring the contractor to obtain such permits prior to the 
start of construction. If the contractor obtains the permits, then prior to initial disbursement of 
construction costs, the Recipient shall provide EDA with satisfactory documentation that such 
permits have been obtained:  

 
• National Pollution Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) 

 
17. NONRELOCATION:  In signing this award of financial assistance, the Recipient(s) attests 

that the EDA funded project will not be used to induce the relocation or the movement of 
existing jobs from one Region to another Region by a primary beneficiary of the Award.  (See 
13 C.F.R. § 300.3) In the event that EDA determines that its assistance was used for such 
relocation purposes, EDA reserves the right to pursue all rights and remedies, including 
suspension of disbursements and termination of the award for convenience or cause, and 
disallowance of any costs attributable, directly or indirectly, to the relocation and the recovery 
of the Federal share thereof.    

 
For purposes of ensuring that EDA assistance will not be used for relocation purposes, each 
applicant must inform EDA of all employers that constitute primary beneficiaries of the project 
assisted by EDA.  EDA considers an employer to be a “primary beneficiary” if, in seeking 
EDA assistance, the applicant estimates that such employer will create or save 100 or more 
permanent jobs as a result of the investment assistance and specifically names the employer in 
its application to EDA to make the Award.  In smaller communities, EDA may consider a 
primary beneficiary to be an employer of 50 or more jobs permanent jobs so identified. 
 

18. PERFORMANCE MEASURES:  The Recipient agrees to report on program performance 
measures and program outcomes in such a form and at such intervals as may be prescribed by 
EDA in compliance with the Government Performance and Results Act (GPRA) of 1993, and 
the Government Performance and Results Modernization Act of 2010.   

 
At this time, all Awards for construction assistance require Recipients to report actual job 
creation/retention and private investment leverage three (3), six (6), and nine (9) years after an 
EDA investment.  Recipients are to retain sufficient documentation so that they can submit 
these required reports.  Failure to submit this required report can adversely impact the ability of 
the Recipient to secure future funding from EDA. 

 
Performance measures and reporting requirements that apply to program activities funded by 
this investment will be provided in a separate GPRA information collection document.  EDA 
staff will contact Recipients in writing within a reasonable period prior to the time of 
submission of the reports with information on how this data should be submitted.  Recipients 
should ensure adequate and sufficient records are kept to support the methodology for 
computing initial job and private investment estimates and all subsequent actual performance 
data calculations so that this information can be made available to EDA in the event of an 
audits or performance site visits. 

214

Item 17.



Page 8 of 8 
 

 
19. WASTE, FRAUD AND ABUSE: Consistent with 2 CFR part 200, at EDA’s direction, at any 

time(s) during the estimated useful life of the Project, Recipient’s key personnel will take a 
training on preventing waste, fraud and abuse as provided by the Government. Key personnel 
include those responsible for managing the Recipient’s finances and overseeing any 
contractors, sub-contractors or sub-grantees (for financial matters and/or general oversight 
related to this Project). EDA will provide instructions on when and how to take the training. 
Within sixty days of the date of Award, the Recipient shall provide to the Project Officer all 
Certificates of Completion for the Waste, Fraud, and Abuse training. In the event there are co-
recipients of this Award, the obligations in the Specific Award Condition shall apply to all 
recipients whether or not designated in this Award as the Lead Recipient. 
Further, Recipient will monitor award activities for common fraud schemes (hereinafter 
“Fraud Schemes”), such as but not limited to:   
 
• false claims for materials and labor,  
• bribes related to the acquisition of materials and labor,  
• product substitution,  
• mismarking or mislabeling on products and materials, and  
• time and materials overcharging. 
 
Should Recipient detect any Fraud Schemes or any other suspicious activity, Recipient will 
contact the EDA staff listed above and the Department of Commerce, Office of Inspector 
General, as indicated at https://www.oig.doc.gov/Pages/Contact-Us.aspx, as soon as possible. 

 

215

Item 17.

https://www.oig.doc.gov/Pages/Contact-Us.aspx


1  

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ADMINISTRATION 

 
STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS 

 
Title II of the Public Works and Economic Development Act of 1965 

 
Public Works and Economic Development Facilities 

and 
Economic Adjustment Assistance Construction Components 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 

March 22, 2021 
 

  

216

Item 17.



2  

Table of Contents 
PART I: GENERAL PROVISIONS ........................................................................................................................ 4 

A. Construction Award Purpose ........................................................................................................................... 4 

B. Authorities ........................................................................................................................................................ 4 
1. In General ........................................................................................................................................... 4 
2. PWEDA ............................................................................................................................................. 4 
3. EDA Regulations ............................................................................................................................... 4 
4. Conflicts Among Authorities ............................................................................................................. 4 

C. Updates to Authorities ...................................................................................................................................... 4 
1. Updates to Regulations and Requirements ........................................................................................ 4 
2. Applicability to the Award ................................................................................................................. 5 

D. Variances ........................................................................................................................................................ 5 

E. Recipient as Trustee ...................................................................................................................................... 5 

F. Additional Funding ....................................................................................................................................... 5 

G. Definitions .................................................................................................................................................... 5 

H. Reaffirmation of Application and Award Acceptance .................................................................................. 5 

PART II: SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS FOR EDA CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS ............................................ 7 

A. Financial Requirements ................................................................................................................................ 7 
1. Financial Reports ............................................................................................................................... 7 
2. Disbursements .................................................................................................................................... 7 
3. Federal and Non-Federal Cost Sharing .............................................................................................. 8 
4. Budget Revisions and Transfer of Funds ........................................................................................... 8 
5. Indirect Costs and Facilities and Administrative Costs ..................................................................... 9 
6. Incurring Costs Prior to Award ........................................................................................................ 10 
7. Program Income ............................................................................................................................... 10 

B. Programmatic Requirements ...................................................................................................................... 10 
1. Project Progress and Performance Reporting .................................................................................. 10 
2. Time Extensions ............................................................................................................................... 11 
3. Interim Reporting of Significant Project Developments .................................................................. 12 
4. Programmatic Changes .................................................................................................................... 12 
5. Government Performance and Results Act ...................................................................................... 12 
6. Beneficiary Compliance ................................................................................................................... 13 
7. Hold Harmless ................................................................................................................................. 13 
8. Prohibition on Use of Third Parties to Secure Award ...................................................................... 13 
9. Payment of Attorneys’ or Consultants’ Fees ................................................................................... 13 
10. Recipient’s Duty to Refrain from Employing Certain Government Employees .............................. 13 
11. Commencement of Construction ..................................................................................................... 14 
12. Project Sign and Use of EDA Logo ................................................................................................. 14 
13. Efficient Administration of Project .................................................................................................. 15 
14. Conflicts-of-Interest Rules ............................................................................................................... 15 

217

Item 17.



3  

15. Records-Keeping Requirements ...................................................................................................... 16 
16. Termination Actions ........................................................................................................................ 17 
17. Project Closeout Procedures ............................................................................................................ 18 
18. Freedom of Information Act ............................................................................................................ 20 

C. Additional Requirements Related to Construction Projects ....................................................................... 20 
1. The Davis-Bacon Act, as amended (40 U.S.C. §§ 3141–3144, 3146, 3147; 42 U.S.C. § 3212) ..... 20 
2. The Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, as amended (40 U.S.C. §§ 3701-3708) ....... 20 
3. The National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended (54 U.S.C. § 300101 et seq.), and the 

Advisory Council on Historic Preservation Guidelines (36 CFR part 800) .................................... 20 
4. Preservation of Historical and Archeological Data (54 U.S.C. § 312502) ...................................... 20 
5. The Architectural Barriers Act of 1968, as amended (42 U.S.C. § 4151 et seq.) ............................ 21 
6. The Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, as 

amended (42 U.S.C. § 4601 et seq.) ................................................................................................ 21 
7. The Energy Conservation and Production Act (42 U.S.C. § 6834 et seq.) ...................................... 21 
8. Executive Order 13717, “Seismic Safety of Federal and Federally Assisted or Regulated New 

Building Construction ..................................................................................................................... 21 
9. Compliance with Local Construction Requirements ....................................................................... 21 

D. Non-Discrimination Requirements ............................................................................................................. 21 

E. Audits .......................................................................................................................................................... 21 
1. General ............................................................................................................................................. 21 
2. Requirement to Submit a Copy of the Audit to EDA ...................................................................... 22 

F. Tribal Employment Rights Ordinances ...................................................................................................... 22 

G. EDA Contracting Provisions for Construction Projects ............................................................................. 22 

H. Property ...................................................................................................................................................... 22 
1.  Standards ......................................................................................................................................... 22 
2. Title .................................................................................................................................................. 23 
3. EDA’s Interest in Award Property ................................................................................................... 23 
4. Insurance and Bonding ..................................................................................................................... 25 
5. Leasing Restrictions. ........................................................................................................................ 25 
6. Eminent Domain .............................................................................................................................. 26 
7. Disposal of Real Property ................................................................................................................ 26 
8. Reporting on Property ...................................................................................................................... 26 

I. Environmental Requirements ..................................................................................................................... 27 
1. General. ............................................................................................................................................ 27 
2. Compliance with Other Applicable Environmental Requirements .................................................. 27 

J. American-Made Equipment and Products .................................................................................................. 28 

PART III: DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS .............................. 29 
 

  

218

Item 17.



4  

PART I: 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
A. Construction Award Purpose 

This financial assistance award (the Award), executed by the Economic Development 
Administration (EDA) and the recipient (Recipient or non-Federal entity), is awarded for the purpose 
of carrying out the design, engineering, or construction of certain physical infrastructure as 
specifically set forth in the Award’s scope of work.  

B. Authorities 
1. In General 

Recipient must administer this Award in conformance with the terms of the Award, including 
any properly executed amendment thereto, the EDA-approved budget and scope of work, these 
EDA Standard Terms and Conditions for Construction Projects (EDA Construction STCs) and 
the Department of Commerce (DOC) Financial Assistance Standard Terms and Conditions 
(DOC Standard Terms and Conditions), as well as any specific award conditions; relevant 
policies issued by EDA; applicable Federal statutes, regulations, and Executive Orders; and the 
provisions of the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards codified at 
2 CFR part 200 (OMB Uniform Guidance). 

 
2. PWEDA 

The Public Works and Economic Development program is authorized under section 201 and the 
Economic Adjustment Assistance program is authorized under section 209 of PWEDA 
(42 U.S.C. §§ 3141 and 3149, respectively). 

  
3. EDA Regulations 

The regulations implementing PWEDA are contained in chapter III of title 13 of the Code of 
Federal Regulations (CFR), and apply in full to this Award. The regulations specific to EDA 
construction projects can be found at 13 CFR parts 305 and 314, and subpart A to part 307. 

 
4. Conflicts Among Authorities  

Any inconsistency or conflict among the authorities governing the Recipient’s administration of 
this Award will be resolved in the following order of precedence: Federal laws and regulations 
(including the OMB Uniform Guidance), applicable notices published in the Federal Register, 
Executive Orders, OMB circulars, these EDA Construction STCs, specific award conditions, and 
any written policy guidance issued by EDA. However, a specific award condition may amend or 
take precedence over a provision of these EDA Construction STCs on a case-by-case basis, when 
warranted by the specific circumstances of the Award. In the event of a conflict between Parts I 
or II of these EDA Construction STCs and Part III, which incorporates the DOC Standard Terms 
and Conditions, Parts I and II will control. 
 

C. Updates to Authorities 
1. Updates to Regulations and Requirements 

The DOC, EDA, or OMB may issue changes from time to time to the regulations and other 
policies and requirements that apply to this Award. Such changes may upon occasion increase 

219

Item 17.



5  

administrative or programmatic flexibility in administering this Award in a manner that is 
mutually beneficial to EDA and the Recipient. In addition, if required by law, these changes may 
impose new requirements. The implementation of any such regulatory, administrative, or 
programmatic change in administering this Award requires EDA’s prior written approval. 

 
2. Applicability to the Award 

These EDA Construction STCs apply to the Award as of the Federal award date, as defined at 
2 CFR § 200.1, or, if attached to the Award by amendment, as of the effective date of such 
amendment. 

 
D. Variances 

EDA’s policy is to administer all awards uniformly; however, there may be special circumstances 
that warrant a variance. To accommodate these circumstances and to encourage innovative and 
creative ways to address economic development problems, EDA will consider requests for variances 
to the procedures set out in these EDA Construction STCs if they do not conflict with applicable 
Federal statutory and regulatory requirements, are consistent with the goals of EDA’s programs, and 
make sound economic and financial sense. Any approved variance will be implemented through a 
specific award condition incorporated under the Award.  

 
E. Recipient as Trustee 

The Recipient holds grant funds and any property acquired or improved with EDA assistance in trust 
for the public purposes of an Award. The Recipient’s obligation to the Federal Government 
continues for the estimated useful life of the Project, as determined by EDA, during which EDA 
retains an undivided equitable reversionary interest (the Federal Interest) in property acquired or 
improved, in whole or in part, with EDA investment assistance. See 13 CFR § 314.2 
(“Federal Interest”). 

 
If EDA determines that the Recipient fails or has failed to meet this obligation, EDA may exercise 
any rights or remedies with respect to its Federal Interest in the Project. However, EDA’s 
forbearance in exercising any right or remedy in connection with the Federal Interest does not 
constitute a waiver thereof. 
 

F. Additional Funding 
EDA has no obligation to provide any additional funding in connection with the Award. Any change 
to the Award to increase funding or to extend the period of performance is at the discretion of EDA, 
subject to the availability of funds, via an amendment executed by the Grants Officer. 

 
G. Definitions 

Capitalized terms and acronyms used but not otherwise defined in these EDA Construction STCs 
have the meaning ascribed to them at 13 CFR §§ 300.3, 302.20, 307.8, and 314.1, and subpart A to 
2 CFR part 200.   

 
H. Reaffirmation of Application and Award Acceptance 

By accepting this Award, the Recipient’s authorized representative hereby reaffirms and states that: 
 

1. All data in the Application were true and correct when the Application was submitted and remain 

220

Item 17.



6  

true and correct as of the date of this Award; 
2. The Application was, as of the date of submission and the date of this Award, duly authorized as 

required by local law by the governing body of the Recipient; and  
3. The Recipient has read, understood, and will comply with all terms of this Award, including the 

assurances and certifications submitted as part of the Application (including assurances 
submitted through the System for Award Management (SAM.gov)). 

 
Acceptance of the Award is established by any action on the part of the Recipient indicating an 
intent to accept the Award, including by signing the Financial Assistance Award (Form CD-450) 
(either via a “wet” signature or electronically) or by requesting any disbursement of Award funds. 
“Application” means all forms, documentation, and any information submitted to EDA as part and in 
furtherance of a request for an Award and includes submissions made in response to any request by 
EDA after submission of the initial Application. 

  

221

Item 17.



7  

PART II: 
SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS FOR EDA CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS 

 
A. Financial Requirements 

1. Financial Reports 
a. During the period of performance, the Recipient must submit financial reports as follows, 

unless otherwise specified in a specific award condition. 
 

i. Reports on Award reimbursements. In accordance with 2 CFR § 200.328 (“Financial 
reporting”), the Recipient must submit a “Federal Financial Report” (Form SF-425 or any 
successor form) on a semi-annual basis for the periods ending March 31 and September 
30, or any portion thereof, unless otherwise specified in a specific award condition. 
Reports are due no later than 30 calendar days following the end of each reporting period, 
and instructions for completing and submitting Form SF-425 will be discussed during the 
Project kick-off meeting. Recipients may contact their EDA Project Officer with 
questions on how to complete or submit the report, if necessary, but they must submit 
reports on time and are encouraged to pose such questions sufficiently before the 
deadline to allow for complete, accurate, and timely submission of required reports. 

 
ii. Reports on Award advances. While EDA generally does not advance funds, when the 

agency does so, the Recipient must submit Form SF-425 within 15 business days 
following the end of each quarter for an award where the Federal share of costs is under 
$1 million. In accordance with 2 CFR § 200.328, because of increased risk and the need 
to ensure the appropriate use of Federal funds, where EDA advances funds under an 
award where the Federal share of costs is $1 million or more the Recipient must submit 
Form SF-425 within 15 business days following the end of each month, or as otherwise 
specified in a specific award condition. 

 
b. The Recipient must submit a final Form SF-425 no later than 120 calendar days after the end 

date of the period of performance. See also Part II, section B.16.c “Final reporting deadline” 
of these EDA Construction STCs. 

 
c. Noncompliance with the financial reporting requirements may result in appropriate 

enforcement action under this Award, including but not limited to suspension of Award 
payments, disallowance of costs or termination of an award. A Recipient’s non-compliance 
with financial reporting requirements will also be taken into account in EDA’s consideration 
of any future applications for EDA financial assistance (see 2 CFR § 200.206(b)(2)(iii) and 
section A.06 (Unsatisfactory Performance or Non-Compliance with Award Provisions) of the 
DOC Standard Terms and Conditions, which are incorporated in Part III of these 
EDA Construction STCs). 

 
d. Financial reports should be submitted to the Project Officer in electronic format, unless 

otherwise specified in the specific award conditions. 
 

2. Disbursements 
a. Method of payment. The Grants Officer determines the appropriate method of payment. 

222

Item 17.



8  

Unless otherwise specified in a specific award condition, the method of payment under this 
Award will be reimbursement. Payments will be made through electronic funds transfers 
directly to the Recipient’s bank account and in accordance with the requirements of the Debt 
Collection Improvement Act of 1996 (31 U.S.C. § 3720B et seq.). The Award number must 
be included on all payment-related correspondence, information, and forms. 

 
b. Disbursement requests. The Recipient must use Form SF-271, “Outlay Report and Request 

for Reimbursement for Construction Programs,” to request reimbursement under the Award. 
Substantiating invoices and/or vouchers also must be provided. Each request for the 
disbursement of funds must be made to the Project Officer. Form SF-271 can be downloaded 
from the Grants.gov post-award reporting forms website at 
https://www.grants.gov/web/grants/forms/post-award-reporting-forms.html. 

 
i. Initial disbursement request. For the initial disbursement only, the Recipient must 

complete and submit Form SF-3881, “ACH Vendor/Miscellaneous Payment Enrollment 
Form,” along with Form SF-271, to the Project Officer. 

 
ii. Interim disbursement requests. All requests for interim disbursement must be submitted 

using Form SF-271 and include substantiating invoices and/or vouchers. 
 
iii. Final disbursement request. See Part II, section B.16 “Project Closeout Procedures” of 

these EDA Construction STCs. 
 

3. Federal and Non-Federal Cost Sharing 
 

a. For purposes of this Award, the Federal share is the amount of EDA funds invested under the 
Award, while the non-Federal share, or “Matching Share,” means non-EDA funds and any 
in-kind contributions that are approved by EDA and provided by the Recipient or by third 
parties as a condition of the Award.  

 
b. By accepting the Award, the Recipient certifies that the Matching Share of Project costs is 

committed to the Project, available as needed, and not conditioned or encumbered in any way 
that precludes its use consistent with the requirements of the Award. See 13 CFR § 301.5 
(“Matching share requirements”). 

 
c. In the case of an overrun at the construction bid opening, the Recipient may augment the 

Matching Share by an amount sufficient to cover the excess cost. The Recipient must furnish 
a letter to EDA identifying the source of the additional funds and confirming that all 
Matching Share meets the requirements of 13 CFR § 301.5. See 13 CFR § 305.10 
(“Bid underrun and overrun”).   

 
4. Budget Revisions and Transfer of Funds 

a. Approved budget plan; notification of deviations. The EDA-approved budget set forth in the 
specific award conditions or otherwise incorporated under the Award is the budget plan for 
the Project. The Recipient must notify EDA of deviations from the budget in accordance with 
2 CFR § 200.308 (“Revision of budget and program plans”). If prior written approval is not 
required under 2 CFR § 200.308, the Recipient may request the Grants Officer’s review of 

223

Item 17.

https://www.grants.gov/web/grants/forms/post-award-reporting-forms.html


9  

and guidance on proposed revisions to the budget. 
 
b. Requesting budget revisions. Requests for budget revisions to the EDA-approved budget must 

be submitted through the Project Officer to the Grants Officer, who will make the final 
determination on such requests and notify the Recipient in writing. 

 
c. Budget revisions that require an amendment. In accordance with 2 CFR § 200.308(f) and (h), 

an amendment executed by the Grants Officer are required for budget revisions when: 
 

i. The revision results from changes in the scope or the objective of the Project; 
ii. The need arises for additional EDA funds to complete the Project; 
iii. The Federal share exceeds the simplified acquisition threshold (currently set at 

$250,000) and the cumulative amount of transfers among direct cost categories exceeds 
or is expected to exceed 10 percent of the total budget as last approved by EDA; and 

iv. A revision is desired that involves specific costs for which prior written approval 
requirements may be imposed consistent with applicable cost principles listed in subpart E 
of 2 CFR part 200 (“Cost Principles”). 

d. Prior approval for transfers between construction and non-construction items. When an 
Award supports both construction and non-construction work, the Recipient must obtain 
prior written approval from the Grants Officer before making any fund or budget transfer 
from non-construction to construction or vice versa. See 2 CFR § 200.308(h)(5). 

e. Project underrun amounts. Underrun amounts will be transferred to the contingencies line 
item. Contingency funds are to be used to address situations resulting from unknown 
conditions and changes required for the fulfillment of authorized activities under this Award. 
EDA may approve the use of underrun funds to increase the Federal share of the Project or 
further improve the Project, as long as EDA determines that the use is consistent with the 
original purpose of the Award. See 13 CFR § 308.1 (“Use of funds in projects constructed 
under projected cost”). 

f. Additional EDA funding in case of Project overrun amounts. In accepting this Award, the 
Recipient agrees to fund any overrun amounts from non-Federal sources, or if the Recipient is 
unable or unwilling to do so, to request termination of the Award. Additional EDA assistance 
for the Project is at the discretion of EDA and may not be approved. 

 
5. Indirect Costs and Facilities and Administrative Costs 

a. Indirect costs, or facilities and administrative (F&A) costs for educational institutions, are 
generally not applicable under this Award. See the definition of “indirect (facilities and 
administrative) (F&A)) costs” at 2 CFR § 200.1.   

 
b. When indirect costs are applicable, they will not be allowable charges against the Award 

unless approved under the Award and specifically included as a line item in the Award’s 
approved budget. See section B.06 of the DOC Standard Terms and Conditions (“Indirect or 
Facilities and Administrative Costs”), which are incorporated into these EDA Construction 
STCs in Part III. 

 

224

Item 17.



10  

6. Incurring Costs Prior to Award 
Project activities, including the procurement of good and services, which may include 
construction activities, carried out prior to EDA’s approval of this Award are done at the sole risk 
of the Recipient and at the risk of not being reimbursed by EDA. Such activity may result in the 
rejection of the Application, the disallowance of costs, or other adverse consequences as a result 
of noncompliance with EDA or Federal requirements, including but not limited to procurement 
requirements, civil rights requirements, Federal labor standards, or environmental and historic 
preservation requirements. The Grants Officer must authorize pre-award costs and activities in 
writing, and such costs must also be allowable under relevant Federal cost principles and the 
specific Award terms and be included in the EDA-approved budget. Pre-award costs not included 
in the authorized budget are not allowable and will not be reimbursed. See 13 CFR § 302.8 
(“Pre-approval Investment Assistance costs”). 

 
7. Program Income  

For Projects that generate revenue (e.g., rent for buildings or real property constructed or 
improved with EDA funds, rent or fees charged for use of equipment purchased with EDA funds, 
fees charged by the Recipient or a third party in connection with Project operations, etc.), the 
Recipient agrees, for the estimated useful life of the EDA-assisted facility or equipment, to use 
income generated from the facility or equipment, in the following order of priority unless 
modified by a specific award condition: 

 
a. Administration, operation, maintenance, and repair of Project facilities in a manner consistent 

with good property management practice and in accordance with established building codes. 
This includes, where applicable, repayment of indebtedness resulting from any 
EDA-approved encumbrance (e.g., approved mortgage) on the EDA-assisted facility. In the 
case of equipment, administration, operation, maintenance, and repair of the equipment, or 
the facility in which the equipment is located as required to maintain and operate the 
equipment, for the equipment’s estimated useful life. 

 
b. Economic development activities that are authorized for support by EDA, provided such 

activities meet the economic development purposes of PWEDA and are located within the 
designated Project region. 

 
c. Any program income in excess of paragraphs a. and b. of this section that is generated during 

the period of performance must be deducted from total allowable Project costs in accordance 
with 2 CFR § 200.307(e)(1). See also 2 CFR § 200.307 (“Program income”). 

 
8. Information on Recipient integrity. The Recipient agrees to provide EDA with information 

and documentation necessary for EDA to conduct due diligence to ensure the financial integrity 
and responsibility of the Recipient and key individuals associated with the Recipient in the 
management or administration of this Award. 
 

B. Programmatic Requirements 
1. Project Progress and Performance Reporting 

a. Project progress reports must be submitted in accordance with the procedures set out in 
2 CFR § 200.329 (“Monitoring and reporting program performance”), as applicable, and as 

225

Item 17.



11  

indicated below. Failure to submit required reports in a complete, accurate, and timely manner 
may result in the withholding of payments under this Award; deferral of processing of new 
awards, amendments, or supplemental funding; or other appropriate enforcement action. 
See 13 CFR § 302.18 (“Post-approval requirements”) and section A.06 (Unsatisfactory 
Performance or Non-Compliance with Award Provisions) of the DOC Standard Terms and 
Conditions, which are incorporated in Part III of these EDA Construction STCs. 

 
b. Unless otherwise specified in a specific award condition, the Project progress report must 

contain the following information for each Project program, function, or activity: 
 

i. A comparison of planned and actual accomplishments according to the timetable or list of 
Project objectives in this Award; 

ii. An explanation of any delays or failures to meet the Project timetable or Project goals; and 
iii. Any other pertinent information including, when appropriate, analysis and explanation of 

cost overruns or high unit costs. 
Project progress reports must be submitted for each calendar quarter to the Project Officer. 
Each Project progress report must be submitted in accordance with the deadlines outlined in 
the specific award conditions, or, when not otherwise specified, Project progress reports will 
be due on a quarterly basis not later than January 31, April 30, July 31, and October 31 for 
the immediately previous quarter. The final Project progress report must be submitted to EDA 
no later than 120 calendar days after the end date of the period of performance. See Part II, 
section B.16.c “Project Closeout Procedures” of these EDA Construction STCs for more 
information on Project Closeout.  

c. The Recipient must submit quarterly Project progress reports to the EDA Project Officer 
electronically unless otherwise specified in the specific award conditions. 

 
2. Time Extensions 

a. Unless otherwise authorized by a specific award condition, any extension of the period of 
performance can only be authorized by the Grants Officer in writing. 

 
b. The Recipient is responsible for implementing the Project in accordance with the 

development time schedule contained in this Award. As soon as the Recipient becomes aware 
that it may not be possible to meet the development time schedule, the Recipient must notify 
the Grants Officer. The Recipient’s notice to EDA must contain the following: 

 
i. An explanation of the Recipient’s inability to complete work by the specified date (e.g., a 

lengthy period of unusual weather delayed the contractor’s ability to excavate the site, 
major re-engineering required in order to obtain State or Federal approvals, unplanned 
environmental mitigation required); 

ii. A statement describing any other contemplated changes to the Project; 
iii. Documentation that demonstrates there is still a bona fide need for the Project; and 
iv. A statement that no further delay is anticipated and that the Project can be completed 

within the revised time schedule. 
 

226

Item 17.



12  

EDA reserves the right to withhold disbursements while the Recipient is not in compliance with 
the time schedule and to suspend or terminate this Award if the Recipient fails to proceed with 
reasonable diligence to accomplish the Project as intended. 

3. Interim Reporting of Significant Project Developments 
The Recipient must promptly report any event that may have a significant impact upon the 
Project, including delays or adverse conditions that may materially affect the ability of the 
Recipient to attain Project objectives within established time periods or meet the development 
time schedule without waiting for the next quarterly progress report. The Recipient should report 
such events to the Project Officer in the most time-expedient way possible and then, if the initial 
report was not in writing, report the event to the Project Officer in writing. Such a report must 
include a statement of the event or issue, a statement of the course of action taken or 
contemplated to resolve the matter, and any Federal assistance needed to resolve the situation. If 
budget changes are required, the Recipient must submit a written budget revision request. 
See 2 CFR § 200.329(e) (“Monitoring and reporting program performance”) and Part II, 
section A.4. “Budget Revisions and Transfers of Funds” of these EDA Construction STCs. 

4. Programmatic Changes 
a. In accordance with 2 CFR § 200.308 (“Revision of budget and program plans”), the Recipient 

must submit a written request for any proposed programmatic changes, including all changes 
to the scope of the Award, to the Project Officer. See Part II, section A.4 “Budget Revisions 
and Transfers of Funds” of these EDA Construction STCs for budget revisions that may 
require the prior written approval of EDA. In these cases, the Project Officer will forward the 
request to the Grants Officer, who makes the final decision on approving the request. In 
addition, the Recipient must request prior written approvals for certain items of cost in 
accordance with 2 CFR § 200.407 (“Prior written approval (prior approval)”). 

 
b. Any changes made to the Project without EDA’s approval are made at the Recipient’s own 

risk, and may result in disallowance of costs, suspension, termination, or other EDA action 
with respect to the Award. See 13 CFR § 302.7(b) (“Amendments and changes”). 

 
c. Contract Change Orders. After construction contracts for the Project have been executed, it 

may become necessary to alter them through a formal contract change order that must be 
issued by the Recipient and accepted by the contractor. All contract change orders must be 
reviewed by EDA, even if EDA is not participating in the cost of the change order or the 
contract price is to be reduced. Work on the Project may continue pending EDA review and 
approval of the change order, but all such work will be at the Recipient’s risk as to whether 
the cost of the work is eligible for EDA reimbursement. See 13 CFR § 305.13 (“Contract 
change orders”). 

 
5. Government Performance and Results Act 

In addition to quarterly Project progress reports, EDA may require the Recipient to report on 
Project performance beyond the end date of the period of performance for Government 
Performance and Results Act (GPRA) or other purposes. In no case will the Recipient be required 
to submit any GPRA report more than ten years after the date of Award closeout. Data used by the 
Recipient in preparing reports must be accurate and, whenever possible, from independent 
sources. See 13 CFR § 302.16 (“Accountability”). 

227

Item 17.



13  

 
6. Beneficiary Compliance 

In the event a beneficiary of the Project fails to comply in any manner with certifications, 
assurances, or agreements that such beneficiary has entered into in accordance with EDA’s 
requirements, the Recipient will reimburse EDA the Award amount or an amount to be 
determined by the EDA pursuant to 13 CFR §§ 314.4 (“Unauthorized use of property”) and 
314.5 (“Federal share”). When EDA determines that the failure of a beneficiary to comply with 
EDA requirements affects a portion of the property benefited by the Award, the Recipient will 
reimburse EDA proportionately. 

 
7. Hold Harmless 

To the maximum extent permitted by law, the Recipient agrees to indemnify and hold the 
United States harmless from and against all liabilities that the United States may incur due to the 
actions or omissions of the Recipient, including to the extent that such liabilities are incurred 
because of toxic or hazardous contamination or groundwater, surface water, soil, or other 
conditions caused by actions of the Recipient or any of its predecessors (other than the United 
States or its agents) on the property. See 13 CFR § 302.19 (“Indemnification”). 

 
8. Prohibition on Use of Third Parties to Secure Award 

Unless otherwise specified in the application materials supporting this Award, the Recipient 
warrants that no person or selling agency has been employed or retained to solicit or secure this 
Award upon an agreement or understanding for a commission, percentage, brokerage, or 
contingent fee, excepting bona fide employees, or bona fide established commercial or selling 
agencies maintained by the Recipient for the purpose of securing business. For breach or 
violation of this warranty, EDA has the right to terminate this Award for material noncompliance, 
or at its discretion, to deduct from the Award amount, or otherwise recover, the full amount of 
such commission, percentage, brokerage, or contingent fee. 

 
9. Payment of Attorneys’ or Consultants’ Fees 

No Award funds may be used, directly or indirectly, to reimburse attorneys’ or consultants’ fees 
incurred in connection with obtaining an award under PWEDA, such as, for example, preparing 
an application for EDA assistance. However, ordinary and reasonable attorneys’ and consultants’ 
fees incurred for meeting Award requirements (e.g., conducting a title search or preparing plans 
and specifications) may be eligible Project costs and may be paid out of Award funds, provided 
such costs are otherwise eligible. See 13 CFR § 302.10 (“Attorneys’ and consultants’ fees, 
employment of expediters, and post-employment restriction”). 

 
10. Recipient’s Duty to Refrain from Employing Certain Government Employees 

a. Pursuant to section 606(2) of PWEDA (42 U.S.C. § 3216), for the two-year period beginning 
on the date EDA executes this Award, any Recipient that is a nonprofit organization, 
District Organization, or for-profit entity agrees that it will not employ, offer any office or 
employment to, or retain for professional services any person who: 

 
i. On the date EDA executes this Award or within the one-year period ending on that date, 

served as an officer, attorney, agent, or employee of the Department, and 
ii. Occupied a position or engaged in activities that the Assistant Secretary determines 

228

Item 17.



14  

involved discretion with respect to the funding of an Award. 
 

b. In addition to the types of Recipients noted in paragraph a. above, EDA may require another 
Eligible Applicant to execute an agreement to abide by the above-described post-employment 
restriction on a case-by-case basis—for example, when an institution of higher education 
implements activities under or related to the Award through a separate nonprofit organization 
or association. 

 
c. The two-year period and associated restrictions referenced above also will apply beginning on 

the date that EDA executes any cost amendment to this Award that provides additional funds 
to the Recipient. 
See also 13 CFR § 302.10 (“Attorneys’ and consultants’ fees, employment of expediters, and 
post-employment restriction”). 
 

11. Commencement of Construction 
a. Delayed construction starts. If significant construction (as determined by EDA) is not 

commenced within two years of the Award date or by the date estimated for start of 
construction in this Award (or the expiration of any extension granted in writing by EDA), 
whichever is later, this Award will be automatically suspended by a written notification 
issued by the Grants Officer and may be terminated if EDA determines, after consultation 
with the Recipient, that construction to completion cannot reasonably be expected to proceed 
promptly and expeditiously. 

 
b. Early construction starts. The Recipient must make a written request to EDA for early 

construction start permission (that is, after the date of Award, but before EDA gives formal 
approval for construction to commence). Costs incurred under a contract are only allowable 
after EDA determines that the award of the contract is in compliance with all terms and 
conditions of the Award. If construction commences prior to EDA’s determination, the 
Recipient proceeds at its own risk until EDA’s review and concurrence. See 13 CFR § 305.11 
(“Contract awards; early construction start”). 

 
12. Project Sign and Use of EDA Logo 

a. Project sign. The Recipient is responsible for constructing, erecting, and maintaining in good 
condition throughout the construction period a sign (or signs) in a conspicuous place at the 
Project site indicating that the Federal Government is participating in the Project. EDA will 
provide specifications for the sign and may require more than one sign if site conditions so 
warrant. If the EDA-recommended sign specifications conflict with State or local law, the 
Recipient may modify such recommended specifications so as to comply with State or local 
law. See 13 CFR § 305.12 (“Project sign”). 

 
b. Use of EDA logo. With EDA’s prior written permission, the Recipient may use the EDA logo 

to publicize the Award as well as to amplify the impact of the Award. In such cases, the EDA 
logo may be displayed on Award-related materials that discuss or advertise the purpose or 
use of the Project (e.g. websites, social media, fliers, pamphlets, brochures). To seek 
permission to use the EDA logo, the Recipient must contact the EDA Project Officer and 
provide a written description of how the Recipient proposes to use the EDA logo. In general, 

229

Item 17.



15  

the EDA logo may be used either alone or next to Recipient’s logo. The EDA logo may not 
be used to endorse a third party as interpreted at EDA’s sole discretion. The Recipient must 
not use the EDA logo in a negative or defamatory manner, and the Recipient must not use the 
U.S. Department of Commerce (DOC) logo. EDA may rescind such permission at any time. 

13. Efficient Administration of Project 
The Recipient agrees to properly and efficiently administer, operate, and maintain the Project for 
its estimated useful life, as required by section 504 of PWEDA (42 U.S.C. § 3194). If EDA 
determines at any time during the estimated useful life of the facility that the Project is not being 
properly and efficiently administered, operated, and maintained, EDA may terminate this Award 
(if it is still active) and/or may take appropriate enforcement action to protect the Federal Interest 
in the Project, including requiring the Recipient to repay the Federal Share. See 13 CFR 
§§ 302.12 (“Project administration, operation and maintenance”), 302.18 (“Post-approval 
requirements”), and 314.2 (“Federal Interest”) through 314.5 (“Federal Share”). 

 
14. Conflicts-of-Interest Rules 

a. An “Interested Party” is defined in 13 CFR § 300.3 (“Definitions”) as “any officer, employee, 
or member of the board of directors or other governing board of the Recipient, including any 
other parties that advise, approve, recommend, or otherwise participate in the business 
decisions of the Recipient, such as agents, advisors, consultants, attorneys, accountants, or 
shareholders.” An Interested Party includes the Interested Party’s Immediate Family and other 
persons directly connected to the Interested Party by law or through a business organization. 
“Immediate Family” is defined in 13 CFR § 300.3 as “a person’s spouse (or domestic partner 
or significant other), parents, grandparents, siblings, children and grandchildren, but does not 
include distant relatives, such as cousins, unless the distant relative lives in the same 
household as the person.” 

 
b. The Recipient must disclose in writing any potential conflicts of interest to EDA or the 

pass-through entity as soon as practicable after the identification of such potential conflict. In 
addition, the Recipient must maintain written standards of conduct to establish safeguards to 
prohibit an Interested Party from using its position for a purpose that constitutes or presents 
the appearance of personal or organizational conflicts-of-interest or of personal gain in the 
administration of an award. See 13 CFR § 302.17(a) and (b) (“Conflicts of interest”), 2 CFR 
§ 200.112 (“Conflict of interest”), as applicable, and assurances submitted as part of the 
Application, including assurances submitted through SAM.gov or via Form SF-424D 
(“Assurances – Construction Projects”). 

 
c. An Interested Party must not receive any direct or indirect financial or personal benefit in 

connection with this Award or its use for payment or reimbursement of costs by or to the 
Recipient. A conflict of interest generally exists when an Interested Party participates in a 
matter that has a direct and predictable effect on the Interested Party's personal or financial 
interests. A conflict also may exist where there is an appearance that an Interested Party's 
objectivity in performing his or her responsibilities under the Project is impaired. For 
example, an appearance of impairment of objectivity may result from an organizational 
conflict where, because of other activities or relationships with other persons or entities, an 
Interested Party is unable to render impartial assistance, services or advice to the Recipient, a 
participant in the Project or to the Federal government. Additionally, a conflict of interest 

230

Item 17.



16  

may result from non-financial gain to an Interested Party, such as benefit to reputation or 
prestige in a professional field. See 13 CFR § 302.17(a) and (b). 

 
d. Section F.01.c of the DOC Standard Terms and Conditions, which are incorporated as Part III 

of these EDA Construction STCs, specifies procurement-related conflicts of interest 
requirements. See also 2 CFR §§ 200.317-200.327 (“Procurement Standards”). 
 

15. Records-Keeping Requirements  
a. Records. The Recipient must maintain records that document compliance with the terms and 

conditions of this Award. At a minimum, the Recipient’s records must fully disclose: 
i. The amount and disposition of all EDA funding under the Award; 
ii. All Project expenditures and procurement actions; 
iii. The total cost of the Project that the Award funds; 
iv. Copies of all reports and disbursement requests submitted to EDA; 
v. The benefits/impacts of the Project, as reported through GPRA and other reports to EDA; 
vi. The amount and nature of the portion of Project costs provided by non-EDA sources; 
vii. Contractor compliance with applicable Federal requirements; and 
viii.Such other records as EDA requires the Recipient to maintain, including such records as 

will facilitate an effective audit. 
 

b. Records retention. In general, and in accordance with 2 CFR § 200.334 (“Retention 
requirements for records”), all records pertinent to this Award must be retained for a period of 
three years from the date of submission of the final Project expenditure report (the final 
Form SF-271 for disbursement). The only exceptions are the following: 

 
i. If any litigation, claim, or audit is started before the expiration of the three-year period, the 

records must be retained until all litigation, claims, or audit findings involving the records 
have been resolved and final actions taken. 

ii. When the Recipient is notified in writing by EDA, its cognizant agency for either audit or 
indirect costs, its oversight agency for audit, or the relevant pass-through entity to extend 
the retention period, it must retain the records as directed. 

iii. Records for real property and equipment acquired with Federal funds must be retained for 
three years after final disposition of the relevant real property or equipment. 

iv. When records are transferred to or maintained by EDA or pass-through entity, the 
three-year retention requirement is not applicable to the Recipient. 

v. Records for program income transactions after the period of performance. In some cases, 
Recipients must report program income after the period of performance. Where there is 
such a requirement, the retention period for the records pertaining to the earning of the 
program income starts from the end of the Recipient’s fiscal year in which the program 
income is earned. See also Part II, section A.7 “Program Income” of these 
EDA Construction STCs. 

231

Item 17.



17  

vi. Indirect cost rate proposals and cost allocation plans. This paragraph applies to the 
following types of documents and their supporting records: indirect cost rate 
computations or proposals, cost allocation plans, and any similar accounting 
computations of the rate at which a particular group of costs is chargeable (such as 
computer usage chargeback rates or composite fringe benefit rates). 
(1) If submitted for negotiation. If the proposal, plan, or other computation is required to 

be submitted to the Federal Government (or to the pass-through entity) to form the 
basis for negotiation of the rate, then the three-year retention period for its supporting 
records starts from the date of such submission. 

(2) If not submitted for negotiation. If the proposal, plan, or other computation is not 
required to be submitted to the Federal Government (or to the pass-through entity) for 
negotiation purposes, then the three-year retention period for the proposal, plan, or 
computation and its supporting records starts from the end of the fiscal year (or other 
accounting period) covered by the proposal, plan, or other computation. 

 
c. Monitoring and reporting obligations. The Recipient is responsible for monitoring any 

subrecipients and contractors to ensure their compliance with the records retention 
requirements. The Recipient must immediately notify the Project Officer if records are lost. 
See 2 CFR §§ 200.331 – 200.333 (“Subrecipient Monitoring and Management). 
 

16. Termination Actions 
a. In accordance with 2 CFR § 200.340 (“Termination”), this Award may be terminated in 

whole or in part as follows: 
 

i. Termination by EDA for the Recipient’s failure to comply with the terms and conditions 
of the Award. EDA may terminate this Award, in whole or in part, if the Recipient fails to 
comply with the Terms and Conditions of the Award, including but not limited to: 
(1) Any representation made by the Recipient to the Federal awarding agency in 

connection with the Application for Federal assistance is incorrect or incomplete 
in any material respect; 

(2) The Project has changed substantially, without EDA prior approval, so as to affect 
significantly the accomplishment of the Project as intended (including an 
unauthorized use of property as provided in 13 CFR § 314.4 (“Unauthorized use of 
property”);  

(3) The Recipient has violated commitments it made in its Application and supporting 
documents or has violated any of the Terms and Conditions of the Award;  

(4) The conflicts-of-interest rules at 13 CFR § 302.17 (“Conflicts of interest”) are 
violated; or  

(5) The Recipient fails to report immediately to EDA any change of authorized 
representative acting in lieu of or on behalf of the Recipient. 

See also section A.06 (Unsatisfactory Performance or Non-Compliance with Award 
Provisions) of the DOC Standard Terms and Conditions, which are incorporated in Part III 
of these EDA Construction STCs. 

232

Item 17.



18  

 
ii. Termination by EDA when the Award no longer effectuates program goals or agency 

priorities. To the greatest extent authorized by law, EDA may terminate this Award if it 
no longer effectuates program goals or agency priorities.  

 
iii. Termination by the Recipient. The Recipient may terminate this Award in whole or in 

part upon by sending the EDA Grants Officer written notification setting forth the reasons 
for such termination, the effective date, and, in the case of partial termination, the portion 
to be terminated. However, if EDA determines in the case of partial termination that the 
reduced or modified portion of the EDA Award will not accomplish the purposes for 
which the EDA Award was made, EDA may terminate the Award in its entirety.  

 
iv. Termination pursuant to Award termination provisions. EDA or the pass-through entity 

may terminate this Award pursuant to termination provisions included in the Award. Any 
Award-specific termination provision will be included as a specific award condition. 

 
v. Termination upon mutual agreement. EDA and the Recipient may mutually agree to 

terminate this Award in whole or in part. In such cases, EDA and the Recipient must agree 
upon the termination conditions, including the effective date and, in the case of partial 
termination, the portion to be terminated. 

 
b. If the Award is wholly or partially terminated, the Recipient remains responsible for 

compliance with the requirements in 2 CFR §§ 200.344 (“Closeout”) and 200.345 
(“Post-closeout adjustments and continuing responsibilities”). 
 

17. Project Closeout Procedures 
a. Project Closeout. As defined at 2 CFR § 200.1, Project Closeout means the process by which 

EDA determines that all applicable administrative actions and all required work of the Award 
have been completed and takes actions as described at 2 CFR § 200.344 (“Closeout”). In the 
context of an EDA construction award, Project Closeout generally begins with the 
Recipient’s acceptance of the Project from the contractor(s).  

 
b. Final disbursement. When Project construction and final inspection have been completed, or 

substantially completed as determined by EDA, and the Recipient has accepted the Project 
from the contractor(s), the Recipient can begin the Closeout process by submitting the 
following documentation to EDA: 
i. A request for final disbursement on an executed Form SF-271; 
ii. A written certification that all costs charged against this Award (Federal and non-Federal 

shares) are for eligible activities and represent allowable costs, for which there is 
documentation in the Recipient’s records; 

iii. An executed certificate of final acceptance signed by the Recipient and the Recipient’s 
architect/engineer; 

iv. The Recipient’s certification that its current audit (in accordance with subpart F of 2 CFR 
part 200), if applicable, has been submitted to the Federal Audit Clearinghouse; 

233

Item 17.



19  

v. The Recipient’s certification that its currently valid single or program-specific audit in 
accordance with subpart F of 2 CFR part 200 (“Audit Requirements”), if applicable, does 
not contain any material findings (if the Recipient’s currently valid audit does contain 
material findings, the Recipient must submit the applicable audit preferably via e-mail to 
the Project Officer, who will review with the Grants Officer); and 

vi. Other documentation as may be required by EDA. 
 

EDA will advise the Recipient of costs determined to be allowable and unallowable. If a 
balance of this Award is due to the Recipient, the balance will be paid by EDA. If the 
Recipient has received an amount in excess of the amount due the Recipient, the Recipient 
must refund the excess to EDA. The Recipient must contact the Project Officer for refund 
instructions. 

 
As noted above, if the Recipient’s most recent audit completed pursuant to subpart F of 
2 CFR part 200 contains material findings, the Recipient must submit the audit, preferably via 
e-mail, to the Project Officer, who will review with the Grants Officer before final 
disbursement. If e-mail is unavailable, the Recipient may submit a hardcopy version of the 
audit to the Project Officer. 

 
c. Final reporting deadline. The Recipient must submit, no later than 120 calendar days after 

the end date of the period of performance, all financial, performance, and other reports as 
required by the Terms and Conditions of this Award. The Grants Officer may extend the 
120 calendar day submission period upon a written request from the Recipient. 

 
d. Deadline to liquidate obligations. Unless EDA authorizes an extension, the Recipient must 

liquidate all financial obligations incurred under this Award no later than 120 calendar days 
after the end date of the period of performance. 

 
e. Post-Closeout requirements. As noted above in section B.12 “Efficient Administration of 

Project” of these EDA Construction STCs, after construction is completed and the Project is 
closed out financially, the Recipient has an ongoing responsibility to properly administer, 
operate, and maintain the Project for its estimated useful life (as determined by EDA) in 
accordance with Award purposes. See 13 CFR § 302.12 (“Project administration, operation 
and maintenance”). The Recipient must comply with all Award requirements and maintain 
records to document such compliance, which must be made available for inspection by EDA 
or other Government officials as required. 

 
In addition, in accordance with 2 CFR § 200.345 “Post-closeout adjustments and continuing 
responsibilities,” the Closeout of this Award does not affect any of the following: 
i. The right of EDA to disallow costs and recover funds on the basis of a later audit or 

other Project review; 
ii. The Recipient’s obligation to return any funds due as a result of later corrections or 

other transactions; 
iii. Audit requirements per subpart F of 2 CFR part 200; and 
iv. Requirements for property management and disposition, records retention, and 

234

Item 17.



20  

performance measurement reports. See subpart D of 2 CFR part 200 (“Post 
Federal Award Requirements”), as applicable. 

 
f. GPRA reporting. As required under GPRA and in accordance with a schedule that will be 

provided by EDA, the Recipient must submit additional Performance Measurement Reports, 
generally three, six, and nine years after the date of the Award to accurately and completely 
report the impacts of the Project, especially in terms of job creation and private investment 
leveraging. 

 
18. Freedom of Information Act 

EDA is responsible for meeting its Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA”) (5 U.S.C. § 552) 
responsibilities for its records. DOC regulations at 15 CFR part 4 set forth the requirements and 
procedures that EDA must follow in order to make the requested material, information, and 
records publicly available. Unless prohibited by law and to the extent required under the FOIA, 
contents of Applications and other information submitted by applicants and Recipients may be 
released in response to a FOIA request. The Recipient should be aware that EDA may make 
certain Application and other submitted information publicly available. Accordingly, as set forth 
in 15 CFR § 4.9 (“Confidential commercial information”), the Recipient should identify in its 
Application any “business information” it believes to be protected from disclosure pursuant to 
5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(4). 

 
C. Additional Requirements Related to Construction Projects  

The Recipient and any subrecipients, must, in addition to other statutory and regulatory requirements 
detailed in these EDA Construction STCs and the assurances made to EDA in connection with the 
Award, comply and require each of its contractors and subcontractors employed in the completion of 
the Project to comply with all applicable Federal, State, territorial, and local laws, and in particular, 
the following Federal laws (and the regulations issued thereunder), executive orders, OMB circulars, 
OMB Uniform Guidance, and local law requirements.  
 
1. The Davis-Bacon Act, as amended (40 U.S.C. §§ 3141–3144, 3146, 3147; 

42 U.S.C. § 3212), which requires minimum wages for mechanics and laborers employed on 
Federal Government public works projects to be based on the wages that the Secretary of 
Labor determines to be prevailing for the corresponding classes of laborers and mechanics 
employed on projects of a character similar to the contract work in the civil subdivision of the 
State in which the Project is to be performed, or in the District of Columbia if the Project is to 
be performed there.  

 
2. The Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, as amended (40 U.S.C. 

§§ 3701-3708), which provides work hour standards for every laborer and mechanic employed 
by any contractor or subcontractor in the performance of a Federal public works project.  

 
3. The National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended (54 U.S.C. § 300101 et seq.), 

and the Advisory Council on Historic Preservation Guidelines (36 CFR part 800), which 
require stewardship of historic properties in projects involving Federal funds.  

 
4. Preservation of Historical and Archeological Data (54 U.S.C. § 312502), which requires 

appropriate surveys and preservation efforts if a Federally licensed project may cause 

235

Item 17.



21  

irreparable loss or destruction of significant scientific, prehistorical, historical, or 
archeological data.  

 
5. The Architectural Barriers Act of 1968, as amended (42 U.S.C. § 4151 et seq.), and the 

regulations issued thereunder, which prescribe standards for the design and construction of any 
building or facility intended to be accessible to the public or that may house handicapped 
employees.  

 
6. The Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, 

as amended (42 U.S.C. § 4601 et seq.), and implementing regulations issued at 49 CFR 
part 24 (“Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition for Federal and 
Federally Assisted Programs”), which establish uniform policies for the fair and equitable 
treatment of persons, businesses, or farm operations affected by the acquisition, rehabilitation, 
or demolition of real property acquired for a project financed wholly or in part with Federal 
financial assistance.  

 
7. The Energy Conservation and Production Act (42 U.S.C. § 6834 et seq.), which establishes 

energy efficiency performance standards for the construction of new residential and 
commercial structures undertaken with Federal financial assistance.  

 
8. Executive Order 13717, “Seismic Safety of Federal and Federally Assisted or Regulated 

New Building Construction”, which requires that new buildings constructed with Federal 
assistance comply with the earthquake-resistant design provisions of the 2015 editions of the 
International Building Code (IBC) or the International Residential Code (IRC), nationally 
recognized building codes promulgated by the International Code Council (ICC), or 
equivalent codes, consistent with the provisions of and to the extent required by 40 U.S.C. 
§ 3312.   

 
9. Compliance with Local Construction Requirements. The Recipient will comply with 

current local building codes, standards, and other requirements applicable to the Project. 
 

D. Non-Discrimination Requirements 
No person in the United States shall, on the ground of race, color, national origin, handicap, age, 
religion, or sex, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subject to 
discrimination under any program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance. In addition to the 
non-discrimination requirements set forth in section G.02 “Non-Discrimination Requirements” of 
the DOC Standard Terms and Conditions, which are incorporated in Part III of these Construction 
STCs, the Recipient agrees to comply with Pub. L. No. 92-65, 42 U.S.C. § 3123, which proscribes 
discrimination on the basis of sex in assistance provided under PWEDA. 
 

E. Audits 
1. General   

a. Recipients must comply with the audit requirements set out as subpart F to 2 CFR part 200 
(“Audit Requirements”). Generally, if the Recipient expends $750,000 or more in Federal 
awards during the Recipient’s fiscal year, the Recipient must have a single or 
program-specific audit conducted for that fiscal year. The cost of preparing the audit may be 

236

Item 17.



22  

included in the Project budget. 
 
b. For program specific audits, EDA’s Public Works and Economic Adjustment Assistance 

programs generally have specific audit guidelines that will be incorporated into the Award 
and may be found in the annual Compliance Supplement, which is Appendix XI to 2 CFR 
part 200 and available on OMB’s website. When DOC does not have a program-specific 
audit guide available for the program, the auditor will follow the requirements for a 
program-specific audit as described in 2 CFR § 200.507 (“Program-specific audits”).  

 
2. Requirement to Submit a Copy of the Audit to EDA 

If the Recipient’s current audit required under subpart F of 2 CFR part 200 
(“Audit Requirements”) contains material findings, the Recipient must submit a copy of the 
audit to the Project Officer, who will review it with the Grants Officer. See also Part II, 
section B.16 “Project Closeout Procedures” of these EDA Construction STCs. 
 

See section D “Audits” of the DOC Standard Terms and Conditions, which are incorporated in 
Part III of these EDA Construction STCs, for additional information related to audit requirements. 
 

F. Tribal Employment Rights Ordinances 
As set out in 31 U.S.C. § 1352, special provisions are applicable to Indian Tribes, Tribal 
organizations, and other Indian organizations eligible to receive Federal contracts, grants, loans, or 
cooperative agreements. In accordance with DOC policy, EDA recognizes Tribal Employment Rights 
Ordinances (“TEROs”), which may provide for preferences in contracting and employment, in 
connection with its financial assistance awards. Federal awards granted to American Indian and 
Alaska Native Tribal governments generally may provide for preference to qualified Indians in all 
aspects of employment, contracting, and other business activities, as well as the payment of a TERO 
fee. The payment of the TERO fee, which supports the Tribal employment rights office to administer 
the preferences, should generally be allowable as an expense that is “necessary and reasonable for 
the performance of the Federal award,” as provided under 2 CFR § 200.403 (“Factors affecting 
allowability of costs”). 

 
G. EDA Contracting Provisions for Construction Projects 

The Recipient must use the “EDA Contracting Provisions for Construction Projects” as guidance in 
developing all construction contracts. The “EDA Contracting Provisions for Construction Projects” 
lists applicable EDA and other Federal requirements for construction contracts. 

 
H. Property 

1. Standards 
With respect to any property acquired or improved in whole or in part with Award funds, the 
Recipient must comply with the Property Standards set forth at 2 CFR §§ 200.310 (“Insurance 
coverage”) through 200.316 (“Property trust relationship”), and EDA’s regulations at 
13 CFR part 314. Property acquired or improved in whole or in part by the Recipient under this 
Award may consist of real property; personal property, including equipment and supplies; and 
intangible property, such as money, notes, contractual rights, and security interests. Any property 
reports required under 2 CFR §§ 200.310 through 200.316, such as periodic inventories and requests 
for disposition instructions, must be submitted to the Grants Officer through the Project Officer on 

237

Item 17.



23  

Form SF-428 and/or SF-429, as applicable. See also section A.01.d “Real Property, Tangible 
Property and Intangible Property Reports and Requests for Dispositions” of the DOC Standard 
Terms and Conditions, which are incorporated in Part III of these EDA Construction STCs. 

2. Title 

a. Title to equipment, supplies, and intangible property acquired in whole or in part under this 
Award generally vests upon acquisition in the Recipient. The use, management and 
disposition of equipment, supplies, and intangible property acquired in whole or in part under 
this Award must be in accordance with 2 CFR §§ 200.313 (“Equipment”), 200.314 
(“Supplies”), and 200.315 (“Intangible property”), as applicable, and EDA regulations at 
13 CFR part 314. See also section C.03 “Intellectual Property Rights” of the DOC Standard 
Terms and Conditions, which are incorporated in Part III of these EDA Construction STCs. 

b. Title to real property acquired in whole or in part under this Award generally vests upon 
acquisition in the Recipient, subject to the condition that the Recipient uses the real property 
for the authorized purpose of the Project. See 2 CFR § 200.311 (“Real property”) and EDA 
regulations at 13 CFR part 314. 

3. EDA’s Interest in Award Property 
a. General - evidence of title. As stated in Part I, section E, of these EDA Construction STCs 

“Recipient as Trustee”, real property, equipment, and intangible property acquired or 
improved under this Award must be held in trust by the Recipient as trustee for the public 
purposes of an Award. This trust relationship exists throughout the duration of the property’s 
estimated useful life, as determined by EDA, during which time EDA retains an undivided, 
equitable reversionary interest in the property (“Federal Interest”). See 13 CFR § 314.2. 

 
 Before advertising for construction bids or at such other time as EDA requires, the Recipient 

must furnish evidence, satisfactory in form and substance to EDA, that title to real property 
required for the Project (other than property of the United States and as provided in 13 CFR 
§ 314.7(c) (“Title”)) is vested in the Recipient and that such easements, rights-of-way, State or 
local government occupancy or use permits, long-term leases, or other property interests or 
access rights required for the Project have been or will be obtained by the Recipient within an 
acceptable time, as determined by EDA. All liens, mortgages, other encumbrances, 
reservations, reversionary interests, or other restrictions on title or the Recipient’s interest in 
the property must be disclosed to EDA. See 13 CFR § 314.7 (“Title”). With limited 
exceptions set forth at 13 CFR §§ 314.6(a) and (b) (“Encumbrances”) or as otherwise 
authorized by EDA, Recipient-owned property acquired or improved in whole or in part with 
Award funds must not be used to secure a mortgage or deed of trust or in any way otherwise 
encumbered. See 13 CFR § 314.6. 

 
b. Recording EDA’s Interest in Real Property. 

i. For all Projects involving the acquisition, construction, or improvement of a building, 
infrastructure, or other real property, as determined by EDA, the Recipient must execute 
and furnish to EDA, prior to initial Award disbursement or at such other time as EDA 
requires, a lien, covenant, or other statement, satisfactory to EDA in form and substance, 
of EDA’s interest in the property acquired or improved in whole or in part with the funds 
made available under this Award. EDA may permit such statement to be recorded after 

238

Item 17.



24  

initial Award disbursement in the event that grant funds are being used to acquire such 
property or for authorized costs, such as design and engineering services. The statement 
must specify the estimated useful life of the Project and must include the disposition, 
encumbrance, and the Federal Share compensation requirements, as well as any other 
requirements specified by EDA in its reasonable discretion. See 13 CFR §§ 314.1 
(“Definitions”) and 314.8(a) (“Recorded statement for real property”). See also 2 CFR 
§ 200.316 (“Property trust relationship”). 

ii. This lien, covenant, or other statement of the Federal interest must be perfected and placed 
of record in the real property records of the jurisdiction in which the property is located, 
all in accordance with applicable law. EDA may require an opinion of counsel for the 
Recipient to substantiate that the document was validly executed and properly recorded. 
See 13 CFR § 314.8(b). 

iii. Facilities in which the EDA assistance is only a small part of a larger project, as 
determined by EDA, may be exempted from the requirements listed in paragraphs H.3.b.i 
and ii above. See 13 CFR § 314.8(c). 

iv. In extraordinary circumstances and at EDA’s discretion, EDA may choose to accept 
another instrument to protect EDA’s interest in the Project property, such as an escrow 
agreement or letter of credit, provided that EDA determines such instrument is adequate 
and a recorded statement in accord with section H.3.b.i above is not reasonably available. 
The terms and provisions of the relevant instrument must be satisfactory to EDA. The 
costs and fees for escrow services or letters of credit must be paid by the Recipient. 
See 13 CFR § 314.8(d). 

 
c. Recording EDA’s Interest in Personal Property. For all Projects involving the acquisition or 

improvement of significant items of equipment or other tangible personal property, including 
but not limited to watercraft, motor vehicles, machinery, equipment, removable fixtures, or 
structural components of buildings, the Recipient must execute a security interest, covenant, or 
other statement of EDA’s reversionary interest in the personal property acceptable in form and 
substance to EDA, which statement must be perfected and placed of record in accordance with 
applicable law (usually accomplished by filing a Uniform Commercial Code Financing 
Statement (Form UCC-1), as provided by State law), with continuances re-filed as 
appropriate. EDA may require an opinion of counsel for the Recipient to substantiate that the 
Form UCC-1 or other filing was validly executed and properly recorded. See 13 CFR § 314.9 
(“Recorded statement for Project personal property”). 

 
d. EDA’s Interest and the estimated useful life. The Recipient acknowledges that EDA retains 

an undivided equitable reversionary interest in property acquired or improved in whole or in 
part with grant funds made available through this Award throughout the estimated useful life 
(as determined by EDA) of the Project, except in applicable instances set forth at 13 CFR 
§ 314.7(c) (“Title”). See 13 CFR § 314.2(a) (“Federal interest”). 

 
e. Unauthorized Use of Award Property. The Recipient agrees that if any interest in property 

acquired or improved in whole or in part with Award funds is disposed of, encumbered, or 
alienated in any manner, or no longer used for the authorized purposes of the Award during 
the Project’s estimated useful life without EDA’s written approval, EDA will be entitled to 
recover the Federal Share, as defined at 13 CFR § 314.5 (“Federal share”). Examples of 

239

Item 17.



25  

alienation of Award property include sale or other conveyance of the Recipient’s interest, 
leasing or mortgaging the property, or granting an option for any of the foregoing. 

 
If, during the Project’s estimated useful life, the property is no longer needed for the purposes 
of the Award, as determined by EDA, EDA may permit its use for other acceptable purposes 
consistent with those authorized by PWEDA and 13 CFR Chapter III. See 13 CFR § 314.3(b) 
(“Authorized use of property”) or may direct the Recipient to sell the property and remit the 
Federal Share of the sales proceeds to EDA. See 2 C.F.R. §§ 200.311, 200.313. 

 
f. Calculating the Federal Share. For purposes of any lien or security interest, the amount of the 

Federal Share is the portion of the current fair market value of any property (after deducting 
any actual and reasonable selling and repair expenses incurred to put the property into 
marketable condition) attributable to EDA’s participation in the Project. See 13 CFR § 314.5 
(“Federal share”). 
 

4. Insurance and Bonding 
a. Insurance. The Recipient must, at a minimum, provide the equivalent insurance coverage for 

real property and equipment acquired or improved with Federal funds as provided for 
property owned by the Recipient. Federally owned property need not be otherwise insured 
unless required by the Terms and Conditions of the Award. See 2 CFR § 200.310 
(“Insurance coverage”). 

 
b. Bonding. If the Award exceeds the simplified acquisition threshold as defined at 2 CFR 

§ 200.1, EDA may accept the Recipient’s or subrecipient’s bonding policy and requirements 
if EDA or the pass-through entity determines that the Federal Interest is adequately protected. 
If not, the following minimum requirements will apply: 

 
i. A bid guarantee from each bidder equivalent to five percent of the bid price. The “bid 

guarantee” must consist of a firm commitment such as a bid bond, certified check, or 
other negotiable instrument accompanying a bid as assurance that the bidder will, upon 
acceptance of the bid, execute such contractual documents as may be required within the 
time specified. 

ii. A performance bond on the part of the contractor for 100 percent of the contract price. A 
“performance bond” is one executed in connection with a contract to secure fulfillment of 
all the contractor’s obligations under such contract. 

iii. A payment bond on the part of the contractor for 100 percent of the contract price. A 
“payment bond” is one executed in connection with a contract to ensure payment as 
required by law of all persons supplying labor and material in the execution of the work 
provided for in the contract. See 2 CFR § 200.326 (“Bonding requirements”). 

 
5. Leasing Restrictions. 

Leasing or renting of facilities or property is prohibited unless specifically authorized by EDA. 
The Recipient agrees that any leasing or renting of any facilities or property involved in this 
Project will be subject to the following: 
 
a. That said lease arrangement is consistent with the authorized general and special purpose of 

240

Item 17.



26  

the Award; 
b. That said lease arrangement is for adequate consideration; 
c. That said lease arrangement is consistent with applicable EDA requirements concerning but 

not limited to nondiscrimination and environmental compliance; and 
d. That all revenue derived from said leasing arrangement shall be subject to Part II, section A.7 

“Program Income” of these EDA Construction STCs.  
 

6. Eminent Domain 
The Recipient will use funds solely for the authorized purpose of the Project. Pursuant to 
Executive Order 13406, “Protecting the Property Rights of the American People,” the Recipient 
agrees: 
a. Not to exercise any power of eminent domain available to the Recipient (including the 

commencement of eminent domain proceedings) for use in connection with the Project for 
the purpose of advancing the economic interests of private parties; and 

b. Not to accept title to land, easements, or other interests in land acquired by the exercise of 
any power of eminent domain for use in connection with the Project for such purposes. 
The Recipient agrees that any use of the power of eminent domain to acquire land, easements, 
or interests in land, whether by the Recipient or any other entity that has the power of eminent 
domain, in connection with the Project without the prior written consent of EDA is an 
unauthorized use of the Project. If the Recipient puts the Project to an unauthorized use, the 
Recipient must compensate EDA for the Federal Share in accordance with 13 CFR §§ 314.4 
(“Unauthorized use of property”) and 314.5 (“Federal share”), as the same may be amended 
from time to time. 

 
7. Disposal of Real Property 

a. During the estimated useful life of the Project, if EDA and the Recipient determine that 
property acquired or improved in whole or in part with Award funds is no longer needed for 
the original purposes of this Award, EDA may, in its discretion, approve use of the property 
in other Federal grant programs or in programs that have purposes consistent with those 
authorized by PWEDA and 13 CFR chapter III. See 13 CFR § 314.3(b) (“Authorized use of 
property”). 

 
b. When property is not authorized for other uses as provided in section H.7.a above, EDA will 

provide disposition instructions to the Recipient, which may include directing the Recipient to 
sell the property and remit the Federal Share of the sales proceeds to EDA. 

 
8. Reporting on Property.  

a. Real Property status reports and requests for disposition. In accordance with 2 CFR 
§ 200.330 “Reporting on real property”, the Recipient must submit reports using 
Form SF-429 (Real Property Status Report), including appropriate attachments, at least 
annually on the status of real property in which EDA retains an interest, which generally 
includes real property acquired or improved under the award, unless such interest extends 
15 years or longer. If EDA’s interest is for a period of 15 years or longer, unless otherwise 
specified in a specific award condition, the Recipient must submit an annual report for the 

241

Item 17.



27  

first three years of the award and thereafter submit a real property status report every 
five years. If the Recipient wishes to dispose of real property acquired or improved under an 
EDA award, the Recipient must request disposition instructions, including the submission of 
Form SF-429, with appropriate attachments, from the Grants Officer in accordance with 
2 CFR 200.311(c).  

b. Tangible Personal Property status reports and requests for dispositions. The Recipient must 
submit periodic reports as specified in the terms of the Award using Form SF-428 (Tangible 
Personal Property Report), including appropriate attachments thereto, concerning tangible 
personal property that is Federally owned or tangible personal property in which EDA retains 
an interest. In addition, if the Recipient wishes to dispose of tangible personal property 
acquired or improved under an EDA award, the Recipient must request disposition 
instructions, including the submission of Form SF-428, with appropriate attachments, from 
the Grants Officer in accordance with 2 CFR 200.313(e). 
See also section A.01.d of the DOC Standard Terms and Conditions, which are incorporated 
in Part III of these EDA Construction STCs.  
 

I. Environmental Requirements 
1. General. In addition to the environmental statutes, executive orders, and requirements set forth 

in section G.04 of the DOC Standard Terms and Conditions “Environmental Requirements,” 
which are incorporated in Part III of these EDA Construction STCs, the Recipient must comply 
with the following: 
 
a. Environmental Quality Improvement Act of 1970, as amended (42 U.S.C. 

§§ 4371-4375). Federally supported public works facilities and activities that affect the 
environment must be implemented in compliance with policies established under existing law. 

 
b. The Lead-Based Paint Poisoning Prevention Act (42 U.S.C. § 4821 et seq.). Use of 

lead-based paint in residential structures improved with Federal assistance is prohibited. 
 
c. The Farmland Protection Policy Act (7 U.S.C. §§ 4201–4209). Projects are subject to 

review under this Act if they may irreversibly directly or indirectly convert farmland, 
including forest land, pastureland, cropland, or other land, to nonagricultural use. 

 
d. The Noise Control Act of 1972 (42 U.S.C. § 4901 et seq.). Federally supported facilities and 

activities must comply with Federal, State, interstate, and local requirements respecting 
control and abatement of environmental noise to the same extent that any person is subject to 
such requirements. 

 
e. The Native American Graves Protection and Repatriation Act (25 U.S.C. § 3001 et seq.). 

This Act provides a process for returning certain Native American cultural items to lineal 
descendants, culturally affiliated Indian tribes, and Native Hawaiian organizations. 

 
2. Compliance with Other Applicable Environmental Requirements  

The Recipient agrees to promptly notify the Grants Officer in writing of any environmental 
requirement or restriction, regulatory or otherwise, with which it must comply. Before Project 
Closeout and final disbursement of Award funds, the Recipient further agrees to provide evidence 

242

Item 17.



28  

satisfactory to the Grants Officer that any required environmental remediation has been 
completed: (1) in compliance with all applicable Federal, State and local regulations; and (2) in 
accordance with any legally enforceable restrictions related to environmental restriction on the 
property such as environmental easements, deed restrictions, no further action determinations, or 
voluntary cleanup certifications. Compliance with said laws or restrictions must be included in 
any contract documents for Project construction. The Recipient must certify compliance before 
final disbursement of grant funds. 
 

J. American-Made Equipment and Products 
Recipients are hereby notified that they are encouraged, to the greatest extent practicable, to purchase 
American-made equipment and products with funding provided under this Award. 
 
See also section G.05.a (Buy-American Preferences) of the DOC Standard Terms and Conditions, 
which are incorporated in Part III of these EDA Construction STCs. 
 

  

243

Item 17.



29  

PART III: 
DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE  

STANDARD TERMS & CONDITIONS 
 

The DOC Standard Terms and Conditions dated November 12, 2020 are incorporated herein by 
reference herein as Part III of these EDA Construction STCs. 
 
In the event of a conflict between Parts I or II of these EDA Construction STCs and Part III, which 
incorporates the DOC Standard Terms and Conditions, Parts I and II will control.  
 
 
 

244

Item 17.



1 2  N o v e m b e r  2 0 2 0  

 
DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE 

FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 
STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

245

Item 17.



 

1 | 12 November 2020 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE 
FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 
Table of Contents 

PREFACE ....................................................................................................................................... 5 

A. PROGRAMMATIC REQUIREMENTS ................................................................................ 6 

.01 Reporting Requirements .................................................................................................. 6 

.02 Revisions of Program Plans ............................................................................................. 8 

.03 Other Federal Awards with Similar Programmatic Activities ......................................... 9 

.04 Prohibition against Assignment by a Non-Federal Entity ............................................... 9 

.05 Disclaimer Provisions ...................................................................................................... 9 

.06 Unsatisfactory Performance or Non-Compliance with Award Provisions ...................... 9 

B. FINANCIAL REQUIREMENTS .......................................................................................... 10 

.01 Financial Management ................................................................................................... 10 

.02 Award Payments ............................................................................................................ 10 

.03 Federal and Non-Federal Sharing .................................................................................. 12 

.04 Budget Changes and Transfer of Funds among Categories ........................................... 12 

.05 Program Income ............................................................................................................. 13 

.06 Indirect or Facilities and Administrative Costs ............................................................. 13 

.07 Incurring Costs or Obligating Federal Funds Before and After the Period of 
Performance ................................................................................................................... 15 

.08 Tax Refunds ................................................................................................................... 16 

.09 Internal Controls ............................................................................................................ 16 

C. PROPERTY STANDARDS .................................................................................................. 16 

.01 Standards ........................................................................................................................ 16 

.02 Real and Personal Property ............................................................................................ 16 

.03 Intellectual Property Rights ........................................................................................... 17 

D. AUDITS ................................................................................................................................ 19 

.01 Organization-Wide, Program-Specific, and Project Audits ........................................... 19 

.02 Audit Resolution Process ............................................................................................... 20 

E. DEBTS .................................................................................................................................. 21 

.01 Payment of Debts Owed to the Federal Government .................................................... 21 

.02 Late Payment Charges ................................................................................................... 21 

.03 Barring Delinquent Federal Debtors from Obtaining Federal Loans or Loan Insurance 
Guarantees ...................................................................................................................... 22 

246

Item 17.



 

2 | 12 November 2020 

.04 Effect of Judgment Lien on Eligibility for Federal Grants, Loans, or Programs ........... 22 

F. CONFLICT OF INTEREST, CODE OF CONDUCT AND OTHER REQUIREMENTS 
PERTAINING TO DOC FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AWARDS, INCLUDING 
SUBAWARD AND PROCUREMENT ACTIONS ............................................................. 22 

.01 Conflict of Interest and Code of Conduct ...................................................................... 22 

.02 Nonprocurement Debarment and Suspension ................................................................ 23 

.03 Requirements for Subawards ......................................................................................... 23 

.04 Requirements for Procurements ..................................................................................... 23 

.05 Whistleblower Protections ............................................................................................. 24 

.06 Small Businesses, Minority Business Enterprises and Women’s Business Enterprises 24 

G. NATIONAL POLICY REQUIREMENTS ........................................................................... 25 

.01 United States Laws and Regulations .............................................................................. 25 

.02 Non-Discrimination Requirements ................................................................................ 25 

a. Statutory Provisions ....................................................................................................... 25 

b. Other Provisions............................................................................................................. 26 

c. Title VII Exemption for Religious Organizations ......................................................... 27 

.03 LOBBYING RESTRICTIONS ...................................................................................... 27 

a. Statutory Provisions ....................................................................................................... 27 

b. Disclosure of Lobbying Activities ................................................................................. 27 

.04 Environmental Requirements......................................................................................... 27 

a. The National Environmental Policy Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 4321 et seq.) ........................... 28 

b. The National Historic Preservation Act (16 U.S.C. §§ 470 et seq.) .............................. 28 

c. Executive Order 11988 (Floodplain Management) and Executive Order 11990 
(Protection of Wetlands) ................................................................................................ 29 

d. Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 et seq.), Federal Water Pollution Control Act (33 
U.S.C. §§ 1251 et seq.) (Clean Water Act), and Executive Order 11738 (“Providing for 
administration of the Clean Air Act and the Federal Water Pollution Control Act with 
respect to Federal contracts, grants or loans”) ............................................................... 29 

e. The Flood Disaster Protection Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 4002 et seq.) .................................... 29 

f. The Endangered Species Act (16 U.S.C. §§ 1531 et seq.) ............................................. 29 

g. The Coastal Zone Management Act (16 U.S.C. §§ 1451 et seq.) .................................. 29 

h. The Coastal Barriers Resources Act (16 U.S.C. §§ 3501 et seq.) .................................. 30 

i. The Wild and Scenic Rivers Act (16 U.S.C. §§ 1271 et seq.) ....................................... 30 

j. The Safe Drinking Water Act of 1974, as amended, (42 U.S.C. §§ 300f et seq.) ......... 30 

k. The Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 6901 et seq.) ................. 30 

247

Item 17.



 

3 | 12 November 2020 

l. The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act 
(CERCLA, commonly known as Superfund) (42 U.S.C. §§ 9601 et seq.) and the 
Community Environmental Response Facilitation Act (42 U.S.C. § 9601 note et seq.) 30 

m. Executive Order 12898 (“Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in 
Minority Populations and Low Income Populations”) .................................................. 30 

n. The Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act (16 U.S.C. § 1801 
et seq.) ............................................................................................................................ 30 

o. Clean Water Act (CWA) Section 404 (33 U.S.C. § 1344) ............................................ 31 

p. Rivers and Harbors Act (33 U.S.C. § 407) .................................................................... 31 

q. The Migratory Bird Treaty Act (16 U.S.C. §§ 703-712), Bald and Golden Eagle 
Protection Act (16 U.S.C. § 668 et seq.), and Executive Order 13186 (Responsibilities 
of Federal Agencies to Protect Migratory Birds, January 10, 2001) ............................. 31 

r. Executive Order 13112 (Invasive Species, February 3, 1999) ...................................... 31 

s. Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act (16 U.S.C. § 661 et seq.) ...................................... 31 

.05 OTHER NATIONAL POLICY REQUIREMENTS ..................................................... 32 

a. Buy-American Preferences ............................................................................................ 32 

b. Criminal and Prohibited Activities ................................................................................ 32 

c. Drug-Free Workplace .................................................................................................... 33 

d. Foreign Travel ................................................................................................................ 33 

e. Increasing Seat Belt Use in the United States ................................................................ 34 

f. Federal Employee Expenses and Subawards or Contracts Issued to Federal Employees 
or Agencies .......................................................................................................................... 34 

g. Minority Serving Institutions Initiative ......................................................................... 34 

h. Research Misconduct ..................................................................................................... 35 

i. Research Involving Human Subjects ............................................................................. 35 

j. Care and Use of Live Vertebrate Animals ..................................................................... 36 

k. Management and Access to Data and Publications ....................................................... 37 

l. Homeland Security Presidential Directive ..................................................................... 38 

m. Compliance with Department of Commerce Bureau of Industry and Security Export 
Administration Regulations ........................................................................................... 38 

n. The Trafficking Victims Protection Act of 2000 (22 U.S.C. § 7104(g)), as amended, 
and the implementing regulations at 2 C.F.R. Part 175 ................................................. 40 

o. The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA) (31 U.S.C. § 
6101 note) ...................................................................................................................... 42 

p. Recipient Integrity and Performance Matters (Appendix XII to 2 C.F.R. Part 200) ..... 47 

q. Never Contract with the Enemy (2 C.F.R Part 183; 2 C.F.R. § 200.215) ..................... 49 

248

Item 17.



 

4 | 12 November 2020 

r. Prohibition on certain telecommunications and video surveillance services or 
equipment (Public Law 115-232, section 889; 2 C.F.R. ⸹ 200.216) ............................. 50 

s. Federal Financial Assistance Planning During a Funding Hiatus or Government 
Shutdown ....................................................................................................................... 51 

 
  

249

Item 17.



 

5 | 12 November 2020 

PREFACE 
 
This document sets out the standard terms and conditions (ST&Cs) applicable to this U.S. 
Department of Commerce (DOC or Commerce) financial assistance award (hereinafter referred 
to as the DOC ST&Cs or Standard Terms).  A non-Federal entity1 receiving a DOC financial 
assistance award must, in addition to the assurances made as part of the application, comply and 
require each of its subrecipients, contractors, and subcontractors employed in the completion of 
the project to comply with all applicable statutes, regulations, executive orders (E.O.s), Office of 
Management and Budget (OMB) circulars, provisions of the OMB Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (codified at 2 C.F.R. 
Part 200) (OMB Uniform Guidance), provisions of these Standard Terms, and any other terms 
and conditions incorporated into this DOC financial assistance award.  In addition, unless 
otherwise provided by the terms and conditions of this DOC financial assistance award, Subparts 
A through E of 2 C.F.R. Part 200 and the Standard Terms are applicable to for-profit entities, 
foreign public entities and to foreign organizations that carry out a DOC financial assistance 
award.2 

This award is subject to the laws and regulations of the United States.  Any inconsistency or 
conflict in terms and conditions specified in the award will be resolved according to the 
following order of precedence: federal laws and regulations, applicable notices published in the 
Federal Register, E.O.s, OMB circulars, DOC ST&Cs, agency standard award conditions (if 
any), and specific award conditions.  A specific award condition may amend or take precedence 
over a Standard Term on a case-by-case basis, when indicated by the specific award condition.   

Some of the Standard Terms herein contain, by reference or substance, a summary of the 
pertinent statutes, regulations published in the Federal Register or Code of Federal Regulations 
(C.F.R.), E.O.s, OMB circulars, or the certifications and assurances provided by applicants 
through Standard Forms (e.g., SF-424s) or through DOC forms (e.g. Form CD-511).  To the 
extent that it is a summary, such Standard Term provision is not in derogation of, or an 
amendment to, any such statute, regulation, E.O., OMB circular, certification, or assurance. 

 
1 Note that the OMB Uniform Guidance uses the term “non-Federal entity” to generally refer to an entity that carries 
out a Federal award as a recipient or subrecipient.  Because some of the provisions of these DOC ST&Cs apply to 
recipients rather than subrecipients, or vice versa, for clarity, these DOC ST&Cs use the terms “non-Federal entity,” 
“recipient,” and “subrecipient” consistent with their meanings in the OMB Uniform Guidance.  In addition, the 
OMB Uniform Guidance uses the term “pass-through entity” to refer to a non-Federal entity that makes a subaward.  
As defined at 2 C.F.R. § 200.1: 
“Non-Federal entity” is “a state, local government, Indian tribe, institution of higher education (IHE), or nonprofit 
organization that carries out a Federal award as a recipient or subrecipient.”  
“Recipient” is “an entity, usually but not limited to non-Federal entities, that receives a Federal award directly from 
a Federal awarding agency.  The term recipient does not include subrecipients or individuals that are beneficiaries of 
the award.”  
 “Subrecipient” is “an entity, usually but not limited to non-Federal entities, that receives a subaward from a pass-
through entity to carry out part of a Federal award; but does not include an individual that is a beneficiary of such 
award.  A subrecipient may also be a recipient of other Federal awards directly from a Federal awarding agency.” 
“Pass-through entity” is “a non-Federal entity that provides a subaward to a subrecipient to carry out part of a 
Federal program.” 
2 See 2 C.F.R. § 200.1 for the definitions of “foreign public entity” and “foreign organization.”   

250

Item 17.



 

6 | 12 November 2020 

DOC commenced implementation of the Research Terms and Conditions (RT&Cs) for Federal 
awards effective October 1, 2017; the RT&Cs address and implement the Uniform Guidance 
issued by OMB.  For awards designated on the Form CD-450 (Financial Assistance Award) as 
Research, both the DOC ST&Cs and the RT&Cs as implemented by DOC apply to the award.  
The RT&Cs as well as the DOC implementation statement, agency specific requirements, prior 
approval matrix, subaward requirements, and national policy requirements are posted on the 
National Science Foundation’s website – https://www.nsf.gov/awards/managing/rtc.jsp.  The 
DOC ST&Cs and the RT&Cs are generally intended to harmonize with each other; however, 
where the DOC ST&Cs and the RT&Cs differ in a Research award, the RT&Cs prevail, unless 
otherwise indicated in a specific award condition. 

A. PROGRAMMATIC REQUIREMENTS 

.01 Reporting Requirements 
 

a. Recipients must submit all reports as required by DOC, electronically or, if unable to 
submit electronically, in hard copy, as outlined below and as may be supplemented by the terms 
and conditions of a specific DOC award.   

 
b. Performance (Technical) Reports.  Recipients must submit performance (technical) 

reports to the Program Officer.  Performance (technical) reports should be submitted in the same 
frequency as the Form SF-425 (Federal Financial Report), unless otherwise directed by the 
Grants Officer. 
 

1. Performance (technical) reports must contain the information prescribed in 2 C.F.R. § 
200.329 (Monitoring and reporting program performance), unless otherwise specified in the 
award conditions.  

 
2. As appropriate and in accordance with the format provided by the Program Officer (or 
other OMB-approved information collections, including the Research Program Performance 
Report [RPPR] as adopted by DOC for use in research awards), recipients are required to 
relate financial data to the performance accomplishments of this Federal award.  When 
applicable, recipients must also provide cost information to demonstrate cost effective 
practices (e.g., through unit cost data).  The recipient’s performance will be measured in a 
way that will help DOC to improve program outcomes, share lessons learned, and spread the 
adoption of best or promising practices.  As described in 2 C.F.R. § 200.211 (Information 
contained in a Federal award), DOC will identify the timing and scope of expected 
performance by the recipient as related to the outcomes intended to be achieved by the 
Federal program. 

 
3. Recipients (or pass-through entities as applicable) must submit a final performance report 
within 120 calendar days after the expiration of the period of performance.  The subrecipient 
is required to submit its final performance report to the pass-through entity within 90 
calendar days unless an extension has been granted. 

 

251

Item 17.



 

7 | 12 November 2020 

c. Financial Reports.  In accordance with 2 C.F.R. § 200.328 (Financial reporting), the 
recipient must submit a Form SF-425 (Federal Financial Report) or any successor form on a 
semi-annual basis for the periods ending March 31 and September 30, or any portion thereof, 
unless otherwise specified in a specific award condition.  Reports must be submitted to DOC as 
directed by the Grants Officer, in accordance with the award conditions and are due no later than 
30 calendar days following the end of each reporting period.  Recipients (or pass-through entities 
as applicable) must submit a final Form SF-425 within 120 calendar days after the expiration of 
the period of performance.  The subrecipient is required to submit its financial report to the pass-
through entity within 90 calendar days unless an extension has been granted.  A recipient may 
submit a final financial report in lieu of an interim financial report due at the end of the period of 
performance (e.g., in lieu of submitting a financial report for the last semi-annual or other 
reporting under an award, a recipient may submit a final (cumulative) financial report covering 
the entire award period). 

 
d. Real Property, Tangible Personal Property and Intangible Property Reports and Requests 

for Dispositions.  Unless otherwise required by the terms and conditions of a DOC financial 
assistance award, where real property, tangible personal property or intangible property is 
acquired or improved (in the case of real property or tangible personal property), or produced or 
acquired (in the case of intangible property), pursuant to a DOC award, non-Federal entities are 
required to submit the following real property, tangible personal property and intangible property 
reports (as appropriate): 
 

1. Real Property Status Reports and Requests for Dispositions:  Non-Federal entities must 
submit reports using Form SF-429 (Real Property Status Report) or any successor form, 
including appropriate attachments thereto, at least annually disclosing the status of real 
property that is Federally-owned property or real property in which the Federal Government 
retains a Federal Interest, unless the Federal Interest in the real property extends 15 years or 
longer.  In cases where the Federal Interest attached is for a period of 15 years or more, the 
DOC or pass-through entity, at its option, may require the non-Federal entity to report at 
various multi-year frequencies (e.g., every two years or every three years, not to exceed a 
five-year reporting period; or, the DOC or pass-through entity may require annual reporting 
for the first three years of a Federal award and thereafter require reporting every five years).  
In addition, DOC or a pass-through entity may require a non-Federal entity to submit Form 
SF-429, with appropriate attachments, relating to a non-Federal entity’s request to acquire, 
improve or contribute real property under a DOC financial assistance award.  
Non-Federal entities wishing to dispose of real property acquired or improved, in whole or in 
part, pursuant to a DOC award must request disposition instructions, including the 
submission of Form SF-429, with appropriate attachments, from the Grants Officer in 
accordance with the requirements set forth in 2 C.F.R. § 200.311(c).  See also the real 
property standards set forth in Section C. of these Standard Terms (Property Standards). 
 
2. Tangible Personal Property Status Reports and Requests for Dispositions:  DOC or a 
pass-through entity may also require a non-Federal entity to submit periodic reports using 
Form SF-428 (Tangible Personal Property Report) or any successor form, including 
appropriate attachments thereto, concerning tangible personal property that is Federally-
owned or tangible personal property in which the Federal Government retains an interest.  In 

252

Item 17.



 

8 | 12 November 2020 

addition, DOC or a pass-through entity may require a non-Federal entity to submit Form SF-
428 in connection with a non-Federal entity’s request to dispose of tangible personal property 
acquired under a DOC financial assistance award.  Non-Federal entities wishing to dispose of 
tangible personal property acquired or improved, in whole or in part, pursuant to a DOC 
award must request disposition instructions, including the submission of Form SF-428, with 
appropriate attachments, from the Grants Officer in accordance with the requirements set 
forth in 2 C.F.R. § 200.313(e).  See also the tangible property standards set forth in Section 
C. of these Standard Terms (Property Standards). 
 
3. Intangible Property Status Reports and Requests for Dispositions:  The specific 
requirements governing the development, reporting, and disposition of rights to intangible 
property, including inventions and patents resulting from DOC awards, are set forth in 37 
C.F.R. Part 401, which is hereby incorporated by reference into this award.  Non-Federal 
entities are required to submit their disclosures, elections, and requests for waiver from any 
requirement for substantial U.S. manufacture, electronically using the Interagency Edison 
extramural invention reporting system (iEdison) at www.iedison.gov.  Non-Federal entities 
may obtain a waiver of this electronic submission requirement by providing to the Grants 
Officer compelling reasons for allowing the submission of paper reports.  When no longer 
needed for the originally authorized purpose, disposition of the intangible property must 
occur in accordance with the provisions in 2 C.F.R. § 200.313(e).  See also the intangible 
property standards set forth in Section C. of these Standard Terms (Property Standards).     
 
e. Subawards and Executive Compensation Reports.  For reporting requirements on 

subawards and Executive Compensation, see paragraph G.05.o of these Standard Terms (The 
Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA) (31 U.S.C. § 6101 note)). 
 

f. Recipient Integrity and Performance Matters.  For reporting requirements pertaining to 
integrity and performance matters, see paragraph G.05.p of these Standard Terms (Recipient 
Integrity and Performance Matters (Appendix XII to 2 C.F.R. Part 200)). 

 
g. Research Performance Progress Reports.  All research awards shall submit the Research 

Performance Progress Report (RPPR) in accordance with instructions set forth in the following 
link: RPPR Instructions. 

.02 Revisions of Program Plans 
 

In accordance with 2 C.F.R. § 200.308 (Revision of budget and program plans) and 2 C.F.R. 
§ 200.407 (Prior written approval (prior approval)), the recipient must obtain prior written 
approval from the DOC Grants Officer for certain proposed programmatic change requests, 
unless otherwise provided by the terms and conditions of a DOC award.  Requests for prior 
approval for changes to program plans must be submitted to the Federal Program Officer (or 
electronically for awards administered through Grants Online).  Requests requiring prior DOC 
approval are not effective unless and until approved in writing by the DOC Grants Officer.  
  

253

Item 17.

https://www.commerce.gov/sites/default/files/oam/RPPR%20Instructions%20and%20Privacy%20Statement.pdf


 

9 | 12 November 2020 

.03 Other Federal Awards with Similar Programmatic Activities 
 

The recipient must immediately provide written notification to the DOC Program Officer and 
the DOC Grants Officer if, subsequent to receipt of the DOC award, other financial assistance is 
received to support or fund any portion of the scope of work incorporated into the DOC award.  
DOC will not pay for costs that are funded by other sources. 

.04 Prohibition against Assignment by a Non-Federal Entity 
 

A non-Federal entity must not transfer, pledge, mortgage, assign, encumber or hypothecate a 
DOC financial assistance award or subaward, or any rights to, interests therein or claims arising 
thereunder, to any party or parties, including but not limited to banks, trust companies, other 
financing or financial institutions, or any other public or private organizations or individuals 
without the express prior written approval of the DOC Grants Officer or the pass-through entity 
(which, in turn, may need to obtain prior approval from the DOC Grants Officer). 

.05 Disclaimer Provisions 
 

a. The United States expressly disclaims all responsibility or liability to the non-Federal 
entity or third persons (including but not limited to contractors) for the actions of the non-Federal 
entity or third persons resulting in death, bodily injury, property damages, or any other losses 
resulting in any way from the performance of this award or any subaward, contract, or 
subcontract under this award. 
 

b. The acceptance of this award or any subaward by the non-Federal entity does not in any 
way constitute an agency relationship between the United States and the non-Federal entity or 
the non-Federal entity’s contractors or subcontractors. 

.06 Unsatisfactory Performance or Non-Compliance with Award Provisions 
 

a. Failure to perform the work in accordance with the terms of the award and maintain 
satisfactory performance as determined by DOC may result in the imposition of additional award 
conditions pursuant to 2 C.F.R. § 200.208 (Specific conditions) or other appropriate enforcement 
action as specified in 2 C.F.R. § 200.339 (Remedies for noncompliance).   

 
b. Failure to comply with the provisions of an award will be considered grounds for 

appropriate enforcement action pursuant to 2 C.F.R. § 200.339 (Remedies for noncompliance), 
including but not limited to: the imposition of additional award conditions in accordance with 2 
C.F.R. § 200.208 (Specific conditions); temporarily withholding award payments pending the 
correction of the deficiency; changing the payment method to reimbursement only; the 
disallowance of award costs and the establishment of an accounts receivable; wholly or partially 
suspending or terminating an award; initiating suspension or debarment proceedings in 
accordance with 2 C.F.R. Parts 180 and 1326; and such other remedies as may be legally 
available.   
 

c. 2 C.F.R. §§ 200.340 (Termination) through 200.343 (Effects of suspension and 
termination) apply to an award that is terminated prior to the end of the period of performance 

254

Item 17.



 

10 | 12 November 2020 

due to the non-federal entity’s material failure to comply with the award terms and conditions.  
In addition, the failure to comply with the provisions of a DOC award may adversely impact the 
availability of funding under other active DOC or Federal awards and may also have a negative 
impact on a non-Federal entity’s eligibility for future DOC or Federal awards.  

B. FINANCIAL REQUIREMENTS 

.01 Financial Management 
 

a. In accordance with 2 C.F.R. § 200.302(a) (Financial Management), each State must 
expend and account for the Federal award in accordance with State laws and procedures for 
expending and accounting for the State’s own funds.  In addition, the State’s and any other non-
Federal entity’s financial management systems, including records documenting compliance with 
Federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of the Federal award, must be 
sufficient to permit the preparation of reports required by general and program-specific terms 
and conditions; and the tracing of funds to a level of expenditures adequate to establish that such 
funds have been used in accordance with Federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and 
conditions applicable to the Federal award.  See also 2 C.F.R. § 200.450 (Lobbying) for 
additional management requirements to verify that Federal funds are not used for unallowable 
lobbying costs.  
 

b. The financial management system of each non-Federal entity must provide all 
information required by 2 C.F.R. § 200.302(b).  See also 2 C.F.R. §§ 200.334 (Retention 
requirements for records); 200.335 (Requests for transfer of records); 200.336 (Methods for 
collection, transmission and storage of information); 200.337 (Access to records); and 200.338 
(Restrictions on public access to records). 

.02 Award Payments 
 

a. Consistent with 2 C.F.R. § 200.305(a) (Federal payment), for States, payments are 
governed by Treasury-State Cash Management Improvement Act (CMIA) agreements and 
default procedures codified at 31 C.F.R. Part 205 (Rules and Procedures for Efficient Federal-
State Funds Transfers) and Treasury Financial Manual Volume I, 4A-2000 (Overall Disbursing 
Rules for All Federal Agencies). 
 

b. Consistent with 2 C.F.R. § 200.305(b), for non-Federal entities other than States, 
payment methods must minimize the amount of time elapsing between the transfer of funds from 
the U.S. Treasury or the pass-through entity and the disbursement by the non-Federal entity.  

 
1. The Grants Officer determines the appropriate method of payment and, unless otherwise 
stated in a specific award condition, the advance method of payment must be authorized.  
Advances must be limited to the minimum amounts needed and be timed to be in accordance 
with the actual, immediate cash requirements of the non-Federal entity in carrying out the 
purpose of the approved program or project.  Unless otherwise provided by the terms and 
conditions of a DOC award, non-Federal entities must time advance payment requests so that 
Federal funds are on hand for a maximum of 30 calendar days before being disbursed by the 

255

Item 17.



 

11 | 12 November 2020 

non-Federal entity for allowable award costs. 
 
2. If a non-Federal entity demonstrates an unwillingness or inability to establish procedures 
that will minimize the time elapsing between the transfer of funds and disbursement by the 
non-Federal entity or if a non-Federal entity otherwise fails to continue to qualify for the 
advance method of payment, the Grants Officer or the pass-through entity may change the 
method of payment to reimbursement only.  

 
c. Unless otherwise provided for in the award terms, payments from DOC to recipients 

under this award will be made using the Department of Treasury’s Automated Standard 
Application for Payment (ASAP) system.  Under the ASAP system, payments are made through 
preauthorized electronic funds transfers directly to the recipient’s bank account, in accordance 
with the requirements of the Debt Collection Improvement Act of 1996.  To receive payments 
under ASAP, recipients are required to enroll with the Department of Treasury, Financial 
Management Service, Regional Financial Centers, which allows them to use the on-line and 
Voice Response System (VRS) method of withdrawing funds from their ASAP established 
accounts.  The following information will be required to make withdrawals under ASAP:  

 
1. ASAP account number – the Federal award identification number found on the cover 
sheet of the award; 
 
2. Agency Location Code (ALC); and  
 
3. Region Code. 

 
d. Recipients enrolled in the ASAP system do not need to submit a Form SF-270 (Request 

for Advance or Reimbursement) for payments relating to their award.  Awards paid under the 
ASAP system will contain a specific award condition, clause, or provision describing enrollment 
requirements and any controls or withdrawal limits set in the ASAP system.   
 

e. When the Form SF-270 or successor form is used to request payment, the recipient must 
submit the request no more than monthly, and advances must be approved for periods to cover 
only expenses reasonably anticipated over the next 30 calendar days.  Prior to receiving 
payments via the Form SF-270, the recipient must complete and submit to the Grants Officer the 
Form SF-3881 (ACH Vendor Miscellaneous Payment Enrollment Form) or successor form along 
with the initial Form SF-270.  Form SF-3881 enrollment must be completed before the first 
award payment can be made via a Form SF-270 request. 
 

f. The Federal award identification number must be included on all payment-related 
correspondence, information, and forms. 
 

g. Non-Federal entities receiving advance award payments must adhere to the depository 
requirements set forth in 2 C.F.R. §§ 200.305(b)(7) through (b)(11).  Interest amounts up to $500 
per non-Federal entity’s fiscal year may be retained by the non-Federal entity for administrative 
expenses.  

256

Item 17.



 

12 | 12 November 2020 

.03 Federal and Non-Federal Sharing 
 

a. Awards that include Federal and non-Federal sharing incorporate a budget consisting of 
shared allowable costs  If actual allowable costs are less than the total approved budget, the 
Federal and non-Federal cost shares must be calculated by applying the approved Federal and 
non-Federal cost share ratios to actual allowable costs.  If actual allowable costs exceed the total 
approved budget, the Federal share must not exceed the total Federal dollar amount authorized 
by the award. 
 

b. The non-Federal share, whether in cash or third-party in-kind contributions, is to be paid 
out at the same general rate as the Federal share.  Exceptions to this requirement may be granted 
by the Grants Officer based on sufficient documentation demonstrating previously determined 
plans for, or later commitment of, cash or third-party in-kind contributions.  In any case, the 
recipient must meet its cost share commitment as set forth in the terms and conditions of the 
award; failure to do so may result in the assignment of specific award conditions or other further 
action as specified in Standard Term A.06 (Unsatisfactory Performance or Non-Compliance with 
Award Provisions).  The non-Federal entity must create and maintain sufficient records 
justifying all non-Federal sharing requirements to facilitate questions and audits; see Section D 
of these Standard Terms (Audits), for audit requirements.  See 2 C.F.R. § 200.306 for additional 
requirements regarding cost sharing. 

.04 Budget Changes and Transfer of Funds among Categories 
 

a. Recipients are required to report deviations from the approved award budget and request 
prior written approval from DOC in accordance with 2 C.F.R. § 200.308 (Revision of budget and 
program plans) and 2 C.F.R. § 200.407 (Prior written approval (prior approval)).  Requests for 
such budget changes must be submitted to the Grants Officer (or electronically for awards 
serviced through Grants Online) who will notify the recipient of the final determination in 
writing.  Requests requiring prior DOC approval do not become effective unless and until 
approved in writing by the DOC Grants Officer.  
 

b. In accordance with 2 C.F.R. § 200.308(f), transfers of funds by the recipient among direct 
cost categories are permitted for awards in which the Federal share of the project is equal to or 
less than the simplified acquisition threshold.  For awards in which the Federal share of the 
project exceeds the simplified acquisition threshold, transfers of funds among direct cost 
categories must be approved in writing by the Grants Officer when the cumulative amount of 
such direct costs transfers exceeds 10 percent of the total budget as last approved by the Grants 
Officer.  The 10 percent threshold applies to the total Federal and non-Federal funds authorized 
by the Grants Officer at the time of the transfer request.  This is the accumulated amount of 
Federal funding obligated to date by the Grants Officer along with any non-Federal share.  The 
same requirements apply to the cumulative amount of transfer of funds among programs, 
functions, and activities.  This transfer authority does not authorize the recipient to create new 
budget categories within an approved budget without Grants Officer approval.  Any transfer that 
causes any Federal appropriation, or part thereof, to be used for an unauthorized purpose is not 
and will not be permitted.  In addition, this provision does not prohibit the recipient from 
requesting Grants Officer approval for revisions to the budget.  See 2 C.F.R. § 200.308 (Revision 

257

Item 17.



 

13 | 12 November 2020 

of budget and program plans) (as applicable) for specific requirements concerning budget 
revisions and transfer of funds between budget categories. 

.05 Program Income 
 

Unless otherwise indicated in the award terms, program income may be used for any required 
cost sharing or added to the project budget, consistent with 2 C.F.R. § 200.307 (Program 
income).  

.06 Indirect or Facilities and Administrative Costs  
 

a. Indirect costs (or facilities and administration costs (F&A)) for major institutions of 
higher education and major nonprofit organizations can generally be defined as costs incurred for 
a common or joint purpose benefitting more than one cost objective, and not readily assignable 
to the cost objectives specifically benefited, without effort disproportionate to the results 
achieved.  Indirect costs will not be allowable charges against an award unless permitted under 
the award and specifically included as a line item in the award’s approved budget.  

 
b. Unrecovered indirect costs, including unrecovered indirect costs on cost sharing or 

matching, may be included as part of cost sharing or matching as allowed under 2 C.F.R. § 
200.306(c) (Cost sharing or matching) or the terms and conditions of a DOC award. 
 

c. Cognizant Agency for Indirect (F&A) Costs.  OMB established the cognizant agency 
concept, under which a single agency represents all others in dealing with non-Federal entities in 
common areas.  The cognizant agency for indirect costs reviews and approves non-Federal 
entities’ indirect cost rates.  In accordance with Appendices III – VII to 2 C.F.R. Part 200 the 
cognizant agency for indirect costs reviews and approves non-Federal entities’ indirect cost rates.  
With respect to for-profit organizations, the term cognizant Federal agency generally is defined 
as the agency that provides the largest dollar amount of negotiated contracts, including options.  
See 48 C.F.R. § 42.003.  If the only Federal funds received by a commercial organization are 
DOC award funds, then DOC becomes the cognizant Federal agency for indirect cost 
negotiations. 

 
1. General Review Procedures Where DOC is the Cognizant Agency.  

 
i. Within 90 calendar days of the award start date, the recipient must submit to the 
Grants Officer any documentation (indirect cost proposal, cost allocation plan, etc.) 
necessary to allow DOC to perform the indirect cost rate proposal review.  Below are two 
sources available for guidance on how to put an indirect cost plan together: 

 
(A) Department of Labor: https://www.dol.gov/oasam/boc/dcd/np-comm-guide.htm 

or 
(B) Department of the Interior: https://www.doi.gov/ibc/services/finance/indirect-

Cost-Services/.  
 
ii. The recipient may use the rate proposed in the indirect cost plan as a provisional rate 
until the DOC provides a response to the submitted plan. 

258

Item 17.

https://www.dol.gov/oasam/boc/dcd/np-comm-guide.htm
https://www.doi.gov/ibc/services/finance/indirect-Cost-Services/
https://www.doi.gov/ibc/services/finance/indirect-Cost-Services/


 

14 | 12 November 2020 

 
iii. The recipient is required to annually submit indirect cost proposals no later than six 
months after the recipient’s fiscal year end, except as otherwise provided by 2 C.F.R. § 
200.414(g).  

 
2. When DOC is not the oversight or cognizant Federal agency, the recipient must provide 
the Grants Officer with a copy of a negotiated rate agreement or a copy of the transmittal 
letter submitted to the cognizant or oversight Federal agency requesting a negotiated rate 
agreement within 30 calendar days of receipt of a negotiated rate agreement or submission of 
a negotiated rate proposal.  
 
3. If the recipient is proposing indirect costs as part of a project budget, but is not required 
to have a negotiated rate agreement pursuant to 2 C.F.R. Part 200, Appendix VII, Paragraph 
D.1.b (i.e., a governmental department or agency that receives $35 million or less in direct 
Federal funding), the recipient may be required to provide the Grants Officer with a copy of 
its Certificate of Indirect Costs as referenced in 2 C.F.R. Part 200, Appendix VII, Paragraph 
D.3. or such other documentation, acceptable in form and substance to the Grants Officer, 
sufficient to confirm that proposed indirect costs are calculated and supported by 
documentation in accordance with 2 C.F.R. Part 200, Appendix VII.  In cases where the 
DOC is the recipient’s cognizant Federal agency, the DOC reserves the right, pursuant to 2 
C.F.R. Part 200, Appendix VII, Paragraph D.1.b, to require the recipient to submit its indirect 
cost rate proposal for review by DOC. 
 
d. If the recipient fails to submit required documentation to DOC within 90 calendar days of 

the award start date, the Grants Officer may amend the award to preclude the recovery of any 
indirect costs under the award.  If the DOC, oversight, or cognizant Federal agency determines 
there is a finding of good and sufficient cause to excuse the recipient’s delay in submitting the 
documentation, an extension of the 90-day due date may be approved by the Grants Officer. 

 
e. The maximum dollar amount of allocable indirect costs for which DOC will reimburse 

the recipient is the lesser of: 
 

1. The line item amount for the Federal share of indirect costs contained in the approved 
award budget, including all budget revisions approved in writing by the Grants Officer; or  
 
2. The Federal share of the total indirect costs allocable to the award based on the indirect 
cost rate approved by the cognizant agency for indirect costs and applicable to the period in 
which the cost was incurred, in accordance with 2 C.F.R 200 Appendix III, C.7, provided 
that the rate is approved on or before the award end date. 
 
f. In accordance with 2 CFR § 200.414(c)(3), DOC set forth policies, procedures, and 

general decision-making criteria for deviations from negotiated indirect cost rates.  These 
policies and procedures are applicable to all Federal financial assistance programs awarded and 
administered by DOC bureaus as Federal awarding agencies and may be found at  
http://www.osec.doc.gov/oam/grants_management/policy/documents/FAM%202015-02.pdf. 

 

259

Item 17.

http://www.osec.doc.gov/oam/grants_management/policy/documents/FAM%202015-02.pdf


 

15 | 12 November 2020 

g. In accordance with 2 CFR § 200.414(g), any non-Federal entity that has a negotiated 
indirect cost rate may apply to the entity’s cognizant agency for indirect costs for a one-time 
extension of a currently negotiated indirect cost rate for a period of up to four years, reducing the 
frequency of rate calculations and negotiations between an institution and its cognizant agency. 

 
h. In accordance with 2 CFR § 200.414(f), any non-Federal entity that does not have a 

current negotiated (including provisional) rate, except for those non-Federal entities described in 
paragraph D.1.b of Appendix VII to 2 CFR Part 200, may elect to charge a de minimis rate of 10 
percent of modified total direct costs.  No documentation is required to justify the 10 percent de 
minimis indirect cost rate. 

.07 Incurring Costs or Obligating Federal Funds Before and After the Period 
of Performance 
 

a. In accordance with 2 C.F.R. § 200.309 (Modifications to Period of Performance) and the 
terms and conditions of a DOC award, a non-Federal entity may charge to the Federal award 
only allowable costs incurred during the period of performance, which is established in the 
award document.  As defined at 2 C.F.R. § 200.1, the “period of performance” means the total 
estimated time interval between the start of an initial Federal award and the planned end date, 
which may include one or more funded portions, or budget periods.  Identification of the Period 
of Performance in the Federal award per § 200.211(b)(5) does not commit the awarding agency 
to fund the award beyond the currently approved budget period.”  The period of performance 
may sometimes be referred to as the project period or award period.  This Standard Term is 
subject to exceptions for allowable costs pertaining to: (i) pre-award costs (see 2 C.F.R. § 
200.458); (ii) publication and printing costs (see 2 C.F.R. § 200.461); and administrative costs 
incurred relating to the close-out of an award (see 2 C.F.R. § 200.344). 
 

b. Reasonable, necessary, allowable and allocable administrative award closeout costs are 
authorized for a period of up to 120 calendar days following the end of the period of 
performance.  For this purpose, award closeout costs are those strictly associated with close-out 
activities and are typically limited to the preparation of final progress, financial, and required 
project audit reports, unless otherwise approved in writing by the Grants Officer.  A non-Federal 
entity may request an extension of the 120-day closeout period, as provided in 2 C.F.R. § 
200.344 (Closeout). 
 

c. Unless authorized by a specific award condition, any extension of the period of 
performance may only be authorized by the Grants Officer in writing.  This is not a delegable 
authority.  Verbal or written assurances of funding from anyone other than the Grants Officer 
does not constitute authority to obligate funds for programmatic activities beyond the end of the 
period of performance.  
 

d. The DOC has no obligation to provide any additional prospective funding.  Any 
amendment of the award to increase funding and to extend the period of performance is at the 
sole discretion of DOC. 
  

260

Item 17.



 

16 | 12 November 2020 

.08 Tax Refunds 
 

The non-Federal entity shall contact the Grants Officer immediately upon receipt of the 
refund of any taxes, including but not limited to Federal Insurance Contributions Act (FICA) 
taxes, Federal Unemployment Tax Act (FUTA) taxes, or Value Added Taxes (VAT) that were 
allowed as charges to a DOC award, regardless of whether such refunds are received by the non-
Federal entity during or after the period of performance.  The Grants Officer will provide written 
disposition instructions to the non-Federal entity, which may include the refunded taxes being 
credited to the award as either a cost reduction or a cash refund, or may allow the non-Federal 
entity to use such refunds for approved activities and costs under a DOC award.  See 2 C.F.R. § 
200.470 (Taxes (including Value Added Tax)). 

.09 Internal Controls 
 
Each recipient must comply with standards for internal controls described at 2 C.F.R. § 

200.303 (Internal controls).  The “Standards for Internal Control in the Federal Government” 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States referenced in § 200.303 are available 
online at http://www.gao.gov/assets/80/76455.pdf and the “Internal Control Integrated 
Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO) is available online at Internal Control Guidance.  

C. PROPERTY STANDARDS 

.01 Standards  
 

Each non-Federal entity must comply with the Property Standards set forth in 2 C.F.R. §§ 
200.310 (Insurance coverage) through 200.316 (Property trust relationship). 

.02 Real and Personal Property 
 

a. In accordance with 2 C.F.R. § 200.316 (Property trust relationship), real property, 
equipment, and other personal property acquired or improved with a Federal award must be held 
in trust by the non-Federal entity as trustee for the beneficiaries of the project or program under 
which the property was acquired or improved.  This trust relationship exists throughout the 
duration of the property’s estimated useful life, as determined by the Grants Officer in 
consultation with the Program Office, during which time the Federal Government retains an 
undivided, equitable reversionary interest in the property (Federal Interest).  During the duration 
of the Federal Interest, the non-Federal entity must comply with all use and disposition 
requirements and restrictions as set forth in 2 C.F.R. §§ 200.310 (Insurance coverage) through 
200.316 (Property trust relationship), as applicable, and in the terms and conditions of the 
Federal award.  
 

b. The Grants Officer may require a non-Federal entity to execute and to record (as 
applicable) a statement of interest, financing statement (form UCC-1), lien, mortgage or other 
public notice of record to indicate that real or personal property acquired or improved in whole 
or in part with Federal funds is subject to the Federal Interest, and that certain use and disposition 

261

Item 17.

http://www.gao.gov/assets/80/76455.pdf
https://www.coso.org/Pages/ic.aspx


 

17 | 12 November 2020 

requirements apply to the property.  The statement of interest, financing statement 
(Form UCC 1), lien, mortgage or other public notice must be acceptable in form and substance to 
the DOC and must be placed on record in accordance with applicable State and local law, with 
continuances re-filed as appropriate.  In such cases, the Grants Officer may further require the 
non-Federal entity to provide the DOC with a written statement from a licensed attorney in the 
jurisdiction where the property is located, certifying that the Federal Interest has been protected, 
as required under the award and in accordance with applicable State and local law.  The 
attorney’s statement, along with a copy of the instrument reflecting the recordation of the Federal 
Interest, must be returned to the Grants Officer.  Without releasing or excusing the non-Federal 
entity from these obligations, the non-Federal entity, by execution of the financial assistance 
award or by expending Federal financial assistance funds (in the case of a subrecipient), 
authorizes the Grants Officer and/or program office to file such notices and continuations as it 
determines to be necessary or convenient to disclose and protect the Federal Interest in the 
property.  The Grants Officer may elect not to release any or a portion of the Federal award 
funds until the non-Federal entity has complied with this provision and any other applicable 
award terms or conditions, unless other arrangements satisfactory to the Grants Officer are made.  

.03 Intellectual Property Rights 
 

a. General.  The rights to any work or other intangible property produced or acquired under 
a Federal award are determined by 2 C.F.R. § 200.315 (Intangible property).  The non-Federal 
entity owns any work produced or purchased under a Federal award subject to the DOC’s 
royalty-free, nonexclusive, and irrevocable right to obtain, reproduce, publish, or otherwise use 
the work or authorize others to receive, reproduce, publish, or otherwise use the work for 
Government purposes.   
 

b. Inventions.  Unless otherwise provided by law, the rights to any invention made by a 
non-Federal entity under a DOC financial assistance award are determined by the Bayh-Dole 
Act, Pub. L. No. 96-517, as amended, and as codified in 35 U.S.C. § 200 et seq., and modified by 
E.O. 12591 (52 FR 13414), as amended by E.O. 12618 (52 FR 48661).  35 U.S.C. § 201(h) 
defines “small business firm” as “a small business concern as defined at section 2 of Public Law 
85–536 (15 U.S.C. 632) and implementing regulations of the Administrator of the Small 
Business Administration.”  Section 1(b)(4) of E.O. 12591 extended the Bayh-Dole Act to non-
Federal entities “regardless of size” to the extent permitted by law.  The specific requirements 
governing the development, reporting, and disposition of rights to inventions and patents 
resulting from Federal awards are described in more detail in 37 C.F.R. Part 401, which 
implements 35 U.S.C. 202 through 204 and includes standard patent rights clauses in 37 C.F.R. § 
401.14, which is hereby incorporated by reference into this award.   
 
The Bayh-Dole regulations set forth in 37 C.F.R. parts 401 and 404 were amended by 83 FR 
15954, with an effective date of May 14, 2018 (Amended Bayh-Dole Regulations).  The 
Amended Bayh-Dole Regulations apply to all new financial assistance awards issued on or after 
May 14, 2018.  The Amended Bayh-Dole Regulations do not apply to financial assistance 
awards issued prior to May 14, 2018, including amendments made to such awards, unless an 
award amendment includes a specific condition incorporating the Amended Bayh-Dole 
Regulations into the terms and conditions of the subject award. 

262

Item 17.



 

18 | 12 November 2020 

1. Ownership.  A non-Federal entity may have rights to inventions in accordance with 37 
C.F.R. Part 401.  These requirements are technical in nature and non-Federal entities are 
encouraged to consult with their Intellectual Property counsel to ensure the proper 
interpretation of and adherence to the ownership rules.  Unresolved questions pertaining to a 
non-Federal entities’ ownership rights may further be addressed to the Grants Officer. 
 
2. Responsibilities - iEdison.  The non-Federal entity must comply with all the requirements 
of the standard patent rights clause and 37 C.F.R. Part 401, including the standard patent 
rights clause in 37 C.F.R. § 401.14.  Non-Federal entities are required to submit their 
disclosures, elections, and requests for waiver from any requirement for substantial U.S. 
manufacture, electronically using the Interagency Edison extramural invention reporting 
system (iEdison) at www.iedison.gov.  Non-Federal entities may obtain a waiver of this 
electronic submission requirement by providing the Grants Officer with compelling reasons 
for allowing the submission of paper reports. 
 
c. Patent Notification Procedures.  Pursuant to E.O. 12889 (58 FR 69681), the DOC is 

required to notify the owner of any valid patent covering technology whenever the DOC or a 
non-Federal entity, without making a patent search, knows (or has demonstrable reasonable 
grounds to know) that technology covered by a valid United States patent has been or will be 
used without a license from the owner.  To ensure proper notification, if the non-Federal entity 
uses or has used patented technology under this award without a license or permission from the 
owner, the non-Federal entity must notify the Grants Officer. 

 
This notice does not constitute authorization or consent by the Government to any copyright or 
patent infringement occurring under the award.  

 
d. A non-Federal entity may copyright any work produced under a Federal award, subject to 

the DOC’s royalty-free, nonexclusive, and irrevocable right to obtain, reproduce, publish, or 
otherwise use the work, or authorize others to do so for Government purposes.  Works jointly 
authored by DOC and non-Federal entity employees may be copyrighted, but only the part of 
such works authored by the non-Federal entity is protectable in the United States because, under 
17 U.S.C. § 105, copyright protection is not available within the United States for any work of 
the United States Government.  On occasion and as permitted under 17 U.S.C. § 105, DOC may 
require the non-Federal entity to transfer to DOC a copyright in a particular work for 
Government purposes or when DOC is undertaking primary dissemination of the work.  

 
e. Freedom of Information Act (FOIA).  In response to a FOIA request for research data 

relating to published research findings (as defined by 2 C.F.R. § 200.315(e)(2)) produced under a 
Federal award that were used by the Federal government in developing an agency action that has 
the force and effect of law, the DOC will request, and the non-Federal entity must provide, 
within a reasonable time, the research data so that they can be made available to the public 
through the procedures established under the FOIA. 
  

263

Item 17.



 

19 | 12 November 2020 

D. AUDITS 
 

Under the Inspector General Act of 1978, as amended, 5 U.S.C. App. 3, §§ 1 et seq., an audit 
of the award may be conducted at any time.  The Inspector General of the DOC, or any of his or 
her duly authorized representatives, must have the right to access any pertinent books, 
documents, papers, and records of the non-Federal entity, whether written, printed, recorded, 
produced, or reproduced by any electronic, mechanical, magnetic, or other process or medium, to 
make audits, inspections, excerpts, transcripts, or other examinations as authorized by law.  This 
right also includes timely and reasonable access to the non-Federal entity’s personnel for 
interview and discussion related to such documents.  See 2 C.F.R. § 200.337 (Access to records).  
When the DOC Office of Inspector General (OIG) requires a program audit on a DOC award, the 
OIG will usually make the arrangements to audit the award, whether the audit is performed by 
OIG personnel, an independent accountant under contract with DOC, or any other Federal, State, 
or local audit entity. 

.01 Organization-Wide, Program-Specific, and Project Audits 
 

a. A recipient must, within 90 days of the end of its fiscal year, notify the Grants Officer of 
the amount of Federal awards, including all DOC and non-DOC awards, that the recipient 
expended during its fiscal year. 
 

b. Recipients that are subject to the provisions of Subpart F of 2 C.F.R. Part 200 and that 
expend $750,000 or more in a year in Federal awards during their fiscal year must have an audit 
conducted for that year in accordance with the requirements contained in Subpart F of 2 C.F.R. 
Part 200.  Within the earlier of 30 calendar days after receipt of the auditor’s report(s), or nine 
months after the end of the audit period, unless a different period is specified in a program-
specific audit guide, a copy of the audit must be submitted electronically to the Federal Audit 
Clearinghouse (FAC) through the FAC’s Internet Data Entry System (IDES) 
(https://harvester.census.gov/facides/).  In accordance with 2 C.F.R. § 200.425 (Audit services), 
the recipient may include a line item in the budget for the allowable costs associated with the 
audit, which is subject to the approval of the Grants Officer.     

 
c.  Unless otherwise specified in the terms and conditions of the award, entities that are not 

subject to Subpart F of 2 C.F.R. Part 200 (e.g., for-profit entities, foreign public entities and 
foreign organizations) and that expend $750,000 or more in DOC funds during their fiscal year 
(including both as a recipient and a subrecipient) must submit to the Grants Officer either:  (i) a 
financial related audit of each DOC award or subaward in accordance with Generally Accepted 
Government Auditing Standards (GAGAS); or (ii) a project specific audit for each award or 
subaward in accordance with the requirements contained in 2 C.F.R. § 200.507.  Within the 
earlier of 30 calendar days after receipt of the auditor’s report(s), or nine months after the end of 
the audit period, unless a different period is specified in a program-specific audit guide, a copy of 
the audit must be submitted to the Grants Officer.  In accordance with 2 C.F.R. § 200.425, the 
recipient may include a line item in the budget for the allowable costs associated with the audit, 
which is subject to the approval of the Grants Officer.  Entities that are not subject to Subpart F 
of 2 C.F.R. Part 200 and that expend less than $750,000 in DOC funds in a given fiscal year are 

264

Item 17.

https://harvester.census.gov/facides/


 

20 | 12 November 2020 

not required to submit an audit(s) for that year, but must make their award-related records 
available to DOC or other designated officials for review and audit.   

 
d.  Recipients are responsible for compliance with the above audit requirements and for 

informing the Grants Officer of the status of their audit, including when the relevant audit has 
been completed and submitted in accordance with the requirements of this section.  Failure to 
provide audit reports within the timeframes specified above may result in appropriate 
enforcement action, up to and including termination of the award, and may jeopardize eligibility 
for receiving future DOC awards. 

 
e.  In accordance with 2 C.F.R. § 200.332(d)(3), pass-through entities are responsible for 

issuing a management decision for applicable audit findings pertaining only to the Federal award 
provided by the pass-through entity to a subrecipient.  

.02 Audit Resolution Process 
 

a. An audit of the award may result in the disallowance of costs incurred by the recipient 
and the establishment of a debt (account receivable) due to DOC.  For this reason, the recipient 
should take seriously its responsibility to respond to all audit findings and recommendations with 
adequate explanations and supporting evidence whenever audit results are disputed. 

b. A recipient whose award is audited has the following opportunities to dispute the 
proposed disallowance of costs and the establishment of a debt: 

1. The recipient has 30 calendar days from the date of the transmittal of the draft audit 
report to submit written comments and documentary evidence. 

2. The recipient has 30 calendar days from the date of the transmittal of the final audit 
report to submit written comments and documentary evidence.   

3. The DOC will review the documentary evidence submitted by the recipient and will 
notify the recipient of the results in an Audit Resolution Determination Letter.  The recipient 
has 30 calendar days from the date of receipt of the Audit Resolution Determination Letter to 
submit a written appeal, unless this deadline is extended in writing by the DOC.  The appeal 
is the last opportunity for the recipient to submit written comments and documentary 
evidence to the DOC to dispute the validity of the audit resolution determination.    

4. An appeal of the Audit Resolution Determination does not prevent the establishment of 
the audit-related debt nor does it prevent the accrual of applicable interest, penalties and 
administrative fees on the debt in accordance with 15 C.F.R. Part 19.  If the Audit Resolution 
Determination is overruled or modified on appeal, appropriate corrective action will be taken 
retroactively.   

5. The DOC will review the recipient’s appeal and notify the recipient of the results in an 
Appeal Determination Letter.  After the opportunity to appeal has expired or after the appeal 
determination has been rendered, DOC will not accept any further documentary evidence 
from the recipient.  No other administrative appeals are available in DOC. 

265

Item 17.



 

21 | 12 November 2020 

E. DEBTS 

.01 Payment of Debts Owed to the Federal Government 
 
a. The non-Federal entity must promptly pay any debts determined to be owed to the 

Federal Government.  Any funds paid to a non-Federal entity in excess of the amount to which 
the non-Federal entity is finally determined to be entitled under the terms of the Federal award 
constitute a debt to the Federal government.  In accordance with 2 C.F.R. § 200.346 (Collection 
of amounts due), if not paid within 90 calendar days after demand, DOC may reduce a debt owed 
to the Federal Government by: 
 

1. Making an administrative offset against other requests for reimbursement; 
 
2. Withholding advance payments otherwise due to the non-Federal entity; or 
 
3. Taking any other action permitted by Federal statute.  
 

The foregoing does not waive any claim on a debt that DOC may have against another entity, 
and all rights and remedies to pursue other parties are preserved. 
 

b. DOC debt collection procedures are set out in 15 C.F.R. Part 19.  In accordance with 2 
C.F.R. § 200.346 (Collection of amounts due) and 31 U.S.C. § 3717, failure to pay a debt owed 
to the Federal Government must result in the assessment of interest, penalties and administrative 
costs in accordance with the provisions of 31 U.S.C. § 3717 and 31 C.F.R. § 901.9.  Commerce 
entities will transfer any Commerce debt that is delinquent for more than 120 calendar days to 
the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Financial Management Service for debt collection 
services, a process known as cross-servicing, pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3711(g), 31 C.F.R. § 
285.12, and 15 C.F.R. § 19.9.  DOC may also take further action as specified in DOC ST&C 
A.06 (Unsatisfactory Performance or Non-Compliance with Award Provisions).  Funds for 
payment of a debt must not come from other Federally-sponsored programs, and the DOC may 
conduct on-site visits, audits, and other reviews to verify that other Federal funds have not been 
used to pay a debt.     

.02 Late Payment Charges 
 

a. Interest will be assessed on the delinquent debt in accordance with section 11 of the Debt 
Collection Act of 1982, as amended (31 U.S.C. § 3717(a)).  The minimum annual interest rate to 
be assessed is the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Current Value of Funds Rate (CVFR).  The 
CVFR is available online at https://www.fiscal.treasury.gov/fsreports/rpt/cvfr/cvfr_home.htm 
and also published by the Department of the Treasury in the Federal Register 
(http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/browse/collection.action?collectionCode=FR) and in the Treasury 
Financial Manual Bulletin.  The assessed rate must remain fixed for the duration of the 
indebtedness. 

b. Penalties will accrue at a rate of not more than six percent per year or such other higher 
rate as authorized by law. 

266

Item 17.

https://www.fiscal.treasury.gov/fsreports/rpt/cvfr/cvfr_home.htm
http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/browse/collection.action?collectionCode=FR


 

22 | 12 November 2020 

c. Administrative charges, i.e., the costs of processing and handling a delinquent debt, will 
be determined by the Commerce entity collecting the debt, as directed by the Office of the Chief 
Financial Officer and Assistant Secretary for Administration. 

.03 Barring Delinquent Federal Debtors from Obtaining Federal Loans or 
Loan Insurance Guarantees 
 

Pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3720B and 31 C.F.R. § 901.6, unless waived by DOC, the DOC is 
not permitted to extend financial assistance in the form of a loan, loan guarantee, or loan 
insurance to any person delinquent on a nontax debt owed to a Federal agency.  This prohibition 
does not apply to disaster loans. 

.04 Effect of Judgment Lien on Eligibility for Federal Grants, Loans, or 
Programs 
 

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 3201(e), unless waived by the DOC, a debtor who has a judgment 
lien against the debtor’s property for a debt to the United States is not eligible to receive any 
grant or loan that is made, insured, guaranteed, or financed directly or indirectly by the United 
States or to receive funds directly from the Federal Government in any program, except funds to 
which the debtor is entitled as beneficiary, until the judgment is paid in full or otherwise 
satisfied.  

F. CONFLICT OF INTEREST, CODE OF CONDUCT AND OTHER 
REQUIREMENTS PERTAINING TO DOC FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AWARDS, 
INCLUDING SUBAWARD AND PROCUREMENT ACTIONS 

.01 Conflict of Interest and Code of Conduct 
 

a. DOC Conflict of Interest Policy.  In accordance with 2 C.F.R. § 200.112 (Conflict of 
interest), the non-Federal entity must disclose in writing any potential conflict of interest to the 
DOC or pass-through entity.  In addition, a non-Federal entity will establish and maintain written 
standards of conduct that include safeguards to prohibit employees from using their positions for 
a purpose that constitutes or presents the appearance of personal or organizational conflict of 
interest, or personal gain in the administration of an award.  It is the DOC’s policy to maintain 
the highest standards of conduct and to prevent real or apparent conflicts of interest in 
connection with DOC financial assistance awards. 
 

b. A conflict of interest generally exists when an interested party participates in a matter that 
has a direct and predictable effect on the interested party’s personal or financial interests.  A 
financial interest may include employment, stock ownership, a creditor or debtor relationship, or 
prospective employment with the organization selected or to be selected for a subaward.  A 
conflict also may exist where there is an appearance that an interested party’s objectivity in 
performing his or her responsibilities under the project is impaired.  For example, an appearance 
of impairment of objectivity may result from an organizational conflict where, because of other 
activities or relationships with other persons or entities, an interested party is unable to render 

267

Item 17.



 

23 | 12 November 2020 

impartial assistance, services or advice to the recipient, a participant in the project or to the 
Federal Government.  Additionally, a conflict of interest may result from non-financial gain to an 
interested party, such as benefit to reputation or prestige in a professional field.  For purposes of 
the DOC Conflict of Interest Policy, an interested party includes, but is not necessarily limited to, 
any officer, employee or member of the board of directors or other governing board of a non-
Federal entity, including any other parties that advise, approve, recommend, or otherwise 
participate in the business decisions of the recipient, such as agents, advisors, consultants, 
attorneys, accountants or shareholders.  This also includes immediate family and other persons 
directly connected to the interested party by law or through a business arrangement. 

c. Procurement-related conflict of interest.  In accordance with 2 C.F.R. § 200.318 (General 
procurement standards), non-Federal entities must maintain written standards of conduct 
covering conflicts of interest and governing the performance of their employees engaged in the 
selection, award and administration of contracts.  See paragraph F.04 of these Standard Terms 
(Requirements for Procurements). 

.02 Nonprocurement Debarment and Suspension     
 

Non-Federal entities must comply with the provisions of 2 C.F.R. Part 1326 
(Nonprocurement Debarment and Suspension), which generally prohibit entities that have been 
debarred, suspended, or voluntarily excluded from participating in Federal nonprocurement 
transactions either through primary or lower tier covered transactions, and which set forth the 
responsibilities of recipients of Federal financial assistance regarding transactions with other 
persons, including subrecipients and contractors. 

.03 Requirements for Subawards 
 

a. The recipient or pass-through entity must require all subrecipients, including lower tier 
subrecipients, to comply with the terms and conditions of a DOC financial assistance award, 
including applicable provisions of the OMB Uniform Guidance (2 C.F.R. Part 200), and all 
associated Terms and Conditions set forth herein.  See 2 C.F.R. § 200.101(b)(2) (Applicability to 
different types of Federal awards), which describes the applicability of 2 C.F.R. Part 200 to 
various types of Federal awards and §§ 200.331-333 (Subrecipient monitoring and management).  

 
b. The recipient or pass through entity may have more restrictive policies for the RTC 

waived prior approvals (no-cost extensions, re-budgeting, etc.) for their subaward recipients. 
Such restrictive policies must be addressed in their subaward agreements and in accordance with 
§200.331. 

 

.04 Requirements for Procurements  
 

a. States.  Pursuant to 2 C.F.R. § 200.317 (Procurements by states), when procuring 
property and services under this Federal award, a State must follow the same policies and 
procedures it uses for procurements from its non-Federal funds.  The State must comply with 2 
C.F.R. §§ 200.321 (Contracting with small and minority businesses, women’s business 
enterprises, and labor surplus area firms), 200.322 (Domestic preferences for procurements), and 

268

Item 17.



 

24 | 12 November 2020 

200.323 (Procurement of recovered materials), and ensure that every purchase order or other 
contract includes any clauses required by 2 C.F.R. § 200.327 (Contract provisions).   

 
b. Other Non-Federal Entities.  All other non-Federal entities, including subrecipients of a 

State, must follow the procurement standards in 2 C.F.R. §§ 200.318 (General procurement 
standards) through 200.327 (Contract provisions) which include the requirement that non-
Federal entities maintain written standards of conduct covering conflicts of interest and 
governing the performance of their employees engaged in the selection, award, and 
administration of contracts.  No employee, officer, or agent may participate in the selection, 
award, or administration of a contract supported by a Federal award if he or she has a real or 
apparent conflict of interest.  

.05 Whistleblower Protections 
 
This award is subject to the whistleblower protections afforded by 41 U.S.C. § 4712 

(Enhancement of contractor protection from reprisal for disclosure of certain information), which 
generally provide that an employee or contractor (including subcontractors and personal services 
contractors) of a non-Federal entity may not be discharged, demoted, or otherwise discriminated 
against as a reprisal for disclosing to a person or body information that the employee reasonably 
believes is evidence of gross mismanagement of a Federal award, subaward, or a contract under 
a Federal award or subaward, a gross waste of Federal funds, an abuse of authority relating to a 
Federal award or subaward or contract under a Federal award or subaward, a substantial and 
specific danger to public health or safety, or a violation of law, rule, or regulation related to a 
Federal award, subaward, or contract under a Federal award or subaward.  These persons or 
bodies include: 
 

a. A Member of Congress or a representative of a committee of Congress. 
b. An Inspector General. 
c. The Government Accountability Office. 
d. A Federal employee responsible for contract or grant oversight or management at the 

relevant agency. 
e. An authorized official of the Department of Justice or other law enforcement agency. 
f. A court or grand jury. 
g. A management official or other employee of the contractor, subcontractor, or grantee 

who has the responsibility to investigate, discover, or address misconduct. 
 

Non-Federal entities and contractors under Federal awards and subawards must inform their 
employees in writing of the rights and remedies provided under 41 U.S.C. § 4712, in the 
predominant native language of the workforce. 

.06 Small Businesses, Minority Business Enterprises and Women’s Business 
Enterprises 
 

In accordance with 2 C.F.R. § 200.321 (Contracting with small and minority businesses, 
women’s business enterprises, and labor surplus area firms), the recipient must take all necessary 
affirmative steps to assure that minority businesses, women’s business enterprises, and labor 
surplus area firms are used when possible.  DOC encourages non-Federal entities to use small 

269

Item 17.



 

25 | 12 November 2020 

businesses, minority business enterprises and women’s business enterprises in contracts under 
financial assistance awards.  The Minority Business Development Agency within the DOC will 
assist non-Federal entities in matching qualified minority business enterprises with contract 
opportunities.  For further information visit MBDA’s website at http://www.mbda.gov.  If you 
do not have access to the Internet, you may contact MBDA via telephone or mail: 

U.S. Department of Commerce  
Minority Business Development Agency 
Herbert C. Hoover Building 
14th Street and Constitution Avenue, N.W. 
Washington, D.C.  20230  
(202) 482-0101  

G. NATIONAL POLICY REQUIREMENTS 

.01 United States Laws and Regulations 
 

This award is subject to the laws and regulations of the United States.  The recipient must 
comply with all applicable requirements of all other Federal laws, executive orders, regulations 
and policies governing this program. 

.02 Non-Discrimination Requirements 
 

No person in the United States may, on the ground of race, color, national origin, handicap, 
age, religion, or sex, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subject to 
discrimination under, any program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance.  The 
recipient agrees to comply with the non-discrimination requirements below: 

a. Statutory Provisions 
 

1. Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. §§ 2000d et seq.) and DOC 
implementing regulations published at 15 C.F.R. Part 8 prohibiting discrimination on the 
grounds of race, color, or national origin under programs or activities receiving Federal 
financial assistance;  
 
2. Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. §§ 1681 et seq.) prohibiting 
discrimination on the basis of sex under Federally assisted education programs or activities; 
 
3. The Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. §§ 12101 et seq.) prohibiting 
discrimination on the basis of disability under programs, activities, and services provided or 
made available by State and local governments or instrumentalities or agencies thereto, as 
well as public or private entities that provide public transportation; 
 
4. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended (29 U.S.C. § 794), and DOC 
implementing regulations published at 15 C.F.R. Part 8b prohibiting discrimination on the 

270

Item 17.

http://www.mbda.gov/


 

26 | 12 November 2020 

basis of handicap under any program or activity receiving or benefiting from Federal 
assistance.   

For purposes of complying with the accessibility standards set forth in 15 C.F.R. § 
8b.18(c), non-federal entities must adhere to the regulations, published by the U.S. 
Department of Justice, implementing Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act 
(ADA) (28 C.F.R. part 35; 75 FR 56164, as amended by 76 FR 13285) and Title III of the 
ADA (28 C.F.R. part 36; 75 FR 56164, as amended by 76 FR 13286).  The revised 
regulations adopted new enforceable accessibility standards called the “2010 ADA 
Standards for Accessible Design” (2010 Standards), which replace and supersede the 
former Uniform Federal Accessibility Standards for new construction and alteration 
projects; 

5. The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended (42 U.S.C. §§ 6101 et seq.), and DOC 
implementing regulations published at 15 C.F.R. Part 20 prohibiting discrimination on the 
basis of age in programs or activities receiving Federal financial assistance; and 

6. Any other applicable non-discrimination law(s). 

b. Other Provisions 
 

1. Parts II and III of E.O. 11246 (Equal Employment Opportunity, 30 FR 12319),3 which 
requires Federally assisted construction contracts to include the nondiscrimination provisions 
of §§ 202 and 203 of E.O. 11246 and Department of Labor regulations implementing E.O. 
11246 (41 C.F.R. § 60-1.4(b)). 
 
2. E.O. 13166 (65 FR 50121, Improving Access to Services for Persons with Limited 
English Proficiency), requiring Federal agencies to examine the services provided, identify 
any need for services to those with limited English proficiency (LEP), and develop and 
implement a system to provide those services so LEP persons can have meaningful access to 
them.  The DOC issued policy guidance on March 24, 2003 (68 FR 14180) to articulate the 
Title VI prohibition against national origin discrimination affecting LEP persons and to help 
ensure that non-Federal entities provide meaningful access to their LEP applicants and 
beneficiaries. 

 
3. In accordance with E.O 13798 and Office of Management and Budget, M-20-09 – 
Guidance Regarding Federal Grants, states or other public grantees may not condition sub-
awards of Federal grant money in a manner that would disadvantage grant applicants based 
on their religious character.  
 

  

 
3 As amended by E.O. 11375(32 FR 14303), E.O. 11478 (34 FR 12985), E.O. 12086 (43 FR 46501), E.O. 12107 (44 
FR 1055), E.O. 13279 (F67 FR 77141), E.O. 13665 (79 FR 20749), and E.O. 13672 (79 FR 42971). 

271

Item 17.



 

27 | 12 November 2020 

c. Title VII Exemption for Religious Organizations 
 

Generally, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e et seq., provides 
that it is an unlawful employment practice for an employer to discharge any individual or 
otherwise to discriminate against an individual with respect to compensation, terms, 
conditions, or privileges of employment because of such individual’s race, color, religion, 
sex, or national origin.  However, Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-1(a), expressly exempts from 
the prohibition against discrimination based on religion, “a religious corporation, association, 
educational institution, or society with respect to the employment of individuals of a 
particular religion to perform work connected with the carrying on by such corporation, 
association, educational institution, or society of its activities.” 

.03 LOBBYING RESTRICTIONS 

a. Statutory Provisions 
 

Non-Federal entities must comply with 2 C.F.R. § 200.450 (Lobbying), which 
incorporates the provisions of 31 U.S.C. § 1352; and OMB guidance and notices on lobbying 
restrictions.  In addition, non-Federal entities must comply with the DOC regulations 
published at 15 C.F.R. Part 28, which implement the New Restrictions on Lobbying.  These 
provisions prohibit the use of Federal funds for lobbying the executive or legislative branches 
of the Federal Government in connection with the award and require the disclosure of the use 
of non-Federal funds for lobbying.  Lobbying includes attempting to improperly influence, 
meaning any influence that induces or tends to induce a Federal employee or officer to give 
consideration or to act regarding a Federal award or regulatory matter on any basis other than 
the merits of the matter, either directly or indirectly.  Costs incurred to improperly influence 
are unallowable.  See 2 C.F.R. § 200.450(b) and (c). 

b. Disclosure of Lobbying Activities  
 

Any recipient that receives more than $100,000 in Federal funding and conducts lobbying 
with non-federal funds relating to a covered Federal action must submit a completed Form 
SF-LLL (Disclosure of Lobbying Activities).  The Form SF-LLL must be submitted within 
30 calendar days following the end of the calendar quarter in which there occurs any event 
that requires disclosure or that materially affects the accuracy of the information contained in 
any disclosure form previously filed.  The recipient must submit any required SF-LLL forms, 
including those received from subrecipients, contractors, and subcontractors, to the Grants 
Officer.    

.04 Environmental Requirements 
 

Environmental impacts must be considered by Federal decision makers in their decisions 
whether or not to approve: (1) a proposal for Federal assistance; (2) the proposal with mitigation; 
or (3) a different proposal having less adverse environmental impacts.  Federal environmental 
laws require that the funding agency initiate an early planning process that considers potential 
impacts that projects funded with Federal assistance may have on the environment.  Each non-
Federal entity must comply with all environmental standards, to include those prescribed under 

272

Item 17.



 

28 | 12 November 2020 

the following statutes and E.O.s and must identify to the awarding agency any impact the award 
may have on the environment.  In some cases, award funds can be withheld by the Grants Officer 
under a specific award condition requiring the non-Federal entity to submit additional 
environmental compliance information sufficient to enable the DOC to make an assessment on 
any impacts that a project may have on the environment. 

a. The National Environmental Policy Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 4321 et seq.) 
 

The National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) and the Council on Environmental 
Quality (CEQ) implementing regulations (40 C.F.R. Parts 1500 through 1508) require that an 
environmental analysis be completed for all major Federal actions to determine whether they 
have significant impacts on the environment.  NEPA applies to the actions of Federal 
agencies and may include a Federal agency’s decision to fund non-Federal projects under 
grants and cooperative agreements when the award activities remain subject to Federal 
authority and control.  Non-Federal entities are required to identify to the awarding agency 
any direct, indirect or cumulative impact an award will have on the quality of the human 
environment and assist the agency in complying with NEPA.  Non-Federal entities may also 
be requested to assist DOC in drafting an environmental assessment or environmental impact 
statement if DOC determines such documentation is required, but DOC remains responsible 
for the sufficiency and approval of the final documentation.  Until the appropriate NEPA 
documentation is complete and in the event that any additional information is required during 
the period of performance to assess project environmental impacts, funds can be withheld by 
the Grants Officer under a specific award condition requiring the non-Federal entity to 
submit the appropriate environmental information and NEPA documentation sufficient to 
enable DOC to make an assessment on any impacts that a project may have on the 
environment.  

b. The National Historic Preservation Act (16 U.S.C. §§ 470 et seq.) 
 

Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA) (16 U.S.C. § 470f) and the 
Advisory Council on Historic Preservation (ACHP) implementing regulations (36 C.F.R. 
Part 800) require that Federal agencies take into account the effects of their undertakings on 
historic properties and, when appropriate, provide the ACHP with a reasonable opportunity 
to comment.  Historic properties include but are not necessarily limited to districts, buildings, 
structures, sites and objects.  In this connection, archeological resources and sites that may be 
of traditional religious and cultural importance to Federally-recognized Indian Tribes, 
Alaskan Native Villages and Native Hawaiian Organizations may be considered historic 
properties.  Non-Federal entities are required to identify to the awarding agency any effects 
the award may have on properties included on or eligible for inclusion on the National 
Register of Historic Places.  Non-Federal entities may also be requested to assist DOC in 
consulting with State or Tribal Historic Preservation Officers, ACHPs or other applicable 
interested parties necessary to identify, assess, and resolve adverse effects to historic 
properties.  Until such time as the appropriate NHPA consultations and documentation are 
complete and in the event that any additional information is required during the period of 
performance in order to assess project impacts on historic properties, funds can be withheld 
by the Grants Officer under a specific award condition requiring the non-Federal entity to 

273

Item 17.



 

29 | 12 November 2020 

submit any information sufficient to enable DOC to make the requisite assessment under the 
NHPA. 

 
Additionally, non-Federal entities are required to assist the DOC in assuring compliance 

with the Archeological and Historic Preservation Act of 1974 (54 U.S.C. § 312502 et seq., 
formerly 16 U.S.C. § 469a-1 et seq.); Executive Order 11593 (Protection and Enhancement 
of the Cultural Environment, May 13, 1971); Executive Order 13006 (Locating Federal 
Facilities on Historic Properties in Our Nation’s Central Cities, May 21, 1996); and 
Executive Order 13007 (Indian Sacred Sites, May 24, 1996). 

c. Executive Order 11988 (Floodplain Management) and Executive Order 11990 
(Protection of Wetlands) 

 
Non-Federal entities must identify proposed actions in Federally defined floodplains and 

wetlands to enable DOC to decide whether there is an alternative to minimize any potential 
harm. 

d. Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 et seq.), Federal Water Pollution Control Act 
(33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 et seq.) (Clean Water Act), and Executive Order 11738 (“Providing 
for administration of the Clean Air Act and the Federal Water Pollution Control Act 
with respect to Federal contracts, grants or loans”) 

 
Non-Federal entities must comply with the provisions of the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 

7401 et seq.), Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 et seq.), and E.O. 11738 (38 FR 25161), 
and must not use a facility on the Excluded Parties List (EPL) (located on the System for 
Award Management (SAM) website, SAM.gov) in performing any award that is nonexempt 
under 2 C.F.R. § 1532, and must notify the Program Officer in writing if it intends to use a 
facility that is on the EPL or knows that the facility has been recommended to be placed on 
the EPL. 

e. The Flood Disaster Protection Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 4002 et seq.) 
 

Flood insurance, when available, is required for Federally assisted construction or 
acquisition in flood-prone areas.  Per 2 C.F.R. § 200.447(a), the cost of required flood 
insurance is an allowable expense, if it is reflected in the approved project budget.  

f. The Endangered Species Act (16 U.S.C. §§ 1531 et seq.) 
 

Non-Federal entities must identify any impact or activities that may involve a threatened 
or endangered species.  Federal agencies have the responsibility to ensure that no adverse 
effects to a protected species or habitat occur from actions under Federal assistance awards 
and conduct the reviews required under the Endangered Species Act, as applicable. 

g. The Coastal Zone Management Act (16 U.S.C. §§ 1451 et seq.)  
 

Funded projects must be consistent with a coastal State’s approved management program 
for the coastal zone. 

274

Item 17.



 

30 | 12 November 2020 

h. The Coastal Barriers Resources Act (16 U.S.C. §§ 3501 et seq.) 
 

Only in certain circumstances can Federal funding be provided for actions within a 
Coastal Barrier System. 

i. The Wild and Scenic Rivers Act (16 U.S.C. §§ 1271 et seq.) 
 

This Act applies to awards that may affect existing or proposed components of the 
National Wild and Scenic Rivers system. 

j. The Safe Drinking Water Act of 1974, as amended, (42 U.S.C. §§ 300f et seq.) 
 

This Act precludes Federal assistance for any project that the EPA determines may 
contaminate a sole source aquifer which threatens public health. 

k. The Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 6901 et seq.) 
 

This Act regulates the generation, transportation, treatment, and disposal of hazardous 
wastes, and provides that non-Federal entities give preference in their procurement programs 
to the purchase of recycled products pursuant to EPA guidelines. 

l. The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act 
(CERCLA, commonly known as Superfund) (42 U.S.C. §§ 9601 et seq.) and the 
Community Environmental Response Facilitation Act (42 U.S.C. § 9601 note et seq.) 
 

These requirements address responsibilities related to hazardous substance releases, 
threatened releases and environmental cleanup.  There are also reporting and community 
involvement requirements designed to ensure disclosure of the release or disposal of 
regulated substances and cleanup of hazards to state and local emergency responders. 

m. Executive Order 12898 (“Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in 
Minority Populations and Low Income Populations”) 
 

Federal agencies are required to identify and address the disproportionately high and 
adverse human health or environmental effects of Federal programs, policies, and activities 
on low income and minority populations. 

n. The Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act (16 U.S.C. § 
1801 et seq.) 
 

Non-Federal entities must identify to DOC any effects the award may have on essential 
fish habitat (EFH).  Federal agencies which fund, permit, or carry out activities that may 
adversely impact EFH are required to consult with the National Marine Fisheries Service 
(NMFS) regarding the potential effects of their actions and respond in writing to NMFS 
recommendations.  These recommendations may include measures to avoid, minimize, 
mitigate, or otherwise offset adverse effects on EFH.  In addition, NMFS is required to 
comment on any state agency activities that would impact EFH.  Provided the specifications 
outlined in the regulations are met, EFH consultations will be incorporated into interagency 

275

Item 17.



 

31 | 12 November 2020 

procedures previously established under NEPA, the ESA, Clean Water Act, Fish and 
Wildlife Coordination Act, or other applicable statutes. 

o. Clean Water Act (CWA) Section 404 (33 U.S.C. § 1344) 
 

CWA Section 404 regulates the discharge of dredged or fill material into waters of the 
United States, including wetlands.  Activities in waters of the United States regulated under 
this program include fill for development, water resource projects (such as levees and some 
coastal restoration activities), and infrastructure development (such as highways and 
airports).  CWA Section 404 requires a permit from the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 
before dredged or fill material may be discharged into waters of the United States, unless the 
activity is exempt from Section 404 regulation (e.g., certain farming and forestry activities). 

p. Rivers and Harbors Act (33 U.S.C. § 407) 
 

A permit may be required from the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers if the proposed 
activity involves any work in, over or under navigable waters of the United States.  
Recipients must identify any work (including structures) that will occur in, over or under 
navigable waters of the United States and obtain the appropriate permit, if applicable. 

q. The Migratory Bird Treaty Act (16 U.S.C. §§ 703-712), Bald and Golden Eagle 
Protection Act (16 U.S.C. § 668 et seq.), and Executive Order 13186 (Responsibilities 
of Federal Agencies to Protect Migratory Birds, January 10, 2001) 
 

Many prohibitions and limitations apply to projects that adversely impact migratory birds 
and bald and golden eagles.  Executive Order 13186 directs Federal agencies to enter a 
Memorandum of Understanding with the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service to promote 
conservation of migratory bird populations when a Federal action will have a measurable 
negative impact on migratory birds. 

r. Executive Order 13112 (Invasive Species, February 3, 1999) 
 

Federal agencies must identify actions that may affect the status of invasive species and 
use relevant programs and authorities to: (i) prevent the introduction of invasive species; (ii) 
detect and respond rapidly to and control populations of such species in a cost-effective and 
environmentally sound manner; (iii) monitor invasive species populations accurately and 
reliably; (iv) provide for restoration of native species and habitat conditions in ecosystems 
that have been invaded; (v) conduct research on invasive species and develop technologies to 
prevent introduction and provide for environmentally sound control of invasive species; and 
(vi) promote public education on invasive species and the means to address them.  In 
addition, an agency may not authorize, fund, or carry out actions that it believes are likely to 
cause or promote the introduction or spread of invasive species in the United States or 
elsewhere. 

s. Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act (16 U.S.C. § 661 et seq.) 
 

During the planning of water resource development projects, agencies are required to 
give fish and wildlife resources equal consideration with other values.  Additionally, the U.S. 

276

Item 17.



 

32 | 12 November 2020 

Fish and Wildlife Service and fish and wildlife agencies of states must be consulted 
whenever waters of any stream or other body of water are “proposed or authorized, permitted 
or licensed to be impounded, diverted… or otherwise controlled or modified” by any agency 
under a Federal permit or license. 

.05 OTHER NATIONAL POLICY REQUIREMENTS 

a. Buy-American Preferences 
 

 Strengthening Buy-American Preferences for Infrastructure Projects.  Recipients of 
covered programs (as defined in Executive Order 13858, 31 January 2019, and 2 C.F.R. 
§200.322 (Domestic preferences for procurements)) are hereby notified that they are 
encouraged to use, to the greatest extent practicable, iron and aluminum as well as steel, 
cement, and other manufactured products produced in the United States in every contract, 
subcontract, purchase order, or subaward that is chargeable under this Award. 

b. Criminal and Prohibited Activities 
 

1. The Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act (31 U.S.C. § 3801 et seq.), provides for the 
imposition of civil penalties against persons who make false, fictitious, or fraudulent claims 
to the Federal Government for money (including money representing grants, loans, or other 
benefits). 

2. The False Claims Amendments Act of 1986 and the False Statements Accountability Act 
of 1996 (18 U.S.C. §§ 287 and 1001, respectively), provide that whoever makes or presents 
any false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement, representation, or claim against the United 
States must be subject to imprisonment of not more than five years and must be subject to a 
fine in the amount provided by 18 U.S.C. § 287.   

3. The Civil False Claims Act (31 U.S.C. §§ 3729 - 3733), provides that suits can be 
brought by the government, or a person on behalf of the government, for false claims made 
under Federal assistance programs.  

4. The Copeland Anti-Kickback Act (18 U.S.C. § 874), prohibits a person or organization 
engaged in a Federally supported project from enticing an employee working on the project 
from giving up a part of his compensation under an employment contract.  The Copeland 
Anti-Kickback Act also applies to contractors and subcontractors pursuant to 40 U.S.C. § 
3145. 

5. The Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970 
(42 U.S.C. § 4601 et seq.) and implementing regulations issued at 15 C.F.R. Part 11, which 
provides for fair and equitable treatment of displaced persons or persons whose property is 
acquired as a result of Federal or Federally-assisted programs.  These requirements apply to 
all interests in real property acquired for project purposes regardless of Federal participation 
in purchases. 
 

277

Item 17.



 

33 | 12 November 2020 

6. The Hatch Act (5 U.S.C. §§ 1501-1508 and 7321-7326), which limits the political 
activities of employees or officers of state or local governments whose principal employment 
activities are funded in whole or in part with Federal funds. 
 
7. To ensure compliance with Federal law pertaining to financial assistance awards, an 
authorized representative of a non-Federal entity may be required to periodically provide 
certain certifications to the DOC regarding Federal felony and Federal criminal tax 
convictions, unpaid federal tax assessments, delinquent Federal tax returns and such other 
certifications that may be required by Federal law. 

c. Drug-Free Workplace 
 

The non-Federal entity must comply with the provisions of the Drug-Free Workplace Act 
of 1988 (41 U.S.C. § 8102) and DOC implementing regulations published at 2 C.F.R. Part 
1329 (Requirements for Drug-Free Workplace (Financial Assistance)), which require that the 
non-Federal entity take certain actions to provide a drug-free workplace. 

d. Foreign Travel 
 

1. Each non-Federal entity must comply with the provisions of the Fly America Act (49 
U.S.C. § 40118).  The implementing regulations of the Fly America Act are found at 41 
C.F.R. §§ 301-10.131 through 301-10.143. 

2. The Fly America Act requires that Federal travelers and others performing U.S. 
Government-financed air travel must use U.S. flag air carriers, to the extent that service by 
such carriers is available.  Foreign air carriers may be used only in specific instances, such as 
when a U.S. flag air carrier is unavailable or use of U.S. flag air carrier service will not 
accomplish the agency’s mission.   

3. One exception to the requirement to fly U.S. flag carriers is transportation provided under 
a bilateral or multilateral air transport agreement, to which the United States Government and 
the government of a foreign country are parties, and which the Department of Transportation 
has determined meets the requirements of the Fly America Act pursuant to 49 U.S.C. § 
40118(b).  The United States Government has entered into bilateral/multilateral “Open Skies 
Agreements” (U.S. Government Procured Transportation) that allow federal funded 
transportation services for travel and cargo movements to use foreign air carriers under 
certain circumstances.  There are multiple “Open Skies Agreements” currently in effect.  For 
more information about the current bilateral and multilateral agreements, visit the GSA 
website.  Information on the Open Skies agreements (U.S. Government Procured 
Transportation) and other specific country agreements may be accessed via the Department 
of State’s website.   

4. If a foreign air carrier is anticipated to be used for any portion of travel under a DOC 
financial assistance award, the non-Federal entity must receive prior approval from the 
Grants Officer.  When requesting such approval, the non-Federal entity must provide a 
justification in accordance with guidance provided by 41 C.F.R. § 301-10.142, which 
requires the non-Federal entity to provide the Grants Officer with the following: name; dates 

278

Item 17.

http://www.gsa.gov/portal/content/103191
https://www.state.gov/open-skies-partnerships-expanding-the-benefits-of-freer-commercial-aviation/


 

34 | 12 November 2020 

of travel; origin and destination of travel; detailed itinerary of travel; name of the air carrier 
and flight number for each leg of the trip; and a statement explaining why the non-Federal 
entity meets one of the exceptions to the regulations.  If the use of a foreign air carrier is 
pursuant to a bilateral agreement, the non-Federal entity must provide the Grants Officer with 
a copy of the agreement or a citation to the official agreement available on the GSA website.  
The Grants Officer must make the final determination and notify the non-Federal entity in 
writing (which may be done through the recipient in the case of subrecipient travel).  Failure 
to adhere to the provisions of the Fly America Act will result in the non-Federal entity not 
being reimbursed for any transportation costs for which any non-Federal entity improperly 
used a foreign air carrier. 

 Note: When using code-sharing flights (two or more airlines having flight numbers 
assigned to the same flight) involving U.S. flag carriers and non-U.S. flag carriers, the airline 
symbol and flight number of the U.S. flag carrier must be used on the ticket to qualify as a 
U.S. flag carrier (e.g. "Delta Airlines Flight XXXX, operated by KLM").  Conversely, if the 
ticket shows "[Foreign Air Carrier] XXX, operated by Delta," that travel is using a foreign 
air carrier and is subject to the Fly America Act and must receive prior approval from the 
Grants Officer as outlined in paragraph G.05.d.4.   

e. Increasing Seat Belt Use in the United States 
 

Pursuant to E.O. 13043 (62 FR 19217), non-Federal entities should encourage employees 
and contractors to enforce on-the-job seat belt policies and programs when operating 
company-owned, rented, or personally owned vehicles.   

f. Federal Employee Expenses and Subawards or Contracts Issued to Federal 
Employees or Agencies 
 

1. Use of award funds (Federal or non-Federal) or the non-Federal entity’s provision of in-
kind goods or services for the purposes of transportation, travel, or any other expenses for 
any Federal employee may raise appropriation augmentation issues.  In addition, DOC policy 
may prohibit the acceptance of gifts, including travel payments for federal employees, from 
non-Federal entities regardless of the source.  Therefore, before award funds may be used by 
Federal employees, non-Federal entities must submit requests for approval of such action to 
the Federal Program Officer who must review and make a recommendation to the Grants 
Officer.  The Grants Officer will notify the non-Federal entity in writing (generally through 
the recipient) of the final determination. 
  
2. A non-Federal entity or its contractor may not issue a subaward, contract or subcontract 
of any part of a DOC award to any agency or employee of DOC or to other Federal 
employee, department, agency, or instrumentality, without the advance prior written approval 
of the DOC Grants Officer. 

g. Minority Serving Institutions Initiative   
 

Pursuant to E.O.s 13555 (White House Initiative on Educational Excellence for 
Hispanics) (75 FR 65417), 13592 (Improving American Indian and Alaska Native 

279

Item 17.

https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.govinfo.gov_content_pkg_USCODE-2D2009-2Dtitle49_html_USCODE-2D2009-2Dtitle49-2DsubtitleVII-2DpartA-2Dsubparti-2Dchap401-2Dsec40118.htm&d=DwMFaQ&c=VhZolPcoIcxBQpA0e5_BL66VJfv8ydsVc5_UWeY_GkQ&r=Sxm7tzLiFtte5ard5NdldA&m=uamQbqwuUseu4f08RcgqDyinrLx1GmWwEoATlQpCiCA&s=D1CkfZXPcb1CryYuaoB4jTKP3EMmTEIRuxty1LQuh8I&e=


 

35 | 12 November 2020 

Educational Opportunities and Strengthening Tribal Colleges and Universities) (76 FR 
76603), and 13779 (White House Initiative to Promote Excellence and Innovation at 
Historically Black Colleges and Universities) (82 FR 12499), DOC is strongly committed to 
broadening the participation of minority serving institutions (MSIs) in its financial assistance 
programs.  DOC’s goals include achieving full participation of MSIs to advance the 
development of human potential, strengthen the Nation’s capacity to provide high-quality 
education, and increase opportunities for MSIs to participate in and benefit from Federal 
financial assistance programs.  DOC encourages all applicants and non-Federal entities to 
include meaningful participation of MSIs.  Institutions eligible to be considered MSIs are 
listed on the Department of Education website.  

h. Research Misconduct 
 

The DOC adopts, and applies to financial assistance awards for research, the Federal 
Policy on Research Misconduct (Federal Policy) issued by the Executive Office of the 
President’s Office of Science and Technology Policy on December 6, 2000 (65 FR 76260).  
As provided for in the Federal Policy, research misconduct refers to the fabrication, 
falsification, or plagiarism in proposing, performing, or reviewing research, or in reporting 
research results.  Research misconduct does not include honest errors or differences of 
opinion.  Non-Federal entities that conduct extramural research funded by DOC must foster 
an atmosphere conducive to the responsible conduct of sponsored research by safeguarding 
against and resolving allegations of research misconduct.  Non-Federal entities also have the 
primary responsibility to prevent, detect, and investigate allegations of research misconduct 
and, for this purpose, may rely on their internal policies and procedures, as appropriate, to do 
so.  Non-Federal entities must notify the Grants Officer of any allegation that meets the 
definition of research misconduct and detail the entity’s inquiry to determine whether there is 
sufficient evidence to proceed with an investigation, as well as the results of any 
investigation.  The DOC may take appropriate administrative or enforcement action at any 
time under the award, up to and including award termination and possible suspension or 
debarment, and referral to the Commerce OIG, the U.S. Department of Justice, or other 
appropriate investigative body. 

i. Research Involving Human Subjects   
 

1. All proposed research involving human subjects must be conducted in accordance with 
15 C.F.R. Part 27 (Protection of Human Subjects).  No research involving human subjects is 
permitted under this award unless expressly authorized by specific award condition, or 
otherwise in writing by the Grants Officer. 

2. Federal policy defines a human subject as a living individual about whom an investigator 
(whether professional or student) conducting research  (1)  Obtains information or 
biospecimens through intervention or interaction with the individual, and uses, studies, or 
analyzes the information or biospecimens; or (2)  Obtains, uses, studies, analyzes, or 
generates identifiable private information or identifiable biospecimens.  Research means a 
systematic investigation, including research development, testing and evaluation, designed to 
develop or contribute to generalizable knowledge. 

280

Item 17.



 

36 | 12 November 2020 

3. DOC regulations at 15 C.F.R. Part 27 require that non-Federal entities maintain 
appropriate policies and procedures for the protection of human subjects.  In the event it 
becomes evident that human subjects may be involved in this project, the non-Federal entity 
(generally through the recipient) must submit appropriate documentation to the Federal 
Program Officer for approval by the appropriate DOC officials.  As applicable, this 
documentation must include: 

i. Documentation establishing approval of an activity in the project by an Institutional 
Review Board (IRB) under a Federal wide Assurance issued by Department of Health 
and Human Services or other Federal agency guidelines (see also 15 C.F.R. § 27.103); 

ii. Documentation to support an exemption for an activity in the project under 15 C.F.R. 
§ 27.104(d);  

iii. Documentation of IRB approval of any modification to a prior approved protocol or 
to an informed consent form; 

iv. Documentation of an IRB approval of continuing review approved prior to the 
expiration date of the previous IRB determination; and 

v. Documentation of any reportable events, such as serious adverse events, 
unanticipated problems resulting in risk to subjects or others, and instances of 
noncompliance. 

4. No work involving human subjects may be undertaken, conducted, or costs incurred 
and/or charged for human subjects research, until the appropriate documentation is approved 
in writing by the Grants Officer.  In accordance with 15 C.F.R. § 27.118, if research 
involving human subjects is proposed after an award is made, the non-Federal entity must 
contact the Federal Program Officer and provide required documentation.  Notwithstanding 
this prohibition, work may be initiated or costs incurred and/or charged to the project for 
protocol or instrument development related to human subjects research. 

j. Care and Use of Live Vertebrate Animals 
 

Non-Federal entities must comply with the Laboratory Animal Welfare Act of 1966, as 
amended, (Pub. L. No. 89-544, 7 U.S.C. §§ 2131 et seq.) (animal acquisition, transport, care, 
handling, and use in projects), and implementing regulations (9 C.F.R. Parts 1, 2, and 3); the 
Endangered Species Act (16 U.S.C. §§ 1531 et seq.); Marine Mammal Protection Act (16 
U.S.C. §§ 1361 et seq.) (taking possession, transport, purchase, sale, export or import of 
wildlife and plants); the Nonindigenous Aquatic Nuisance Prevention and Control Act (16 
U.S.C. §§ 4701 et seq.) (ensure preventive measures are taken or that probable harm of using 
species is minimal if there is an escape or release); and all other applicable statutes pertaining 
to the care, handling, and treatment of warm-blooded animals held for research, teaching, or 
other activities supported by Federal financial assistance.  No research involving vertebrate 
animals is permitted under any DOC financial assistance award unless authorized by the 
Grants Officer. 

  

281

Item 17.



 

37 | 12 November 2020 

k. Management and Access to Data and Publications 
 
1. In General.  The recipient acknowledges and understands that information and data 
contained in applications for financial assistance, as well as information and data contained 
in financial, performance and other reports submitted by recipients, may be used by the DOC 
in conducting reviews and evaluations of its financial assistance programs.  For this purpose, 
recipient information and data may be accessed, reviewed and evaluated by DOC employees, 
other Federal employees, Federal agents and contractors, and/or by non-Federal personnel, 
all of who enter into appropriate or are otherwise subject to confidentiality and nondisclosure 
agreements covering the use of such information.  Recipients are expected to support 
program reviews and evaluations by submitting required financial and performance 
information and data in an accurate and timely manner, and by cooperating with DOC and 
external program evaluators.  In accordance with 2 C.F.R. § 200.303(e), recipients are 
reminded that they must take reasonable measures to safeguard protected personally 
identifiable information and other confidential or sensitive personal or business information 
created or obtained relating to a DOC financial assistance award. 
 
2. Scientific Data.  Non-Federal entities must comply with the data management and access 
to data requirements established by the DOC funding agency as set forth in the applicable 
Notice of Funding Opportunity and/or in Specific Award Conditions.   
 
3. Publications, Videos, and Acknowledgment of Sponsorship. 

 
i. Publication of results or findings in appropriate professional journals and production 
of video or other media is encouraged as an important method of recording, reporting and 
otherwise disseminating information and expanding public access to federally-funded 
projects (e.g., scientific research).  Non-Federal entities must comply with the data 
management and access to data requirements established by the DOC funding agency as 
set forth in the applicable Notice of Funding Opportunity and/or in Specific Award 
Conditions. 

 
ii. Non-Federal entities may be required to submit a copy of any publication materials, 
including but not limited to print, recorded, or Internet materials, to the funding agency. 
 

iii. When releasing information related to a funded project, non-Federal entities must 
include a statement that the project or effort undertaken was or is sponsored by DOC and 
must also include the applicable financial assistance award number. 
 

iv. Non-Federal entities are responsible for assuring that every publication of material 
based on, developed under, or otherwise produced pursuant to a DOC financial assistance 
award contains the following disclaimer or other disclaimer approved by the Grants 
Officer: 

  
This [report/video/etc.] was prepared by [recipient name] using Federal funds under 

award [number] from [name of operating unit], U.S. Department of Commerce.  The 
statements, findings, conclusions, and recommendations are those of the author(s) and do 

282

Item 17.



 

38 | 12 November 2020 

not necessarily reflect the views of the [name of operating unit] or the U.S. Department 
of Commerce. 

l. Homeland Security Presidential Directive 
 

If the performance of this DOC financial assistance award requires non-Federal entity 
personnel to have routine access to Federally-controlled facilities and/or Federally-controlled 
information systems (for purpose of this term “routine access” is defined as more than 180 
calendar days), such personnel must undergo the personal identity verification credential 
process.  In the case of foreign nationals, the DOC will conduct a check with U.S. 
Citizenship and Immigration Services’ (USCIS) Verification Division, a component of the 
Department of Homeland Security (DHS), to ensure the individual is in a lawful immigration 
status and that he or she is eligible for employment within the United States.  Any items or 
services delivered under a financial assistance award must comply with DOC personal 
identity verification procedures that implement Homeland Security Presidential Directive 12 
(Policy for a Common Identification Standard for Federal Employees and Contractors), 
Federal Information Processing Standard (FIPS) PUB 201, and OMB Memorandum M-05-
24.  The recipient must ensure that its subrecipients and contractors (at all tiers) performing 
work under this award comply with the requirements contained in this term.  The Grants 
Officer may delay final payment under an award if the subrecipient or contractor fails to 
comply with the requirements listed in the term below.  The recipient must insert the 
following term in all subawards and contracts when the subaward recipient or contractor is 
required to have routine physical access to a Federally-controlled facility or routine access to 
a Federally-controlled information system: 

The subrecipient or contractor must comply with DOC personal identity verification 
procedures identified in the subaward or contract that implement Homeland Security 
Presidential Directive 12 (HSPD-12), Office of Management and Budget (OMB) 
Guidance M-05-24, as amended, and Federal Information Processing Standards 
Publication (FIPS PUB) Number 201, as amended, for all employees under this 
subaward or contract who require routine physical access to a Federally-controlled 
facility or routine access to a Federally-controlled information system. 

The subrecipient or contractor must account for all forms of Government-provided 
identification issued to the subrecipient or contractor employees in connection with 
performance under this subaward or contract.  The subrecipient or contractor must 
return such identification to the issuing agency at the earliest of any of the following, 
unless otherwise determined by DOC: (1) When no longer needed for subaward or 
contract performance; (2) Upon completion of the subrecipient or contractor employee’s 
employment; (3) Upon subaward or contract completion or termination. 

m. Compliance with Department of Commerce Bureau of Industry and Security 
Export Administration Regulations 
 

1. This clause applies to the extent that this financial assistance award encompasses 
activities that involve export-controlled items. 
 

283

Item 17.



 

39 | 12 November 2020 

2. In performing this financial assistance award, a non-Federal entity may participate in 
activities involving items subject to export control (export-controlled items) under the 
Export Administration Regulations (EAR).  The non-Federal entity is responsible for 
compliance with all applicable laws and regulations regarding export-controlled items, 
including the EAR’s deemed exports and re-exports provisions.  The non-Federal entity 
must establish and maintain effective export compliance procedures at DOC and non-DOC 
facilities, including facilities located abroad, throughout performance of the financial 
assistance award.  At a minimum, these export compliance procedures must include 
adequate restrictions on export-controlled items, to guard against any unauthorized exports, 
including in the form of releases or transfers to foreign nationals.  Such releases or transfers 
may occur through visual inspection, including technology transmitted electronically, and 
oral or written communications. 

 
3. Definitions 

i. Export-controlled items.  Items (commodities, software, or technology), that are 
subject to the EAR (15 C.F.R. §§ 730-774), implemented by the DOC’s Bureau of 
Industry and Security.  These are generally known as “dual-use” items, items with 
a military and commercial application.  The export (shipment, transmission, or 
release/transfer) of export-controlled items may require a license from DOC.   

ii. Deemed Export/Re-export.  The EAR defines a deemed export as a release or transfer 
of export-controlled items (specifically, technology or source code) to a foreign person 
(foreign national) in the U.S. Such release is “deemed” to be an export to the foreign 
person’s most recent country of citizenship or permanent residency (see 15 C.F.R. § 
734.13(a)(2) & (b)).  A release may take the form of visual inspection or oral or 
written exchange of information.  See 15 C.F.R. § 734.15(a).  If such a release or 
transfer is made abroad to a foreign person of a country other than the country where 
the release occurs, it is considered a deemed re-export to the foreign person’s most 
recent country of citizenship or permanent residency.  See 15 C.F.R. § 734.14(a)(2).  
Licenses from DOC may be required for deemed exports or re-exports.  An act 
causing the release of export-controlled items to a foreign person (e.g., providing or 
using an access key or code) may require authorization from DOC to the same extent 
that an export or re-export of such items to the foreign person would.  See 15 C.F.R. § 
734.15(b).   

4. The non-Federal entity must secure all export-controlled items that it possesses or that 
comes into its possession in performance of this financial assistance award, to ensure that 
the export of such items, including in the form of release or transfer to foreign persons, is 
prevented, or licensed, as required by applicable Federal laws, E.O.s, and/or regulations, 
including the EAR. 
 

5. As applicable, non-Federal entity personnel and associates at DOC sites will be informed of 
any procedures to identify and protect export-controlled items from unauthorized export. 

 

284

Item 17.



 

40 | 12 November 2020 

6. To the extent the non-Federal entity wishes to release or transfer export-controlled items to 
foreign persons, the non-Federal entity will be responsible for obtaining any necessary 
licenses, including licenses required under the EAR for deemed exports or deemed re-
exports.  Failure to obtain any export licenses required under the EAR may subject the non-
Federal entity to administrative or criminal enforcement.  See 15 C.F.R. part 764. 
 

7. Nothing in the terms of this financial assistance award is intended to change, supersede, or 
waive the requirements of applicable Federal laws, E.O.s or regulations. 
 

8. Compliance with this term will not satisfy any legal obligations the non-Federal entity may 
have regarding items that may be subject to export controls administered by other agencies 
such as the Department of State, which has jurisdiction over exports and re-exports of 
defense articles and services subject to the International Traffic in Arms Regulations 
(ITAR) (22 C.F.R. §§ 120-130), including the release of defense articles to foreign persons 
in the United States and abroad. 
 

9. The non-Federal entity must include the provisions contained in this term in all lower tier 
transactions (subawards, contracts, and subcontracts) under this financial assistance award 
that may involve research or other activities that implicate export-controlled items. 

n. The Trafficking Victims Protection Act of 2000 (22 U.S.C. § 7104(g)), as 
amended, and the implementing regulations at 2 C.F.R. Part 175 
 

The Trafficking Victims Protection Act of 2000 authorizes termination of financial assistance 
provided to a private entity, without penalty to the Federal Government, if any non-Federal entity 
engages in certain activities related to trafficking in persons.  The DOC hereby incorporates the 
following award term required by 2 C.F.R. § 175.15(b):   

 
Trafficking in persons. 

 
a. Provisions applicable to a recipient that is a private entity. 

 
1. You as the recipient, your employees, subrecipients under this award, and subrecipients’ 
employees may not— 

 
i. Engage in severe forms of trafficking in persons during the period of time that the 
award is in effect;  

 
ii. Procure a commercial sex act during the period of time that the award is in effect; or 

 
iii. Use forced labor in the performance of the award or subawards under the award. 

 
  

285

Item 17.



 

41 | 12 November 2020 

2. We as the Federal awarding agency may unilaterally terminate this award, without 
penalty, if you or a subrecipient that is a private entity — 

 
i. Is determined to have violated a prohibition in paragraph a.1 of this award term; or 

 
ii. Has an employee who is determined by the agency official authorized to terminate the 
award to have violated a prohibition in paragraph a.1 of this award term through conduct 
that is either— (A) Associated with performance under this award; or (B) Imputed to you 
or the subrecipient using the standards and due process for imputing the conduct of an 
individual to an organization that are provided in 2 C.F.R. Part 180 (OMB Guidelines to 
Agencies on Governmentwide Debarment and Suspension – Nonprocurement), as 
implemented by DOC at 2 C.F.R. Part 1326 (Nonprocurement Debarment and 
Suspension). 

 
b. Provision applicable to a recipient other than a private entity.  We as the Federal 

awarding agency may unilaterally terminate this award, without penalty, if a subrecipient that is 
a private entity— 

 
1. Is determined to have violated an applicable prohibition in paragraph a.1 of this award 
term; or  
 
2. Has an employee who is determined by the agency official authorized to terminate the 
award to have violated an applicable prohibition in paragraph a.1 of this award term 
through conduct that is either— 

 
i. Associated with performance under this award; or 

 
ii. Imputed to the subrecipient using the standards and due process for imputing the 
conduct of an individual to an organization that are provided in 2 C.F.R. Part 180 (OMB 
Guidelines to Agencies on Governmentwide Debarment and Suspension – 
Nonprocurement), as implemented by DOC at 2 C.F.R. Part 1326, (Nonprocurement 
Debarment and Suspension). 

 
c. Provisions applicable to any recipient. 

 
1. You must inform us immediately of any information you receive from any source 
alleging a violation of a prohibition in paragraph a.1 of this award term. 
 
2. Our right to terminate unilaterally that is described in paragraph a.2 or b of this 
section:  

 
i. Implements section 106(g) of the Trafficking Victims Protection Act of 2000 (TVPA), 
as amended (22 U.S.C. 7104(g)), and  

 
ii. Is in addition to all other remedies for noncompliance that are available to us under 
this award. 

286

Item 17.



 

42 | 12 November 2020 

 
3. You must include the requirements of paragraph a.1 of this award term in any subaward 
you make to a private entity. 

 
d. Definitions.  For purposes of this award term: 

 
1. “Employee” means either:  
 

i. An individual employed by you or a subrecipient who is engaged in the performance of 
the project or program under this award; or  

 
ii. Another person engaged in the performance of the project or program under this 
award and not compensated by you including, but not limited to, a volunteer or individual 
whose services are contributed by a third party as an in-kind contribution toward cost 
sharing or matching requirements. 

 
2. “Forced labor” means labor obtained by any of the following methods: the recruitment, 
harboring, transportation, provision, or obtaining of a person for labor or services, through 
the use of force, fraud, or coercion for the purpose of subjection to involuntary servitude, 
peonage, debt bondage, or slavery. 

 
3. “Private entity”: 

 
i. Means any entity other than a State, local government, Indian tribe, or foreign public 
entity, as those terms are defined in 2 C.F.R. § 175.25;  

 
ii. Includes: (A) A nonprofit organization, including any nonprofit institution of higher 
education, hospital, or tribal organization other than one included in the definition of 
Indian tribe at 2 C.F.R. § 175.25(b); and (B) A for-profit organization.  

 
4. “Severe forms of trafficking in persons,” “commercial sex act,” and “coercion” have the 
meanings given at section 103 of the TVPA, as amended (22 U.S.C. § 7102). 

o. The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA) (31 U.S.C. 
§ 6101 note) 
 

1. Reporting Subawards and Executive Compensation.  Under FFATA, recipients of 
financial assistance awards of $30,000 or more are required to report periodically on executive 
compensation and subawards, as described in the following term from 2 C.F.R. Part 170, 
Appendix A, which is incorporated into this award: 

 
Reporting Subawards and Executive Compensation 

 
a. Reporting of first-tier subawards. 

 
1. Applicability.  Unless you are exempt as provided in paragraph d. of this award term, 
you must report each action that equals or exceeds $30,000 in Federal funds for a subaward 

287

Item 17.



 

43 | 12 November 2020 

to a non-Federal entity or Federal agency (see definitions in paragraph e. of this award 
term). 

 
2. Where and when to report. 

 
i. You must report each obligating action described in paragraph a.1. of this award term 
to http://www.fsrs.gov. 

 
ii. For subaward information, report no later than the end of the month following the 
month in which the obligation was made.  (For example, if the obligation was made on 
November 7, 2010, the obligation must be reported by no later than December 31, 2010.) 

 
3. What to report.  You must report the information about each obligating action that the 
submission instructions posted at http://www.fsrs.gov specify. 

 
b. Reporting Total Compensation of Recipient Executives for non-Federal entities. 

 
1. Applicability and what to report.  You must report total compensation for each of your 
five most highly compensated executives for the preceding completed fiscal year, if— 
 

i. the total Federal funding authorized to date under this Federal award equals or 
exceeds $30,000 as defined in 2 C.F.R § 170.320; 

 
ii. in the preceding fiscal year, you received— 

 
(A) 80 percent or more of your annual gross revenues from Federal procurement 

contracts (and subcontracts) and Federal financial assistance subject to the 
Transparency Act, as defined at 2 C.F.R. § 170.320 (and subawards), and 

 
(B) $25,000,000 or more in annual gross revenues from Federal procurement contracts 

(and subcontracts) and Federal financial assistance subject to the Transparency 
Act, as defined at 2 C.F.R. § 170.320 (and subawards); and,   

 
iii. The public does not have access to information about the compensation of the 
executives through periodic reports filed under section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. § 78m(a), 78o(d)) or section 6104 of the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986.  (To determine if the public has access to the compensation information, see 
the U.S. Security and Exchange Commission total compensation filings at 
http://www.sec.gov/answers/execomp.htm.) 

 
2. Where and when to report.  You must report executive total compensation described in 
paragraph b.1. of this award term: 

 
i. As part of your registration profile found at the System for Award Management (SAM) 
website located at https://www.sam.gov.  

 

288

Item 17.

http://www.fsrs.gov/
http://www.fsrs.gov/
http://www.sec.gov/answers/execomp.htm
https://www.sam.gov/


 

44 | 12 November 2020 

ii. By the end of the month following the month in which this award is made, and 
annually thereafter. 

 
c. Reporting of Total Compensation of Subrecipient Executives. 

 
1. Applicability and what to report.  Unless you are exempt as provided in paragraph d. of 
this award term, for each first-tier non-Federal entity subrecipient under this award, you 
shall report the names and total compensation of each of the subrecipient’s five most highly 
compensated executives for the subrecipient’s preceding completed fiscal year, if— 

 
i. in the subrecipient’s preceding fiscal year, the subrecipient received— 

 
(A) 80 percent or more of its annual gross revenues from Federal procurement 

contracts (and subcontracts) and Federal financial assistance subject to the 
Transparency Act, as defined at 2 C.F.R. § 170.320 (and subawards) and, 
 

(B) $25,000,000 or more in annual gross revenues from Federal procurement contracts 
(and subcontracts), and Federal financial assistance subject to the Transparency 
Act (and subawards); and 

 
ii. The public does not have access to information about the compensation of the 
executives through periodic reports filed under section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a), 78o(d)) or section 6104 of the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986.  (To determine if the public has access to the compensation information, see 
the U.S. Security and Exchange Commission total compensation filings at 
http://www.sec.gov/answers/execomp.htm.).  

 
See also 2 C.F.R. § 200.300(b). 

 
2. Where and when to report.  You must report subrecipient executive total compensation 
described in paragraph c.1. of this award term: 
 

i. To the recipient. 
 

ii. By the end of the month following the month during which you make the subaward.  
For example, if a subaward is obligated on any date during the month of October of a 
given year (i.e., between October 1 and 31), you must report any required compensation 
information of the subrecipient by November 30 of that year. 

 
d. Exemptions.  If, in the previous tax year, you had gross income, from all sources, under 

$300,000, you are exempt from the requirements to report: i. Subawards, and ii.  The total 
compensation of the five most highly compensated executives of any subrecipient. 

 
  

289

Item 17.

http://www.sec.gov/answers/execomp.htm


 

45 | 12 November 2020 

e. Definitions.  For purposes of this award term:  
 
1. Federal Agency means a Federal agency as defined at 5 U.S.C. 551(1) and further 
clarified by 5 U.S.C. 552(f). 
 
2. Non-Federal entity means all of the following, as defined in 2 C.F.R. Part 25: 
 

i. A Governmental organization, which is a State, local government, or Indian tribe; 
 

ii. A foreign public entity; 
 

iii. A domestic or foreign nonprofit organization; and, 
 

iv. A domestic or foreign for-profit organization. 
 

3. Executive means officers, managing partners, or any other employees in management 
positions. 
 
4. Subaward: 

 
i. This term means a legal instrument to provide support for the performance of any 
portion of the substantive project or program for which you received this award and that 
you as the recipient award to an eligible subrecipient. 

 
ii. The term does not include your procurement of property and services needed to carry 
out the project or program (for further explanation, see 2 C.F.R § 200.331). 

 
iii. A subaward may be provided through any legal agreement, including an agreement 
that you or a subrecipient considers a contract. 

 
5. Subrecipient means a non-Federal entity or Federal agency that: 
 

i. Receives a subaward from you (the recipient) under this award; and 
 

ii. Is accountable to you for the use of the Federal funds provided by the subaward.  
 

6. Total compensation means the cash and noncash dollar value earned by the executive 
during the recipient’s or subrecipient’s preceding fiscal year and includes the following (for 
more information see 17 C.F.R. § 229.402(c)(2)): 
 

i. Salary and bonus. 
 

ii. Awards of stock, stock options, and stock appreciation rights.  Use the dollar amount 
recognized for financial statement reporting purposes with respect to the fiscal year in 
accordance with the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (Revised 2004) 
(FAS 123R), Shared Based Payments. 

290

Item 17.



 

46 | 12 November 2020 

 
iii. Earnings for services under non-equity incentive plans.  This does not include group 
life, health, hospitalization or medical reimbursement plans that do not discriminate in 
favor of executives, and are available generally to all salaried employees. 

 
iv. Change in pension value.  This is the change in present value of defined benefit and 
actuarial pension plans. 

 
v. Above-market earnings on deferred compensation which is not tax-qualified. 

 
vi. Other compensation, if the aggregate value of all such other compensation (e.g. 
severance, termination payments, value of life insurance paid on behalf of the employee, 
perquisites or property) for the executive exceeds $10,000. 

 
2. System for Award Management (SAM) and Universal Identifier Requirements -- as 

described in 2 C.F.R. Part 25, Appendix A, which is incorporated into this award: 
 

System for Award Management (SAM) and Universal Identifier Requirements 
 

a. Requirement for System for Award Management.  Unless you are exempted from this 
requirement under 2 C.F.R. § 25.110, you as the recipient must maintain current information in 
the SAM.  This includes information on your immediate and highest level owner and 
subsidiaries, as well as on all of your predecessors that have been awarded a Federal contract 
or Federal financial assistance within the last three years, if applicable, until you submit the 
final financial report required under this Federal award or receive the final payment, whichever 
is later.  This requires that you review and update the information at least annually after the 
initial registration, and more frequently if required by changes in your information or another 
Federal award term.  

 
b. Requirement for Unique Entity Identifier.  If you are authorized to make subawards 

under this Federal award, you: 

1. Must notify potential subrecipients that no entity (see definition in paragraph c of this 
award term) may receive a subaward from you until the entity has provided its Unique Entity 
Identifier to you. 
 
2. May not make a subaward to an entity unless the entity has provided its Unique Entity 
Identifier to you.  Subrecipients are not required to obtain an active SAM registration, but 
must obtain a Unique Entity Identifier. 
 
c. Definitions for purposes of this term: 
 
1. SAM means the Federal repository into which a recipient must provide information 
required for the conduct of business as a recipient.  Additional information about 
registration procedures may be found at the SAM Internet site (currently at 
https://www.SAM.gov). 

291

Item 17.

https://www.sam.gov/


 

47 | 12 November 2020 

2. Unique Entity Identifier means the identifier assigned by SAM to uniquely identify 
business entities. 

3.  Entity includes non-Federal entities as defined at 2 C.F.R. § 200.1 and also includes all 
of the following, for purposes of this part: 

i. A foreign organization; 
 

ii. A foreign public entity;  
 

iii. A domestic for-profit organization; and 
 

iv. A Federal agency. 
 
4. Subaward has the meaning given in 2 C.F.R § 200.1. 

 
5. Subrecipient has the meaning given in 2 C.F.R § 200.1. 

See also 2 C.F.R. § 200.300(b). 

p. Recipient Integrity and Performance Matters (Appendix XII to 2 C.F.R. Part 
200) 
 

Reporting of Matters Related to Recipient Integrity and Performance 
 

1. General Reporting Requirement.  If the total value of your currently active grants, 
cooperative agreements, and procurement contracts from all Federal awarding agencies 
exceeds $10,000,000 for any period of time during the period of performance of this Federal 
award, then you as the recipient during that period of time must maintain the currency of 
information reported to the System for Award Management (SAM) that is made available in 
the designated integrity and performance system (currently the Federal Awardee 
Performance and Integrity Information System (FAPIIS)) about civil, criminal, or 
administrative proceedings described in paragraph 2 of this award term and condition.  This 
is a statutory requirement under section 872 of Public Law 110-417, as amended (41 U.S.C. 
2313).  As required by section 3010 of Public Law 111-212, all information posted in the 
designated integrity and performance system on or after April 15, 2011, except past 
performance reviews required for Federal procurement contracts, will be publicly available. 

 
2. Proceedings About Which You Must Report.  Submit the information required about 
each proceeding that: 

 
i. Is relating to the award or performance of a grant, cooperative agreement, or 
procurement contract from the Federal Government; 
 
ii. Reached its final disposition during the most recent five-year period; and 
 

  

292

Item 17.



 

48 | 12 November 2020 

iii. Is one of the following: 
 

(A) A criminal proceeding that resulted in a conviction, as defined in paragraph 5 of this 
award term and condition; 
 

(B) A civil proceeding that resulted in a finding of fault and liability and payment of a 
monetary fine, penalty, reimbursement, restitution, or damages of $5,000 or more; 
 

(C) An administrative proceeding, as defined in paragraph 5 of this award term and 
condition, that resulted in a finding of fault and liability and your payment of either 
a monetary fine or penalty of $5,000 or more or reimbursement, restitution, or 
damages in excess of $100,000; or 
 

(D) Any other criminal, civil, or administrative proceeding if: 
 
I. It could have led to an outcome described in paragraph 2.c.(1), (2), or (3) of this 

award term and condition; 
 
II. It had a different disposition arrived at by consent or compromise with an 

acknowledgment of fault on your part; and 
 
III. The requirement in this award term and condition to disclose information about 

the proceeding does not conflict with applicable laws and regulations. 
 

3. Reporting Procedures.  Enter in the SAM Entity Management area the information that 
SAM requires about each proceeding described in paragraph 2 of this award term and 
condition.  You do not need to submit the information a second time under assistance awards 
that you received if you already provided the information through SAM because you were 
required to do so under Federal procurement contracts that you were awarded. 

 
4. Reporting Frequency.  During any period when you are subject to the requirement in 
paragraph 1 of this award term and condition, you must report proceedings information 
through SAM for the most recent five-year period, either to report new information about any 
proceeding(s) that you have not reported previously or affirm that there is no new 
information to report.  Recipients that have Federal contract, grant, and cooperative 
agreement awards with a cumulative total value greater than $10,000,000 must disclose 
semiannually any information about the criminal, civil, and administrative proceedings. 

 
5. Definitions.  For purposes of this award term and condition: 

 
i. Administrative proceeding means a non-judicial process that is adjudicatory in nature 
to make a determination of fault or liability (e.g., Securities and Exchange Commission 
Administrative proceedings, Civilian Board of Contract Appeals proceedings, and Armed 
Services Board of Contract Appeals proceedings).  This includes proceedings at the Federal 
and State level but only in connection with performance of a Federal contract or grant.  It 
does not include audits, site visits, corrective plans, or inspection of deliverables. 

293

Item 17.



 

49 | 12 November 2020 

 
ii. Conviction, for purposes of this award term and condition, means a judgment or 
conviction of a criminal offense by any court of competent jurisdiction, whether entered 
upon a verdict or a plea, and includes a conviction entered upon a plea of nolo contendere. 

 
iii. Total value of currently active grants, cooperative agreements, and procurement 
contracts includes: 

 
(A) Only the Federal share of the funding under any Federal award with a recipient cost 

share or match; and 
 

(B) The value of all expected funding increments under a Federal award and options, 
even if not yet exercised. 

q. Never Contract with the Enemy (2 C.F.R Part 183; 2 C.F.R. § 200.215) 
 

Under 2 C.F.R. § 200.215 (Never contract with the enemy) Federal awarding agencies and 
recipients are subject to the regulations implementing Never Contract with the Enemy in 2 
C.F.R. Part 183.  These regulations affect covered contracts, grants and cooperative agreements 
that are expected to exceed $50,000 within the period of performance, are performed outside the 
United States and its territories, and are in support of a contingency operation in which members 
of the Armed Forces are actively engaged in hostilities. 
 

1. Applicability.  This term applies only to recipients of covered grants or cooperative 
agreements, as defined in 2 C.F.R. § 183.35 Definitions. 

 
2. Requirements.  As applicable, recipients must fulfill the requirements as described in the 

following terms from 2 C.F.R. Part 183, Appendix A, which is incorporated into this award: 
 
a. Term 1.  Prohibition on Providing Funds to the Enemy.   
 
1. The recipient must— 

 
i. Exercise due diligence to ensure that none of the funds, including supplies and services, 

received under this grant or cooperative agreement are provided directly or indirectly 
(including through subawards or contracts) to a person or entity who is actively 
opposing the United States or coalition forces involved in a contingency operation in 
which members of the Armed Forces are actively engaged in hostilities, which must be 
completed through 2 CFR Part 180.300 prior to issuing a subaward or contract and;  
 

ii. Terminate or void in whole or in part any subaward or contract with a person or entity 
listed in SAM as a prohibited or restricted source pursuant to subtitle E of Title VIII of 
the NDAA for FY 2015, unless the Federal awarding agency provides written approval to 
continue the subaward or contract. 

 

294

Item 17.



 

50 | 12 November 2020 

2. The recipient may include the substance of this clause, including this paragraph (1), in 
subawards under this grant or cooperative agreement that have an estimated value over 
$50,000 and will be performed outside the United States, including its outlying areas. 
 
3. The Federal awarding agency has the authority to terminate or void this grant or 
cooperative agreement, in whole or in part, if the Federal awarding agency becomes aware 
that the recipient failed to exercise due diligence as required by paragraph (1) of this clause 
or if the Federal awarding agency becomes aware that any funds received under this grant 
or cooperative agreement have been provided directly or indirectly to a person or entity who 
is actively opposing coalition forces involved in a contingency operation in which members 
of the Armed Forces are actively engaged in hostilities 
 
b. Term 2.  Additional Access to Recipient Records. 
 
1. In addition to any other existing examination-of-records authority, the Federal 
Government is authorized to examine any records of the recipient and its subawards or 
contracts to the extent necessary to ensure that funds, including supplies and services, 
available under this grant or cooperative agreement are not provided, directly or indirectly, 
to a person or entity that is actively opposing United States or coalition forces involved in a 
contingency operation in which members of the Armed Forces are actively engaged in 
hostilities, except for awards awarded by the Department of Defense on or before Dec 19, 
2017 that will be performed in the United States Central Command (USCENTCOM) theater 
of operations    
 
2. The substance of this clause, including this paragraph (2), is required to be included in 
subawards or contracts under this grant or cooperative agreement that have an estimated 
value over $50,000 and will be performed outside the United States, including its outlying 
areas. 

 

r. Prohibition on certain telecommunications and video surveillance services or 
equipment (Public Law 115-232, section 889; 2 C.F.R. ⸹ 200.216) 
 

(a) Recipients and subrecipients are prohibited from obligating or expending loan or grant 
funds to: 

 
(1) Procure or obtain, 
(2) Extend or renew a contract to procure or obtain, or 
(3) Enter into a contract (or extend or renew a contract) to procure or obtain equipment, 

services or systems that uses covered telecommunications equipment or services as a 
substantial or essential component of any system, or as critical technology as part of any 
system. 
 

  

295

Item 17.



 

51 | 12 November 2020 

As described in Public Law 115-232, section 889, covered telecommunications 
equipment is telecommunications equipment produced by Huawei Technologies 
Company or ZTE Corporation (or any subsidiary or affiliate of such entities). 
 
(i). For the purpose of public safety, security of government facilities, physical 

security surveillance of critical infrastructure, and other national security 
purposes, video surveillance and telecommunications equipment produced by 
Hytera Communications Corporation, Hangzhou Hikvision Digital Technology 
Company, or Dahua Technology Company (or any subsidiary or affiliate of such 
entities). 

(ii). Telecommunications or video surveillance services provided by such entities or 
using such equipment. 

(iii). Telecommunications or video surveillance equipment or services produced or 
provided by an entity that the Secretary of Defense, in consultation with the 
Director of the National Intelligence or the Director of the Federal Bureau of 
Investigation, reasonably believes to be an entity owned or controlled by, or 
otherwise connected to, the government of a covered foreign country. 

 
(b)  In implementing the prohibition under Public Law 115-232, section 889, subsection (f), 

paragraph (1), heads of executive agencies administering loan, grant, or subsidy programs shall 
prioritize available funding and technical support to assist affected businesses, institutions and 
organizations as is reasonably necessary for those affected entities to transition from covered 
communications equipment and services, to procure replacement equipment and services, and to 
ensure that communications service to users and customers is sustained.  

 
(c) See Public Law 115-232, section 889 for additional information. 
 
(d) See also §200.471. 

 

s. Federal Financial Assistance Planning During a Funding Hiatus or Government 
Shutdown  
 

This term sets forth initial guidance that will be implemented for Federal assistance awards in 
the event of a lapse in appropriations, or a government shutdown.  The Grants Officer may issue 
further guidance prior to an anticipated shutdown.  
 

1. Unless there is an actual rescission of funds for specific grant or cooperative agreement 
obligations, non-Federal entities under Federal financial assistance awards for which funds 
have been obligated generally will be able to continue to perform and incur allowable 
expenses under the award during a funding hiatus.  Non-Federal entities are advised that 
ongoing activities by Federal employees involved in grant or cooperative agreement 
administration (including payment processing) or similar operational and administrative 
work cannot continue when there is a funding lapse.  Therefore, there may be delays, 
including payment processing delays, in the event of a shutdown.     
 

296

Item 17.



 

52 | 12 November 2020 

2. All award actions will be delayed during a government shutdown; if it appears that a non-
Federal entity’s performance under a grant or cooperative agreement will require agency 
involvement, direction, or clearance during the period of a possible government shutdown, 
the Program Officer or Grants Officer, as appropriate, may attempt to provide such 
involvement, direction, or clearance prior to the shutdown or advise non-Federal entities that 
such involvement, direction, or clearance will not be forthcoming during the shutdown.  
Accordingly, non-Federal entities whose ability to withdraw funds is subject to prior agency 
approval, which in general are non-Federal entities that have been designated high risk, non-
Federal entities under construction awards, or are otherwise limited to reimbursements or 
subject to agency review, will be able to draw funds down from the relevant Automatic 
Standard Application for Payment (ASAP) account only if agency approval is given and 
coded into ASAP prior to any government shutdown or closure.  This limitation may not be 
lifted during a government shutdown.  Non-Federal entities should plan to work with the 
Grants Officer to request prior approvals in advance of a shutdown wherever possible.  Non-
Federal entities whose authority to draw down award funds is restricted may decide to 
suspend work until the government reopens.   
 
3. The ASAP system should remain operational during a government shutdown.  Non-
Federal entities that do not require any Grants Officer or agency approval to draw down 
advance funds from their ASAP accounts should be able to do so during a shutdown.  The 
30-day limitation on the drawdown of advance funds will still apply notwithstanding a 
government shutdown (see section B.02.b.1 of these terms).   

297

Item 17.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 

Administration Division 

  

  

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 TO: Mayor Green & City Council  

 FROM: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development 

 DATE: June 23, 2022 

SUBJECT:  Contract for Grant Administration with INRCOG for the EDA Grant:  
  Travel, Tourism and Outdoor Recreation Program  
 
 
When the Council supported submitting a grant application to the Economic 
Development Administration (EDA) under the new program American Rescue Plan Act 
Travel, Tourism, and Outdoor Recreation Grant, in late December 2021, Resolution 
22,632 was also approved stating that the City would enter into a Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) with the Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments 
(INRCOG) for grant administration, subject to being awarded the grant.   
 
Attached is a proposed contract and scope of services for grant administration.  Similar 
to our contracts with INRCOG on the CDBG grant support, the scope of services 
includes activities supporting or performing actions to maintain federal grant 
compliance.  This includes monitoring compliance and maintaining records, reviewing 
contracts for compliance, ensuring Davis-Bacon compliance, and other financial 
management and reporting.  Community Development and Finance staff has reviewed 
the scope of services, agreeing it covers our needs.  The total fee for services will not 
exceed $30,000. 
 
Staff recommends approval of the contract for INRCOG’s services to assist in 
compliance with the Economic Development Administration (EDA) and other federal 
requirements regarding the $1,500,000 grant we received from the US EDA. 
 
 
 
xc: Thomas Weintraut, Planner III 
 Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

298

Item 18.



299

Item 18.



300

Item 18.



301

Item 18.



302

Item 18.



303

Item 18.



304

Item 18.



305

Item 18.



306

Item 18.



307

Item 18.



308

Item 18.



309

Item 18.



310

Item 18.



311

Item 18.



312

Item 18.



313

Item 18.



314

Item 18.



315

Item 18.



316

Item 18.



317

Item 18.



318

Item 18.



319

Item 18.



320

Item 18.



321

Item 18.



322

Item 18.



323

Item 18.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

  

 

 

  

 
  

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Thom Weintraut, Planner III 
 

 DATE: June 23, 2022 

SUBJECT: Approval of Property Purchase Offers for the Northern Cedar Falls Flood 
Buyout Program, Project No. FL-000-3198 

 
On October 6, 2021 City Council approved a grant agreement between Iowa Homeland 
Security and Emergency Management and the City of Cedar Falls for the Cedar Falls 
Property Acquisition and Demolition Project. The funding that was approved as part of the 
agreement would have allowed the City to purchase 9 properties. Staff recently mailed out 
purchase offers to the 8 property owners who expressed interest in selling their property. We 
have received 4 signed purchase offers back.  
 
The four (4) properties that have submitted their purchase offers are as follows: 
 

1. 627 Clair Street – Owner James Mehmen ($95,000) 
2. 628 Longview Street – Owner Theresa and Jack Brandt ($135,000) 
3. 824 Cottage Row Lane – Owner Matthew Miller  ($170,000) 
4. 1027 Clair Street – Owners Jennifer and Michael Giesler ($78,000) 

 

The total amount for the properties listed above is $478,000, which are the appraised values 
as approved by FEMA in the City’s grant application. 
 
Once the City approves the Purchase Offers, we will begin the closing process on the 
properties. Staff has set the tentative closing dates for the properties as August 12, 2022. 
After the City takes over possession of the property, the necessary steps will be taken to 
remove the structures from the property. The close-out date for the grant is December 31, 
2022. 
 
The Department of Community Development recommends that the City Council adopt a 
resolution approving the Purchase Offers for the 4 properties listed above.  If you have any 
questions, please contact the Community Development Department.  
 

 
xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development  
 Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance and Business Operations 
 Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager 

324

Item 19.



PURCHASE OFFER 
VOLUNTARY PROPERTY ACQUISITION PROGRAM 

CONDITIONAL OFFER TO BUY 
REAL PROPERTY AND ACCEPTANCE 

TO: James A. Mehmen, herein designated as "Sellers". 

Cedar Falls, a City of the State of Iowa (herein referred to as the "Buyer"), acting 
pursuant to the terms of the grant agreement with Iowa Homeland Security and 
Emergency Management Division in administering its Voluntary Property Acquisition 
Project does hereby offer to buy all the Seller's right, title, and interest in the real and 
personal property located at the following address and legally described real estate: 

Lot No. 38 in Cedar Acres Addition, Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa. 

More commonly known as: 627 Clair Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 

together with all the Seller's right, title, and interest in all fixtures, buildings, and 
improvements located on the above-described real estate, free and clear of all liens, 
encumbrances, reservations, exceptions, and modifications. The entirety of the above 
described property being conveyed shall hereinafter be referred to as the "Property". 
The Property shall be conveyed without U.C.C. liens. For the purposes of this 
document, said fixtures include all personal property that integrally belongs to, or is part 
of, the above-described real estate, whether attached or detached, such as light fixtures 
(including fluorescence tubes, but not mazda bulbs), awnings, storm windows, storm 
doors, storm sashes, screens, attached linoleum, plumbing fixtures, water heaters, 
water softeners, automatic heating equipment, air conditioning equipment (other than 
window type), door chimes, built-in items, and electrical service cable, fencing, gates 
and other attached fixtures, trees, bushes, shrubs and plants (unless specifically 
exempted). 

Conditions: 

This offer to buy is based on two conditions: 

1. Procurement of federal and match funding, 

2. Positive abstract finding from the Buyer's legal counsel. 

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program - 1 - 627 Clair Street - Mehman 

325

Item 19.



In consideration of the covenants and obligations contained herein, the parties agree as 
follows: 

1. Purchase Price. Buyer offers to purchase all the Seller's right, title, and 
interest in the Property for $95,000, payable at Closing, which sums shall be 
reduced by any amounts paid by Buyer or others on behalf of, or to the Seller, 
for the purposes set forth in paragraph 7 A. The Seller shall receive no other 
compensation from Buyer for the Seller's right, title, and interest in the Property. 

2. Abstract and Title. Seller shall promptly deliver to Buyer a copy of the abstract 
of title for the Property, prepared pursuant to Iowa Code Sections 614.29 
through 614.38, Iowa Land Association Abstracting Standards, and Iowa Land 
Title Examination Standards of the Iowa State Bar Association. The abstract 
shall begin with the government patent to the Property and show merchantable 
title in Seller. In the event that the Seller is unable to deliver an existing abstract 
to Buyer, the costs of creating a new 40-year abstract shall be paid by the Seller. 
The land will be permanently deed restricted with the Buyer acquiring all 
development rights to said land. 

The Seller shall pay all costs required to perfect its title to the Property and shall 
pay the costs of any additional abstracting and/or title work due to acts or 
omissions of the Seller, including transfers or death of Seller or assigns. 

3. Closing Date. On or before 90 days after the date of the signing of this 
document, or at such date as the parties may mutually agree (the "Closing 
Date"), the Seller shall have completed its obligations under paragraph 2 and 
paragraph 6. 

4. Possession. On and after the Closing Date, Buyer shall be entitled to 
immediate possession of the Property. 

5. Inspection of the Property. Buyer, at its expense, shall have the right to 
conduct such investigations, inspections, and inventories of the Property as it 
deems reasonable or necessary prior to closing. The Seller hereby grants 
Buyer, its officers, agents, employees, and independent contractors, the right to 
enter upon the Property at reasonable times, upon reasonable notice (oral or 
written), from time-to-time after the date of this Offer for the purposes of 
investigating, inspecting, and performing inventories of the Property, and for 
other purposes and inventories by Buyer, regardless of the outcome thereof, 
shall not affect Seller's representation or warranties set forth in paragraph 17. 

6. Removal of Personal Property and Debris. Prior to the Closing Date, Seller at 
its own expense shall remove all personal belongings, equipment and debris 
from the Property, including but not limited to vehicles, vehicle parts, appliances, 
storage containers, household cleaners and solvents, construction materials, 

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program - 2 - 627 Clair Street - Mehman 

326

Item 19.



firewood, etc. After the purchase price is paid in full to the Sellers, the Buyer 
shall immediately remove all personal property (including the home) from the real 
estate and grade the lot to the quality of a lot in the same shape as ready to build 
a new home thereon. 

7. Application of Purchase Price, Deductions for Flood Assistance Received. 

A. Prior to disbursing payments to the Seller, Buyer may use a portion of the 
Purchase Price to satisfy the Seller's obligations under this document to 
remove personal belongings and debris, and to pay taxes, assessments, 
liens, acquisition of other parties' outstanding interest in the Property, 
abstracting, recording fees, and other costs incidental to the conveyance by 
Seller of merchantable title to Buyer. 

B. Seller acknowledges that this voluntary acquisition is made pursuant to a 
program funded by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) 
and U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). In order 
to prevent the duplication of Federal Assistance made to flood disaster 
victims , HUD and FEMA require that certain types of assistance received by 
the Seller from State, Federal, and private sources for flood-related damage 
be deducted in determining the Purchase Price. 

9. Insurance. Seller shall maintain and keep in force and effect all existing 
property and liability insurance until termination of occupancy. 

10. Status Quo Maintained. The Property shall be preserved in its present 
condition and Seller shall deliver it intact at the time possession is given to 
Buyer. All risk of loss or damage to the Property is the Seller's until Buyer takes 
possession. Prior to possession by Buyer, Seller shall promptly give written 
notice to Buyer of any loss or damage to the Property. In the event of loss, 
damage, or destruction of all or part of the Property, Buyer shall have the option 
to terminate this Agreement effective immediately. However, in the case of loss, 
Buyer shall have the option to either (1) take possession of the Property and 
accept an assignment of all Seller's right, title, and interest in and to any claim 
Seller has under the insurance policies covering the Property; or (2) terminate 
this Agreement effective immediately. 

11 . Utilities . The Seller shall be responsible for payment of all utility expenses 
incurred by it or incurred by any other occupants, prior to the termination of 
occupancy, including without limitation of the foregoing sewer, solid waste, and 
water charges which may be assessed for collection pursuant to Iowa Code 
Section 384.84. 

12. Taxes. Seller shall pay all of the taxes on the Property (real and personal) to the 
date of the Closing, and all unpaid taxes for prior years. 

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program - 3- 627 Clair Street - Mehman 

327

Item 19.



13. Special Assessments. Seller shall pay in full all special assessments on the 
Property which have been certified to the County Treasurer for collection date 
before the Closing Date. 

14. Time is of the Essence. Time is of the essence of this agreement. 

15. Leases. Seller represents and warrants to Buyer that there are no leases, 
tenancies, or other rights of occupancy for use for any portion of the Property. 
The foregoing representation and warranty shall survive Closing Date. Seller 
shall hold harmless and indemnify Buyer for and against any claims which may 
arise or be based upon any alleged leasehold interest, tenancy, or other right of 
occupancy or use for any portion for the Property. 

16. Approval of Court. If the Property is an asset of any estate, trust or 
guardianship, this document shall be subject to Court approval prior to payment 
of Purchase price, unless declared unnecessary by Buyer's legal department. If 
Court approval is necessary, the appropriate fiduciary shall proceed promptly 
and diligently to bring the matter on for hearing to enable the issuance of a 
Courts Officer's Deed. 

17. Environmental Matters. The Seller hereby represents and warrants to Buyer 
that: 

A. Environmental Representations and Warranties: 

1) There are not abandoned wells, agricultural drainage wells, solid waste 
disposal sites, or underground storage tanks (as defined in Iowa Code, 
Chapter 4558) located in or about the Property; 

2) There is, and has been, no hazardous waste stored, generated, 
treated, transported, installed, dumped, handled or placed in, on, or 
about the Property; 

3) At no time has any Federal or State hazardous waste clean-up funds 
been expended with respect to any of the Property; 

4) There has never been any solid waste disposal site or underground 
storage tank located in, or about the Property, nor has there been any 
releases from an underground storage tank on real property contiguous 
to the Property which has resulted in any hazardous substance coming 
in contact with the Property. 

5) The Seller has not received any directive, citation, notice, letter, or 
other communication, whether written or oral, from the Environmental 

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program - 4 - 627 Clair Street - Mehman 

328

Item 19.



Protection Agency, the Iowa Department of Natural Resources, any 
other governmental agency with authority under any Environmental 
Laws, or any other person or entity regarding the release, disposal , 
discharge, or presence of any hazardous waste on the Property, or any 
violation of any Environmental Laws; and 

6) To the best of the Seller's knowledge, neither the Property, nor the real 
property contiguous to the Property, nor the predecessors in title to the 
Property, are in violation of, or subject to, any existing, pending, or 
threatened investigation or inquiry by any governmental authority or to 
any removal or remedial obligations under any Environmental Laws. 

The foregoing representations and warranties, and the environmental 
indemnifications set forth in the following subparagraph B, shall survive the 
Closing. In addition, the foregoing representations and warranties and the 
indemnifications provisions in this Offer to Buy shall not be affected by any 
study, investigation, or inspection of the Property by Buyer or the agents for 
Buyer. 

B. Environmental Indemnification 

The Seller agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Buyer from and against 
any and all claims, demands, fines, penalties, causes of action, losses, 
damage, liabilities, expenses, and costs (including court costs and 
reasonable attorney's fees, which may include the value of services provided 
by Buyer's legal department, incurred by Buyer to enforce this provision), 
asserted against or incurred by Buyer by reason of or arising out of the 
breach of any representation or warranty of the Seller set forth above. 

C. Additional Environmental Provisions 

The Seller shall not store, generate, treat, transport, install, dump, handle, or 
place in, on, or about any portion of the Property any hazardous waste or 
hazardous substance. If the Seller receives any notice from any 
governmental authority or any other party regarding the release or presence 
of any hazardous waste or hazardous substance on any portion of the 
Property, the Seller shall immediately notify Buyer of such fact. In addition, 
Buyer or its agents shall have the right to enter upon the Property at any 
time to perform additional environmental studies. If at any time Buyer in its 
sold and irrevocable discretion determines that hazardous waste or 
hazardous substances are present on any portion of the Property, Buyer 
may terminate this offer to buy effective immediately. 

18. Contract.Binding on Successors in Interest. This document shall apply to 
and bind the heirs, executors, administrators, partners, assigns, and successors 

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program - 5 - 627 Clair Street - Mehman 

329

Item 19.



in interest of the respective parties. 

19. Intention of Use of Words and Ph rases. Words and phrases contained 
herein, including the acknowledgment clause, shall be construed as in the 
singular and plural number, and as masculine, feminine, or neuter gender, 
according to the context. 

20. Voluntary Acquisit ion. The Seller, as owner of the Property, acknowledges 
that Buyer has presented this Offer for the Property pursuant to Buyer's 
Voluntary Acquisition Program and the Seller's acceptance of this Offer is a 
voluntary acquisition. Seller is under no duress or coercive action by Buyer to 
accept this offer and Buyer will not pursue acquisition of this Property by eminent 
domain or other means if the Seller declines to accept this Offer. The Seller 
further acknowledges that if it accepts this Offer, it will be necessary to move 
permanently from the Property. 

21. Offer. This Offer shall become null and void unless accepted by the Seller on, 
or before June 8, 2022. 

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program - 6 - 627 Clair Street - Mehman 

330

Item 19.



Official Buyer Approval: 

The foregoing contract was approved and authorized by the City of Cedar Falls on the 
______ day of , 20 __ 

Robert M. Green, Mayor 

Attest: 
·~----------------~ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 
City Clerk 

This Offer is presented to the Seller on this gth day of May, 2022 . 

a .. .1 " 
By: ~.J.1_.,U-- ~ /luJl;_, r, L{)..~£{ {(___ 

(/Authorized Representative 

The forE2.9-oing Offer is accepted by the undersigned Seller(s) this ·7 -ra- day of 

" "' .J../ '?_ ' 20 ""'2... ~ 

Seller's Spouse/Partner 

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program . 7 - 627 Clair Street - Mehman 

331

Item 19.



PURCHASE OFFER 
VOLUNTARY PROPERTY ACQUISITION PROGRAM 

CONDITIONAL OFFER TO BUY 
REAL PROPERTY AND ACCEPTANCE 

TO: Theresa and Jack Brandt, herein designated as "Sellers". 

Cedar Falls, a City of the State of Iowa (herein referred to as the "Buyer"), acting 
pursuant to the terms of the grant agreement with Iowa Homeland Security and 
Emergency Management Division in administering its Voluntary Property Acquisition 
Project does hereby offer to buy all the Seller's right, title, and interest in the real and 
personal property located at the following address and legally described real estate: 

Lot No. 22 in Cedar Acres Addition & Lot No.23 in Cedar Acres Addition, Cedar Falls, 
Black Hawk County, Iowa. 

More commonly known as: 628 Longv iew Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 

together with all the Seller's right, title, and interest in all fixtures, buildings, and 
improvements located on the above-described real estate, free and clear of all liens, 
encumbrances, reservations, exceptions, and modifications. The entirety of the above 
described property being conveyed shall hereinafter be referred to as the "Property". 
The Property shall be conveyed without U.C.C. liens. For the purposes of this 
document, said fixtures include all personal property that integrally belongs to, or is part 
of, the above-described real estate, whether attached or detached, such as light fixtures 
(including fluorescence tubes, but not mazda bulbs), awnings, storm windows, storm 
doors, storm sashes, screens, attached linoleum, plumbing fixtures, water heaters, 
water softeners, automatic heating equipment, air conditioning equipment (other than 
window type), door chimes, built-in items, and electrical service cable, fencing, gates 
and other attached fixtures, trees, bushes, shrubs and plants (unless specifically 
exempted). 

Conditions: 

This offer to buy is based on two conditions: 

1. Procurement of federal and match funding, 

2. Positive abstract finding from the Buyer's legal counsel. 

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program - 1 - 628 Longview Street- Brandt 

332

Item 19.



In consideration of the covenants and obligations contained herein, the parties agree as 
follows: 

1. Purchase Price. Buyer offers to purchase all the Seller' s right, title, and 
interest in the Property for $135,000 payable at Closing, which sums shall be 
reduced by any amounts paid by Buyer or others on behalf of, or to the Seller, 
for the purposes set forth in paragraph 7 A. The Seller shall receive no other 
compensation from Buyer for the Seller's right, title, and interest in the Property. 

2. Abst ract and Title. Seller shall promptly deliver to Buyer a copy of the abstract 
of title for the Property, prepared pursuant to Iowa Code Sections 614.29 
through 614.38, Iowa Land Association Abstracting Standards, and Iowa Land 
Title Examination Standards of the Iowa State Bar Association . The abstract 
shall begin with the government patent to the Property and show merchantable 
title in Seller. In the event that the Seller is unable to deliver an existing abstract 
to Buyer, the costs of creating a new 40-year abstract shall be paid by the Seller. 
The land will be permanently deed restricted with the Buyer acquiring all 
development rights to said land. 

The Seller shall pay all costs required to perfect its title to the Property and shall 
pay the costs of any additional abstracting and/or title work due to acts or 
omissions of the Seller, including transfers or death of Seller or assigns. 

3. Closing Date. On or before 90 days after the date of the signing of this 
document, or at such date as the parties may mutually agree (the "Closing 
Date"), the Seller shall have completed its obligations under paragraph 2 and 
paragraph 6. 

4. Possession. On and after the Closing Date, Buyer shall be entitled to 
immediate possession of the Property. 

5. Inspection of the Property. Buyer, at its expense, shall have the right to 
conduct such investigations, inspections, and inventories of the Property as it 
deems reasonable or necessary prior to closing. The Seller hereby grants 
Buyer, its officers, agents, employees, and independent contractors, the right to 
enter upon the Property at reasonable times, upon reasonable notice (oral or 
written), from time-to-time after the date of this Offer for the purposes of 
investigating, inspecting, and performing inventories of the Property, and for 
other purposes and inventories by Buyer, regardless of the outcome thereof, 
shall not affect Seller's representation or warranties set forth in paragraph 17. 

6. Removal of Personal Property and Debris. Prior to the Closing Date, Seller at 
its own expense shall remove all personal belongings, equipment and debris 
from the Property, including but not limited to vehicles, vehicle parts, appliances, 

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program -2 - 628 Longview Street - Brandt 

333

Item 19.



storage containers, household cleaners and solvents, construction materials, 
firewood, etc. After the purchase price is paid in full to the Sellers, the Buyer 
shall immediately remove all personal property (including the home) from the real 
estate and grade the lot to the quality of a lot in the same shape as ready to build 
a new home thereon. 

7. Application of Purchase Price, Deductions for Flood Assistance Received. 

A. Prior to disbursing payments to the Seller, Buyer may use a portion of the 
Purchase Price to satisfy the Seller's obligations under this document to 
remove personal belongings and debris, and to pay taxes, assessments, 
liens, acquisition of other parties' outstanding interest in the Property, 
abstracting, recording fees, and other costs incidental to the conveyance by 
Seller of merchantable title to Buyer. 

B. Seller acknowledges that this voluntary acquisition is made pursuant to a 
program funded by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) 
and U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). In order 
to prevent the duplication of Federal Assistance made to flood disaster 
victims, HUD and FEMA require that certain types of assistance received by 
the Seller from State, Federal, and private sources for flood-related damage 
be deducted in determining the Purchase Price. 

9. Insurance. Seller shall maintain and keep in force and effect all existing 
property and liability insurance until termination of occupancy. 

10. Status Quo Maintained. The Property shall be preserved in its present 
condition and Seller shall deliver it intact at the time possession is given to 
Buyer. All risk of loss or damage to the Property is the Seller's until Buyer takes 
possession. Prior to possession by Buyer, Seller shall promptly give written 
notice to Buyer of any loss or damage to the Property. In the event of loss, 
damage, or destruction of all or part of the Property, Buyer shall have the option 
to terminate this Agreement effective immediately. However, in the case of loss, 
Buyer shall have the option to either (1) take possession of the Property and 
accept an assignment of all Seller's right, title, and interest in and to any claim 
Seller has under the insurance policies covering the Property; or (2) terminate 
this Agreement effective immediately. 

11 . Utilit ies. The Seller shall be responsible for payment of all utility expenses 
incurred by it or incurred by any other occupants, prior to the termination of 
occupancy, including without limitation of the foregoing sewer, solid waste, and 
water charges which may be assessed for collection pursuant to Iowa Code 
Section 384.84. 

12. Taxes. Seller shall pay all of the taxes on the Property (real and personal) to the 

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program - 3 - 628 Longview Street- Brandt 

334

Item 19.



date of the Closing, and all unpaid taxes for prior years. 

13. Special Assessments. Seller shall pay in full all special assessments on the 
Property which have been certified to the County Treasurer for collection date 
before the Closing Date. 

14. Time is of the Essence. Time is of the essence of this agreement. 

15. Leases. Seller represents and warrants to Buyer that there are no leases, 
tenancies, or other rights of occupancy for use for any portion of the Property. 
The foregoing representation and warranty shall survive Closing Date. Seller 
shall hold harmless and indemnify Buyer for and against any claims which may 
arise or be based upon any alleged leasehold interest, tenancy, or other right of 
occupancy or use for any portion for the Property. 

16. Approval of Court. If the Property is an asset of any estate, trust or 
guardianship, this document shall be subject to Court approval prior to payment 
of Purchase price, unless declared unnecessary by Buyer's legal department. If 
Court approval is necessary, the appropriate fiduciary shall proceed promptly 
and diligently to bring the matter on for hearing to enable the issuance of a 
Courts Officer's Deed. 

17. Environmental Matters. The Seller hereby represents and warrants to Buyer 
that: 

A. Environmental Representations and Warranties: 

1) There are not abandoned wells, agricultural drainage wells, solid waste 
disposal sites, or underground storage tanks (as defined in Iowa Code, 
Chapter 455B) located in or about the Property; 

2) There is, and has been, no hazardous waste stored, generated, 
treated , transported, installed, dumped, handled or placed in, on, or 
about the Property; 

3) At no time has any Federal or State hazardous waste clean-up funds 
been expended with respect to any of the Property; 

4) There has never been any solid waste disposal site or underground 
storage tank located in, or about the Property, nor has there been any 
releases from an underground storage tank on real property contiguous 
to the Property which has resulted in any hazardous substance coming 
in contact with the Property. 

5) The Seller has not received any directive, citation, notice, letter, or 

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program - 4 - 628 Longview Street - Brandt 

335

Item 19.



other communication, whether written or oral, from the Environmental 
Protection Agency, the Iowa Department of Natural Resources, any 
other governmental agency with authority under any Environmental 
Laws, or any other person or entity regarding the release, disposal, 
discharge, or presence of any hazardous waste on the Property, or any 
violation of any Environmental Laws; and 

6) To the best of the Seller's knowledge, neither the Property, nor the real 
property contiguous to the Property, nor the predecessors in title to the 
Property, are in violation of, or subject to, any existing, pending, or 
threatened investigation or inquiry by any governmental authority or to 
any removal or remedial obligations under any Environmental Laws. 

The foregoing representations and warranties, and the environmental 
indemnifications set forth in the following subparagraph B, shall survive the 
Closing. In addition, the foregoing representations and warranties and the 
indemnifications provisions in this Offer to Buy shall not be affected by any 
study, investigation, or inspection of the Property by Buyer or the agents for 
Buyer. 

B. Environmental Indemnification 

The Seller agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Buyer from and against 
any and all claims, demands, fines, penalties, causes of action, losses, 
damage, liabilities, expenses, and costs (including court costs and 
reasonable attorney's fees, which may include the value of services provided 
by Buyer's legal department, incurred by Buyer to enforce this provision), 
asserted against or incurred by Buyer by reason of or arising out of the 
breach of any representation or warranty of the Seller set forth above. 

C. Additional Environmental Provisions 

The Seller shall not store, generate, treat, transport, install, dump, handle, or 
place in, on, or about any portion of the Property any hazardous waste or 
hazardous substance. If the Seller receives any notice from any 
governmental authority or any other party regarding the release or presence 
of any hazardous waste or hazardous substance on any portion of the 
Property, the Seller shall immediately notify Buyer of such fact. In addition, 
Buyer or its agents shall have the right to enter upon the Property at any 
time to perform additional environmental studies. If at any time Buyer in its 
sold and irrevocable discretion determines that hazardous waste or 
hazardous substances are present on any portion of the Property, Buyer 
may terminate this offer to buy effective immediately. 

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program - 5 - 628 Longview Street - Brandt 

336

Item 19.



18. Contract Binding on Successors in Interest. This document shall apply to 
and bind the heirs, executors, administrators, partners, assigns, and successors 
in interest of the respective parties. 

19. Intention of Use of Words and Phrases. Words and phrases contained 
herein, including the acknowledgment clause, shall be construed as in the 
singular and plural number, and as masculine, feminine, or neuter gender, 
according to the context. 

20. Voluntary Acquisition . The Seller, as owner of the Property, acknowledges 
that Buyer has presented this Offer for the Property pursuant to Buyer's 
Voluntary Acquisition Program and the Seller's acceptance of this Offer is a 
voluntary acquisition. Seller is under no duress or coercive action by Buyer to 
accept this offer and Buyer will not pursue acquisition of this Property by eminent 
domain or other means if the Seller declines to accept this Offer. The Seller 
further acknowledges that if it accepts this Offer, it will be necessary to move 
permanently from the Property. 

21. Offer. This Offer shall become null and void unless accepted by the Seller on, 
or before Jype1f, 2022. 

~"'vef-

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program - 6 - 628 Longview Street- Brandt 

337

Item 19.



Official Buyer Approval : 

The foregoing contract was approved and authorized by the City of Cedar Falls on the 
___ ___ day of , 20 __ 

Robert M. Green, Mayor 

Attest: ________________ _ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 
City Clerk 

This Offer is presented to the Seller on this gth day of May 2022. 

Bya_LW~ ,lu&~ 
f) Authorized Representative 

The foregoing Offer is accepted by the undersigned Seller(s) this / 1 day of 
C\ ~ . 20~. 
'(f 

By:U~ 
t Seller 

~ 
By: 16 ii 12. \O., n/\~a. rc\1-:: 

Seller's SpOU/P8rtner 

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program . 7 . 628 Longview Street - Brandt 

338

Item 19.



PURCHASE OFFER 
VOLUNTARY PROPERTY ACQUISITION PROGRAM 

CONDITIONAL OFFER TO BUY 
REAL PROPERTY AND ACCEPTANCE 

TO: Matthew J. Miller , herein designated as "Sellers". 

Cedar Falls, a City of the State of Iowa (herein referred to as the "Buyer"), acting 
pursuant to the terms of the grant agreement with Iowa Homeland Security and 
Emergency Management Division in administering its Voluntary Property Acquisition 
Project does hereby offer to buy all the Seller's right, title, and interest in the real and 
personal property located at the following address and legally described real estate: 

Auditor Barnes Plat No 7 Lot 15, Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa. 

More commonly known as: 824 Cottage Row Lane, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 

together with all the Seller's right, title, and interest in all fixtures, buildings, and 
improveme.nts located on the above-described real estate, free and clear of all liens, 
encumbrances, reservations, exceptions, and modifications. The entirety of the above 
described property being conveyed shall hereinafter be referred to as the "Property". 
The Property shall be conveyed without U.C.C. liens. For the purposes of this 
document, said fixtures include all personal property that integrally belongs to, or is part 
of, the above-described real estate, whether attached or detached, such as light fixtures 
(including fluorescence tubes, but not mazda bulbs), awnings, storm windows, storm 
doors, storm sashes, screens, attached linoleum, plumbing fixtures, water heaters, 
water softeners, automatic heating equipment, air conditioning equipment (other than 
window type), door chimes, built-in items, and electrical service cable, fencing, gates 
and other attached fixtures, trees, bushes, shrubs and plants (unless specifically 
exempted). 

Conditions: 

This offer to buy is based on two conditions: 

1. Procurement of federal and match funding, 

2. Positive abstract finding from the Buyer's legal counsel. 

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program - 1 - 824 Cottage Row Lane - Miller 

339

Item 19.



In consideration of the covenants and obligations contained herein, the parties agree as 
follows: 

1. Purchase Price. Buyer offers to purchase all the Seller' s right, title, and 
interest in the Property for $170,000, payable at Closing, which sums shall be 
reduced by any amounts paid by Buyer or others on behalf of, or to the Seller, 
for the purposes set forth in paragraph 7 A. The Seller shall receive no other 
compensation from Buyer for the Seller's right, title, and interest in the Property. 

2. Abstract and Title. Seller shall promptly deliver to Buyer a copy of the abstract 
of title for the Property, prepared pursuant to Iowa Code Sections 614.29 
through 614.38, Iowa Land Association Abstracting Standards, and Iowa Land 
Title Examination Standards of the Iowa State Bar Association. The abstract 
shall begin with the government patent to the Property and show merchantable 
title in Seller. In the event that the Seller is unable to deliver an existing abstract 
to Buyer, the costs of creating a new 40-year abstract shall be paid by the Seller. 
The land will be permanently deed restricted with the Buyer acquiring all 
development rights to said land. 

The Seller shall pay all costs required to perfect its title to the Property and shall 
pay the costs of any additional abstracting and/or title work due to acts or 
omissions of the Seller, including transfers or death of Seller or assigns. 

3. Closing Date. On or before 90 days after the date of the signing of this 
document, or at such date as the parties may mutually agree (the "Closing 
Date"), the Seller shall have completed its obligations under paragraph 2 and 
paragraph 6. 

4. Possession. On and after the Closing Date, Buyer shall be entitled to 
immediate possession of the Property. 

5. Inspection of the Property. Buyer, at its expense, shall have the right to 
conduct such investigations, inspections, and inventories of the Property as it 
deems reasonable or necessary prior to closing. The Seller hereby grants 
Buyer, its officers, agents, employees, and independent contractors, the right to 
enter upon the Property at reasonable times, upon reasonable notice (oral or 
written), from time-to-time after the date of this Offer for the purposes of 
investigating, inspecting, and performing inventories of the Property, and for 
other purposes and inventories by Buyer, regardless of the outcome thereof, 
shall not affect Seller's representation or warranties set forth in paragraph 17. 

6. Removal of Personal Property and Debris. Prior to the Closing Date, Seller at 
its own expense shall remove all personal belongings, equipment and debris 

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program - 2 - 824 Cottage Row Lane - Miller 

340

Item 19.



from the Property, including but not limited to vehicles, vehicle parts, appliances, 
storage containers, household cleaners and solvents, construction materials, 
firewood, etc. After the purchase price is paid in full to the Sellers, the Buyer 
shall immediately remove all personal property (including the home) from the real 
estate and grade the lot to the quality of a lot in the same shape as ready to build 
a new home thereon. 

7. Application of Purchase Price, Deductions for Flood Assistance Received. 

A. Prior to disbursing payments to the Seller, Buyer may use a portion of the 
Purchase Price to satisfy the Seller's obligations under this document to 
remove personal belongings and debris, and to pay taxes, assessments, 
liens, acquisition of other parties' outstanding interest in the Property, 
abstracting, recording fees, and other costs incidental to the conveyance by 
Seller of merchantable title to Buyer. 

8. Seller acknowledges that this voluntary acquisition is made pursuant to a 
program funded by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) 
and U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). In order 
to prevent the duplication of Federal Assistance made to flood disaster 
victims, HUD and FEMA require that certain types of assistance received by 
the Seller from State, Federal, and private sources for flood-related damage 
be deducted in determining the Purchase Price. 

9. Insurance. Seller shall maintain and keep in force and effect all existing 
property and liability insurance until termination of occupancy. 

10. Status Quo Maintained. The Property shall be preserved in its present 
condition and Seller shall deliver it intact at the time possession is given to 
Buyer. All risk of loss or damage to the Property is the Seller's until Buyer takes 
possession. Prior to possession by Buyer, Seller shall promptly give written 
notice to Buyer of any loss or damage to the Property. In the event of loss, 
damage, or destruction of all or part of the Property, Buyer shall have the option 
to terminate this Agreement effective immediately. However, in the case of loss, 
Buyer shall have the option to either (1) take possession of the Property and 
accept an assignment of all Seller's right, title, and interest in and to any claim 
Seller has under the insurance policies covering the Property; or (2) terminate 
this Agreement effective immediately. 

11. Utilities. The Seller shall be responsible for payment of all utility expenses 
incurred by it or incurred by any other occupants, prior to the termination of 
occupancy, including without limitation of the foregoing sewer, solid waste, and 
water charges which may be assessed for collection pursuant to Iowa Code 
Section 384.84. 

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program - 3 - 824 Cottage Row Lane - Miller 

341

Item 19.



12. Taxes. Seller shall pay all of the taxes on the Property (real and personal) to the 
date of the Closing, and all unpaid taxes for prior years. 

13. Special Assessments. Seller shall pay in full all special assessments on the 
Property which have been certified to the County Treasurer for collection date 
before the Closing Date. 

14. Time is of the Essence. Time is of the essence of this agreement. 

15. Leases. Seller represents and warrants to Buyer that there are no leases, 
tenancies, or other rights of occupancy for use for any portion of the Property. 
The foregoing representation and warranty shall survive Closing Date. Seller 
shall hold harmless and indemnify Buyer for and against any claims which may 
arise or be based upon any alleged leasehold interest, tenancy, or other right of 
occupancy or use for any portion for the Property. 

16. Approval of Court. If the Property is an asset of any estate, trust or 
guardianship, this document shall be subject to Court approval prior to payment 
of Purchase price, unless declared unnecessary by Buyer's legal department. If 
Court approval is necessary, the appropriate fiduciary shall proceed promptly 
and diligently to bring the matter on for hearing to enable the issuance of a 
Courts Officer's Deed. 

17. Environmental Matters. The Seller hereby represents and warrants to Buyer 
that: 

A. Environmental Representations and Warranties: 

1) There are not abandoned wells, agricultural drainage wells, solid waste 
disposal sites, or underground storage tanks (as defined in Iowa Code, 
Chapter 4558) located in or about the Property; 

2) There is, and has been, no hazardous waste stored, generated, 
treated, transported, installed, dumped, handled or placed in, on, or 
about the Property; 

3) At no time has any Federal or State hazardous waste clean-up funds 
been expended with respect to any of the Property; 

4) There has never been any solid waste disposal site or underground 
storage tank located in, or about the Property, nor has there been any 
releases from an underground storage tank on real property contiguous 
to the Property which has resulted in any hazardous substance coming 

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program - 4 - 824 Cottage Row Lane - Miller 

342

Item 19.



in contact with the Property. 

5) The Seller has not received any directive, citation, notice, letter, or 
other communication, whether written or oral, from the Environmental 
Protection Agency, the Iowa Department of Natural Resources, any 
other governmental agency with authority under any Environmental 
Laws, or any other person or entity regarding the release, disposal, 
discharge, or presence of any hazardous waste on the Property, or any 
violation of any Environmental Laws; and 

6) To the best of the Seller's knowledge, neither the Property, nor the real 
property contiguous to the Property, nor the predecessors in title to the 
Property, are in violation of, or subject to, any existing, pending, or 
threatened investigation or inquiry by any governmental authority or to 
any removal or remedial obligations under any Environmental Laws. 

The foregoing representations and warranties, and the environmental 
indemnifications set forth in the following subparagraph B, shall survive the 
Closing. In addition, the foregoing representations and warranties and the 
indemnifications provisions in this Offer to Buy shall not be affected by any 
study, investigation, or inspection of the Property by Buyer or the agents for 
Buyer. 

B. Environmental Indemnification 

The Seller agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Buyer from and against 
any and all claims, demands, fines, penalties, causes of action, losses, 
damage, liabilities, expenses, and costs (including court costs and 
reasonable attorney's fees, which may include the value of services provided 
by Buyer's legal department, incurred by Buyer to enforce this provision), 
asserted against or incurred by Buyer by reason of or arising out of the 
breach of any representation or warranty of the Seller set forth above. 

C. Additional Environmental Provisions 

The Seller shall not store, generate, treat, transport, install, dump, handle, or 
place in, on, or about any portion of the Property any hazardous waste or 
hazardous substance. If the Seller receives any notice from any 
governmental authority or any other party regarding the release or presence 
of any hazardous waste or hazardous substance on any portion of the 
Property, the Seller shall immediately notify Buyer of such fact. In addition, 
Buyer or its agents shall have the right to enter upon the Property at any 
time to perform additional environmental studies. If at any time Buyer in its 
sold and irrevocable discretion determines that hazardous waste or 

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program - 5- 824 Cottage Row Lane - Miller 

343

Item 19.



hazardous substances are present on any portion of the Property, Buyer 
may terminate this offer to buy effective immediately. 

18. Contract Binding on Successors in Interest. This document shall apply to 
and bind the heirs, executors, administrators, partners, assigns, and successors 
in interest of the respective parties. 

19. Intention of Use of Words and Phrases. Words and phrases contained 
herein, including the acknowledgment clause, shall be construed as in the 
singular and plural number, and as masculine, feminine, or neuter gender, 
according to the context. 

20. Voluntary Acquisition. The Seller, as owner of the Property, acknowledges 
that Buyer has presented this Offer for the Property pursuant to Buyer's 
Voluntary Acquisition Program and the Seller's acceptance of this Offer is a 
voluntary acquisition. Seller is under no duress or coercive action by Buyer to 
accept this offer and Buyer will not pursue acquisition of this Property by eminent 
domain or other means if the Seller declines to accept this Offer. The Seller 
further acknowledges that if it accepts this Offer, it will be necessary to move 
permanently from the Property. 

21 . Offer. This Offer shall become null and void unless accepted by the Seller on, 
or before June 8 .. 2022. 

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program - 6 - 824 Cottage Row Lane - Miller 

344

Item 19.



Official Buyer Approval : 

The foregoing contract was approved and authorized by the City of Cedar Falls on the 
______ day of , 20 __ 

Robert M. Green, Mayor 

Attest: 
~-----------------
Jacque Ii n e Danielsen, MMC 
City Clerk 

This Offer is presented to the Seller on is 9th day of May, 2022. 

By:-+-+--__..,~f--~ ___ ____;::,,___ 

The f~ng Offer is accepted by the undersigned Seller(s) this __ JI&_~ __ day of 

--~~--t------·· 2o_ZL. 

By: (JI Tu !~II. 
+=t~ 

By~ .~/Partner 

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program -7 - 824 Cottage Row Lane - Miller 

345

Item 19.



346

Item 19.



PURCHASE OFFER 
VOLUNTARY PROPERTY ACQUISITION PROGRAM 

CONDITIONAL OFFER TO BUY 
REAL PROPERTY AND ACCEPTANCE 

TO: Jennifer D. & Michael J. Giesler, herein designated as "Sellers". 

Cedar Falls, a City of the State of Iowa (herein referred to as the "Buyer"), acting 
pursuant to the terms of the grant agreement with Iowa Homeland Security and 
Emergency Management Division in administering its Voluntary Property Acquisition 
Project does hereby offer to buy all the Seller's right, title, and interest in the real and 
personal property located at the following address and legally described real estate: 

Lot No. 15 in Bruhn's Subdivision No. Two, Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa. 

More commonly known as: 1027 Clair Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 

together with all the Seller's right, title, and interest in all fixtures, buildings, and 
improvements located on the above-described real estate, free and clear of all liens, 
encumbrances, reservations, exceptions, and modifications. The entirety of the above 
described property being conveyed shall hereinafter be referred to as the "Property". 
The Property shall be conveyed without U.C.C. liens. For the purposes of this 
document, said fixtures include all personal property that integrally belongs to, or is part 
of, the above-described real estate, whether attached or detached, such as light fixtures 
(including fluorescence tubes, but not mazda bulbs), awnings, storm windows, storm 
doors, storm sashes, screens, attached linoleum, plumbing fixtures, water heaters, 
water softeners, automatic heating equipment, air conditioning equipment (other than 
window type), door chimes, built-in items, and electrical service cable , fencing, gates 
and other attached fixtures, trees, bushes, shrubs and plants (unless specifically 
exempted). 

Conditions: 

This offer to buy is based on two conditions: 

1. Procurement of federal and match funding, 

2. Positive abstract finding from the Buyer's legal counsel. 

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program - 1 - 1027 Clair Street - Giesler 

347

Item 19.



In consideration of the covenants and obligations contained herein, the parties agree as 
follows: 

1. Purchase Price. Buyer offers to purchase all the Seller's right, title, and 
interest in the Property for $78,000, payable at Closing, which sums shall be 
reduced by any amounts paid by Buyer or others on behalf of, or to the Seller, 
for the purposes set forth in paragraph 7 A. The Seller shall receive no other 
compensation from Buyer for the Seller's right, title, and interest in the Property. 

2. Abstract and Title. Seller shall promptly deliver to Buyer a copy of the abstract 
of title for the Property, prepared pursuant to Iowa Code Sections 614.29 
through 614.38, Iowa Land Association Abstracting Standards, and Iowa Land 
Title Examination Standards of the Iowa State Bar Association. The abstract 
shall begin with the government patent to the Property and show merchantable 
title in Seller. In the event that the Seller is unable to deliver an existing abstract 
to Buyer, the costs of creating a new 40-year abstract shall be paid by the Seller. 
The land will be permanently deed restricted with the Buyer acquiring all 
development rights to said land. 

The Seller shall pay all costs required to perfect its title to the Property and shall 
pay the costs of any additional abstracting and/or title work due to acts or 
omissions of the Seller, including transfers or death of Seller or assigns. 

3. Closing Date. On or before 90 days after the date of the signing of this 
document, or at such date as the parties may mutually agree (the "Closing 
Date"), the Seller shall have completed its obligations under paragraph 2 and 
paragraph 6. 

4. Possession. On and after the Closing Date, Buyer shall be entitled to 
immediate possession of the Property. 

5. Inspection of the Property. Buyer, at its expense, shall have the right to 
conduct such investigations, inspections, and inventories of the Property as it 
deems reasonable or necessary prior to closing. The Seller hereby grants 
Buyer, its officers, agents, employees, and independent contractors, the right to 
enter upon the Property at reasonable times, upon reasonable notice (oral or 
written), from time-to-time after the date of this Offer for the purposes of 
investigating, inspecting, and performing inventories of the Property, and for 
other purposes and inventories by Buyer, regardless of the outcome thereof, 
shall not affect Seller's representation or warranties set forth in paragraph 17. 

6. Removal of Personal Property and Debris. Prior to the Closing Date, Seller at 
its own expense shall remove all personal belongings, equipment and debris 
from the Property, including but not limited to vehicles, vehicle parts, appliances, 
storage containers, household cleaners and solvents, construction materials, 

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program - 2 . 1027 Clair Street - Giesler 

348

Item 19.



firewood, etc. After the purchase price is paid in full to the Sellers, the Buyer 
shall immediately remove all personal property (including the home) from the real 
estate and grade the lot to the quality of a lot in the same shape as ready to build 
a new home thereon. 

7. Application of Purchase Price, Deductions for Flood Assistance Received. 

A. Prior to disbursing payments to the Seller, Buyer may use a portion of the 
Purchase Price to satisfy the Seller's obligations under this document to 
remove personal belongings and debris, and to pay taxes, assessments, 
liens, acquisition of other parties' outstanding interest in the Property, 
abstracting, recording fees, and other costs incidental to the conveyance by 
Seller of merchantable title to Buyer. 

B. Seller acknowledges that this voluntary acquisition is made pursuant to a 
program funded by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) 
and U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). In order 
to prevent the duplication of Federal Assistance made to flood disaster 
victims, HUD and FEMA require that certain types of assistance received by 
the Seller from State, Federal, and private sources for flood-related damage 
be deducted in determining the Purchase Price. 

9. Insurance. Seller shall maintain and keep in force and effect all existing 
property and liability insurance until termination of occupancy. 

10. Status Quo Maintained. The Property shall be preserved in its present 
condition and Seller shall deliver it intact at the time possession is given to 
Buyer. All risk of loss or damage to the Property is the Seller's until Buyer takes 
possession. Prior to possession by Buyer, Seller shall promptly give written 
notice to Buyer of any loss or damage to the Property. In the event of loss, 
damage, or destruction of all or part of the Property, Buyer shall have the option 
to terminate this Agreement effective immediately. However, in the case of loss, 
Buyer shall have the option to either (1) take possession of the Property and 
accept an assignment of all Seller's right, title, and interest in and to any claim 
Seller has under the insurance policies covering the Property; or (2) terminate 
this Agreement effective immediately. 

11 . Utilities. The Seller shall be responsible for payment of all utility expenses 
incurred by it or incurred by any other occupants, prior to the termination of 
occupancy, including without limitation of the foregoing sewer, solid waste, and 
water charges which may be assessed for collection pursuant to Iowa Code 
Section 384.84. 

12. Taxes. Seller shall pay all of the taxes on the Property (real and personal) to the 
date of the Closing, and all unpaid taxes for prior years. 

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program . 3 . 1027 Clair Street - Giesler 

349

Item 19.



13. Special Assessments. Seller shall pay in full all special assessments on the 
Property which have been certified to the County Treasurer for collection date 
before the Closing Date. 

14. Time is of the Essence. Time is of the essence of this agreement. 

15. Leases. Seller represents and warrants to Buyer that there are no leases, 
tenancies, or other rights of occupancy for use for any portion of the Property. 
The foregoing representation and warranty shall survive Closing Date. Seller 
shall hold harmless and indemnify Buyer for and against any claims which may 
arise or be based upon any alleged leasehold interest, tenancy, or other right of 
occupancy or use for any portion for the Property. 

16. Approval of Court. If the Property is an asset of any estate, trust or 
guardianship, this document shall be subject to Court approval prior to payment 
of Purchase price, unless declared unnecessary by Buyer's legal department. If 
Court approval is necessary, the appropriate fiduciary shall proceed promptly 
and diligently to bring the matter on for hearing to enable the issuance of a 
Courts Officer's Deed. 

17. Environmental Matters. The Seller hereby represents and warrants to Buyer 
that: 

A. Environmental Representations and Warranties: 

1) There are not abandoned wells, agricultural drainage wells, solid waste 
disposal sites, or underground storage tanks (as defined in Iowa Code, 
Chapter 455B) located in or about the Property; 

2) There is, and has been, no hazardous waste stored, generated, 
treated, transported, installed, dumped, handled or placed in, on, or 
about the Property; 

3) At no time has any Federal or State hazardous waste clean-up funds 
been expended with respect to any of the Property; 

4) There has never been any solid waste disposal site or underground 
storage tank located in, or about the Property, nor has there been any 
releases from an underground storage tank on real property contiguous 
to the Property which has resulted in any hazardous substance coming 
in contact with the Property. 

5) The Seller has not received any directive, citation, notice, letter, or 
other communication, whether written or oral, from the Environmental 

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program - 4 . 1027 Clair Street - Giesler 

350

Item 19.



Protection Agency, the Iowa Department of Natural Resources, any 
other governmental agency with authority under any Environmental 
Laws, or any other person or entity regarding the release, disposal, 
discharge, or presence of any hazardous waste on the Property, or any 
violation of any Environmental Laws; and 

6) To the best of the Seller's knowledge, neither the Property, nor the real 
property contiguous to the Property, nor the predecessors in title to the 
Property, are in violation of, or subject to, any existing, pending, or 
threatened investigation or inquiry by any governmental authority or to 
any removal or remedial obligations under any Environmental Laws. 

The foregoing representations and warranties, and the environmental 
indemnifications set forth in the following subparagraph 8, shall survive the 
Closing. In addition, the foregoing representations and warranties and the 
indemnifications provisions in this Offer to Buy shall not be affected by any 
study, investigation, or inspection of the Property by Buyer or the agents for 
Buyer. 

B. Environmental Indemnification 

The Seller agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Buyer from and against 
any and all claims, demands, fines, penalties, causes of action, losses, 
damage, liabilities, expenses, and costs (including court costs and 
reasonable attorney's fees, which may include the value of services provided 
by Buyer's legal department, incurred by Buyer to enforce this provision), 
asserted against or incurred by Buyer by reason of or arising out of the 
breach of any representation or warranty of the Seller set forth above. 

C. Additional Environmental Provisions 

The Seller shall not store, generate, treat, transport, install, dump, handle, or 
place in, on, or about any portion of the Property any hazardous waste or 
hazardous substance. If the Seller receives any notice from any 
governmental authority or any other party regarding the release or presence 
of any hazardous waste or hazardous substance on any portion of the 
Property, the Seller shall immediately notify Buyer of such fact. In addition, 
Buyer or its agents shall have the right to enter upon the Property at any 
time to perform additional environmental studies. If at any time Buyer in its 
sold and irrevocable discretion determines that hazardous waste or 
hazardous substances are present on any portion of the Property, Buyer 
may terminate this offer to buy effective immediately. 

18. Contract Binding on Successors in Interest. This document shall apply to 
and bind the heirs, executors, administrators, partners, assigns, and successors 

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program - 5 - 1027 Clair Street - Giesler 

351

Item 19.



in interest of the respective parties. 

19. Intention of Use of Words and Phrases. Words and phrases contained 
herein, including the acknowledgment clause, shall be construed as in the 
singular and plural number, and as masculine, feminine, or neuter gender, 
according to the context. 

20. Voluntary Acquisition. The Seller, as owner of the Property, acknowledges 
that Buyer has presented this Offer for the Property pursuant to Buyer's 
Voluntary Acquisition Program and the Seller' s acceptance of this Offer is a 
voluntary acquisition. Seller is under no duress or coercive action by Buyer to 
accept this offer and Buyer will not pursue acquisition of this Property by eminent 
domain or other means if the Seller declines to accept this Offer. The Seller 
further acknowledges that if it accepts this Offer, it will be necessary to move 
permanently from the Property. 

21. Offer. This Offer shall become null and void unless accepted by the Seller on, 
or before Jupe13, 2022. 

~ --i-'l,, <:J\2-

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program . - 6 - 1027 Clair Street - Giesler 

352

Item 19.



Official Buyer Approval: 

The foregoing contract was approved and authorized by the City of Cedar Falls on the 
____ __ day of , 20 __ 

Robert M. Green, Mayor 

Attest: ____ ______ ___ ___ _ _ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 
City Clerk 

This Offer is presented to the Seller on,)R"s gth day of May, 2022. 

. . //JL /} i:JLt!i / f By:__;..-1----4----'-'l_'~------~'""_"'-....:::..._ __ 

The (59oing Offer is accepted by the undersigned Seller(s) this _--'-Z'-~-- day of 
~I Ae.L,. 1 20 OJ.~ 

By: /~ 

Iowa Hazard Mitigation Grant Program - 7 - 1027 Clair Street - Giesler 

353

Item 19.



 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Thomas Weintraut, AICP, Planner III 

 DATE: June 23, 2022 

 SUBJECT: Rezoning Request 2209 N Union Road (RZ22-002) 
   
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

Rezone property from R-1: Residence District to A-1: Agriculture District. 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

Kel-Mar, LC (Shawn and Paula Kelly) 
 

LOCATION: 
 

2209 N. Union Road 

 

 
Kel-Mar, LC is requesting to rezone an approximately 0.98 acre portion of the property located 
at 2209 N Union Road, formerly the Martyrs Retreat, and 8.86 acres of a 17.86 acre parcel 
located adjacent to the south of 2209 N Union Road from the R-1: Residence District, to A-1: 
Agriculture District.  
 
This property, also known as the American Martyrs Retreat House, was annexed into Cedar 
Falls in 1971 at which time a 1,450’ x 600’ area was zoned to R-1 to accommodate the existing 
private institutional use. In 2019, the facility closed and Kel-Mar, LC (Shawn and Paula Kelly) 
purchased both of the tracts.  
 
In February 2021, the Kellys approached the City with a request rezone a portion of the 
property near the Cedar River from A-1 Agricultural District to R-1 Residence District in order 
to create a building site for one single family home overlooking the Cedar River. However, this 
was not possible, because, in order to rezone the property to R-1, city services would have to 
be extended to the lot per City Code requirement. The nearest available utilities are greater 
than 2,000 feet to the south and the existing railroad right-of-way would make extending the 
utilities cost-prohibitive.  
 
Staff worked with the Kellys and suggested rezoning the portions of the R-1 zoned area of the 
property not directly associated with the former Martyr’s Retreat building to A-1 to allow the 

354

Item 20.



 
 

construction of one residential structure on the preferred site location. Since the site is on a lot 
of record, one single family home would be allowed. This rezoning will also clean up the zoning 
boundaries, so the Martyr’s Retreat building will remain in the R-1 Zoning District and the lot 
with the site for the new home will be zoned A-1 Agricultural District.  
 
At its meeting on June 22, 2022, the Planning and Zoning Commission held a public hearing 
and recommended approval of the proposed rezoning. Therefore, staff now requests that City 
Council set a public hearing date for July 18, 2022 to formally consider the rezoning request. A 
full staff report and summary report of the Planning and Zoning Commission meetings will be 
provided to City Council prior the public hearing. 
 

355

Item 20.



Cedar Falls Planning & Zoning Commission 

June 8, 2022 

Corporate Limits 

Location 
Map 

 

2209 N Union Road 
R-1 to A-1 
 

356

Item 20.



357

Item 20.



RESOLUTION NO. ______________ 

 

RESOLUTION SETTING THE DATE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON A PROPOSED 

AMENDMENT TO CHAPTER 26, ZONING, CODE OF ORDINANCES  

OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND DIRECTING  

PUBLICATION OF NOTICE OF SAID PUBLIC HEARING 

 

 WHEREAS, a proposal was submitted to the Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission 

to change the zoning from R-1: Residence Zoning District to A-1: Agricultural Zoning District, as 

described below, and 

 

 WHEREAS, said Commission has recommended approval of said change in the zoning, and 

 

 WHEREAS, it is desired to submit the same for consideration to the City Council to have a 

public hearing on the same as provided by law; 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, that there shall be a public hearing on a proposed change to the zoning 

from R-1: Residence Zoning District to A-1: Agricultural Zoning District to amend the Cedar Falls 

Zoning Map (Case #RZ22-002), by removing approximately 9.94 acres of real estate located at 2209 

N. Union Road, as legally descripted below, from the R-1: Residence Zoning District and placing the 

same in the A-1: Agricultural Zoning District: 

 

Legal description for land to be rezoned from R-1 to A-1: 

 

The West 1450.0 feet of the North 300.0 feet of the Northwest Quarter (NW ¼) of Section Three 

(3), Township Eighty-nine (89) North, Range Fourteen (14) West of the Fifth (5TH) Principal 

Meridian, except the North 70 feet of the East 700 feet of the Northwest Fractional Quarter of 

said Section 3, and that part of West 1450.0 feet of the South 300.0 feet of the Southwest Quarter 

(SW ¼) of Section Thirty-four (34) Township Ninety (90) North, Range Fourteen (14) West of 

the Fifth (5th) Principal Meridian, Black Hawk County, Iowa, lying within the Southeast Quarter 

of said Southwest Quarter except that parcel of Land recorded on File 2018-00018291 in the 

office of the Black Hawk County Recorder.  

 

The tracts contain 9.94 acres and are subject to all easements of record. 

 

And that said public hearing shall be held on the 18th day of July, 2022, at 7:00 o’clock p.m., at the 

Cedar Falls Community Center, 528 Main Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa.  The City Clerk is hereby 

authorized and directed to publish notice of said hearing the Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier, said 

notice to be published at least seven (7) days prior to the hearing date. 

 

INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 5th day of July, 2022. 

 

 

______________________________ 

ATTEST:                                                               Simon Harding, Mayor Pro Tem 

 

        

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

358

Item 20.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-5126 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 

Administration Division 

  

  

 

 
 
   

 

 

 TO: Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development 

 DATE: June 23, 2022 

 SUBJECT: Set Public Hearing on Status of Funded Activities for State Award of 
CARES Act Community Development Block Grant Funds (CDBG-CV2)  

 
 
In May 2020, funding was allocated to Cedar Falls from the CARES Act CDBG funds 
the State received (referred to as CDBG-CV2, to distinguish from other CARES Act 
funding the City has received through CDBG).  The State proportionally allocated some 
of the CARES Act CDBG funding they received to CDBG Entitlement Communities 
throughout the state.  Cedar Falls was allocated $369,432.  In January 2021, we 
entered into a contract for a majority of the funds, subsequently completing 
amendments in August 2021 and April 2022.  We have submitted four requests for 
reimbursement, as we have completed activities in the approved agreement.  Through 
the fourth claim we have claimed 61% of our total award.  The State requires a public 
hearing on the status of funded activities once a project is reported at 50% complete.   
 
The CDBG-CV2 funds are required to be 80% spent by May 2023 and all funds must be 
expended by July 2025.  Following is an updated summary of the CDBG-CV2 allocation 
of funds and total spent: 
 

 
Amount 

Project 
Delivery 

Total 
Allocated 

Total Spent 
(Claims 1-4) 

Percent 
of Grant 

Service Agencies $ 134,800.00 $ 17,092.00 $ 151,892.00 $17,036.91 5.16% 

City $   83,446.71  $   8,342.00  $   91,788.71  $64,190.76  19.43% 

Schools $ 111,152.00 $ 14,592.00 $ 125,744.00 $119,031.33 36.03% 

   
$ 330,406.71 $200,258.99 60.61% 

 
The Department of Community Development recommends setting a public hearing for 
July 18, 2022 for public comment or questions regarding the City’s status of funded 
activities under the CDBG-CV2 grant. 
 
 
Xc:   Lisa Roeding, Comptroller/City Treasurer 
 Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager      
 Michelle Pezley, Planner III 

359

Item 21.



360

Item 22.



361

Item 22.



362

Item 22.



363

Item 22.



364

Item 22.



365

Item 22.



366

Item 22.



367

Item 22.



368

Item 22.



369

Item 22.



370

Item 22.



371

Item 22.



372

Item 22.



373

Item 22.



374

Item 22.



375

Item 22.



376

Item 22.



377

Item 22.



378

Item 22.



379

Item 22.



380

Item 22.



381

Item 22.



382

Item 22.



383

Item 22.



384

Item 22.



385

Item 22.



386

Item 22.



387

Item 22.



388

Item 22.



389

Item 22.



390

Item 22.



391

Item 22.



392

Item 22.



393

Item 22.



394

Item 22.



395

Item 22.



396

Item 22.



397

Item 22.



398

Item 22.



399

Item 22.



400

Item 22.



401

Item 22.



402

Item 22.



403

Item 22.



404

Item 22.


	Top
	Item 1.	Regular meeting of June 20, 2022
	220620MINUTES

	Item 2.	Proclamation - Ironman Battalion Day
	2022-07_11_133dIronmanBattalionDay

	Item 3.	PH-Annual Action Plan CDBG
	1. Council memo for PH 7-5-22
	FFY 2022 Annual Action Plan (Draft 6-15-22)

	Item 4.	PH-Olive Street Box Culvert Replacement Project
	1. Memo PH  - Olive Box
	2. Olive Engineer's Cost Estimate

	Item 5.	Ord 3013-Parking on South Lawn Rd
	1. Memo - Parking Prohibited on S. Lawn Road Ordinance
	2. South Lawn
	3 -Ord 3013-Pkng South Lawn Road
	4. Redlined Sec._23_374

	Item 6.	Standing Committee Minutes - 6/20/22
	06-20-22 Administrative Committee Minutes-Final

	Item 7.	Departmental Monthly Report
	05 - May 2022 Monthly Report

	Item 8.	Liquor Beer 7-5-22
	Liquor Beer 7-5-22

	Item 9.	Bidding Procedures & POS for Bond Sales
	bond sale council sale & OS.mem
	Res-Bond Sale-Bidding Procedures
	Cedar Falls IA_GO_CLN_2022_Preliminary_Official_Statement 6-22-2022

	Item 10.	Assessment - 1106 West 9th St.
	1106 W 9th St.-Assessment

	Item 11.	Assessment - 315 West 11th St.
	315 W 11th St.-Assessment

	Item 12.	IT Agreement with Port 53 for Penetration Testing Services
	Memo Pen testing with Port53
	Goods Services - Port 53

	Item 13.	Expenditure-Electric Mower
	E Mower 7 5 2022

	Item 14.	Low Bid-2022 Seal Coat Project
	1. Memo Low Bid - Seal Coat 2022
	2. BID TAB - 2022 Seal Coat

	Item 15.	Low Bid-2022 University Avenue Bio Cells Project
	1. Memo Low Bid - University Ave Bio Cells
	2. BidWorksheet

	Item 16.	Furniture for Cedar Falls City Hall Remodel
	1 Letter of Recommedation
	2 Bid Tab
	3 KIRK GROSS - BID
	4 KIRK GROSS - BOND
	5 KIRK GROSS - INSURANCE

	Item 17.	EDA Financial Assistance Award - Cedar River Recreation Project
	1. Council memo agreement 7-5-22
	2. CD-450
	3. Specific Award Conditions
	4. EDA Construction STCs (Mar 22 2021) (w Part III DOC STCs) FINAL

	Item 18.	INRCOG-Grant Administration-EDA Grant
	1. Council memo contract 7-5-22V2
	2. INRCOG contract signed with all attachments

	Item 19.	Property Acquisition-Purchase Offers
	1_Memo Approving Purchase Offers 6-23-22
	Purchase Offers

	Item 20.	Set PH-2209 North Union Road Rezoning
	1_CC Memo for 2209 N Union Rd
	2. Location Map
	3. Rezoning Plat 5-9-22
	Res-Set PH-Rezoning of 2209 N Union Road

	Item 21.	Set PH-Status of Funded Activities for State Award of CARES Act (CDBG-CV2)
	1  Set PH CC memo re SOFA

	Item 22.	Bills
	1 Daily Invoices 070522
	2 Council Invoices 070522

	Bottom

